FILED PURSUANT TO
RULE 424 (b) (3)
FILE NO.: 333-65491

REGENCY REALTY CORPORATION

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting of shareholders of Regency Realty
Corporation, a Florida corporation ("Regency"), will be held on February 26,
1999 at 10:00 a.m., Eastern standard time, at the offices of Regency, 121 West
Forsyth Street, Suite 200, Jacksonville, Florida 32202, for the following
purposes:

1. to consider and vote upon the approval of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated as of September 23, 1998 (the "Merger Agreement"), between
Regency and Pacific Retail Trust, a Maryland real estate investment
trust ("Pacific Retail"), pursuant to which among other matters, (i)
Pacific Retail will be merged with and into Regency, (ii) each
outstanding Pacific Retail common share will be converted into the right
to receive 0.48 share of Regency common stock and (iii) each outstanding
Pacific Retail preferred share will be converted into the right to
receive 0.48 share of Regency preferred stock of a comparable series,
all as more fully described in the accompanying Joint Proxy Statement
and Prospectus;

2. to consider and vote upon amendments to Regency's Articles of
Incorporation (the "Regency Articles Amendment") to permit Security
Capital Holdings S.A. ("SC-USRealty"), Regency's largest shareholder and
the controlling shareholder of Pacific Retail, to acquire the Regency
common stock issuable to it in the merger and to prohibit Non-U.S.
Persons (other than Security Capital Holdings S.A. and certain related
parties) from directly or indirectly acquiring Regency capital stock so
long as Non-U.S. Persons own 50% or more of the issued and outstanding
shares of Regency capital stock, as more fully described in the
accompanying Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus;

3. to consider and vote on Amendment No. 1 to the Regency 1993 Long-Term
Omnibus Plan (the "Regency Incentive Plan") to increase the number of
shares available for award under the Regency Incentive Plan to
incorporate the shares authorized under Pacific Retail's stock option
plan and to expand the class of eligible participants to include three
departing Pacific Retail executives, as more fully described in the
accompanying Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus; and

4, to transact any other business that may properly come before the special
meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Copies of the Merger Agreement and the Regency Articles Amendment are set forth
as Annex A and Annex D, respectively, to the Joint Proxy Statement and
Prospectus and are incorporated herein by reference.

The Regency Board of Directors has fixed December 18, 1998, as the record date
for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the
special meeting. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
outstanding Regency common stock is required to approve the Merger Agreement.
Assuming the presence of a quorum, the affirmative vote of a majority of the
outstanding shares of Regency common stock voting with respect to the proposed
Regency Articles Amendment is required to approve Proposal 2. The affirmative
vote of a majority of the Regency common stock voted with respect to the
amendment to the Regency Incentive Plan is required to approve Proposal 3
(provided that more than 50% of the votes entitled to be cast are voted on the



proposal). The approval of each proposal is a condition to the approval of each
other proposal. Holders of Regency common stock are not entitled to dissenters'
rights under Florida law in connection with any of the proposals.

The attached Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus is being sent to the holder
of Regency's Class B Non-Voting Common Stock for its information only; such
holder is not entitled to notice of, or to vote at, the special meeting.

Regency's Board of Directors has approved and recommends that shareholders vote
"FOR" the merger and the two other proposals being submitted to a vote of
shareholders.

It is very important that your shares be represented at the special meeting
whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting. Please complete, date
and sign the enclosed proxy card and mail it promptly in the enclosed pre-
addressed, postage-paid envelope.

Very truly yours,

J. Christian Leavitt
Secretary

January 28, 1999



Pacific Retail Trust

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting of shareholders of Pacific Retail
Trust, a

Maryland real estate investment trust ("Pacific Retail"), will be held on
February 26, 1999 at 8:30 a.m., Central time, at the offices of Pacific Retail,
8140 Walnut Hill Lane, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas, 75231, for the following
purposes:

1. to consider and vote upon the approval of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated as of September 23, 1998 (the "Merger Agreement"), between
Pacific Retail and Regency Realty Corporation, a Florida corporation
("Regency") (an affiliate of Security Capital Holdings S.A., Pacific
Retail's largest shareholder), pursuant to which among other matters,
(i) Pacific Retail will be merged with and into Regency, (ii) each
outstanding Pacific Retail common share will be converted into the right
to receive 0.48 share of Regency common stock and (iii) each outstanding
Pacific Retail preferred share will be converted into the right to
receive 0.48 share of Regency preferred stock of a comparable series,
all as more fully described in the accompanying Joint Proxy Statement
and Prospectus; and

2. to transact any other business that may properly come before the special
meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

A copy of the Merger Agreement is set forth as Annex A to the Joint Proxy
Statement and Prospectus and is incorporated herein by reference.

The Pacific Retail Board of Trustees has fixed December 28, 1998, as the record
date for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at
the special meeting. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
votes entitled to be cast by holders of Pacific Retail common shares and
preferred shares, voting together as a single class, is required to approve the
merger and the Merger Agreement.

Holders of Pacific Retail common shares and preferred shares are entitled to
dissenters' rights under Maryland law in connection with the proposals.

Pacific Retail's Board of Trustees has approved the merger and recommends that
shareholders vote "FOR" the merger.

Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please complete, date
and sign the enclosed proxy card and mail it promptly in the enclosed pre-
addressed, postage-paid envelope.

Very truly yours,

Jane E. Mody
Secretary

January 28, 1999



PROPOSED MERGER

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

The Board of Directors of Regency Realty Corporation and the Board of Trustees
of Pacific Retail Trust solicit your vote with respect to the merger of Pacific
Retail into Regency.

Exchange ratio: Each Pacific Retail share will be converted into .48 of a
Regency share.

Based on the closing price of Regency common stock on the New York Stock
Exchange on January 25, 1999, the equivalent value of a Pacific Retail
common share on such date was $10.44. Regency common stock is traded on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "REG." We encourage you to get
updated Regency stock quotations.

Based on the ownership of Security Capital Holdings S.A. and management in
Regency and Pacific Retail, the approval of the merger and each other
proposal is assured.

% of Regency Voting Stock
Maximum Shares Oowned by Pacific Retail
Issuable in Merger Shareholders After Merger

Regency common stock 30,749,097 53.3%
Regency preferred stock (1
holder) 1,502,532 2.6%

Upon completion of the merger, Security Capital Holdings S.A. will own 52.3%
of the Regency common stock.

See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 19 for a discussion of risks relating
to the merger.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities
commission has approved or disapproved these securities or passed upon the
accuracy or adequacy of this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus dated January 26, 1999 and first mailed to
shareholders on January 28, 1999.
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Merger Summary

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by the detailed information
appearing elsewhere or incorporated in this Joint Proxy Statement and
Prospectus. We urge you to review the entire Joint Proxy Statement and
Prospectus including its Annexes. Page references are provided in this summary
to assist your review.

The Merging Companies

Regency (see page 28) 121 West Forsyth Street
Suite 200
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 356-7000

Regency acquires, owns, develops and manages grocery-anchored, neighborhood
shopping centers in the eastern United States. With the completion of its
initial public offering in 1993, Regency became a real estate investment trust.
It was previously part of the real estate business of The Regency Group, Inc.
which began in 1963.

Pacific Retail (see page 32) 8140 walnut Hill Lane
Dallas, Texas 75231
(214) 696-9500

Pacific Retail acquires, owns, develops and manages primarily grocery-anchored,
neighborhood shopping centers in the western United States. It was formed as a
Maryland real estate investment trust in 1995.

The Terms of The Merger (see page 50)

When the merger becomes effective upon satisfaction of certain conditions, the
following will occur:

Pacific Retail will merge into Regency.

Each outstanding Pacific Retail common share will convert into the
right to receive 0.48 share of Regency common stock.

Regency Series 1 and Regency Series 2 preferred stock will be issued based on a
0.48 exchange ratio to Opportunity Capital Partners Limited Partnership, the
sole holder of Pacific Retail preferred shares and the holder of 1,000,000
Pacific Retail common shares. The Regency preferred stock will be
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convertible into a maximum of 1,502,532 shares of common stock, which would
represent 2.6% of the common stock if outstanding as of December 18, 1998.
Opportunity Capital Partners Limited Partnership also owns 1,804,730 shares of
Regency common stock and will receive 480,000 shares of Regency common stock in
the merger in exchange for Pacific Retail common shares. Through its ownership
of Regency common and preferred stock, it will control 6.6% of the vote of
Regency shareholders after the merger.

Regency shareholders will continue to own their existing shares after the
merger.

Dissenters' Rights
Regency

Because the Regency common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
Regency shareholders do not have dissenters' rights under Florida law.

Pacific Retail (see page 83)

If you own Pacific Retail common or preferred shares, you have the right to
dissent from the merger and receive cash for the fair value of your shares. To
exercise this right, you must strictly comply with the procedures outlined
under Maryland law. This includes filing a written objection to the merger
before or at the Pacific Retail special meeting and not voting in favor of the
merger. Failure to follow the procedures under Maryland law will result in you
losing your right to receive cash for the fair value of your shares. The merger
agreement provides that if holders of more than 10% of the Pacific Retail
shares dissent from the merger, the merger may not close.

The Combined Company
Dividend Distributions (see page 90)

Regency expects to continue its present dividend policy after the merger,
although such distributions are dependent upon Regency's cash flow available
for distribution and are determined in the discretion of Regency's board of
directors.

Based on Regency's 1998 annual distribution of $1.76 per share and the 0.48
exchange ratio, holders of Pacific Retail common shares would have received an
equivalent distribution of $0.8448 per Pacific Retail common share giving
effect to the merger, a 9.7% increase over Pacific Retail's 1998 annual
distribution of $0.77 per share. No assurance can be given that past
distribution levels will be maintained.



Primary Benefits of Merging (see page 48)

The merger will create the largest national REIT that focuses predominantly on
grocery-anchored shopping centers. Management expects this to generate greater
funds from operation per share than would be generated by the separate
companies because the combined company can:

Use the combined research capacities to identify acquisition,
development and leasing opportunities throughout the U.S., including
expansion opportunities for leading grocery chains and national
retailers with which the separate companies have relationships.

Create operating and financial efficiencies of over $5 million
annually by the year 2000, primarily from:

. more favorable terms for debt and equity offerings because of size
and geographic diversification, and

cost savings by reducing common overhead.
Potential Detriments of Merging (see page 48)

The exchange ratio was fixed at the time the merger agreement was
signed. At the time shares are exchanged, Regency shares may have a
greater value, to the detriment of Regency shareholders, or a lower
value, to the detriment of Pacific Retail's shareholders, than the
fixed value. The value to be received by Pacific Retail shareholders
cannot be guaranteed.

The large size of the combining companies may make rapid integration
of Regency and Pacific Retail more difficult, and the efficiencies
expected to result from the merger may be delayed.

SC-USRealty will own 59.4% of Regency's common stock, or 52.3% fully
diluted. Any change of control of Regency would be extremely unlikely
after the merger, unless SC-USRealty concurs. SC-USRealty will
control the vote of Regency's shareholders after the merger if SC-
USRealty's standstill agreement ends and SC-USRealty continues to own
more than 50% of the Regency common stock.

Holders of Regency and Pacific Retail shares will each become subject
to the real estate risks of the markets in which the other company
currently operates.



Voting Control of Merging Companies by SC-USRealty & Management
Regency

SC-USRealty owns 46.0% of the outstanding Regency common stock and has agreed
to vote all of its Regency common stock in favor of each proposal. As of the
Regency record date, Regency's directors and executive officers, all of whom
have indicated that they will vote their Regency common stock in favor of each
proposal, owned approximately 7.8% of the outstanding Regency common stock.
Assuming that SC-USRealty and such directors and executive officers vote in
favor of each proposal, each proposal will be approved.

Pacific Retail

SC-USRealty owns 69.9% of the total number of votes entitled to be cast and has
agreed to vote all of its Pacific Retail shares in favor of the merger.
Assuming that SC-USRealty votes in favor of the merger, the merger will be
approved. As of the Pacific Retail record date, Pacific Retail's trustees and
executive officers, all of whom have indicated that they will vote their
Pacific Retail shares in favor of the merger, owned approximately 0.7% of the
total number of votes entitled to be cast.

Recommendation of Each Company's Board

Pacific Retail's board has unanimously approved the merger. The members of
Regency's board present at the meeting, other than SC-USRealty's
representatives, who abstained from the vote, unanimously approved the merger.
Both boards recommend that their shareholders vote "for" the merger.

Opinion of Regency's Financial Advisor (see page 59)

In the opinion of Prudential Securities Incorporated dated September 23, 1998,
the consideration to be paid by Regency in the merger is fair, from a financial
point of view, to the shareholders of Regency other than SC-USRealty. Regency
has agreed to pay Prudential Securities $350,000 upon consummation of the
merger, in addition to a $250,000 fee already paid, and to indemnify them
against certain liabilities arising out of their service as Regency's financial
advisor.

You are urged to read their complete opinion in Annex B and the more detailed
description of their opinion and its scope beginning on page 59.
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Opinion of Pacific Retail's Financial Advisor (see page 67)

In the opinion of Goldman, Sachs & Co. dated September 23, 1998, the exchange
ratio of 0.48 share of Regency common stock to be paid for each Pacific Retail
common share is fair from a financial point of view to the holders of Pacific
Retail common shares other than SC-USRealty. No part of Goldman Sachs' $500,000
fee is dependent upon completion of the merger. Pacific Retail has agreed to
indemnify Goldman Sachs for certain liabilities arising out of their service as
Pacific Retail's financial advisor.

You are urged to read their complete opinion in Annex C and the more detailed
description of their opinion and its scope beginning on page 67.

Material Federal Income Tax Consequences (see page 78)
In the opinion of Mayer, Brown & Platt, based on certain factual
representations of Regency, Pacific Retail and SC-USRealty, the merger will be
treated for federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning
of section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly,
J no gain or loss will be recognized by Pacific Retail shareholders
except to the extent of cash received for fractional shares or
pursuant to the exercise of dissenters' rights,
J no gain or loss will be recognized by Regency shareholders, and
J no gain or loss will be recognized by the merging companies.
In the opinion of Foley & Lardner, based on certain factual representations of
Regency and Pacific Retail, the consummation of the merger will not jeopardize
the status of Regency as a real estate investment trust under the Internal
Revenue Code.
Information About The Merger Agreement

We encourage you to read the merger agreement, attached as Annex A, in its
entirety.

Effective Time of the Merger

We currently expect the merger to become effective at 11:59 p.m., Eastern
standard time, on February 28, 1999 if all conditions to the merger are met.



Conditions to Merger (see page 86)

The completion of the merger depends upon meeting a number of conditions,
including:

1. Approval of the merger by the shareholders of Pacific Retail and
Regency.

2. Approval by Regency's shareholders of Regency's articles amendment.

3. Approval by Regency's shareholders of Amendment No. 1 to the Regency
Incentive Plan.

4. The consent of the lenders under Regency's and Pacific Retail's lines
of credit.

5. The authorization for listing on the New York Stock Exchange of the
Regency common stock issuable as a result of the merger.

6. Holders of not more than 10% of Pacific Retail common shares and
preferred shares together exercising dissenters' rights.

7. The receipt of legal opinions regarding the impact of the merger on
Regency's REIT status and the treatment of the merger as a
reorganization for tax purposes.

Any of the conditions to closing may be waived by the parties other than the
shareholder approval conditions in 1, 2 and 3 above. If a material condition to
the merger is waived, we will amend this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus
and resolicit your votes.

Termination (see page 92)

Regency and Pacific Retail can agree to terminate the merger agreement at any
time, even if the shareholders of both companies have approved the merger.
Also, either company can decide, without consent of the other, to terminate the
merger agreement, if:

1. The merger has not been completed on or before March 31, 1999,

2. The other party materially fails to perform under the merger
agreement,

3. The board of the terminating party withdraws or modifies its
recommendation that its shareholders approve the merger agreement
because, for example, it receives an offer for a better deal, or

4. The other party continues to negotiate or does not reject a proposal
for an alternative transaction with another person within 15 days
after receiving an alternative proposal.
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Merger Termination Fee (see page 93)

Pacific Retail or Regency may be required to pay a $20 million termination fee
under the following circumstances:

If a party terminates the merger agreement because its board
withdraws or modifies its recommendation that shareholders approve
the merger, because, for example, it receives an offer for a better
deal, then it must pay $20 million to the other party.

If (a) the merger agreement is terminated by one party because the
other party receives another offer and (b) within one year of
termination the party receiving the offer agrees to a similar
transaction, then it must pay the $20 million termination fee.

The Special Meetings of Shareholders
The Pacific Retail Special Meeting (see page 109)

The Pacific Retail special meeting of shareholders is scheduled to be
held at 8:30 a.m., Central time, on February 26, 1999, at the offices
of Pacific Retail at 8140 Walnut Hill Lane, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas
75231.

The Pacific Retail Board of Trustees fixed the close of business on
December 28, 1998 as the record date for the determination of holders
of Pacific Retail shares entitled to notice of and to vote at the
meeting.

The Pacific Retail Vote

Merger approval requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the
votes entitled to be cast by holders Pacific Retail common and
preferred shares, voting together as one class.

The Regency Special Meeting (see page 108)

The Regency special meeting of shareholders is scheduled to be held
at 10:00 a.m., Eastern standard time, on February 26, 1999, at the
offices of Regency at 121 West Forsyth Street Suite 200,
Jacksonville, Florida 32202.

The Regency Board of Directors fixed the close of business on
December 18, 1998 as the record date for determination of holders of
Regency common stock entitled to notice of and to vote at the
meeting.



Other Regency Meeting Matters

In addition to the merger, Regency shareholders are being asked to vote on
amendments to Regency's articles of incorporation and Regency's employee
incentive plan.

Amendment of Regency Articles of Incorporation (see page 94)

The Regency articles amendment will make it clear that SC-USRealty
has the right to acquire the shares of Regency common stock issuable
to it in the merger even though such issuance will cause more than
50% of the fair market value of Regency's common stock to be owned by
non-U.S. persons.

The proposed Regency articles amendment contains prohibitions on the
transfer of Regency stock to non-U.S. persons which will:

preserve Regency's ability to requalify as a domestically
controlled REIT if ownership by non-U.S. persons falls below
50% or more by value of Regency's outstanding capital stock;
and

ensure that once Regency returns to the status of a
domestically controlled REIT, it will remain a domestically
controlled REIT unless such restrictions are waived by SC-
USRealty.

Benefits and Detriments of the Amendment

The approval of the Regency articles amendment is a condition to the
merger and was necessary to induce SC-USRealty to agree to vote its
shares of Regency common stock in favor of the merger. Regency's
ability to requalify as a domestically controlled REIT and its
ability to remain a domestically controlled REIT if it does requalify
are not expected to otherwise benefit any current shareholder of
Regency other than SC-USRealty.

The transfer restrictions described above will 1limit the ability of

shareholders other than SC-USRealty to transfer their shares to

foreign persons.

We have attached a copy of the Regency articles amendment as Annex D.
Amendment No 1. To Regency Incentive Plan (see page 98)

The Regency board of directors is proposing to increase the number of

shares available for award under the Regency Incentive Plan by the

number of shares, adjusted for the merger, authorized under the

corresponding Pacific Retail option plan.
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The Regency board is also proposing to amend the Regency Incentive
Plan to permit the grant of substitute options to three departing
Pacific Retail executives.

Benefits and Detriments of the Amendment

The amendment to the Regency Incentive Plan will provide the
following benefits to Regency:

Shares will not otherwise be available to provide substitute
options to employees or trustees of Pacific Retail who become
employees or directors of Regency;

The ability to grant options improves Regency's ability to attract
and maintain qualified personnel.

However, the Amendment to the Regency Incentive Plan may cause
dilution to Regency's shareholders.

The Regency Vote (see page 108)

The following affirmative votes are required to approve each proposal:

Proposal Vote Required
Merger Majority of common stock outstanding
. Articles Amendment Majority of shares of common stock voting,

assuming a quorum
. Amendment to Incentive Plan Majority of shares of common stock voting, if
more than 50% of stock outstanding has voted

The approval of each proposal is a condition to the approval of each other
proposal.



HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF REGENCY

The following table sets forth selected financial data relating to the results
of operations and historical financial condition of Regency as of and for the
nine months ended September 30, 1998 and September 30, 1997 and the years ended

December 31, 1997,

1996, 1995, 1994 and 1993 (amounts in thousands, except per

share data and property data). Such selected financial data is qualified in its
entirety by and should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the financial
statements and notes included in Regency's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1997, which are incorporated by reference in this Joint

Proxy Statement and Prospectus.

Regency Realty Corporation

Nine Months
Ended

Regency

Properties
Period Period
Ended Ended

September 30, Year Ended December 31, December 31, November 3,
1998 1997 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1993
(Unaudited)
Operating Data:
Revenues:
Rental revenues....... $93,717 62,840 89,306 43,433 31,555 25,673 3,094 7,375
Management, leasing
and brokerage fees... 8,023 6,289 8,448 3,444 2,426 2,332 572 2,247
Equity in income of
real estate
partnership
investments.......... 511 20 33 70 4 17 3 18
Total revenues...... 102,251 69,149 97,787 46,948 33,985 28,022 3,669 9,640
Operating expenses:
Operating, maintenance
and real estate
tAXES. it 22,128 16,016 22,904 12,065 8,683 7,140 862 3,365
General and
administrative....... 10,638 7,762 9,964 6,048 4,894 4,531 736 2,835
Depreciation and
amortization......... 17,985 11,502 16,303 8,059 5,854 5,266 679 1,564
Total operating
eXPENSES. .\ vvvu.u.. 50,751 35,280 49,171 26,172 19,431 16,937 2,277 7,764
Interest expense net of
income........ i 18,320 14,020 18,667 10,811 8,969 5,701 496 3,937
Income before minority
interests.....ovuviinnn 33,180 19,849 29,949 9,965 5,585 5,384 895 (2,061)
Minority interests of
partnership units...... (3,112) (1,776) (2,042) -- -- -- -- --
Minority interest of
limited partners....... (390) (566) (505) -- -- -- -- 126
Equity in loss of
unconsolidated
partnership............ -- -- -- -- -- -- -- (111)
Other non-recurring
income, net............ 10,737 -- -- -- -- -- -- 3,291
Net income.............. 40,415 17,507 27,402 9,965 5,585 5,384 895 1,245
Preferred stock
dividends.............. -- -- -- 58 591 283 -- --
Net income for common
stockholders........... $40,415 17,507 27,402 9,907 4,994 5,101 895 1,245
Earnings per share
(EPS):
BasiC.......oovununnn $ 1.45 .89 1.28 0.82 0.75 0.80 0.14 N/A
Diluted............... 1.42 .87 1.23 0.82 0.75 0.80 0.14 N/A
Distributions per common
share.................. 1.32 1.26 1.68 1.62 1.58 1.50 -- --
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Regency Realty Corporation

Regency
Properties
Nine Months Period Period
Ended Ended Ended
September 30, Year Ended December 31, December 31, November 3,
1998 1997 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1993
(Unaudited)
Other Data:
Common stock
outstanding including
Class B common if
converted............ 28,479 26,226 26,967 13,590 9,704 6,455 6,333 N/A
Exchangeable
partnership units
outstanding to
minority interests... 1,307 574 574 29 -- -- -- --
Consolidated ratios of
earnings to combined
fixed charges and
preferred stock
dividends............ 2.0 2.0 2.2 1.8 1.4 1.7 N/A N/A
Company owned gross
leasable area........ 14,176 9,365 9,981 5,512 3,981 3,182 2,337 1,145

Number of properties
owned (at end of
period).............. 125 87 89 50 36 30 23 8
Balance Sheet Data:
Real estate

investments at cost.. $1,177,030 789,712 834,402 393,403 279,046 217,539 152,821 N/A
Total assets.......... 1,173,037 778,650 826,849 386,524 271,005 214,082 153,653 N/A
Total debt............ 478,679 240,108 278,050 171,607 115,617 107,998 53,521 N/A
Stockholders' equity.. 552,067 498,056 513,627 206,726 147,007 101,760 97,416 N/A
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF PACIFIC RETAIL

The following table sets forth selected financial data relating to the results
of operations and historical financial condition of Pacific Retail as of and
for the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and September 30, 1997 and the
years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996, and as of and for the period from
inception (April 27, 1995) through December 31, 1995 (amounts in thousands,
except per share data and property data). Such selected financial data is

qualified in its entirety by and should be read in conjunction with

"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the financial statements and notes of Pacific Retail included
elsewhere in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus.

Operating Data:
Revenues:
Rental revenues............
Management, leasing and
brokerage fees............

Total revenues.........

Operating expenses:
Operating, maintenance and
real estate taxes.........
General and administrative.

Depreciation and
amortization..............

Total operating
EXPENSES . v viv v rin s

Interest expense net of

Income before minority
interests............ot
Minority interests of
redeemable operating
partnership units...........
Minority interest of
development subsidiary......

Net income...................
Preferred share dividends....

Net income for common
shareholders................

Earnings per share (EPS):
BaSiC...vvviiiiniiiiinnnnnn
Diluted...........covvvnnn.

Distributions per common

share. ...

Other Data:

Common stock outstanding...
Preferred shares series A..
Preferred shares series B..
Company owned gross

leasable area.............
Number of properties owned
at end of period..........

Balance Sheet Data:

Real estate investments....
Total assets...........ou
Total debt.................
Minority interest..........
Shareholders' equity.......

Nine Months Ended Year Ended Period
September 30, December 31, Ended
——————————————————————————————————— December 31,
1998 1997 1997 1996 1995
(Unaudited)
$ 90,500 54,092 79,002 27,513 1,816
46 352 392 53 11
90,546 54,444 79,394 27,566 1,827
21,393 13,385 19,739 6,719 473
6,937 4,767 6,542 3,566 511
17,058 10,210 14,715 5,083 350
45,388 28,362 40,996 15,368 1,334
11,013 7,580 11,187 2,134 98
34,145 18,502 27,211 10,064 395
606 354 491 193 --
(28) -- (1) -- --
33,567 18,148 26,721 9,871 395
1,764 1,646 2,195 1,177 112
$ 31,803 16,502 24,526 8,694 283
$ 0.50 0.44 0.61 0.54 0.18
$ 0.49 0.44 0.61 0.54 0.18
$ 0.58 0.54 0.72 0.62 0.11
64,059 44,367 64,023 23,960 5,400
1,130 1,130 1,130 1,130 1,130
2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 --
8,085 6,164 6,806 3,718 798
71 48 56 29 6
$1,080,740 748,649 851,458 380,070 63,790
$1,073,637 750,237 857,244 400,176 68,452
$ 328,159 248,399 118,114 122,636 3,478
$ 19,346 7,650 7,681 7,710 --
$ 726,131 494,188 731,450 269,830 64,975
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REGENCY PRO FORMA SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth unaudited pro forma condensed financial
information as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and the year
ended December 31, 1997 (amounts in thousands except per share data and
property data), giving effect, where appropriate, to (1) the acquisition of
certain properties and (2) the merger. The following information should be read
in conjunction with the Regency historical and pro forma financial statements
incorporated by reference herein, and the Pacific Retail historical and pro
forma financial statements included elsewhere in this Joint Proxy Statement and
Prospectus. The unaudited pro forma summary information is intended for
informational purposes and is not necessarily indicative of the future
financial position or future results of operations of Regency or of the
financial position or the results of operations of Regency that would have
actually occurred had the merger been completed as of the date or for the
periods presented.

Nine Months Ended Year Ended
September 30, 1998 December 31, 1997
Regency Pacific Retail Combined Regency Pacific Retail Combined
Pro Forma Pro Forma Company Pro Forma Pro Forma Company
Operating Data:
Revenues:
Rental revenues....... $103, 300 96,100 199, 400 131, 648 119,995 251, 643
Management, leasing
and brokerage fees... 8,023 45 8,068 9,057 -- 9,057
Equity in income of
real estate
partnership
investments.......... 511 -- 511 33 -- 33
Total revenues...... 111,834 96,145 207,979 140,738 119,995 260, 733
Operating expenses:
Operating, maintenance
and real estate
AXES . vttt 23,922 22,710 46,632 30,273 28,779 59,052
General and
administrative....... 11,125 7,099 18,224 12,813 7,790 20,603
Depreciation and
amortization......... 19, 705 18,074 38,688 24,270 21,069 46,551
Total operating
eXPensesS........... 54,752 47,883 103,544 67,356 57,638 126, 206
Interest expense net of
ANCOME. vt ie it 19,374 14,635 34,009 37,095 35,061 72,156
Income before minority
interests.............. 37,708 33,627 70,426 36,287 27,296 62,371
Minority interest of
partnership units...... (6,449) (427) (6,867) (8,244) (430) (8,662)
Other non-recurring
income, net............ 1,401 -- 1,401 -- -- --
Net income.............. 32,660 33,200 64,960 28,043 26,866 53,709
Preferred stock
dividends.............. -- (1,764) (1,764) -- (2,195) (2,195)
Net income for common
stockholders........... $ 32,660 31,436 63,196 28,043 24,671 51,514
Earnings per share
(EPS):
BasiC............uu. $ 1.14 0.49 1.06 1.31 0.61 1.26
Diluted............... 1.13 0.48 1.04 1.22 0.60 1.21
Distributions per common
share.................. 1.32 0.58 1.32 1.68 0.72 1.68
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Nine Months Ended Year Ended

September 30, 1998 December 31, 1997
Regency Pacific Retail Combined Regency Pacific Retail Combined
Pro Forma Pro Forma Company Pro Forma Pro Forma Company
Other Data:
Common stock
outstanding including
Class B common and
Series 2 preferred if
converted............ 28,479 67,189 60,730 26,967 67,153 N/A

Exchangeable

partnership units

outstanding to

minority interests... 1,307 1,641 2,095 574 765 N/A
Consolidated ratios of

earnings to combined

fixed charges and

preferred stock

dividends............ 2.1 2.5 2.3 1.7 1.5 1.6
Company owned gross
leasable area........ 14,170 8,085 22,255 9,981 6,806 16,787

Number of properties

owned (at end of

period)........ovvutn 125 71 196 89 56 145
Balance Sheet Data:

Real estate

investments ......... $1,196,230 1,080,740 2,289,528 N/A N/A N/A
Total assets.......... 1,192,237 1,073,637 2,291,028 N/A N/A N/A
Total debt............ 497,879 308,563 806,442 N/A N/A N/A
Stockholders' equity.. 552,067 726,132 1,304,326 N/A N/A N/A
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COMPARATIVE MARKET AND PER SHARE DATA

The Regency common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol "REG." There is no public market for the Pacific Retail common
shares or Pacific Retail preferred shares.

The merger consideration is fixed and the market price of Regency common stock
may change. As a result, the market value of the Regency common stock or
Regency preferred stock that holders of Pacific Retail common shares or Pacific
Retail preferred shares will receive in the merger may increase or decrease
prior to and following the merger. We urge you to obtain current market
quotations for Regency common stock. On September 23, 1998 (the last trading
day prior to the announcement of the signing of the Merger Agreement) the
closing price of the Regency common stock, was $23.44. The value of a Pacific
Retail common share on such date on an equivalent per share basis was $11.25.

The following tables set forth for Regency common stock and Pacific Retail
common shares certain historical and pro forma summary per share financial
information and equivalent per share data based on the conversion of each
Pacific Retail common share into 0.48 shares of Regency common stock. The
combined pro forma summary amounts included in the table below are based on the
purchase method of accounting. The following information should be read in
conjunction with the historical and/or pro forma financial statements and
accompanying notes of Regency and Pacific Retail included or incorporated by
reference in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus.

Nine Months Ended Year Ended Year Ended
September 30, 1998 December 31, 1997 December 31, 1996
Pacific Pacific Pacific
Regency Retail Regency Retail Regency Retail
Earnings per share from
operations
attributable to common
shares:
Basic:
Historical............ $ 1.45 .50 1.28 .61 .82
Pro forma prior to
merger(1)............ 1.14 .49 1.31 .61 -- -
Combined pro forma.... 1.06 -- 1.26 -- -- -
0.48 combined pro
forma................ -- .51 -- .60 -- -
Diluted:
Historical............ 1.42 .49 1.23 .61 .82
Pro forma prior to
merger(1)............ 1.13 .48 1.22 .60 -- -
Combined pro forma.... 1.04 -- 1.21 -- -- -
0.48 combined pro
forma................ -- .50 -- .58 -- -
Distributions per common
share:
Historical............ 1.32 .58 1.68 .72 1.62
Combined pro forma.... 1.32 -- 1.68 -- -- -
0.48 combined pro
forma................ -- .63 -- .81 -- -
Book value per common
share (at end of
period):
Historical............ 21.65 10.85 21.41 10.94 19.47 9.
Pro forma prior to
merger(1)............ 21.65 10.85 -- -- -- -
Combined pro forma.... 22.56 -- -- -- -- -
0.48 combined pro
forma................ -- 10.83 -- -- -- -

(1)Reflects the pro forma effect of acquisitions by Regency and Pacific Retail
as described on pages FS-2 and FS-8.
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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus that are
not historical facts are forward-looking statements and, with respect to
Regency, within Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statements are based
on current expectations, estimates and projections about the industry and
markets in which Pacific Retail and Regency operate, management's beliefs and
assumptions made by management. Words such as "expects," "anticipates,"
"intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," "should," variations of
such words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. Such statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors, including those identified under the caption "Risk Factors" and
elsewhere in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus, that may cause actual
results to be materially different from any future results expressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof.
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INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

This Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus incorporates important business and
financial information about Regency that is not included in or delivered with
this document. This information is available without charge upon oral or
written request addressed to Ms. Lesley Stocker, Shareholder Communications,
121 West Forsyth Street, Suite 200, Jacksonville, Florida 32202, (telephone:
(904) 356-7000) and will be provided by first class mail within one business
day of receipt of such request. In order to ensure timely delivery of the
documents, you must request the information by February 19, 1999.

The following documents, which have been filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission by Regency pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (File No.
1-12298), are incorporated by reference in this Joint Proxy Statement and
Prospectus:

(a) Regency's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1997,

(b) Regency's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
1998;

(c) Regency's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1998;

(d) Regency's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
30, 1998;

(e) Regency's Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 12, 1998 and filed
February 4, 1998, as amended by Form 8-K/A dated March 11, 1998 and
filed March 19, 1998;

(f) Regency's Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 14, 1998 and filed
July 20, 1998;

(g) Regency's Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed September 24,
1998;

(h) Regency's Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed October 7, 1998;
and

(1) The description of Regency common stock contained in Regency's
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 30, 1993, and declared effective on
October 29, 1993, including portions of Regency's Registration
Statement on Form S-11 (No. 33-67258) incorporated by reference
therein.

All documents filed by Regency pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 after the date of this Joint Proxy
Statement and Prospectus and prior to the dates of the Regency special meeting
and the Pacific Retail special meeting shall be deemed incorporated in and a
part of this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus from the date of filing of
such documents.

Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated
herein shall be deemed modified or superseded for purposes of this Joint Proxy
Statement and Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein or in
any other subsequently filed document that is deemed to be incorporated herein
modifies or supersedes such statement. Any statement so modified or superseded
shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part
of this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus.
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You should rely only on the information contained in this document or that we
have referred you to. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with
information that is different. This Joint Proxy

Statement and Prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities in any state
where the offer and sale is not permitted. The information in this Joint Proxy
Statement and Prospectus is current as of the date it is mailed to security
holders, and not necessarily as of any later date. If any material change
occurs during the period that this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus is
required to be delivered, this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus will be
supplemented.

All information regarding Regency in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus
has been supplied by Regency, and all information regarding Pacific Retail in
this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus has been supplied by Pacific Retail.
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RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully the factors set forth below in evaluating the
merger, which describe the material risks of completing the merger and
exchanging interests in Pacific Retail for interests in Regency.

Risk Factors Relating to the Merger

Merger Consideration is Fixed and Will Not Reflect a Change in Stock Value at
Closing

The value of Regency stock and Pacific Retail shares at the effective time of
the merger may be different from the price and value as of the date the merger
consideration was determined. For example, if the market price of Regency
common stock decreases, Pacific Retail shareholders will not receive additional
consideration at closing to compensate for this decrease. Likewise, even if the
value of Pacific Retail declines, Regency will issue the same number of shares
at closing. This difference could be caused by changes in the operations and
prospects of Regency or Pacific Retail, general market and economic conditions
and other factors.

Fairness Opinions Will Not Be Updated

Regency does not intend to obtain an updated fairness opinion of Prudential
Securities and Pacific Retail does not intend to obtain an updated fairness
opinion of Goldman Sachs prior to the effective time of the merger.

Conflicts of Interest Could Influence Fairness of Merger

SC-USRealty has invested approximately $523.0 million in the securities
of Pacific Retail and has invested approximately $235.5 million in the
securities of Regency. As a result, the parties may have had an
incentive to structure the merger in a manner that would favor
SC-USRealty's larger investment in Pacific Retail in order to induce SC-
USRealty to vote for the merger. If the parties structured the merger in
this manner, the result would have been an exchange ratio that
attributes a higher value to Pacific Retail, to the detriment of
Regency's public shareholders.

If the merger is consummated, certain officers and trustees of Pacific
Retail at the effective time of the merger will become officers and
directors of Regency or will receive significant severance or non-
compete compensation. As a result, such officers and trustees may have
an incentive to pursue the merger even if the merger were not in the
best interest of all Pacific Retail shareholders.

Mary Lou Rogers, who is a director of Regency and a trustee of
Pacific Retail and was a Managing Director of Security Capital Group
Incorporated, SC-USRealty's largest shareholder, at the time the
merger agreement was signed, has become President and Chief
Operating Officer of Regency effective January 1, 1999. Regency has
granted to Ms. Rogers (a) ten-year options to purchase 87,640 shares
at $22.25, which will vest in equal installments over four years and
(b) 22,472 shares of restricted stock, which will vest in amounts of
10%, 20%, 30% and 40%, respectively, over four years.

Dennis H. Alberts, a trustee and the Chief Executive Officer of
Pacific Retail, Jane E. Mody, a Managing Director and the Chief
Financial Officer of Pacific Retail, and Joshua M. Brown, a Managing
Director of Pacific Retail, will be granted options by
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Regency in replacement of their existing Pacific Retail options. Mr.
Alberts and Ms. Mody will provide transitional services to Regency
for six months after the merger, for which they will receive total
salaries of $168,750 and $175,000, respectively. Mr. Alberts and Ms.
Mody will receive non-compete compensation, payable in equal
installments over 18 months after termination of their employment,
totalling $506,250 and $525,000, respectively. Mr. Brown, who will
not be employed by Regency, will receive severance compensation of
$350,000, payable over three months.

Messrs. Schweitzer, Worrell, Cozad, and Kelley, each trustees of
Pacific Retail, will become directors of Regency after the merger
and will be granted options to acquire 2,000 shares each of Regency
Common Stock pursuant to the Regency Incentive Plan upon their
appointment to the Regency board and will be granted annual options
during their tenure as directors.

Substantial Expenses and Payments if Merger Fails to Occur

The merger may not be completed. If the merger is not completed, Regency and
Pacific Retail will have incurred substantial expenses. If a party receives a
proposal for a better deal and its board withdraws its recommendation as a
result, the party terminating the merger agreement will be required to pay the
other party a $20 million termination fee. In addition, if a party receives an
alternative proposal that leads the other party to terminate the agreement, the
recipient must pay a $20 million termination fee if it signs a letter of intent
or agrees to an alternative proposal within one year after termination. See
"The Merger Agreement--Termination Amount."

Shareholders of Regency Have Different Rights than Shareholders of Pacific
Retail

The rights of shareholders of Pacific Retail currently are governed by Maryland
law and Pacific Retail's Declaration of Trust and bylaws. Upon completion of
the merger, shareholders of Pacific Retail will become shareholders of Regency
and their rights will be governed by Florida law and the Regency Articles and
bylaws. The rights of shareholders of Regency may differ materially and
adversely from the rights of shareholders of Pacific Retail. For example the
Regency bylaws contain deadlines for delivery of any shareholder nomination or
proposal for action at a shareholder meeting. See "Comparison of Shareholder
Rights--Shareholder Nominations and Proposals." This deadline may prevent
shareholders from making director nominations and other shareholder proposals
if the shareholder does not meet the appropriate deadline.

In addition, Regency's board, unlike Pacific Retail's board, is divided into
three classes of directors. The terms of the classes expire in 1999, 2000 and
2001, respectively. As the term of each class expires, directors for that class
will be elected for a three-year term and the directors in the other two
classes will continue in office. The staggered terms for directors may delay or
defer the shareholders' ability to change control of Regency without the
consent of its board of directors, even if a majority of the shareholders
believe a change of control transaction is in their interest, including
transactions in which the shareholders might receive a premium for their
shares. See "Comparison of Shareholder Rights--Classified Board of Directors."
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Risk Factors Relating to Ownership of Regency Common Stock

Principal Shareholder's Ownership Position Will Make Change of Control
Extremely Unlikely

As of September 23, 1998, SC-USRealty beneficially owned 46.0% of the
outstanding Regency common stock, or 37.5% on a fully diluted basis, and 69.9%
of the outstanding Pacific Retail voting shares. As a result, SC-USRealty
currently controls approximately 46.0% of the Regency vote and 69.9% of the
Pacific Retail vote on the merger. If the merger is consummated, SC-USRealty
will own approximately 59.4% of the outstanding Regency stock, or 52.3% on a
fully diluted basis.

Regency is a party to a stockholders agreement with SC-USRealty. Under the
stockholders agreement, as amended concurrently with the effectiveness of the
merger, SC-USRealty has the right to nominate the number of directors on
Regency's board proportionate to its ownership in Regency, rounded down to the
nearest whole number, but not more than 49% of Regency's board. Although
"standstill" provisions in the amended stockholders agreement preclude
SC-USRealty from owning more than 60% of the Regency common stock on a fully
diluted basis and limit SC-USRealty's ability to vote its shares, SC-USRealty
may exercise substantial influence over Regency's affairs.

SC-USRealty's majority ownership position and influence on the board will make
a change of control of Regency extremely unlikely without SC-USRealty's
concurrence. If the standstill ends, SC-

USRealty would be able to freely vote all of its shares of Regency common stock
and so long as it maintains its majority position to elect all the directors on
Regency's board. As a result, Regency may be a less attractive target for an
unsolicited acquisition by an outsider, which may limit the opportunity for
Regency shareholders to receive a premium for their Regency common stock.

SC-USRealty Contractual Limitations May Adversely Affect Operations

Regency has agreed with SC-USRealty to certain limitations on Regency's
operations, including restrictions relating to:

incurrence of total indebtedness exceeding 60% of the gross book value
of Regency's consolidated assets,

investments in properties other than certain shopping centers,

the amount of assets that it owns indirectly through other entities,

the amount of assets managed by third parties,

the amount of passive income produced by Regency, and

entering into joint ventures or similar arrangements.
These restrictions, which are intended to permit SC-USRealty to comply with
certain requirements of the Internal Revenue Code, and other countries' tax
laws applicable to foreign investors, limit somewhat Regency's flexibility to
structure transactions that might otherwise be advantageous to Regency.
Although Regency does not believe that the limitations imposed on its
activities will materially impair its ability to conduct its business, there

can be no assurance that those limitations will not adversely affect Regency's
operations in the future.
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Sales of Regency Stock By SC-USRealty May Adversely Affect Stock Price

So long as SC-USRealty owns more than 15% of Regency's common stock on a fully
diluted basis, SC-USRealty may not dispose of its Regency shares except:

to certain affiliates or financial institutional pledgees,

in transactions that meet the volume limitations and other requirements
of Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933,

in registered public offerings, or

in privately negotiated transactions, which must be approved by Regency,
in its sole discretion, where a private sale would result in the
transferee holding more than 9.8% of Regency's common stock.

Public sales by SC-USRealty of large amounts of Regency common stock could
adversely affect the market price of the stock.

Prohibitions on Investment by Non-U.S. Investors Limits Sale of Shares

Section 5.14 of the Regency Articles contains provisions designed to preserve
Regency's status as a domestically controlled REIT. Section 5.14 of the Regency
Articles as presently in effect invalidates the issuance or transfer of
Regency's capital stock if it would result in the fair market value of all
capital stock owned directly or indirectly by non-U.S. persons comprising 5% or
more, excluding shares owned by SC-USRealty, or 50% or more, including shares
owned by SC-USRealty, of the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital
stock.

The Regency Articles Amendment would amend Section 5.14 to make it clear that
SC-USRealty may exchange all of its Pacific Retail common shares for shares of
Regency common stock in the merger, even though non-U.S. persons will own more
than 50% of the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital stock after
the merger. As a result, Regency will no longer qualify as a domestically
controlled REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and any sale or exchange
of Regency's capital stock by a non-U.S. person during the period beginning on
the closing date and ending five years after Regency has continually qualified
as a domestically controlled REIT could be subject to taxation under the
Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 ("FIRPTA"). For a detailed
discussion regarding FIRPTA, see "The Merger--Material Federal Income Tax
Consequences--Tax Treatment of Non-U.S. Holders."

The Regency Articles Amendment prohibits the transfer by any person other than
SC-USRealty and certain related parties of Regency capital stock that will
result in such stock being owned directly or indirectly by non-U.S. persons
other than SC-USRealty and such related parties so long as non-U.S. persons own
50% or more of the fair market value of the outstanding Regency capital stock.
At any time that non-U.S persons own less than 50% of the fair market value of
the outstanding Regency capital stock, any transfer by any person (other than
SC-USRealty and such related parties) is prohibited by the Regency Articles
Amendment if it would result in the fair market value of all capital stock
owned directly or indirectly by non-U.S. persons comprising 4.9% or more
(excluding shares owned by SC-USRealty), or 50% or more (including shares owned
by SC-USRealty), of the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital
stock.

22



With or without the proposed amendment, Regency capital stock is not a suitable
investment for non-U.S. investors other than SC-USRealty, and transfers to non-
U.S. persons will be prohibited in many circumstances. Under the Regency
Articles as presently in effect and as proposed to be amended, any shares
issued or transferred in violation of the transfer restrictions in Section 5.14
will be void, or if such remedy is invalid, will be subject to the provisions
for "excess shares" described in "Description of Regency Securities--
Restrictions on Ownership."

Regency's failure to qualify as a domestically controlled REIT is not expected
to have an adverse effect on any current shareholder other than SC-USRealty.
However, the transfer restrictions summarized above will limit Regency's
ability to raise capital from non-U.S. persons and also will 1limit the ability
of shareholders other than SC-USRealty to transfer their shares to foreign
persons.

Significant Ownership by Another Institutional Investor

Opportunity Capital Partners Limited Partnership together with Opportunity
Capital Partnership II will have beneficial ownership of 3,931,386 shares of
Regency voting stock upon completion of the merger, or 6.8% of the shares
outstanding, including the 1,502,532 shares of Regency preferred stock that
they will receive in the merger. The investments of Opportunity Capital
Partners Limited Partnerships, which are investment partnerships with a pension
plan, are directed by their general partner, Opportunity Capital Corporation,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of LaSalle Advisors Limited. LaSalle
Advisors Limited also is the beneficial owner, on behalf of unrelated clients,
of Regency's Class B Common Stock and 172,100 shares of Regency common stock.
The Class B Common Stock will become convertible as a result of the merger into
2,975,468 shares of Regency common stock. As a result of the merger, LaSalle
Advisors Limited will have voting and investment control over approximately
11.7% of Regency's common stock.

Loss of Revenues from Major Tenant Could Reduce Future Cash Flow of Regency

Regency derives significant revenues from anchor tenants such as Kroger or
Publix that occupy more than one center. Kroger and Publix accounted for 3.0%
and 7.7%, respectively, of Regency's rental revenues for the year ended
December 31, 1997 and 8.8% and 7.1%, respectively, for the nine months ended
September 30, 1998. Regency could be adversely affected by the loss of revenues
in the event a major tenant:

files for bankruptcy or insolvency;

experiences a downturn in its business;

does not renew its leases as they expire; or

renews at lower rental rates.
Vacated anchor space, including space owned by the anchor, can adversely affect
the revenues generated by the entire shopping center because of the loss of the
departed anchor tenant's customer drawing power. Most anchors have the right to
vacate and prevent retenanting by paying rent for the balance of the lease

term. In addition, if certain major tenants cease to occupy a property, then
certain other tenants are entitled to terminate their leases at the property.
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If tenants seek the protection of the bankruptcy laws, they may reject and
terminate their leases and thereby cause a reduction in the cash flow available
for distribution by Regency. Such reduction could be material if a major tenant
files bankruptcy.

Regency Could be Adversely Affected by Poor Market Conditions where Properties
are Geographically Concentrated

Regency's performance depends on the economic conditions in markets in which
its properties are concentrated, including Florida and Georgia. Management
believes that the merger will lessen the impact that any single local economy
has on Regency's operating results. However, those results could be adversely
affected if conditions, such as an oversupply of space or a reduction in demand
for real estate, in Regency's primary market areas become more competitive
relative to other geographic areas. In addition, as a result of the merger,
Regency will be exposed to the risks associated with the markets in which
Pacific Retail currently operates, particularly Texas and California.

Rapid Growth Through Acquisitions Places Strain on Regency's Resources

Regency has pursued extensive growth opportunities. Regency invested $395.7
million in acquisitions during 1997 and has invested an additional $317.2
million as of September 30, 1998. This expansion has placed significant demands
on its operational, administrative and financial resources. At the time of its
initial public offering in 1993, Regency had 102 employees and assets of $150
million. However, as of December 31, 1997, Regency had 360 employees, an
increase of 350%, and assets of $827 million, an increase of 550%.

In addition, the acquisition of properties using borrowed funds increases
Regency's ratio of total indebtedness to total assets at cost, although Regency
has historically maintained a ratio of less than 50% in accordance with its
internal policy. As of September 30, 1998, the ratio of Regency's total debt to
total assets was 40.8%. You can expect the growth of Regency's real estate
portfolio, including growth by reason of the merger, to continue to place a
significant strain on Regency's operational, administrative and financial
resources. Regency's future performance depends in part on its ability to
successfully attract and retain qualified management personnel to manage
Regency's growth and operations. Accordingly, Regency may not be able to
maintain its historic rate of growth.

Partnership Structure May Limit Flexibility to Manage Regency's Assets

Regency's primary property-owning vehicle is Regency Centers, L.P., of which
Regency is the general partner. From time to time, Regency acquires properties
through Regency Centers, L.P. in exchange for limited partnership interests.
This acquisition structure may permit limited partners who contribute
properties to the partnership to defer some, if not all, of the income tax that
they would incur if they sold the property.

Properties contributed to Regency Centers, L.P. may have unrealized gain
attributable to the difference between the fair market value and adjusted tax
basis in such properties prior to contribution. As a result, the sale of such
properties could cause adverse tax consequences to the limited partners who
contributed the properties. Generally, Regency Centers, L.P. has no obligation
to consider the tax consequences of its actions to any limited partner.
However, Regency Centers, L.P. may acquire properties in the future subject to
material restrictions on refinancing or resale

24



designed to minimize the adverse tax consequences to the limited partners who
contribute the properties. These restrictions could significantly reduce
Regency's flexibility to manage its assets by preventing it from reducing
mortgage debt or selling a property when such a transaction might be in
Regency's best interests in order to reduce interest costs or dispose of an
under-performing property.

Unsuccessful Development Activities Could Reduce Cash Flow

Regency intends to pursue development activities as opportunities arise. Such
development activities generally require various government and other
approvals. Regency may not recover its investment in development projects for
which approvals are not received.

Regency will incur risks associated with any such development activities. These
risks include:

1. the risk that development opportunities explored by Regency may be
abandoned and the investment in such developments may be lost;

2. the risk that construction costs of a project may exceed original
estimates, possibly making the project unprofitable;

3. lack of cash flow during the construction period; and

4. the risk that occupancy rates and rents at a completed project will not
be sufficient to make the project profitable.

In case of an unsuccessful development project, Regency's loss could exceed its
investment in the project. Also, Regency's competitors seek properties for
development and may have greater resources than Regency.

Regency Faces Competition from Numerous Sources

The ownership of shopping centers is highly fragmented, with less than 10%
owned by REITs. Regency faces competition from other REITs in the acquisition,
ownership and leasing of shopping centers as well as from numerous small
owners. Regency competes in the development of shopping centers with other
REITs engaged in development activities as well as with local, regional and
national real estate developers.

Regency competes in the acquisition of properties through proprietary research
that identifies opportunities in markets with high barriers to entry and
higher-than-average population growth and household income. Regency seeks to
maximize rents per square foot by establishing relationships with supermarket
chains that are first or second in their markets and leasing non-anchor space
in multiple centers to national or regional tenants. Regency competes in the
development of properties by applying its proprietary research methods to
identify development and leasing opportunities and by pre-leasing an average of
85% of a center before beginning construction.

There can be no assurance, however, that other real estate owners or developers
will not utilize similar research methods and target the same markets and
anchor tenants that Regency targets or that such entities will successfully
control these markets and tenants to the exclusion of Regency.
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Increased Market Interest Rates Could Reduce Stock Prices

The annual dividend rate on the Regency common stock as a percentage of its
market price may influence the trading price of such stock. An increase in
market interest rates may lead purchasers to demand a higher annual dividend
rate, which could adversely affect the market price of such stock. A decrease
in the market price of the Regency common stock could reduce Regency's ability
to raise additional equity in the public markets.

Loss of Property Management Contracts Could Reduce Distributions to
Shareholders

Regency is subject to the risks associated with the management of properties
owned by third parties. Management contracts typically are cancelable upon 30
days' notice. Contracts may be lost due to the sale of the property or to
competitors. Contracts also may not be renewed upon expiration or on terms
consistent with current terms. Any of these developments would reduce Regency's
ability to make expected distributions to its shareholders.

Lack of Refinancing May Reduce Regency's Cash Flow

Regency does not expect to generate sufficient funds from operations to make
balloon principal payments when due on its indebtedness. Regency may not be
able to refinance such indebtedness or to otherwise obtain funds to make such
payments by selling assets or raising equity. An inability to make balloon
payments when due could cause the mortgage lenders to foreclose on the
properties securing such indebtedness, which would reduce the cash flow
available for distributions to shareholders. In addition, interest rates and
other terms on any loans obtained to refinance such indebtedness may be less
favorable than the rates on the current indebtedness, which would also reduce
Regency's cash flow.

As of September 30, 1998, 47.0% of Regency's properties were encumbered by debt
in the amount of $311.3 million. Regency also had $167.4 million of unsecured
debt outstanding as of September 30, 1998. Substantially all of Regency's debt
is cross-defaulted, but not cross-collateralized. Regency's line of credit also
imposes certain covenants which may limit Regency's flexibility in obtaining
other financing, such as limitations on floating rate debt and a prohibition on
negative pledge agreements. See "Regency--Capital Strategy."

Pacific Retail's unsecured line of credit will be consolidated with Regency's
after the merger. As of September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail had $211.5 million
outstanding under this line, together with mortgage debt of $97.1 million,
including $1.3 million of tax exempt bond financing. Substantially all of
Pacific Retail's mortgage debt is cross-defaulted, but not cross
collateralized. Regency will assume all of Pacific Retail's indebtedness upon
completion of the merger.

Increased Interest Rates May Reduce Regency's Cash Flow

Regency is obligated on floating rate debt. If Regency does not eliminate its
exposure to increases in interest rates through interest rate protection or cap
agreements, such increases may reduce cash flow and the Company's ability to
service its debt and pay expected dividends to stockholders. As of September
30, 1998, Regency had outstanding debt of $58.6 million subject to floating
interest rates, or 12.2% of its total indebtedness as of that date. As of
September 30, 1998, Regency was a party to interest rate swap agreements with
respect to $2.9 million of this floating rate debt.
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In the event of a significant increase in interest rates, Regency would
consider entering into interest rate swap or cap agreements with respect to all
or a portion of its remaining floating rate debt. Additionally, Regency is
prohibited by the terms of its unsecured line of credit from incurring other
floating rate debt in excess of 25% of the gross asset value of its assets
unless it obtains interest rate swaps, caps or collars which prevent the
effective interest rate on the portion of such other debt in excess of 25% from
increasing above 9% per year.

Although swap agreements would enable Regency to convert floating rate
liabilities to fixed rate liabilities and cap agreements would enable Regency
to cap its maximum interest rate, they would expose Regency to the risk that
the counterparties to such hedge agreements may not perform, which could
increase Regency's exposure to rising interest rates. Generally, however, the
counterparties to hedging agreements that Regency would enter into would be
major financial institutions. If Regency enters into any swap agreements in the
future, decreases in interest rates thereafter would increase Regency's
interest expense as compared to the underlying floating rate debt and could
result in Regency's making payments to unwind such agreements, such as in
connection with a prepayment of the floating rate debt. Cap agreements would
not protect Regency from increases up to the capped rate.

Costs of Environmental Remediation Could Reduce Distributions to Shareholders

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, an
owner or manager of real estate may be liable for the costs of removal or
remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances on such property. These
laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner knew of, or was
responsible for, the presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The cost of
required remediation and the owner's liability for remediation could exceed the
value of the property and/or the aggregate assets of the owner. The presence of
such substances, or the failure to properly remediate such substances, may
adversely affect the owner's ability to sell or rent the property or borrow
using the property as collateral.

Regency has approximately 31 properties and Pacific Retail has approximately 8
properties that will require or are currently undergoing varying levels of
environmental remediation. These remediations are not expected to have a
material financial effect on the combined company due to financial statement
reserves and various state-regulated programs that shift the responsibility and
cost for remediation to the state.

Regency's Shareholders Will Acquire Unseasoned Pacific Retail Portfolio

Pacific Retail acquired 25 of its 67 properties in 1997 for $440.1 million.
Additionally, as of September 30, 1998, 73.73% of Pacific Retail's properties
had been owned for less than one year, or if owned for more than one year, had
not reached 93% occupancy. Accordingly, after the merger, Regency's
shareholders will participate in the risks of absorbing a relatively new
portfolio with a significant number of properties that have not yet achieved
full occupancy.
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REGENCY

Regency acquires, owns, develops and manages neighborhood shopping centers in
targeted infill markets in the eastern half of the United States. As of
September 30, 1998, Regency owned, directly or indirectly, 125 properties,
containing approximately 14.2 million square feet of gross leasable area
("GLA"). As of September 30, 1998, Regency had an investment in real estate of
approximately $1.1 billion.

As of September 30, 1998, approximately 60% of Regency's 14.2 million square
feet of GLA was located in Georgia and Florida. Regency's shopping centers
(excluding centers under development) were approximately 92.7% leased as of
September 30, 1998.

Operating and Investment Philosophy

Regency's key operating and investment objective is to create long-term
shareholder value by:

growing its high quality real estate portfolio of grocery-anchored
neighborhood shopping centers in attractive infill markets,

maximizing the value of the portfolio through its "Retail Operating
System, " developed in conjunction with SC-USRealty, which incorporates
research based investment strategies, value-added leasing and management
systems, and customer-driven development programs, and

using conservative financial management and Regency's substantial capital
base to access the most cost effective capital to fund Regency's growth.

Management believes that the key to achieving its objective is its single focus
on, and growing critical mass of, quality grocery-anchored neighborhood
shopping centers. In the opinion of management, Regency's premier platform of
shopping centers in targeted markets, its proprietary research capabilities,
its value enhancing Retail Operating System, its cohesive and experienced
management team and its access to competitively priced capital enable it to
maintain a competitive advantage over other operators.

Regency believes that ownership of the approximately 30,000 shopping centers
throughout the United States is highly fragmented, with less than 10% owned by
REITs, and that many centers are held by unsophisticated and undercapitalized
owners. Regency has identified approximately 1,000 centers in its target
markets as potential acquisition opportunities, of which less than 10% are
owned by REITs. As a result, Regency believes that an opportunity exists for it
to be a consolidating force in the industry. In addition, Regency believes that
through proprietary demographic research and targeting, its portfolio and
tenant mix can be customized for and marketed to national and regional
retailers, thereby producing greater sales and a value-added shopping
environment for both retailer and shopper.

Regency's shopping center properties feature some of the most attractive
characteristics in the industry:

an average age of 7 years,
an average remaining grocery-anchor lease term of 13 years, and
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an average grocery-anchor size of 46,000 square feet (42% of the square
footage of the grocery-anchored centers on average).

Grocery-Anchored Infill Strategy

Regency focuses its investment strategy on grocery-anchored infill shopping
centers. Infill locations are situated in densely populated residential
communities where there are significant barriers to entry, such as zoning
restrictions, growth management laws or limited availability of sites for
development or expansions. Regency is focused on building a platform of
grocery-anchored neighborhood shopping centers because grocery stores provide
convenience shopping for daily necessities, generate foot traffic for adjacent
"side shop" tenants and should be better able to withstand adverse economic
conditions. By developing close relationships with the leading supermarket
chains, Regency believes it can attract the best "side shop" merchants and
enhance revenue potential. Based on Regency research, at September 30, 1998, 88
of Regency's shopping centers were anchored by the grocery store with the first
or second leading market share, as measured by total market sales.

Research Driven Market Selection

Regency has identified 21 markets in the eastern half of the United States as
target markets. These markets were selected because, in general, they offer
greater growth in population, household income and employment than the national
averages. In addition, Regency believes that it can achieve "critical mass" in
these markets (defined as owning or managing 4 to 5 shopping centers) and that
it can generate sustainable competitive advantages, through long-term leases to
the predominant grocery-anchor and other barriers to entry from competition.
within these markets, Regency's research staff further defines and selects
submarkets and trade areas based on additional analysis of the above data.
Regency then identifies target properties and their owners (including
development opportunities) within these submarkets and trade areas based on 3-
mile radius demographic data and ranks potential properties for purchase. The
properties currently owned by Regency are in submarkets with an average 3-mile
population of 69,000, average household income of $62,000 and projected 5-year
population growth of 12%.

Retail Operating System

Regency's Retail Operating System drives its value-added operating strategy.
Its Retail Operating System is characterized by:

proactive leasing and management;

value enhancing remerchandising initiatives;

Regency's "preferred customer initiative"; and

a customer-driven development and redevelopment program.
Proactive leasing and management
Regency's integrated approach to property management strengthens its leasing
and management efforts. Property managers are an integral component of the
acquisition and integration teams. Thorough, candid tenant interviews by
property managers during acquisition due diligence allow Regency to quickly
assess both problem areas as well as opportunities for revenue enhancement
prior to closing. Property managers are responsible not only for the general

operations of their centers, but also for coordinating leasing
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efforts, thereby aligning their interests with Regency's. In addition,
Regency's information systems allow managers to spot future lease expirations
and to proactively market and remerchandise spaces several years in advance of
such expirations.

Value enhancing remerchandising initiatives

Regency believes that certain shopping centers underserve their customers,
reducing foot traffic and negatively affecting the tenants located in the
shopping center. In response, Regency is initiating a remerchandising program
which is directed at obtaining the optimum mix of tenants offering goods,
personal services and entertainment and dining options in each of its shopping
centers. By re-tenanting shopping centers with tenants that more effectively
service the community, Regency expects to increase sales, and therefore the
value of its shopping centers.

Preferred customer initiative

Regency has established a preferred customer initiative with dedicated
personnel whose goal is to establish new and strengthen existing strategic
relationships with successful retailers at the national, regional and local
levels. Regency achieves this goal by establishing corporate relationships,
negotiating standard lease forms and working with the preferred customers to
match expansion plans with future availability in Regency's shopping centers.
Regency monitors retail trends and the operating performance of these preferred
customers. Management expects the benefits of the preferred customer initiative
to improve the merchandising and performance of the shopping centers, establish
brand recognition among leading operators, reduce turnover of tenants and
reduce vacancies. Regency currently has identified and is developing
relationships with 45 preferred customers, including Radio Shack, GNC, Hallmark
Cards, Mailboxes, Etc. and Starbucks Coffee, and continues to target additional
tenants with which to establish preferred customer relationships.

Customer-driven development and redevelopment program

Regency conducts its development and redevelopment program in close cooperation
with its major customers, including Kroger, Publix and Eckerd. Regency uses its
development capabilities to service these customer's growth needs by building
or re-developing modern properties with state of the art supermarket formats
that generate higher returns for Regency under new long-term leases. During
1997, Regency began development on 20 retail projects, including new
developments, redevelopments and build-to-suits. Upon completion, Regency will
have invested $77.4 million in these projects. In 1998, Regency has begun
development on 21 retail projects, including new developments, redevelopments
and build-to-suits. Upon completion, Regency will have invested $139 million in
these projects. Regency manages its development risk by obtaining signed anchor
leases prior to beginning construction.

Acquisition Track Record

Regency has grown its asset base significantly through acquisitions over the
last several years, acquiring properties totaling $107.1 million in 1996,
$406.9 million in 1997 and $317.2 million through September 30, 1998. Through
these acquisitions, Regency has diversified geographically from its
predominantly Florida-based portfolio and established a presence in many of its
target markets. Upon identifying an acquisition target, Regency utilizes
expertise from all of its functional areas, including acquisitions, due
diligence and property management, to determine the appropriate
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purchase price and to develop a business plan for the center and design an
integration plan for the management of the center. Regency believes that its
established acquisition and integration procedures produce higher returns on
its portfolio, reduce risk and position Regency to capitalize on consolidation
in the shopping center industry.

Capital Strategy

Regency intends to maintain a conservative capital structure designed to
enhance access to capital on favorable terms, to allow growth through
development and acquisition and to promote future earnings growth. Regency has
adopted a policy of limiting total indebtedness to 50% of total assets at cost
and maintaining a minimum debt service coverage ratio of 2:1.

As of September 30, 1998, 47.0% of Regency's properties were encumbered by debt
in the amount of $311.3 million. Regency also has $167.4 million of unsecured
debt outstanding as of September 30, 1998. Substantially all of Regency's debt
is cross-defaulted, but not cross-collateralized. Pursuant to Regency's $300
million unsecured line of credit, Regency is required to comply with certain
financial and other covenants customary with this type of unsecured financing.
These financial covenants include (i) maintenance of minimum net worth, (ii)
ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value, (iii) ratio of secured
indebtedness to gross asset value, (iv) ratio of EBITDA to interest expense,
(v) ratio of EBITDA to debt service and reserve for replacements, and (vi)
ratio of unencumbered net operating income to interest expense on unsecured
indebtedness. In addition, Regency may not enter into a negative pledge
agreement with another lender and may not incur other floating rate debt in
excess of 25% of gross asset value without interest rate protection. The line
is used primarily to finance the acquisition and development of real estate,
but is available for general working capital purposes.

Since Regency's initial public offering in 1993, Regency has financed its
growth in part through a series of public and private offerings of Regency
equity and Regency Centers, L.P. units totaling, as of September 30, 1998,
approximately $560.7 million, including the utilization by Regency Centers,
L.P. of its units as consideration for acquisitions.

Available Information

Regency files reports, proxy statements and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. The public may read and copy these reports, proxy statements and other
information at the Securities and Exchange Commission's Public Reference Room,
450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain
information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the
Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. The Securities and
Exchange Commission also maintains a Web site at http://www.sec.gov that
contains materials filed by Regency electronically with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. In addition, the public may read such materials at the New
York Stock Exchange, 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005, on which the
Regency common stock is listed. Regency also maintains a Web site at
www.regencyrealty.com.

Regency has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration
statement on Form S-4 under the Securities Act of 1933, with respect to the
Regency common stock and Regency preferred stock to be issued in the merger.
This Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus does not contain all of the
information in such registration statement. For further information, refer to
the registration statement.
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PACIFIC RETAIL
Description of Business

Pacific Retail is a Maryland real estate investment trust organized in 1995.
Pacific Retail is a fully integrated operating company focused on becoming the
preeminent owner, operator and developer of grocery and drug store anchored
neighborhood infill shopping centers in the high growth markets of the western
United States. Pacific Retail has various national and regional retail tenants
with whom it does business on an ongoing basis, including Albertson's,
Randall's, Radio Shack, General Nutrition Centers and Hallmark Cards.

At September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail's operating properties contained 7.5
million square feet of GLA and were 96.1% leased. 65 of the properties are
neighborhood infill shopping centers, of which 55 are grocery anchored and 29
are drug store anchored. The properties are located primarily in California
(42.3% of GLA), Texas (30.8% of GLA), Arizona-Colorado (9.8% of GLA) and
Washington-Oregon (17.1% of GLA). As of September 30, 1998, there were two
revenue generating properties, one in Texas and one in California, that were
classified as redevelopments and are not included as operating properties.
These properties contain a total of 536,209 square feet of GLA. For more
specific data and information about the properties owned by Pacific Retail, see
"--Properties" and "--Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations," included elsewhere in this Joint Proxy
Statement and Prospectus.

Pacific Retail continues the development and refinement of its "Retail
Operating System." This value-added retail strategy is being implemented
through three groups, the Market Research Group, the Remerchandising/Marketing
Group and the Regional Retail Group, with the objective of maximizing the
overall performance of each of Pacific Retail's neighborhood infill shopping
centers. The Market Research Group is responsible for conducting and evaluating
critical market research to identify target markets for acquisition and
development and define trade areas to determine consumer buying preferences for
each of Pacific Retail's neighborhood infill shopping centers. Based on those
findings, the Remerchandising/Marketing Group designs remerchandising and
marketing strategies for the portfolio as a whole as well as each neighborhood
infill shopping center. The Remerchandising/Marketing Group also markets
Pacific Retail's services to a targeted list of national and regional
retailers, building long-term relationships with these customers and providing
a single point of contact to meet their retail space needs. The Regional Retail
Group develops and maintains local relationships with retailers and provides
hands-on service at the local level. Pacific Retail believes that the Retail
Operating System provides it with a significant competitive advantage among its
peers. In addition, Pacific Retail has experienced capital markets, investment
and retail professionals on the Pacific Retail Board.

Pacific Retail believes that its research-driven "Retail Operating System,"
which focuses on customer service and achieving critical mass in markets with
positive demographics for retailing, will generate long-term, sustainable cash
flow growth. In the near term, targeted retenanting and remerchandising
strategies are expected to improve revenues.
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Properties

The following table provides an overview of Pacific Retail's operating property
portfolio by market as of September 30, 1998. No individual property, or group
of properties operated as a single business unit, amounts to 10% or more of
Pacific Retail's total consolidated assets nor do the gross revenues from any
such property amount to 10% or more of Pacific Retail's consolidated gross
revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997.

% of
% of Operating
Total Properties
Square Square Current Based % % Number of
Market Feet Feet Investment on Cost Leased Occupied Properties
Sacramento Area......... 236,329 3.1 $ 25,461,415 2.5 91.5 89.9 2
San Francisco Bay Area.. 1,023,576 13.6 167,170,260 16.6 96.9 93.6 11
Los Angeles County Area. 669,079 8.9 82,317,025 8.2 97.2 95.8 7
Orange County Area...... 641,783 8.5 93,918, 459 9.3 96.3 92.5 5
San Diego County Area... 610, 356 8.1 107,579,358 10.7 99.1 98.5 4
Seattle Area............ 762,560 10.1 103, 444,235 10.3 97.0 96.6 8
Portland Area........... 530,125 7.0 72,975,487 7.3 90.7 90.7 5
Dallas/Ft. Worth Area... 1,948,534 25.8 222,380,475 22.1 94.3 92.6 14
Houston Area............ 114,416 1.5 11,160, 659 1.1 97.0 97.0 1
Austin Area............. 266,763 3.5 34,701,138 3.5 99.6 97.9 2
Denver Area............. 417,862 5.5 44,028,140 4.4 99.4 99.4 4
Phoenix Area............ 326,984 4.3 40,504,962 4.0 99.0 97.8 2
Total Operating
Portfolio.............. 7,548,367 100.0% $1,005,641,613 100.0% 96.1% 94 .5% 65

Note: A significant portion (73.73%) of Pacific Retail's portfolio is
considered prestabilized. Prestabilized properties are those which have been
owned less than one year or, if owned more than one year, have not reached 93%
occupancy. There are two revenue generating properties that are classified as
redevelopments that are not included in the table above.

No single tenant of Pacific Retail provided Pacific Retail with 10% or more of
its rental revenues on an aggregated basis in the year ended December 31, 1997.

Tenants

Significant portions of the properties are occupied by major regional or
national tenants. Regional tenants are those with multiple stores in multiple
markets within the state, national tenants are those with a presence in a
majority of the states within the continental United States, and local tenants
are those whose sole presence is in a single market. Most of the shopping
centers are anchored by a regional or national retailer, some of whom own their
own land and improvements and have easements to use common areas that are owned
by Pacific Retail. To the extent that the shopping centers are anchored by
store space which Pacific Retail does not own, Pacific Retail is able to
capitalize on the customer drawing power and other advantages provided by an
anchor tenant while not bearing the leasing and operating risks associated with
leasing space to such a tenant. In most instances, these anchor tenants
contribute to common area maintenance.
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The following table shows the historical average percentage occupancy of
properties owned by Pacific Retail during the period indicated (other than
properties which are still in the initial lease-up stage). As previously
indicated Pacific Retail commenced operations in August 1995.

Year Occupancy
S 91.8%
L 91.1%
L L 93.0%
L 94 .5%

Leases and Rental Revenues

A substantial portion of Pacific Retail's income consists of minimum or base
rent received under leases typically ranging from three to five years for non-
anchor tenants and ten years or more for anchor tenants. Most of the leases
require the tenants to pay additional rent in the form of a pro rata share of
real estate taxes, common area maintenance and certain other expense
reimbursements. A substantial number of leases also provide for the payment of
additional rent calculated as a percentage of the tenant's gross sales above a
pre-determined threshold ("percentage rents"). For the year ended December 31,
1997, minimum rent and percentage rents accounted for 74.4% and 1.5%,
respectively, of revenues from the properties.

Most of the leases provide for increases in minimum rent in the future,
generally in the form of automatic fixed rate increases after specified dates,
but in some instances, provide for automatic percentage increases or increases
based on consumer price indices. A few of the retail tenant leases permit the
tenant to terminate its lease if a specified anchor tenant leaves the shopping
center. In some cases, Pacific Retail has the right to replace the vacated
anchor and void the tenant's termination right. The leases typically require
the landlord to provide for maintenance of the common areas, including
cleaning, lighting, paving, security and landscaping. Some of the shopping
center leases also require the tenant to contribute a specified amount to an
advertising and promotion fund for the shopping center, and require the
landlord to contribute to and administer the fund. The leases generally
restrict the ability of tenants to assign or sublet their spaces without the
landlord's prior written consent.

Anchor tenants generally are able to negotiate from their own lease forms
rather than using the landlord's form leases and, accordingly, the leases for
anchor tenants are not uniform. Most anchor tenants include exclusive use
provisions in their leases prohibiting the landlord from leasing space in that
property to tenants operating substantially similar businesses.
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Tenant Lease Expirations and Renewals

The following table sets forth, for leases in place as of September 30, 1998, a
schedule of the lease expirations for the properties for the next ten years,
assuming that no tenants exercise renewal options:

Average Percent of
Annualized Minimum Rent Total Leased
Minimum Rent per Sq. Ft. Sq. Footage

Lease Approximate Under Under Represented
Expiration No. of Leases Leased Area in Expiring Expiring by Expiring
Year Expiring Sq. Ft. Leases Leases Leases
1998...... 96 196, 681 $ 2,901,653 $14.75 2.71%
1999...... 229 420,350 $ 7,360,502 $17.51 5.79%
2000...... 293 770,290 $13, 249,944 $17.20 10.62%
2001...... 283 689, 840 $10, 783,318 $15.63 9.51%
2002...... 226 654,335 $ 9,874,166 $15.09 9.02%
2003...... 254 749,947 $11,129,838 $14.84 10.34%
2004...... 54 303,827 $ 4,158,441 $13.69 4.,19%
2005...... 49 331,064 $ 4,179,340 $12.62 4.56%
2006...... 54 360,638 $ 5,641,761 $15.64 4.97%
2007...... 46 381,314 $ 4,225,126 $11.08 5.26%
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Historical Financial Data of Pacific Retail

The following table sets forth selected financial data relating to the results
of operations and historical financial condition of Pacific Retail as of and
for the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and September 30, 1997 and the
years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996, and as of and for the period from
inception (April 27, 1995) through December 31, 1995 (amounts in thousands,
except per share data and property data). Such selected financial data is
qualified in its entirety by and should be read in conjunction with "--
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the financial statements and notes of Pacific Retail included
elsewhere in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus.

Nine Months Period
Ended Year Ended Ended
September 30, December 31, December 31,
1998 1997 1997 1996 1995
(Unaudited)
Operating Data:
Revenues:
Rental revenues............ $ 90,500 54,092 79,002 27,513 1,816
Management, leasing and
brokerage fees............ 46 352 392 53 11
Total revenues......... 90,546 54,444 79,394 27,566 1,827
Operating expenses:
Operating, maintenance and
real estate taxes......... 21,393 13,385 19,739 6,719 473
General and administrative. 6,937 4,767 6,542 3,566 511
Depreciation and
amortization 17,058 10,210 14,715 5,083 350
Total operating
EXPENSES. ' v ernrrnan. 45,388 28,362 40,996 15,368 1,334
Interest expense net of
income. ......oviiiin i 11,013 7,580 11,187 2,134 98
Income before minority
interests......ociiiiiinnn. 34,145 18,502 27,211 10,064 395
Minority interests of
redeemable operating
partnership units.......... 606 354 491 193 --
Minority interest of
development subsidiary..... (28) -- (1) -- --
Net income.............ouu.n 33,567 18,148 26,721 9,871 395
Preferred share dividends... 1,764 1,646 2,195 1,177 112
Net income for common
shareholders............... $ 31,803 16,502 24,526 8,694 283
Earnings per share (EPS):
BasiC.......oviiiiiinnnn $ 0.50 0.44 0.61 0.54 0.18
Diluted............covvnn. $ 0.49 0.44 0.61 0.54 0.18
Distributions per common
share. ... $ 0.58 0.54 0.72 0.62 0.11
Other Data:
Common stock outstanding.... 64,059 44,367 64,023 23,960 5,400
Preferred shares Series A... 1,130 1,130 1,130 1,130 1,130
Preferred shares Series B... 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 --
Company owned gross leasable
Ar€a. . v v it it i 8,085 6,164 6,806 3,718 798
Number of properties owned
at end of period........... 71 48 56 29 6
Balance Sheet Data:
Real estate investments..... $1,080,740 748,649 851,458 380,070 63,790
Total assetS......uvvurnrnnn. $1,073,637 750,237 857,244 400,176 68,452
Total debt......vvvvvvninnnn $ 328,159 248,399 118,114 122,636 3,478
Minority interest........... $ 19,346 7,650 7,681 7,710 --
Shareholders' equity........ $ 726,131 494,188 731,450 269,830 64,975
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the "--Historical
Financial Data of Pacific Retail" and all of the financial statements appearing
elsewhere in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus. Historical results and
percentage relationships set forth in "Historical Financial Data of Pacific
Retail" and the Pro Forma Balance Sheet and Statements of Earnings for Pacific
Retail are not indicative of future operations of Pacific Retail.

The statements contained in this discussion that are not historical are
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on
current expectations, estimates and projections about the industry and markets
in which Pacific Retail operates, management's beliefs and assumptions made by
management. Words such as "expect," "anticipates," "intends," "plans,"
"believes," "seeks," "estimates," "should," variations of such words and
similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements.
These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain
risks, uncertainties and assumptions ("Future Factors"). Future Factors
include: (i) changes in general economic conditions in its target markets that
could adversely affect Pacific Retail's customers; (ii) changes in financial
markets and interest rates that could adversely affect Pacific Retail's cost of
capital and its ability to meet its financial needs and obligations;

(iii) increased or unanticipated competition for development properties in
Pacific Retail's target markets and (iv) those factors discussed below. These
are representative of Future Factors that could affect the outcome of the
forward-looking statements.

Results of Operations
Interim Period Results

Net earnings for the nine-month period ended September 30, 1998 were $33.6
million ($0.50 per share) as compared to $18.1 million ($0.44 per share) for
the same period in 1997. As of September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail had 65
operating properties as compared to 47 operating properties in the first three
quarters of 1997. The increase in operating properties resulted in increases in
rental revenues ($36.1 million), rental expenses ($4.9 million), real estate
taxes ($3.1 million) and depreciation ($6.8 million) in the nine-month period
ended September 30, 1998 as compared to the same period in 1997.

Interest expense in the nine-month period ended September 30, 1998 was $11.6
million as compared to $7.8 million for the nine-month period ended September
30, 1997. The increase in interest expense of $3.8 million is primarily a
result of increases in the line of credit to fund the additional properties
acquired. Pacific Retail's weighted average short-term interest rate for the
first three quarters of 1998 was 7.03% as compared to 7.56% in the first three
quarters of 1997.

Costs related directly to the acquisition, development and improvement of real
estate, including tenant improvements, are capitalized; ordinary repairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in connection with
unsuccessful acquisitions are expensed at the time acquisition efforts are
terminated. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the expected
economic useful lives, which are principally 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements.
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Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121
("SFAS 121"). Under SFAS 121, Pacific Retail recognizes impairment losses on
property whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of long-lived assets, on an individual property basis, may not
be recoverable through undiscounted future cash flows. Such losses are
determined by comparing the sum of the expected future discounted net cash
flows to the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in
operating income as they are determined. As of December 31, 1997 no impairment
losses have been incurred.

Earnings per Share

Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Standards No. 128 ("SFAS
128"), which establishes standards for computing and presenting earnings per
share ("EPS"). Basic EPS excludes the effect of potentially dilutive securities
while diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that would occur if dilutive
securities or other contracts to issue common shares were exercised, converted
into, or resulted in the issuance of Pacific Retail common shares that then
shared in the earnings of the company.

In March 1998, the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") finalized Issue 97-11,
requiring all internal costs associated with acquiring operating properties to
be expensed as incurred. Pacific Retail has applied this policy prospectively.
The application of this policy has resulted in Pacific Retail expensing
approximately $269,000 in costs which would have been capitalized through
September 30, 1998.

In July 1998, the EITF finalized Issue 98-9, requiring contingent rent based on
the lessee's sales volume to be recognized when specified targets are met.
Pacific Retail has applied this policy prospectively since May 1998. By not
recognizing contingent rent until specific targets are met Pacific Retail has
not accrued approximately $244,400 in additional income through September 30,
1998.

1997 Compared to 1996

Net earnings in 1997 were $26.7 million ($0.61 per share), an increase of $16.9
million from net earnings in 1996 of $9.8 million ($0.54 per share).

Property Operations. Rental revenues for 1997 increased $51.5 million over
revenues for 1996. In 1997, rental expenses, and insurance expenses and real
estate taxes increased over the 1996 levels by $5.9 million and $7.2 million,
respectively. These increases in revenue and expenses are attributable to the
acquisition of an additional 25 operating properties in 1997.

Including the newly acquired and developed assets, income from property
operations (which is defined as rental income plus other real estate income,
less rental expenses and insurance expenses and real estate taxes) increased
$38.4 million for 1997 over 1996. Depreciation expense increased $9.6 million
for 1997 over 1996. These increases are almost entirely related to the
increased number of assets in operation.

Cash provided by operating activities was $53.3 million in 1997, an increase of
$52.8 million from the 1996 level. This increase is primarily the result of
operating income before depreciation from the
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additional 25 properties acquired in 1997 and the full year of ownership of
properties acquired during 1996 coupled with a decrease at the end of 1997 in
funds escrowed for the acquisition of properties.

Properties Fully Operating Throughout Both Periods. Pacific Retail owned six
properties for the full years of 1996 and 1997. The net operating income of
those six properties decreased from $5.69 million in 1996 to $5.58 million in
1997 or (1.98%). The primary reason for the decrease in net operating income
was the initial implementation of Pacific Retail's remerchandising plan with
regard to these properties which resulted in slightly increased costs to
Pacific Retail and a decrease in current tenant occupancy.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for 1997 was $9.4 million higher than for
1996. This was the result of the line of credit being utilized extensively
during the year for acquisitions until December 1997 when the issuance of
additional Pacific Retail common shares provided funds to reduce the amount of
the outstanding line of credit.

1996 Compared to 1995

In 1996, net earnings increased by $9.5 million over 1995; $9.9 million ($0.54
per share) in 1996 as compared to $0.39 million ($0.18 per share) in 1995. The
increase was the result of 1996 being the first full year of operations and the
addition of 21 more operating properties during 1996.

Rental revenues were $27.5 million in 1996 as compared to $1.8 million in 1995.
This increase of $25.7 million is primarily the result of the addition of 21
more operating properties during 1996.

The increased number of operating properties in operation generated less cash
in 1996 as compared to 1995. Cash provided by operating activities was $0.5
million in 1996 as compared to $1.4 million in 1995. The primary reason for the
decrease in cash provided by operating activities is that funds deposited in
escrow for the purchase of additional properties increased by approximately
$16.4 million from the end of 1995 to the end of 1996.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Pacific Retail considers its liquidity and ability to generate cash from
operations and financings to be adequate and expects it to continue to be
adequate to meet Pacific Retail's development, acquisition, operating, debt
service and shareholder distribution requirements.

Investing and Financing Activities

Overview. Pacific Retail's investment activities, which consisted primarily of
acquiring and developing retail properties, used approximately $197.4 million,
$396.5 million, $297.2 million and $52.5 million of cash for the nine-month
period ended September 30, 1998, the two years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996
and the period ended December 31, 1995, respectively.

Pacific Retail's financing activities provided net cash flow of $150.7 million,
$345.6 million, $295.9 million and $53.9 million for the nine-month period
ended September 30, 1998, the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996 and the
period ended December 31, 1995, respectively. Combined proceeds from equity
offerings of $0.07 million in the nine-month period ended September 30, 1998,
$466.0 million, net of expenses, in 1997, $206.3 million in 1996, and $54.0
million in 1995 were the
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primary source of financing funds. Proceeds from line of credit borrowings, net
of repayments, were $197.9 million in the nine-month period ended September 30,
1998, $74.4 million in 1996 and $0.6 million in 1995. For the year ended
December 31, 1997, net repayments exceeded borrowings by $61.4 million.

First Three Quarters of 1998 Investing and Financing Activities. During the
three quarters of 1998, Pacific Retail's additional investment in real estate
aggregated $197.4 million, primarily as a result of continued acquisition
activity. This investment included the acquisitions of land parcels for the
development of properties with a GLA of 252,810 square feet. These additional
properties brought Pacific Retail's total portfolio to a GLA of 8.3 million
square feet at September 30, 1998 (7.5 million square feet of GLA of operating
properties and 0.8 million square feet of GLA of properties under construction
and in planning). The additional investment during the first three quarters of
1998 was financed primarily through proceeds from the line of credit. Also
during this period, Pacific Retail began construction on two properties with an
aggregate GLA of 252,810 square feet.

At September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail had $77.1 million of budgeted development
costs for projects under construction. These developments are subject to a
number of conditions, and Pacific Retail cannot predict with certainty that any
of them will be consummated.

1997 Investing and Financing Activities. 1In 1997, Pacific Retail acquired
existing operating properties with an aggregate GLA of 3.1 million square feet.
The cost of the 25 operating properties acquired in 1997 was $440.1 million. At
December 31,1997, Pacific Retail's operating property portfolio aggregated 6.4
million square feet of GLA. Pacific Retail's development portfolio at the end
of 1997 included a property with a GLA of 443,924 square feet under
construction and properties with a GLA of 234,900 square feet in planning with
an estimated cost upon completion of $33.6 million.

During 1997, Pacific Retail's net additional investment in real estate was
$471.4 million bringing its total real estate investment at December 31, 1997
to $851.5 million. Sales of Pacific Retail common shares generated the largest
source of capital in 1997. Pacific Retail sold $465.9 million of Pacific Retail
common shares, net of share repurchases, through 10 private placements. In
connection with the acquisition of certain properties in 1997, Pacific Retail
assumed $74.9 million in existing debt. At December 31, 1997, Pacific Retail's
outstanding balance on its line of credit was $13.6 million.

1996 Investing and Financing Activities. Pacific Retail's investment strategy
in 1996 focused on two components: the acquisition of a substantial base of
existing operating properties to provide operating cash flow and the creation
of an internal development process. During 1996, Pacific Retail acquired 22
operating properties. At December 31, 1996, Pacific Retail had an aggregated
GLA of 3.7 million square feet in its portfolio, 443,924 square feet of which
was under development. The one project under development had an estimated
completion cost of $26.3 million.

Pacific Retail's investment in real estate at December 31, 1996 aggregated
$380.1 million. The additional investment of approximately $316.3 million in
1996 was financed through the sale of additional Pacific Retail common shares
generating approximately $206.3 million, an increase in the line of credit
balance from $0.6 million to $75 million and a bridge loan of $26.5 million.
Pacific Retail assumed existing debt of $11.4 million associated with certain
of the properties acquired.
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1995 Investing and Financing Activities. Pacific Retail's initial portfolio
investment consisted of the acquisition of six operating properties (with a GLA
of 798,198 square feet) located in Texas.

Pacific Retail's investment in real estate at December 31, 1995 aggregated
$63.8 million, which was primarily financed by the issuance of $54.0 million of
Pacific Retail common shares and $11.3 million of Pacific Retail Series A
preferred shares.

Line of Credit-Secured. On December 27, 1995, Pacific Retail entered into a
credit agreement with a group of lenders to provide a secured line of credit up
to a maximum of $50 million. On July 19, 1996, the credit agreement was amended
to increase the secured line of credit to a maximum of $75 million. On November
14, 1997, the secured line of credit agreement was amended. Under the amended
credit agreement, borrowings bear interest at the greater of prime or federal
funds rate plus .50% or, at Pacific Retail's option, LIBOR plus a margin of
1.25%, if the ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value is less than 0.35
to 1.0, or 1.40% if the ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value is
greater than or equal to 0.35 to 1.0. Additionally, there is a fee of .125% per
annum of the average daily unfunded line of credit balance, or a fee of 0.25%
per annum of the average daily line of credit balance if the average daily
balance for both the secured and unsecured lines of credit is greater than $100
million. Interest is paid monthly based on the unpaid principal balance. On

May 18, 1998, the credit agreement was amended; the secured line of credit was
paid in full and terminated through the use of funds from the unsecured line of
credit. The weighted average interest rates for the period from January 1, 1998
to May 18, 1998 and the year ended December 31, 1997 were 7.11% and 7.4%
respectively. The interest rate at December 31, 1997 was 8.5%.

Lines of Credit-Unsecured. On March 28, 1997, Pacific Retail entered into a
credit agreement with a group of lenders to provide an unsecured line of credit
up to a maximum of $75 million. On November 14, 1997, the unsecured line of
credit was increased to a maximum of $125 million. On May 18, 1998, the credit
agreement was amended and the unsecured line of credit was increased to $350
million. Borrowings bear interest at the greater of prime or federal funds rate
plus 0.50% or, at Pacific Retail's option, LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25%, if the
ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value is less than 0.35 to 1.0, or
1.40% if the ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value is greater than or
equal to 0.35 to 1.0 and less than 0.5 to 1.0. Additionally, there is a fee of
0.125% per annum of the daily average unfunded line of credit balance, or a fee
of 0.25% per annum of the average daily unfunded line of credit balance if the
average daily balance is greater than $175 million. Interest is paid monthly
based on the unpaid principal balance. The weighted average interest rate for
the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and the period from March 28, 1997 to
December 31, 1997 were 7.01% and 7.7% respectively. There were no borrowings
outstanding under the unsecured line of credit at December 31, 1997. The
outstanding borrowings at September 30, 1998 were $211.5 million and the
interest rate was 6.87%.

On December 19, 1996, Pacific Retail entered into a credit agreement with a
group of lenders. The agreement, amended on December 27, 1996, provided for an
unsecured line of credit up to $32.5 million. Borrowings under the loan bore
interest at the same rate as the original secured line of credit. Pacific
Retail entered into a "negative pledge" agreement whereby it pledged not to
encumber certain of its properties with any debt until after the repayment of
the funds borrowed under the loan. The interest rate at December 31, 1996 was
8.0%. The loan was repaid in January 1997.
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Mortgage Debt. At September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail had approximately $95.7
million of mortgages payable and approximately $1.3 million of tax exempt bond
issues. This long-term mortgage debt, which is substantially fully amortizing,
has a weighted average interest rate of 8.8% and an average maturity of 7.86
years, thus providing Pacific Retail with favorable and conservative financial
leverage on the investment in the properties associated with such debt.

Distributions and Funds from Operations

Pacific Retail's current distribution policy is to pay quarterly distributions
to shareholders based upon what Pacific Retail considers to be a reasonable
percentage of cash flow. Because depreciation is a non-cash expense, cash flow
typically will be greater than earnings from operations and net earnings.
Therefore, quarterly distributions will be higher than quarterly earnings.

Distributions paid on shares in 1997, 1996 and 1995 aggregated $31.1 million
($0.72 per share), $11.3 million ($0.62 per share) and $0.7 million ($0.11 per
share), respectively. The distributions paid were in excess of net earnings in
both 1997 and 1996 resulting in decreases in shareholders' equity of $6.1
million in 1997 and $1.7 million in 1996.

The payment of distributions is subject to the discretion of the Pacific Retail
board and is dependent upon the financial condition and operating results of
Pacific Retail. On March 31, 1998, Pacific Retail paid a quarterly distribution
of $0.1925 per share for shares outstanding throughout the first quarter, on
June 30, 1998 Pacific Retail paid a quarterly distribution of $0.1925 per share
for shares outstanding throughout the second quarter and on September 30, 1998
Pacific Retail paid a quarterly distribution of $0.1925 per share for shares
outstanding throughout the third quarter. The distributions paid in total
aggregated approximately $38.7 million for the first three quarters of 1998.

Funds from operations represents Pacific Retail's net earnings (computed in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") before
minority interest and before gains/losses on disposition of depreciated
property, plus real estate depreciation and amortization, significant non-
recurring items and significant non-cash items. Pacific Retail believes that
funds from operations is helpful to a reader as a measure of the performance of
an equity REIT because, along with cash flow from operating activities,
financing activities and investing activities, it provides a reader with an
indication of the ability of Pacific Retail to incur and service debt, to make
capital expenditures and to fund other cash needs. Under this more conservative
definition, loan cost amortization is not added back to net earnings in
determining funds from operations. The funds from operations measure presented
by Pacific Retail, while consistent with the National Association of Real
Estate Investment Trusts ("NAREIT") definition, will not be comparable to
similarly titled measures of other REITs which do not compute funds from
operations in a manner consistent with Pacific Retail. Funds from operations
are not intended to represent cash made available to shareholders. Funds from
operations should not be considered as an alternative to net earnings or any
other GAAP measurement of performance as an indicator of Pacific Retail's
operating performance, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating,
investing or financing activities as a measure of liquidity.

Funds from operations were $49.1 million and $26.9 million for the nine-month
periods ended September 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Funds from operations
were $39.5 million and $13.9 million and $0.627 million for the years ended
December 31, 1997 and 1996 and the period ended
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December 31, 1995, respectively. The aggregate increases corresponded with the
increased number of properties in operation in each year.

For the nine-month periods ended September 30, 1998 and 1997, operating cash
flow was $42.7 million and $42.1 million, respectively, while financing
activities provided $150.7 million and $252.7 million, respectively, in
additional cash. Acquisition activities for the same periods used $197.4
million and $293.7 million, respectively, resulting in a net cash decrease of
$4.1 million and a net cash increase of $1.1 million for the nine-month periods
ended September 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively. For the years ended December
31, 1997 and 1996 and the period ended December 31, 1995, operating cash flow
was $53.4 million, $0.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively, while financing
activities provided an additional $345.6 million, $295.8 million and $53.9
million, respectively. Acquisition activities for the same periods used $396.5
million, $297.2 million and $52.5 million, respectively, resulting in a net
cash increase of $2.5 million, a net cash decrease of $0.9 million and a net
cash increase of $2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996
and the period ended December 31, 1995.

Impact of Year 2000

The Year 2000 issue is the result of computer programs being written using two
digits rather than four to define the applicable year. Certain computer
programs that have time-sensitive software may recognize a date using "00" as
the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. This could result in a system failure
or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations, including, among other
things, a temporary inability to process transactions, send invoices, or engage
in similar business activities.

Pacific Retail has undertaken a review of all of its computer systems and
applications to determine if these programs are Year 2000 compliant and if not,
the efforts that will be necessary to bring the programs into compliance. The
review has indicated that all network hardware and operating systems are
compliant based upon certification of the vendors. The workstation operating
systems and workstation application hardware have been certified by the vendors
to be compliant. The workstations are currently under review and those not
deemed to be compliant will be replaced or modified before February 1999. The
cost of replacement or modification is not expected to be material. All major
accounting and financial reporting applications are certified compliant by the
vendors with the exception of two special application modules which are to be
replaced, tested and certified by vendors by December 1998. Surveys conducted
with major vendors have revealed no critical issues. Several utility companies
have indicated that Year 2000 problems currently exist, but are all currently
engaged in programs to reduce or totally repair those problems during 1999.

Investment Policies of Pacific Retail
Pacific Retail's Business Strategies and Philosophy

Pacific Retail's key business objectives are to increase cash flow and the
value of its properties, and to pursue continued growth through the selective
acquisition, development, renovation, remerchandising and expansion of income
producing properties, principally shopping centers. Pacific Retail's strategies
for achieving these objectives are to:

intensively manage and lease its properties with a strong emphasis on
tenant relations, regular maintenance, periodic improvements, and
effective in-house support systems;
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seek continued growth by selectively acquiring and developing additional
quality properties with attractive yields and strong prospects for future
cash flow growth and capital appreciation, focusing primarily on grocery
and drug store anchored and well-located infill neighborhood shopping
centers that have sustainable competitive leasing advantages;

maintain a conservative capital structure with a ratio of debt to total
market capitalization that is contemplated to be no more than 45%; and

cultivate management expertise and strong client relationships by
continuing to attract, motivate and retain talented and dedicated
employees at every level of Pacific Retail.

Pacific Retail believes that the key to successful implementation of these
strategies is to continue to exploit its competitive strengths, which are,
principally, its real estate expertise and depth of management professionals,
its strong relationships with tenants, institutional investors and lenders, and
its proximity to tenants, properties and markets through its offices in Dallas,
Los Angeles, San Francisco, Denver, Irvine, San Diego, Seattle and Portland.

Policies With Respect To Certain Activities

The following is a discussion of investment and financing policies of Pacific
Retail. The policies with respect to these activities have been determined by
the Pacific Retail Board of Trustees and may be amended or revised from time to
time at the discretion of the Pacific Retail Board of Trustees without a vote
of Pacific Retail's shareholders.

Investment Policies

The investment objectives of Pacific Retail are to increase cash flow available
for distributions and to enhance portfolio value. Pacific Retail's policy is to
manage, selectively acquire and develop assets for generation of additional
current income and long-term value appreciation.

Pacific Retail may develop, purchase or lease income-producing properties for
long-term investment, expand and improve the properties presently owned, or
sell such properties, in whole or in part, when circumstances warrant. Pacific
Retail may also participate with other entities in property ownership through
joint ventures or other types of co-ownership.

Financing Policies

Pacific Retail intends to maintain a conservative ratio of debt to total market
capitalization (i.e., the market value of issued and outstanding shares of
Pacific Retail common shares plus total debt) of no more than 45%. The debt-to-
total-market-capitalization ratio, which is based upon market values of equity
and accordingly fluctuates with changes in the price of the Pacific Retail
common shares, differs from debt-to-book-capitalization ratios which are based
upon book values. The debt-to-book-capitalization ratio may not reflect the
current income potential of the assets and the operating business. Pacific
Retail believes that debt-to-total-market-capitalization provides a more
appropriate indication of leverage for a company whose assets are primarily
operating real estate.

Pacific Retail may from time to time re-evaluate its borrowing policies in
light of changes in current economic conditions, relative costs of debt and
equity capital, market values of properties, growth
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and acquisition opportunities and other factors. Pacific Retail may modify its
borrowing policy and may increase or decrease its ratio of debt to total market
capitalization. To the extent that the board of trustees determines to seek
additional capital, Pacific Retail may raise such capital through additional
equity offerings, debt financing or retention of cash flow (subject to
provisions in the Internal Revenue Code requiring the distribution by a REIT of
a certain percentage of taxable income and taking into account taxes that would
be imposed on undistributed taxable income), or a combination of these methods.
A change in Pacific Retail's debt capitalization policies could result in a
more highly leveraged Pacific Retail with an increased risk of default on
indebtedness, an increase in debt service costs and a decrease in the amounts
distributed to holders of Pacific Retail common shares.

Additional Information
Acquisitions

Since August 1995, Pacific Retail has closed on over $1.0 billion of
acquisitions and has expanded its management team in California and the Pacific
Northwest. Acquisitions in 1997 totaled $453.7 million. As of September 30,
1998, Pacific Retail owned 65 neighborhood infill shopping centers containing
approximately 7.5 million square feet excluding development or redevelopment
properties. Its target markets include 21 high-growth markets in the western
half of the United States. As of September 30, 1998, the operating properties
owned by Pacific Retail were 96.1% leased. As of September 30, 1998, Pacific
Retail employed approximately 131 people.

Competition

There are numerous shopping center developers, real estate companies and other
owners of real estate that operate in the western United States that compete
with Pacific Retail in seeking retail tenants to occupy vacant space, for the
acquisition of shopping centers, and for the development of new shopping
centers.

Environmental Matters

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, a
current or previous owner, developer or operator of real estate may be liable
for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic
substances at, on, under or in its property. The costs of such removal or
remediation of such substances could be substantial. Such laws often impose
such liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was
responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. The
presence of such substances, or the failure to remediate or operate and manage
properly such substances, may adversely affect the owner's ability to sell or
rent such real estate or to borrow using such real estate as collateral.
Pacific Retail has not been notified by any governmental authority of any non-
compliance, liability or other claim in connection with any of the properties
owned or being acquired by it that are likely to be material, and Pacific
Retail is not aware of any environmental condition with respect to any of its
properties that is likely to be material. Pacific Retail has subjected each of
its properties to a Phase I environmental assessment (which does not involve
invasive procedures such as soil sampling or ground water analysis) by
independent consultants. While some of these assessments have led to further
investigation and sampling, none of the environmental assessments has revealed,
nor is Pacific Retail aware of, any environmental
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liability (including asbestos-related liability) that Pacific Retail believes
would have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or
results of operations. No assurance can be given, however, that these
assessments and investigations reveal all potential environmental liabilities,
that no prior owner or operator created any material environmental condition
not known to Pacific Retail or the independent consultants or that future uses
or conditions (including, without limitation, tenant actions or changes in
applicable environmental laws and regulations) will not result in unreimbursed
costs relating to environmental liabilities.

Insurance Coverage

Pacific Retail believes that all of its properties are adequately insured;
however, an uninsured loss could result in loss of capital investment and
anticipated profits.

Tax Basis

Pacific Retail's basis in the properties for Federal income tax purposes is its
cost basis. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from five to seven years for
personal property and 10 to 40 years for depreciable real property.

Real Estate Taxes

Pacific Retail's real estate taxes for the year ended December 31, 1997, were
approximately $10.0 million. Substantially all the leases for the properties
contain provisions requiring tenants to pay as additional rent a proportionate
share of real estate tax increases.

Market Price of Shares and Dividends

There is no established public trading market for the Pacific Retail common
shares or the Pacific Retail preferred shares. The following table sets forth
the Pacific Retail distributions per share for the periods indicated.

Distributions per Share(1)

Common Preferred A Preferred B

Shares Shares Shares

1996

First Quarter.........uiiiiiiiiiieiinnnnnnns $0.150 $0.137 --

Second QUArter. .o v vttt s 0.150 0.137 --

Third Quarter. ...t it 0.150 0.137 $0.150

Fourth Quarter........coiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnennns 0.174 0.161 0.174
1997

First Quarter....... .ot 0.180 0.167 0.180

Second QUarter. ...t e 0.180 0.167 0.180

Third QuUarter. ... ...ttt 0.180 0.167 0.180

Fourth Quarter....... .ot nnnns 0.180 0.167 0.180
1998

First QUarter......viiiiinr ittt nans 0.1925 0.1795 0.1925

Second QUArter . v v vttt s 0.1925 0.1795 0.1925

Third QuUarter. ...t it 0.1925 0.1795 0.1925

Fourth Quarter........ ..o 0.1925 0.1795 0.1925
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and pay distributions based on the number of days of ownership during the
period, resulting in multiple record dates which correspond with the dates
additional shares are issued.

For federal income tax purposes, distributions may consist of ordinary income,
capital gains, non-taxable return of capital or a combination thereof.
Distributions that exceed Pacific Retail's current and accumulated earnings and
profits (calculated for tax purposes) constitute a return of capital rather
than a dividend and reduce the shareholder's basis in the common shares. To the
extent that a distribution exceeds both current and accumulated earnings and
profits and the shareholder's basis in the Pacific Retail common shares, it
will generally be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of that
shareholder's Pacific Retail common shares. Pacific Retail annually notifies
shareholders of the taxability of distributions paid during the preceding year.
The following summarizes the taxability of distributions paid in 1995, 1996 and
1997 on the common shares:

Year Ended
December 31,

Per Common Share:

Ordinary INCOME . . v v iin sttt ettt in st st e it 0.673 0.576 0.058
Capital GadinsS. ...ttt ittt s s 0.000 0.000 0.000
Return of Capital..... .ottt 0.045 0.046 0.051

L1 1 8 B $0.719 0.622 0.110

Under federal income tax rules, Pacific Retail's earnings and profits are first
allocated to its preferred shares, which increases the portion of the Pacific
Retail common shares distribution classified as return of capital. The portion
of distributions characterized as return of capital results primarily from the
excess of distributions over earnings primarily because non-cash charges such
as depreciation are added to earnings in determining distribution levels.

The taxability information for 1995 is based upon the best available data.
Pacific Retail's tax returns have not been examined by the Internal Revenue
Service and, therefore, the taxability of dividends is subject to change.

The total distribution required to maintain Pacific Retail's REIT status for
tax purposes was $26.2 million for 1997, $9.5 million for 1996, and $0.3
million for 1995. Pacific Retail distributed $31.1 million, $11.3 million, and
$0.7 million in 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively.

As of December 28, 1998, Pacific Retail had approximately 280 record holders of
Pacific Retail common shares and one record holder of each class of Pacific
Retail preferred shares.
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THE COMBINED COMPANY

Regency expects the combined company resulting from the merger to have the
following important characteristics, which are intended to create long-term
shareholder value:

the first company to focus on operating, owning and providing third-
party services for grocery-anchored infill retail centers throughout
the U.S.;

use of proprietary research through the Retail Operating System to
identify investment opportunities for the combined entity (and
expansion opportunities for national retailers) in markets and
submarkets throughout the United States that have:

high barriers to entry and

faster population growth and a higher average household income
than national averages;

close relationships with leading supermarket chains that are first or
second in their markets which can be expanded on a national basis;

"preferred customer' initiatives with top retailer shop space tenants
to create multiple leasing opportunities throughout the U.S. beyond
each company's current regional focus;

operating and financial efficiencies of over $5 million annually by
the year 2000, primarily from:

more favorable access to debt and equity markets because of size
and geographic diversification;

cost savings by reducing common overhead; and

a combined management team with common operating philosophies and
methods.

Regency and Pacific Retail also expect the merger to have the following
potential detriments to present holders of Regency stock and Pacific Retail
shares:

. The merger consideration is fixed, but the market price of Regency
common stock may change. Accordingly, the Regency common stock and
Regency preferred stock that Regency will issue in exchange for the
Pacific Retail common shares and Pacific Retail preferred shares may
have a greater or lower aggregate value than the value contemplated
at the time the Merger Agreement was signed.

. As of September 23, 1998, SC-USRealty owned 46.0% of the outstanding
Regency common stock and 69.9% of the outstanding Pacific Retail
common shares and preferred shares. SC-USRealty will own
approximately 59.4% of the outstanding Regency common stock (52.3% on
a fully diluted basis) as a result of the merger. A change in control
without SC-USRealty's concurrence will be impossible after the
merger. Additionally, public sales by SC-USRealty of Regency common
stock after the merger could adversely affect the market price of the
stock due to the large number of shares that SC-USRealty will hold.

. The size of the transaction may make rapid integration of Regency and
Pacific Retail more difficult.
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Regency shareholders and Pacific Retail shareholders will become
subject to the real estate risks of the markets in which the other
company currently operates.

Regency will no longer qualify as a "domestically controlled REIT"
for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The potential benefits and detriments may affect the value of shares in the
combined company and should therefore be considered in voting for or against
the merger.

Following the merger, Regency will continue to be taxed as a REIT under the
Internal Revenue Code and be organized as a corporation under the laws of the
State of Florida. Regency's headquarters will be located at 121 West Forsyth
Street, Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (telephone: (904) 356-7000) with regional
offices in Atlanta, Cincinnati, Denver, Dallas, Los Angeles, St. Louis and San
Francisco.
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THE MERGER
Terms of the Merger

The Regency Board and the Pacific Retail Board have each approved the merger
and the Merger Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Annex A and
incorporated herein by reference. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, among other
things, upon satisfaction (or waiver) of the conditions set forth therein, at
the effective time of the merger:

Pacific Retail will be merged with and into Regency, with Regency
being the surviving entity,

each issued and outstanding Pacific Retail common share will be
converted into the right to receive 0.48 share of Regency common
stock, and

each issued and outstanding Pacific Retail preferred share will be
converted into the right to receive 0.48 share of a corresponding
series of Regency preferred stock.

No fractional shares of Regency common stock or Regency preferred stock will be
issued in the merger. In lieu thereof, a holder of Pacific Retail shares
otherwise entitled to a fractional share will be paid cash in respect of such
fractional interest based on the average closing price of a share of Regency
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the 10 consecutive trading days
ending on the fifth day immediately preceding the effective time of the merger.

As a result of the merger and without any action on the part of the holder
thereof, at the effective time, each Pacific Retail share will cease to be
outstanding, will be canceled and retired and will cease to exist. Each holder
of a certificate representing Pacific Retail common shares or Pacific Retail
preferred shares will thereafter cease to have any rights with respect to such
shares, except the right to receive the Regency common stock or Regency
preferred stock, as applicable, and cash in lieu of fractional shares upon the
surrender of such certificate. Promptly after the effective time of the merger,
Regency will mail a letter of transmittal and instructions to each holder of a
certificate representing Pacific Retail shares as of the effective time for use
in effecting the surrender of the certificate in exchange for certificates
representing Regency stock and cash in lieu of fractional shares. See "The
Merger Agreement--Exchange of Pacific Retail Share Certificates."

The Subsidiary Mergers

In addition to the merger of Pacific Retail into Regency, certain subsidiaries
of Pacific Retail are expected to be merged into subsidiaries of Regency.

The Management Company Merger

PRT Development Corporation, Pacific Retail's non-qualified REIT subsidiary, is
expected to be merged with and into Regency Realty Group, Inc., Regency's non-
qualified REIT subsidiary, at or after the effective time of the Pacific
Retail/Regency merger, subject to applicable consents, including that of SC-
USRealty. The non-qualified REIT subsidiaries engage in development activities
and the leasing and management of properties owned by third parties. Any income
generated by these activities does not constitute income from real property
investments for REIT qualification purposes. Regency and SC-USRealty are
negotiating the terms of the merger of these two
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subsidiaries. The consideration to be received by the shareholders of PRT
Development Corporation will depend upon the relative valuation of these two
subsidiaries. This valuation has not been finalized as of the date of this
Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus.

SC-USRealty owns all of the shares of Class A voting stock of PRT Development
Corporation, and is generally entitled to 5% of all distributions made by it.
Pacific Retail owns all of the Class B non-voting stock of PRT Development
Corporation and is generally entitled to all remaining distributions.

As a result of the merger, Regency will acquire all the Class B non-voting
stock and SC-USRealty will receive cash in exchange for its Class A voting
shares in an amount to be determined upon completion of the valuation, but
which Regency anticipates will be less than $1 million. Regency anticipates
that The Regency Group, Inc., which holds 93% of the common stock of Regency's
non-qualified REIT subsidiary, will contribute the purchase price of the Class
A voting shares to Regency's non-qualified REIT subsidiary in the form of an
interest-bearing loan from this entity.

The Operating Partnership Merger

Upon the effectiveness of the merger, Regency will become the sole general
partner of Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership. Thereafter, Retail
Property Partners Limited Partnership may merge into Regency Centers, L.P. at
such time as Regency determines appropriate, subject to applicable consents of
third parties.

Background of the Merger

In January 1998, Regency signed an agreement to acquire assets from the Midland
Development Group, Inc. and related entities ("Midland"). Midland required that
Regency acquire shopping centers and shopping center developments from Midland
throughout Midland's territory, including properties in two of Pacific Retail's
targeted markets, Colorado and Texas. Regency offered to transfer to Pacific
Retail the right to acquire the Midland properties in the Western states in
which Pacific Retail operates because Regency's stockholders agreement with SC-
USRealty did not permit it to own a material amount of assets in those states.
See "The Merger--Amendment to Stockholders Agreement". Regency and Pacific
Retail decided to discuss in more depth after the Midland closing a possible
transfer of these properties. Accordingly, Pacific Retail declined to acquire
these Midland properties at the time of the Midland closing. SC-USRealty
consented to Regency's acquisition of properties in Colorado and Texas in order
to permit Regency to acquire the rest of the Midland portfolio, which included
infill properties in the Eastern U.S.

As preparations proceeded for the closing of the Midland acquisition, Regency
considered a further expansion into high growth Western markets through mergers
and acquisitions. Pacific Retail appeared to be a better strategic fit than
other public and private companies because Pacific Retail and Regency both
focus on grocery-anchored infill neighborhood shopping centers, Pacific Retail
has a more extensive presence in the majority of the high growth Western
markets than many public shopping center companies, Pacific Retail has a more
extensive development program than many of the companies Regency reviewed and
the two companies' operating and investment systems are similar. As a result,
Regency discussed with SC-USRealty its views on the possibility of a
combination of Regency and Pacific Retail. Regency believed that a business
combination with Pacific Retail was attractive since it would enable the
combined companies to (1) create a national
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platform of grocery-anchored infill neighborhood centers in high growth
markets, (2) achieve greater growth in funds from operations than each would
achieve independently and (3) have a larger combined capital structure that
would provide greater access to capital markets than each could obtain
independently. SC-USRealty indicated that it would be supportive of such a
combination and encouraged management of Regency and Pacific Retail to
negotiate a mutually acceptable transaction. Although Regency considered a
number of other potential candidates for a business combination, no offers were
made or received.

Regency decided to explore a transaction with Pacific Retail as the closing of
the Midland transaction began to approach which would expand its presence in
the Midwest. Regency management believed that the next logical step was to
broaden Regency's base to the West Coast in order to become a national rather
than regional REIT.

For the reasons described above, the proposed combination of Regency and
Pacific Retail also was appealing to Pacific Retail. In addition, the benefit
of a combination to Pacific Retail was reinforced by the state of the capital
markets in 1998. Pacific Retail's stated objective since formation has been to
build a premier grocery-anchored infill neighborhood shopping center company in
the Western U.S. and to take it public. However, an initial public offering
involves significant time and expense, with no assurance of success. Moreover,
as a sector, REIT stocks have experienced significant price declines in 1998,
making an initial public offering more difficult. Therefore, giving Pacific
Retail shareholders the benefits of being shareholders of a publicly traded
company through a business combination with an existing New York Stock
Exchange-listed REIT rather than through its own initial public offering was an
attractive alternative to Pacific Retail.

On February 10, 1998, Martin E. Stein, Jr., Regency's chairman, met with
wWilliam Sanders, Chairman of Security Capital Group Incorporated ("Security
Capital Group"), an affiliate of SC-USRealty and the sole stockholder of SC-
USRealty's sub-advisor, and C. Ronald Blankenship, Vice Chairman of Security
Capital Group, to discuss the possible combination of Regency and Pacific
Retail. At that meeting, Mr. Sanders supported Regency's intentions to proceed
with an analysis of such a transaction. On March 18, 1998, Mr. Stein met in
Dallas with Dennis H. Alberts, President and Chief Executive Officer of Pacific
Retail, to discuss a proposed combination. Messrs. Stein and Alberts agreed
that a transaction was a logical next step for both companies and agreed to
begin discussions in more detail about a transaction.

Each of Regency and Pacific Retail appointed a special committee from among its
independent directors and trustees to evaluate the terms of any proposed
business combination between Regency and Pacific Retail. The special committees
were intended to consider the interests of all shareholders. Management of
Regency provided initial background information concerning a possible business
combination to the Regency Board at a meeting on March 19, 1998. At that
meeting, the Regency Board appointed Edward L. Baker, J. Dix Druce, Jr., Albert
Ernest, Jr. and Douglas S. Luke from among Regency's independent directors to
serve as the special committee of the Regency Board to evaluate any proposed
business combination with Pacific Retail (the "Regency Special Committee").

During the next several weeks, the Regency Special Committee solicited
proposals from law firms to serve as special counsel to the committee and in
April 1998 retained Willkie Farr & Gallagher, based on the recommendation of
the committee chairman. The Regency Special Committee also retained
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Prudential Securities Incorporated ("Prudential Securities"), based on its
expertise and experience in the real estate and REIT industries, to provide
financial advisory services and assistance to the committee and to render an
opinion to the committee with respect to the fairness to Regency's
shareholders, from a financial point of view, of the consideration that would
be paid by Regency in a transaction with Pacific Retail, if one should be
proposed and negotiated. Prudential Securities served as managing underwriter
for a Regency stock offering in July 1997.

On April 22, 1998, the Pacific Retail Board appointed Terry N. Worrell and
John C. Schweitzer as its special committee for purposes of evaluating a
possible business combination with Regency (the "Pacific Retail Special
Committee"). Mr. Schweitzer was elected as chairman of the committee. Pacific
Retail agreed to pay the members of the Pacific Retail Special Committee a
$6,000 fee each as partial compensation for their time spent on behalf of the
committee. In July 1998, the Pacific Retail Special Committee selected Munger,
Tolles & Olson LLP ("Munger Tolles") as its special counsel, based on the
recommendation of the committee chairman, and selected Goldman, Sachs & Co.
("Goldman Sachs") to serve as its financial advisor, based on its expertise
and experience in the real estate and REIT industries.

In April 1998, Regency and Pacific Retail negotiated and signed a
confidentiality agreement in preparation for exchanging financial and other
confidential information. In late April and early May, Regency conducted a
series of tours of Pacific Retail properties and exchanged information with
Pacific Retail. On April 22, 1998, Mr. Alberts discussed with Mr. Stein
Pacific Retail's expectation as to how Regency should analyze (1) the net
asset value of Pacific Retail's retail centers in protected, high growth
Western markets, (2) Pacific Retail's low leverage, and (3) the projected high
growth rate in funds from operations resulting from Pacific Retail's
development program. At a Regency Board meeting on May 26, 1998, management
gave a report concerning the results of the initial exchanges of financial
information.

The Regency Special Committee held a meeting on June 29, 1998 to discuss the
status of due diligence and discussions with Pacific Retail. The committee
directed management to review and compile key financial measures, including
funds from operations and net asset value, with respect to both companies that
would enable the committee to make a fair comparison of the relative
contributions of both entities in a combined company. It also directed
Prudential Securities to analyze these measures in order to assist the
committee in developing a fair transaction for Regency's shareholders that
would be positively recognized by the capital markets.

The Regency Special Committee held a meeting on July 23, 1998 at which
management presented the results of its financial due diligence to date.
Prudential Securities attended the meeting and reported on different
mechanisms, including alternative securities and contingent valuation rights,
that have been used in other transactions. Prudential Securities noted that
alternative securities or contingent valuation rights might be complicated and
be perceived by investors as financial engineering to generate a higher than
warranted price to Pacific Retail. At this meeting, the Regency Special
Committee indicated that it recognized a premium might be warranted for
Pacific Retail's assets, especially the centers in protected markets in the
San Francisco Bay area, Portland and Seattle, so long as the transaction is
accretive to Regency's shareholders.
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Active negotiations ensued over the following weeks. At a meeting between Mr.
Stein and Mr. Schweitzer on July 30, 1998, they discussed expectations
concerning exchange ratios based on each company's projected contribution to
funds from operations. Mr. Stein also communicated his desire that the
transaction be a relatively straight-forward stock-for-stock merger, be
accretive, enhance Regency's sustainable growth rate in funds from operations
per share, reflect favorable asset pricing, and reflect the current reduction
in the share prices of Regency and other public REITs. Mr. Schweitzer indicated
that it was important for Pacific Retail to receive a premium for the value of
its Western shopping centers. Mr. Stein also met with Mr. Alberts and Jane E.
Mody, Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer of Pacific Retail, on July
31, 1998 to confirm the assumptions and bases on which the parties were
conducting their analyses.

Discussions of the transaction focused on a stock-for-stock merger due to the
high transaction costs of transferring assets, including real estate transfer
costs in many states. As due diligence took place during the course of
negotiations, Regency's management became increasingly comfortable that the
risk of assumed liabilities in a merger was outweighed by the time and expense
that would be required in an asset acquisition.

On July 31, 1998, the Pacific Retail Special Committee met with Munger Tolles.
At this meeting, Mr. Schweitzer reported on his meeting with Mr. Stein and also
reported that he had instructed Goldman Sachs to undertake a financial analysis
relating to the proposed transaction. The committee members discussed the
business rationale for the proposed merger and various bases for valuing
Pacific Retail and Regency. The committee also discussed the possibility of
business combinations with other parties. Munger Tolles provided advice as to
the Special Committee's legal duties.

The Pacific Retail Special Committee met again on August 10, 1998 with Munger
Tolles and Goldman Sachs. At this meeting, Mr. Schweitzer reported on his
further discussions with Mr. Stein. The committee and its advisers engaged in
an extensive discussion of factors relevant to the determination of an exchange
ratio acceptable to Pacific Retail's shareholders, with the committee focusing
on the interests of Pacific Retail's shareholders other than SC-USRealty. At
the committee's invitation, representatives of SC-USRealty and Security Capital
Group participated in a portion of this meeting to express their views on the
proposed merger. Also during this meeting, the committee discussed with Munger
Tolles the effects of actual and potential conflicts of interest among
participants in the negotiating process and the possibility of alternative
business combination transactions.

The Pacific Retail Special Committee did not seek any business combination
proposals from third parties. However, the committee discussed with management
and Goldman Sachs whether they were aware, based on their knowledge of the
industry, of other companies with whom Pacific Retail might enter into a
business combination and achieve the same or better benefits to Pacific
Retail's shareholders as those achievable in the proposed merger with Regency.
Those discussions did not reveal any other potential business combination
partner that the committee believed would offer the same or better benefits as
the proposed merger with Regency.

On August 19, 1998, the Pacific Retail Special Committee met again. At this
meeting, Goldman Sachs reported to the committee on various financial analyses
that it had performed regarding the proposed merger. This report and the
ensuing discussion among the committee and its advisors
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included consideration of numerous financial measures pertinent to determining
whether an exchange ratio that is fair to the Pacific Retail shareholders other
than SC-USRealty could be negotiated. The Special Committee also met separately
with Munger Tolles to discuss the process of its deliberations and
negotiations.

On August 25, 1998, Mr. Schweitzer had further discussions with Mr. Stein as to
the possible combination of Regency and Pacific Retail. The parties refined
their analyses and began to narrow their differences during the course of
ongoing due diligence in late August and early September.

As a result of the negotiations between Mr. Schweitzer and Mr. Stein, the
Pacific Retail Special Committee discussed on September 2, 1998 the status of
negotiations with respect to the proposed merger and determined to proceed with
the proposed combination, subject to receipt of updated budgets and financial
information and to negotiation of acceptable definitive merger documentation
and receipt from Goldman Sachs of its opinion that the exchange ratio
ultimately agreed upon is fair from a financial point of view to the
shareholders of Pacific Retail other than SC-USRealty. Mr. Schweitzer asked
Goldman Sachs to undertake the financial analysis to reach its opinion as to
financial fairness, and asked Munger Tolles to work with Pacific Retail's
regular counsel to negotiate definitive merger documents with counsel for
Regency and the Regency Special Committee.

The Regency Special Committee held a meeting on September 8, 1998 at which
management presented the results of additional discussions with Pacific Retail
and further due diligence. Representatives of Prudential Securities summarized
the additional due diligence that had been conducted with respect to Pacific
Retail, the benefits of the proposed transaction to Regency and its
shareholders and the financial and valuation analyses undertaken by Prudential
Securities in connection with the transaction. The Regency Special Committee
determined to continue negotiations and due diligence with respect to the
proposed transaction.

Regency also agreed to pay total fees of $600,000 to Prudential Securities,
$12,000 to Mr. Druce and $6,000 each to the other committee members as
compensation for services on the Regency Special Committee.

From September 8 through September 22, 1998, following review of updated
budgets and financial information, including detailed review of Regency's and
Pacific Retail's projected cash flows, the parties continued their discussion
as to the terms of the proposed merger, ultimately agreeing on an exchange
ratio of 0.48 share of Regency common stock for each Pacific Retail common
share. Because Pacific Retail is a privately held company, it was not possible
to negotiate the exchange ratio based on the relative trading prices of Regency
and Pacific Retail common stock. Pacific Retail had sold shares to investors in
a private transaction in December 1997 at a price of $13 per share and
initially sought an exchange ratio that would value Pacific Retail common
shares at no less than such amount. Regency believed that this methodology was
unfair to Regency's shareholders because as a private REIT, Pacific Retail had
not faced the general share price decline experienced since December 1997 by
public REITs, including Regency.

Accordingly, the exchange ratio ultimately was negotiated based on the relative
contributions that both companies are expected to make to the combined company,
using several different measures. As discussed in greater detail below under
"--0Opinion of Regency's Financial Advisor" and

55



"--0Opinion of Pacific Retail's Financial Advisor," based on relative
anticipated contributions to funds from operations of the combined company for
1998, 1999 and 2000, the exchange ratio would range from 0.45 to 0.48 share of
Regency common stock for each Pacific Retail common share. Based on relative
net asset values as of June 30, 1998, the exchange ratio would be 0.50. The
parties considered various exchange ratios in this range and after completion
of the due diligence process and lengthy negotiations, the parties agreed to an
exchange ratio of 0.48 of a share of Regency common stock for each share of
Pacific Retail common stock.

The Pacific Retail Special Committee met again on September 22, 1998. The
committee reviewed again the business rationale for the proposed merger,
including establishing a national company with an expanded ability to serve
major national tenants, creating a combined company with a market
capitalization among the largest for neighborhood shopping center companies in
the U.S., geographically diversifying Pacific Retail's properties and reducing
concentration in its markets, reducing borrowing costs and improving access to
capital, creating economies of scale due to the similarity in Pacific Retail's
and Regency's operating policies and procedures, and obtaining the benefits of
a public equity market without the risks and costs of an initial public
offering. Goldman Sachs made a presentation regarding the methodologies it used
in reviewing the proposed merger and arriving at its opinion, including the
issues it examined in arriving at its opinion and the form of its opinion.
Goldman Sachs reported on its financial analysis of the proposed exchange ratio
of 0.48 share of Regency common stock for each Pacific Retail common share,
concluding with its oral opinion, confirmed by its written opinion dated
September 23, 1998, that the exchange ratio is fair from a financial point of
view to shareholders of Pacific Retail other than SC-USRealty. Munger Tolles
reported to the Pacific Retail Special Committee on the negotiations of the
definitive merger documentation and summarized the documents for the committee.
Following such reports and further discussion, the committee voted unanimously
to recommend to the full Pacific Retail Board that it approve the proposed
merger as being fair and reasonable to Pacific Retail's shareholders, other
than SC-USRealty, and on terms and conditions not less favorable than those
available from unaffiliated third parties. A meeting of the full Pacific Retail
Board of Trustees commenced immediately thereafter.

At such meeting, the Pacific Retail Board reviewed the information considered
by the Pacific Retail Special Committee, including the opinion of Goldman
Sachs, and reviewed the terms of the merger and the Merger Agreement. The
Pacific Retail Special Committee also considered the recommendation of the
Pacific Retail Special Committee. Following such review, the Pacific Retail
Board unanimously approved the merger and the Merger Agreement and resolved to
recommend the merger to the Pacific Retail shareholders.

At a meeting of the Regency Special Committee on September 23, 1998, management
presented the reasons why it believed the merger is in the best interests of
Regency's shareholders, which reasons are discussed elsewhere herein (see "--
Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the Regency Board"). Prudential
Securities also presented its analysis of the proposed merger, and concluded,
based upon such analysis, by delivering its opinion to the Regency Special
Committee in oral form, which was confirmed in writing on September 23, 1998,
that the merger consideration to be paid by Regency in the merger is fair to
Regency's shareholders other than SC-USRealty from a financial
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point of view. After discussing these presentations, the Regency Special
Committee voted unanimously to recommend that the Regency Board of Directors
approve the merger.

The Merger Agreement was executed after the close of business on September 23,
1998 and announced prior to the opening of business on September 24, 1998.

Reasons for the Merger; Recommendations of the Regency Board

At a special meeting of the Regency Board on September 23, 1998, following a
review of the information considered by Regency and a review of the terms of
the Merger Agreement, as well as consideration of the recommendation of the
Regency Special Committee, the Regency Board, with SC-USRealty representatives
abstaining, approved the Merger Agreement. As noted below, the Regency Board
considered the determination by the Regency Special Committee that the proposed
transaction is fair and reasonable to Regency and Regency's shareholders other
than SC-USRealty and their recommendation that the Regency Board approve the
Merger Agreement.

In making its determination with respect to the merger, the Regency Board
considered the following material positive factors:

(1) The merger will more than double Regency's size, transforming it from a
regional shopping center REIT into one of the nation's largest
nationwide shopping center REITs with a valuable portfolio of infill
grocery-anchored centers in some of the fastest growing areas of the
western U.S. A national presence is expected to provide the
development, leasing and capital markets advantages described below.

(2) Having a national presence will allow the combined entity to offer
development opportunities outside each company's own regional markets
to leading grocer chains in infill markets throughout the U.S. and to
expand Regency's "preferred customer" initiative with leading side shop
retailers across the country.

(3) National REITs tend to command higher multiples of funds from
operations in the capital markets than regional REITs because of their
geographic diversification. The merger will reduce Regency's dependence
on regional grocer chain anchor tenants in its current markets as well
as expand its geographic base.

(4) Regency will acquire, at an 8.75% capitalization rate, an attractive,
geographically broad portfolio that management views as the best
acquisition opportunity from among public and private companies in the
same western markets.

(5) Economies of scale are expected to produce identified cost savings of
more than $5 million annually by the year 2000.

(6) The merger is expected to increase Regency's growth rate by utilizing
Pacific Retail's attractive balance sheet, which has a lower debt-to-
book capitalization rate than Regency's, and Pacific Retail's
development program. Based on Pacific Retail's balance sheet at
September 30, 1998, the combined entity should have more than $600
million of credit capacity to pursue strategic investment
opportunities, continue building a development pipeline and take
advantage of acquisition opportunities when they become more
attractively priced.
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(7) The merger will double Regency's market capitalization, which should
allow access to debt and equity markets on more favorable terms than
those presently available to Regency and provide greater liquidity for
shareholders.

(8) The Regency Board believes that the merger provides an opportunity to
combine management teams that are skilled at creating shareholder value
through development, acquisitions and property operations and that the
similarity in their respective operating philosophies, methods and
corporate culture, which is due in large part to their respective
affiliations with SC-USRealty, will allow for ease of integration and
the opportunity to quickly add value to the combined entity.

(9) As noted above, the Regency Board placed special emphasis on the
recommendation of the Regency Special Committee. In reaching its
determination, the Regency Special Committee considered the same
factors described herein that were considered by the Regency Board as a
whole. The Regency Special Committee also consulted with Willkie Farr &
Gallagher and Prudential Securities. In addition, the Regency Special
Committee considered the opinion, analyses and presentations of
Prudential Securities described below under "--Opinion of Regency's
Financial Advisor," including the opinion of Prudential Securities
dated September 23, 1998 to the effect that, as of the date of such
opinion, and based upon and subject to certain matters stated therein,
the consideration to be paid by Regency in the merger is fair to
Regency's shareholders other than SC-USRealty from a financial point of
view.

The Regency Board also considered the following potentially negative factors in
its deliberations concerning the merger:

(1) Because the exchange ratio is fixed, the Regency stock that Regency
will be required to issue in the merger may have a greater aggregate
value than the value contemplated at the time the Merger Agreement was
signed due to fluctuations in the market price of the Regency common
stock.

(2) While the exchange ratio was negotiated based on, among other things,
the relative contributions of the two entities in terms of net asset
value and funds from operations, the exchange ratio might possibly have
been more favorable to Regency had Pacific Retail been a public company
and the Pacific Retail common shares suffered the same decline in
trading price since January 1, 1998 that has been experienced by the
REIT industry generally.

(3) The ownership of Security Capital Holdings S.A. in Regency will
increase to more than 52.3% as a result of the merger, which will give
Security Capital Holdings S.A. absolute voting control of Regency in
the event that SC-USRealty's standstill expires or is terminated for
any reason. Despite the standstill, SC-USRealty may exercise
substantial influence over Regency's affairs. See "Risk Factors--
Principal Shareholder's Ownership Position Will Make Change of Control
Extremely Unlikely." Events that will cause a termination of the
standstill include:

(i) the acquisition by any person or group of the beneficial ownership
of more than 9.8% of Regency's voting power (subject to certain
exceptions and excluding the acquisition by LaSalle Advisors Limited
of Regency common stock in the merger); (ii) any person or group
having, or having the power to elect, at least as many directors on
the Regency
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Board as SC-USRealty; (iii) a material default by Regency under any
indebtedness; (iv) the authorization by the Regency Board (with the
nominees of SC-USRealty abstaining or voting against) any business
combination or change of control excluding transactions in which
Regency is the surviving corporation and the businesses or assets so
acquired would reasonably not be expected to have a value greater
than 50% of Regency's assets; (v) the submission by any person or
group to the Regency Board of a proposal relating to a change of
control or business combination unless the Regency Board determines
as soon as practicable that such proposal is not in the best interest
of Regency's shareholders; or (vi) the removal of any rights plan or
certain amendments to Regency's Articles which may make an
unsolicited change of control more difficult.

The term of the standstill will expire on September 10, 2001, or any
subsequent anniversary date, if SC-USRealty gives at least 270 days
prior notice of non-renewal.

(4) Due to its size and national scope, the combined entity will face
challenges in initially integrating the individual entities and
managing its operations on a continuing basis.

In view of the wide variety of factors considered by the Regency Board, the
Regency Board did not quantify or otherwise attempt to assign relative weights
to the specific factors considered in making its determination. However, in
the view of the Regency Board, the potentially negative factors considered by
it were not sufficient, either individually or collectively, to outweigh the
positive factors considered by it in its deliberations relating to the merger.
Based on the factors outlined above, the Board determined that the merger
price was fair to Regency's shareholders from a financial point of view and
that the merger is in the best interests of Regency's shareholders. The
positive factors outlined above are expected to translate into greater growth
in funds from operations per share than Regency would achieve independently,
for the following reasons. Having a national presence in high growth markets
will enable the combined company to increase revenues through development and
leasing opportunities with national tenants that would not be available to
Regency as a regional REIT. Greater size and geographic diversification are
expected to translate into access to the debt and equity markets on more
favorable terms, resulting in reduced borrowing costs and a higher share
multiple. Additionally, the combined company is expected to achieve cost
savings through the elimination of duplicate overhead.

Opinion of Regency's Financial Advisor

On September 23, 1998, Prudential Securities delivered its oral opinion to the
Regency Special Committee to the effect that, as of such date, the
consideration to be paid by Regency in the merger was fair, from a financial
point of view, to Regency's shareholders other than SC-USRealty (the
"Prudential Securities Opinion"). Prudential Securities made a presentation of
the financial analysis underlying its oral opinion at a meeting of the Regency
Special Committee on September 23, 1998. This analysis, as presented to the
Regency Special Committee, is summarized below. Prudential Securities
confirmed its opinion in writing on September 23, 1998.

In requesting the Prudential Securities Opinion, the Regency Special Committee
did not give any special instructions to Prudential Securities or impose any
limitation upon the scope of the investigation that Prudential Securities used
to deliver the Prudential Securities Opinion. A copy of the Prudential
Securities Opinion, which sets forth the assumptions made, matters considered
and limits on the review undertaken, is attached to this Joint Proxy Statement
and Prospectus as Annex B
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and is incorporated herein by reference. The summary of the Prudential
Securities Opinion set forth below is qualified in its entirety by reference to
the full text of the Prudential Securities Opinion. Regency shareholders are
urged to read the Prudential Securities Opinion in its entirety.

The Prudential Securities Opinion is for the use of the Regency Special
Committee, is directed only to the fairness of the consideration to be paid by
Regency in the merger and does not constitute a recommendation to any
shareholder as to how such shareholder should vote at the special meeting of
shareholders or as to any other action such shareholder should take regarding
the merger.

In conducting its analysis and arriving at the Prudential Securities Opinion
dated September 23, 1998, Prudential Securities reviewed such information and
considered such financial data and other factors as Prudential Securities
deemed relevant under the circumstances, including, among others, the
following:

. A draft, dated September 21, 1998, of the Merger Agreement, including the
exhibits thereto relating to the mergers of Regency's and Pacific
Retail's operating partnerships and non-qualified REIT subsidiaries
(together with the merger, for the purposes of the Prudential Opinion,
the "Transaction");

Certain publicly available historical financial and operating data for
Regency including, but not limited to:

(1) The Annual Report to Shareholders and Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997,

(2) The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June
30, 1998,

(3) Reports on Forms 8-K, dated March 19, 1998 and July 20, 1998, and

(4) The Proxy Statement relating to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders
held on May 26, 1998;

Historical stock market prices and trading volume for Regency's common
stock;

Certain historical results of operations of Pacific Retail provided to
Prudential Securities by the management of Regency;

Certain information relating to Regency, including projected income
statement data for the fiscal years ending December 31, 1998 through
December 31, 2001 prepared by the management of Regency;

Certain information relating to Pacific Retail, including financial
forecasts for the fiscal years ending December 31, 1998 through December
31, 2001 prepared by the management of Pacific Retail and adjusted by the
management of Regency;

Projected consolidated financial forecasts, after giving effect to the
Transaction, for the fiscal years ending December 31, 1998 through
December 31, 2001, prepared by the management of Regency;

Publicly available financial, operating, and stock market data concerning
certain companies engaged in businesses Prudential Securities deemed
comparable to Pacific Retail or otherwise relevant to Prudential
Securities' inquiry;
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The financial terms of certain recent transactions Prudential Securities
deemed relevant to their inquiry;

The pro forma financial impact of the Transaction on Regency's earnings;
and

Such other financial studies, analyses and investigations as Prudential
Securities deemed appropriate.

Prudential Securities assumed, with Regency's consent, that the draft of the
Merger Agreement which Prudential Securities reviewed (as referred to above)
would conform in all material respects to that document in final form.

Prudential Securities met with the senior management of Regency and Pacific
Retail to discuss:

The prospects for their respective businesses,

Their estimates of such businesses' future financial performance,

The financial impact of the Transaction on the respective companies, and
Such other matters as Prudential Securities deemed relevant.

In connection with its review and analysis and in arriving at the Prudential
Securities Opinion, Prudential Securities relied upon the accuracy and
completeness of the financial and other information provided to Prudential
Securities by Regency and Pacific Retail and has not undertaken any independent
verification of such information or any independent valuation or appraisal of
any of the assets or liabilities of Regency or Pacific Retail. With respect to
certain financial forecasts provided to Prudential Securities by Regency for
Regency and Pacific Retail, Prudential Securities assumed such information (and
the assumptions and bases therefor) represents Regency's best currently
available estimate as to the future financial performance of Regency and
Pacific Retail. The Prudential Securities Opinion is predicated on the merger
qualifying:

As a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Internal
Revenue Code, and

For purchase accounting treatment.

Further, the Prudential Securities Opinion is necessarily based on economic,
financial and market conditions as they exist, and can only be evaluated as of
September 23, 1998.

The Prudential Securities Opinion does not address nor should it be construed
to address the relative merits of the Transaction or alternative business
strategies which may be available to Regency. In addition, the Prudential
Securities Opinion does not in any manner address the prices at which Regency
common stock will trade following consummation of the Transaction.

In addition, the Prudential Securities Opinion and the presentation to the
Regency Special Committee was one of the many factors taken into consideration
by the Regency Special Committee in making its determination to recommend
approval of the Merger Agreement. Consequently, the analyses of Prudential
Securities described below should not be viewed as determinative of the opinion
of the Regency Special Committee with respect to the consideration to be paid
by Regency in the merger.
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The exchange ratio was determined through arm's length negotiations between
Regency and Pacific Retail and was approved by the Regency Special Committee.

In arriving at the Prudential Securities Opinion, Prudential Securities
performed a variety of financial analyses, including those summarized herein.
The summary set forth below of the analyses presented to the Regency Special
Committee at the September 23, 1998 meeting does not purport to be a complete
description of the analyses performed. The preparation of a fairness opinion is
a complex process that involves various determinations as to the most
appropriate and relevant methods of financial analyses and the application of
these methods to the particular circumstance and, therefore, such an opinion is
not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description.
Prudential Securities believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole
and that selecting portions thereof or portions of the factors considered by
it, without considering all analyses and factors, could create an incomplete
view of the evaluation process underlying the Prudential Securities Opinion.
Prudential Securities made numerous assumptions with respect to industry
performance, general business, economic, market and financial conditions and
other matters, many of which are beyond the control of Regency and Pacific
Retail. In addition, Prudential Securities reviewed the following operating
projections for Pacific Retail supplied by Regency in connection with its
overall analysis of the merger: for the years ended 1998, 1999 and 2000
projected funds from operations (defined as net income plus depreciation and
amortization, excluding gains on sales of property, non-recurring charges, and
other extraordinary items) and projected adjusted funds from operations
(defined as funds from operations minus an amount for estimated capital
expenditures) ("AFFO") per share. Excluding an amount for estimated capital
expenditures to calculate AFFO provides a measure which more closely
approximates cash that would be available to pay dividends. Any estimates
contained in Prudential Securities' analyses are not necessarily indicative of
actual values or future results, which may be significantly more or less
favorable than suggested by such analyses. Additionally, estimates of the
values of businesses and securities do not purport to be appraisals or
necessarily reflect the prices at which businesses or securities may be sold.
Accordingly, such analyses and estimates are inherently subject to substantial
uncertainty. Subject to the foregoing, the following is a summary of the
material financial analyses presented by Prudential Securities to the Regency
Special Committee in connection with the Prudential Securities Opinion dated
September 23, 1998.

Comparable Companies Analysis

A comparable companies analysis was employed by Prudential Securities to
establish implied ranges for the exchange ratio. Prudential Securities analyzed
publicly available historical and projected financial results, including
multiples of current stock price to projected 1998 funds from operations per
share ("1998 Projected FFO") and projected 1999 funds from operations per share
("1999 Projected FFO") of certain companies considered by Prudential Securities
to be reasonably similar to Pacific Retail. The companies analyzed included:
Bradley Real Estate, Inc., Burnham Pacific Properties, Inc., Center Trust
Properties, Developers Diversified Realty Corp., Excel Realty Trust, Inc.,
Federal Realty Investment Trust, JDN Realty Corporation, Kimco Realty
Corporation, New Plan Realty Trust, and Weingarten Realty Investors (the
"Prudential Securities Pacific Retail Comparable Companies"). All of the
trading multiples of the Prudential Securities Pacific Retail Comparable
Companies were based on closing stock prices on September 18, 1998 (the
"September 18th Closing Price") and all funds from operations per share
estimates were published by First Call. The estimates published by First Call
were not prepared in connection with the Transaction or at the request of
Prudential Securities.

62



The Prudential Securities Pacific Retail Comparable Companies were found to
have a September 18th Closing Price estimated to be equal to 8.61x to 12.27x
1998 Projected FFO and 7.83x to 10.35x 1999 Projected FFO. Applying such
multiples to Pacific Retail's estimated 1998 FFO per share and estimated 1999
FFO per share resulted in implied ranges for the exchange ratio of 0.40 to 0.57
and 0.40 to 0.53, respectively, based on Regency's closing price of $21.75 on
September 18, 1998. The exchange ratio of 0.48 falls within these implied
ranges, which Prudential Securities believes supports the Prudential Securities
Opinion.

Comparable Transactions Analysis

Prudential Securities also analyzed the consideration paid in several recent
merger and acquisition transactions deemed by Prudential Securities to be
reasonably similar to the Transaction, and considered the multiple of the
equity purchase price (defined as the purchase price of the acquired entity's
equity) to the acquired entity's latest twelve months funds from operations
("LTM FFO") and to the acquired entity's forward twelve months funds from
operations ("F-FF0"), based upon publicly available information for such
transactions. The transactions considered were the combinations of:

(1) Metropolitan Partners LLC and Tower Realty Trust, Inc. (pending), (ii) New
Plan Realty Trust, Inc. and Excel Realty Trust, Inc. (pending), (iii) Bay
Apartment Communities and Avalon Properties, Inc., (iv) EastGroup Properties
and Meridian Point Realty Trust VIII, (v) Kimco Realty Corporation and Price
REIT Inc., (vi) Camden Property Trust and Oasis Residential Inc.,

(vii) Apartment Investment and Management Company and Ambassador Apartments
Inc., and (viii) Prime Realty and Horizon Group (the "Prudential Securities
Comparable Transactions")

The Prudential Securities Comparable Transactions were found to imply for the
acquired entity an equity purchase price within a range of 8.1x to 17.1x LTM
FFO and 8.1x to 12.5x F-FFO. Applying such multiples to Pacific Retail's LTM
FFO per share and F-FFO per share resulted in implied ranges for the exchange
ratio of 0.37 to 0.79 and 0.42 to 0.64, respectively. The exchange ratio of
0.48 falls within these implied ranges, which Prudential Securities believes
supports the Prudential Securities Opinion.

None of the companies or acquired entities utilized in the above Prudential
Securities Pacific Retail Comparable Companies analysis and Prudential
Securities Comparable Transactions analysis for comparative purposes is, of
course, identical to Pacific Retail. Accordingly, a complete analysis of the
results of the foregoing calculations cannot be limited to a quantitative
review of such results and involves complex considerations and judgments
concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the
Prudential Securities Pacific Retail Comparable Companies and the acquired
entities in the Prudential Securities Comparable Transactions and other factors
that could affect the public trading value and consideration paid for each of
the Prudential Securities Pacific Retail Comparable Companies and the acquired
entities, respectively, as well as that of Pacific Retail.

Contribution Analysis

Prudential Securities observed that Pacific Retail stockholders would own 52.6%
of the common stock of Regency on a pro forma basis after giving effect to the
merger (the "Combined Company"). Prudential Securities reviewed the relative
contributions to the Combined Company's net asset valuation. The analysis
indicated that Pacific Retail would contribute 53.6% of the Combined
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Company's net asset value. Prudential Securities also reviewed Regency's and
Pacific Retail's relative contribution with respect to certain projected
operating and financial information, including, among other things, projected
funds from operations and adjusted funds from operations and AFFO for Regency
and Pacific Retail without giving effect to potential transaction synergies.
Prudential Securities observed that in 1998, 1999 and 2000, Pacific Retail
would contribute 51.0%, 51.5% and 51.8% to the Combined Company's projected
funds from operations, respectively, and 51.2%, 51.8% and 52.3% to the Combined
Company's AFFO. The range of relative contributions of Regency and Pacific
Retail (excluding the relative contributions to net asset value) to the
Combined Company resulted in an implied range for the exchange ratio of 0.45 to
0.48. The exchange ratio of 0.48 falls within this implied range, which
Prudential Securities believes supports the Prudential Securities Opinion.
Projected financial and other information concerning Regency and Pacific Retail
and the impact of the merger upon the holders of Regency common stock are not
necessarily indicative of future results. All projected financial information
is subject to numerous contingencies, many of which are beyond the control of
management of Regency and Pacific Retail.

Net Asset Valuation Analysis

Prudential Securities performed a net asset valuation analysis for Regency and
Pacific Retail based upon aggregate real estate valuations of their respective
properties (based on annualized 1998 second quarter net operating income,
adjusted to reflect stabilized net operating income of acquisition and
development properties placed in service during the second quarter of 1998, and
in the case of Regency, further adjusted for equity income of unconsolidated
partnerships and minority interests in consolidated partnerships), the value of
Regency's and Pacific Retail's other assets (in the case of Regency, adjusted
by the value of construction-in-progress for assets placed in service and
included in the real estate valuation, and the value of Regency's third-party
fee revenue business based on annualized 1998 first and second quarter net
earnings at a 5.0x multiple) and liabilities, and their respective debt
balances, in each case as of June 30, 1998. Prudential Securities utilized a
capitalization rate of 9.00% for Regency and a capitalization rate of 8.75% for
Pacific Retail. These calculations indicated a per share net asset value for
Regency of $24.11 per share and for Pacific Retail of $12.04 per share. The
respective net asset valuations per share of Regency and Pacific Retail
resulted in an implied exchange ratio of 0.50 compared to the exchange ratio of
0.48, which Prudential Securities believes supports the Prudential Securities
Opinion.

Regency selected Prudential Securities to provide a fairness opinion because it
is a nationally recognized investment banking firm engaged in the valuation of
businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions and
for other purposes and has substantial experience in transactions similar to
the Transaction. Pursuant to an engagement letter with Prudential Securities,
Regency has paid Prudential Securities a fee of $250,000 upon the delivery of
the Prudential Securities Opinion. In addition, the engagement letter with
Prudential Securities provides that Regency will reimburse Prudential
Securities for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses, will pay an additional
$350,000 upon the consummation of the Transaction and will indemnify Prudential
Securities and certain related persons against certain liabilities, including
liabilities under securities laws, arising out of the merger or its engagement.
In the ordinary course of business, Prudential Securities may actively trade
the shares of Regency common stock for its own account and for the

64



accounts of customers, and accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short
position in such securities.

Reasons for the Merger; Recommendations of the Pacific Retail Board

At a special meeting of the Pacific Retail Board on September 22, 1998,

following a review of the information considered by Pacific Retail and a review

of the terms of the Merger Agreement as well as consideration of the
recommendation of the Pacific Retail Special Committee, the Pacific Retail
Board approved the Merger Agreement. As noted below, the Pacific Retail Board
considered the determination by the Pacific Retail Special Committee that the
merger and the Merger Agreement are fair to Pacific Retail and to the
shareholders of Pacific Retail, other than SC-USRealty, and their
recommendation that the Pacific Retail Board approve the Merger Agreement.

In making its determination with respect to the merger, the Pacific Retail
Board considered the following material positive factors:

1.

The national platform created by the combined company, together with a
significant incremental investment in markets with good long-term growth
prospects should provide Pacific Retail shareholders with a strong
foundation for continued long-term growth while at the same time
decreasing the exposure of its portfolio to market conditions in Texas
and California. In this regard, the Pacific Retail Board of Trustees
noted that 26.7% and 47.8% of Pacific Retail's portfolio (based on cost)
were located in Texas and California, respectively. Giving effect to the
merger, 14.4% and 21.6%, respectively, of the combined company's
portfolio will be located in those states.

. The Pacific Retail Board of Trustees believes that the combined company

will achieve an improved credit profile, reduced cost of capital and
increased access to capital, each of which the Board believes will
result in increased shareholder value.

Pacific Retail shareholders will receive an immediate increase of 9.7%
in their annual distribution rate. Based on Pacific Retail's current
distribution rate of $0.77 per share, Regency's current dividend of
$1.76 per share and the exchange ratio of 0.48, the holders of Pacific
Retail common shares will receive a dividend of $0.8448.

. The Pacific Retail Board believes that the management teams of Regency

and Pacific Retail are each skilled at creating shareholder value
through development, acquisitions and property operations and that the
merger presents an opportunity to create value by implementing the best
practices of each company. Further, the similar culture of each of the
companies will allow for ease of integration and the opportunity to
quickly add value to the combined company.

The Pacific Retail Board believes that the increased size of the
combined company (resulting in the third largest shopping center REIT
based on the number of properties owned) will enable the combined
company to attract and retain a significant depth of management.

. The Pacific Retail Board considered management's belief that the merger

will result in economies of scale for the combined company that are
expected to produce identified cost savings in excess of $5 million
annually beginning in 2000.

65



. The Pacific Retail Board believes that the merger will result in

improved liquidity and other trading characteristics for Pacific Retail
shareholders as a result of the public market for Regency common stock
and increased total equity capitalization of the combined company and a
possible increase in trading volume of the securities of the combined
company.

. As noted above, the Pacific Retail Board placed special emphasis on the

recommendation of the Pacific Retail Special Committee. In reaching this
determination, the Pacific Retail Special Committee considered the same
factors described herein which were considered by the Pacific Retail
Board as a whole. The Pacific Retail Special Committee consulted with
Munger Tolles. In addition, the Pacific Retail Special Committee
considered the opinion, analyses and presentations of Goldman Sachs
described below under "--Opinion of Pacific Retail's Financial Advisor,"
including the opinion of Goldman Sachs to the effect that, as of the
date of such opinion, and based upon and subject to certain matters
stated therein, the consideration to be received by the holders of
Pacific Retail common shares pursuant to the Merger Agreement was fair,
from a financial point of view, to such holders other than SC-USRealty
and its affiliates.

The Pacific Retail Board also considered the following potentially negative
factors in its deliberations concerning the merger:

1.

The fact that, because the exchange ratio is fixed, a decline in the
value of Regency common stock would reduce the value of the
consideration to be received by Pacific Retail's holders in the merger.

. The larger asset base of the combined company could make perpetuation of

the rate of growth in funds from operations from external investment
activity more difficult.

. The size of the transaction may make rapid integration of Regency and

Pacific Retail more difficult. The Pacific Retail Board believed that
this detriment was partially offset by the similar operating culture and
consistent financial policies and accounting systems at the two
companies. Additionally, management time and resources would be
allocated to the transaction rather than operating Pacific Retail's
business.

. The merger will result in holders of Pacific Retail common shares being

subjected to risk of the markets in which Regency currently operates.

. The combined company will have a higher percentage of debt to total

market capitalization than Pacific Retail.

In view of the wide variety of factors considered by the Pacific Retail Board,
the Pacific Retail Board did not quantify or otherwise attempt to assign
relative weights to the specific factors considered in making its
determination. However, in view of the Pacific Retail Board, the potentially
negative factors considered by it were not sufficient, either individually or
collectively, to outweigh the positive factors considered by it in its
deliberations regarding the merger. The Pacific Retail Board believed that the
potentially positive factors outweighed the potentially negative factors and
that the proposed merger was in the best interest of Pacific Retail
shareholders.
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Opinion of Pacific Retail's Financial Advisor

On September 23, 1998, Goldman Sachs delivered its written opinion to the
Pacific Retail Special Committee that, as of such date, the exchange ratio
pursuant to the Merger Agreement was fair from a financial point of view to the
holders of Pacific Retail common shares, other than SC-USRealty.

The full text of the written opinion of Goldman Sachs dated as of September 23,
1998, which sets forth assumptions made, matters considered and limitations on
the review undertaken in connection with the opinion, is attached as Annex C
to this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus and is incorporated herein by
reference. Holders of Pacific Retail common shares are urged to, and should,
read such opinion in its entirety.

In connection with its opinion, Goldman Sachs reviewed, among other things,
the Merger Agreement,

audited financial statements for Pacific Retail for the three years
ended December 31, 1997,

. Annual Reports to Shareholders and Annual Reports on Form 10-K of
Regency for the five years ended December 31, 1997,

certain interim reports and unaudited quarterly reports to
shareholders of Pacific Retail,

certain interim reports and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q of
Regency,

certain internal financial analyses and forecasts for Pacific Retail
prepared by the managements of Pacific Retail and Regency, and

certain internal financial analyses and forecasts for Regency
prepared by the management of Regency.

Goldman Sachs also held discussions with members of the senior management of
Pacific Retail and Regency regarding the strategic rationale for, and the
potential benefits of, the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement and
the past and current business operations, financial condition and future
prospects of their respective companies. In addition, Goldman Sachs reviewed
the reported price and trading activity for the Regency common stock, compared
certain financial information for Pacific Retail and financial and stock market
information for Regency with similar information for certain other companies
the securities of which are publicly traded, reviewed the financial terms of
certain recent business combinations in the real estate industry and performed
such other studies and analyses as it considered appropriate.

In preparing its opinion, Goldman Sachs relied upon the accuracy and
completeness of all of the financial and other information reviewed by it and
assumed, with the Pacific Retail Special Committee's consent, that the
financial forecasts for Pacific Retail and Regency were reasonably prepared on
a basis reflecting the best currently available judgments and estimates of the
management of Pacific Retail and of Regency. In addition, Goldman Sachs did not
make an independent evaluation or appraisal of the assets and liabilities of
Pacific Retail or Regency or any of their subsidiaries, and Goldman Sachs was
not furnished with any such evaluation or appraisal. Goldman Sachs was not
requested to solicit, and did not solicit, interest from other parties with
respect to an acquisition of or other business combination with Pacific Retail.
The opinion referred to
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herein was provided for the information and assistance of the Pacific Retail
Special Committee in connection with its consideration of the transaction
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and such opinion does not constitute a
recommendation as to how any holder of Pacific Retail common shares should vote
with respect to such transaction.

The following is a summary of certain of the analyses used by Goldman Sachs in
connection with providing its written opinion, dated September 23, 1998, to the
Pacific Retail Special Committee.

Funds From Operations Contribution Analysis

Goldman Sachs reviewed certain estimated future financial information for
Pacific Retail, Regency and the pro forma combined entity resulting from the
merger prepared by the managements of Pacific Retail and Regency. The analysis
indicated that Pacific Retail would contribute 50.9% of the combined funds from
operations ("Combined FFO") attributable to the common shares of the combined
entity in 1998 on a fully diluted basis, 51.6% of the Combined FFO in 1999, and
51.2% of the Combined FFO in 2000, while holders of Pacific Retail common
shares would hold 52.6% of the fully diluted common shares outstanding in
Regency.

Pro Forma Implied Exchange Ratio Analysis

Goldman Sachs reviewed certain estimated future financial information for
Pacific Retail, Regency and the pro forma combined entity resulting from the
merger prepared by the managements of Pacific Retail and Regency. The analysis
indicated an implied exchange ratio of Regency common stock for Pacific Retail
common shares, based on fully diluted FFO per share contributed by Regency and
Pacific Retail, of .452 in 1998, .460 in 1999 and .466 in 2000.

FFO Accretion

Goldman Sachs compared 1999, 2000 and 2001 FFO per share estimates for Pacific
Retail on a stand alone basis to pro forma estimates for the combined entity
assuming a 0.48 exchange ratio prepared by the managements of Pacific Retail
and Regency, which estimates showed FFO per share accretion in 1999, 2000 and
2001 on a fully diluted basis.

Regency Comparable Companies Analysis

Goldman Sachs reviewed and compared certain financial information relating to
Regency to corresponding financial information, ratios and multiples for seven
publicly traded shopping center REITs: (1) Developers Diversified Realty
Corporation, (2) Federal Realty Investment Trust, (3) IRT Property Company, (4)
JDN Realty Corporation, (5) Kimco Realty Corporation, (6) New Plan Realty, and
(7) Weingarten Realty Investors (the "Regency Comparable Companies"). The
Regency Comparable Companies were chosen because they are publicly traded
companies with operations that for purposes of analysis may be considered
similar to Regency. The multiples of Regency were calculated using a price of
$21.75 per share of Regency common stock, the closing price of the Regency
common stock on the NYSE on September 18, 1998. The multiples and ratios for
Regency and the Regency Comparable Companies were based on the most recent
publicly available information, on information supplied by Institutional
Brokers Estimate Service ("I/B/E/S") and on the closing market price on
September 18, 1998. With respect to the Regency Comparable
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Companies, Goldman Sachs considered the closing stock market price as a
multiple of estimated 1998 and estimated 1999 FFO per share, which ranged from
8.6x to 12.7x with a mean of 10.7x for estimated 1998 FFO per share, and 7.9x
to 10.7x with a mean of 9.6x for estimated 1999 FFO per share, compared to 9.7x
and 8.8x, respectively, for Regency. The analysis further indicated estimated
1998-1999 FFO per share growth rates for the Regency Comparable Companies that
ranged from 7.4% to 19.3% with a mean of 11.1%, compared to 9.3% for Regency.
Goldman Sachs also considered the ratios of estimated 1998 FFO multiples to the
estimated 1998-1999 FFO per share growth rate for the Regency Comparable
Companies, which ranged from .7 to 1.4 with a mean of 1.0, compared to 1.0 for
Regency.

West Coast Retail Comparable Companies Analysis

Goldman Sachs reviewed and compared certain financial information relating to
four publicly traded shopping center REITs whose assets are primarily located
on the west coast (the "West Coast Retail Comparable Companies"). The West
Coast Retail Comparable Companies were selected because they have a geographic
concentration that for purposes of analysis may be considered similar to
Pacific Retail. The multiples and ratios for the West Coast Retail Comparable
Companies were based on the most recent publicly available information, on
information supplied by I/B/E/S and on the closing market price on September
18, 1998. With respect to the West Coast Retail Comparable Companies, Goldman
Sachs considered the closing stock market price as a multiple of estimated 1998
and estimated 1999 FFO per share, which ranged from 8.6x to 9.7x with a mean of
9.1x for estimated 1998 FFO per share, and 7.8x to 9.0x with a mean of 8.4x for
estimated 1999 FFO per share. The analysis further indicated estimated 1998-
1999 FFO growth rates for the West Coast Retail Comparable Companies that
ranged from 8.1% to 10.7% with a mean of 9.3%. Goldman Sachs also considered
the ratios of 1998 estimated FFO multiples to the estimated 1998 to 1999 growth
rate, which ranged from .9 to 1.2 with a mean of 1.0.

Selected Transactions Analysis

Goldman Sachs analyzed certain information relating to selected transactions in
the retail sector of the REIT industry since 1995 (the "Selected Retail
Transactions"). Such analysis indicated for the Selected Retail Transactions
transaction FFO multiples as a percentage of the acquiring company's FFO
multiple on a forward four-quarter basis for the particular Selected Retail
Transaction that ranged from 111.5% to 73.5% with a mean of 95.8%, compared to
104.5% for the merger. Such analysis indicated for the Selected Retail
Transactions transaction FFO multiples as a percentage of the acquiring
company's FFO multiple on a trailing four-quarter basis for the particular
Selected Retail Transaction that ranged from 114.2% to 38.2% with a mean of
81.6%, compared with 104.3% for the merger. In addition, Goldman Sachs analyzed
certain information relating to selected transactions in the REIT industry
since 1995 (the "Selected REIT Transactions"). Such analysis indicated for the
Selected REIT Transactions transaction FFO multiples as a percentage of the
acquiring company's FFO multiple on a forward four-quarter basis for the
particular Selected REIT Transaction that ranged from 111.5% to 73.5% with a
mean of 96.9%, compared with 104.5% for the merger.
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Dividend Analysis

Goldman Sachs analyzed the pro forma dividend payment per Pacific Retail common
share. Based on Pacific Retail's current dividend of $0.77 per share, Regency's
current dividend of $1.76 per share and the exchange ratio of 0.48, holders of

Pacific Retail common shares will receive a dividend of $0.8448, a 9.7% premium
over their current dividend.

The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process and is not
necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Selecting
portions of the analyses or of the summary set forth above, without considering
the analyses as a whole, could create an incomplete view of the processes
underlying Goldman Sachs' opinion. In arriving at its fairness determination,
Goldman Sachs considered the results of all such analyses. The analyses were
prepared solely for the purposes of Goldman Sachs' providing its opinion to the
Pacific Retail Special Committee as to the fairness from a financial point of
view to the holders of Pacific Retail common shares other than SC-USRealty and
do not purport to be appraisals or necessarily reflect the prices at which
businesses or securities actually may be sold. Analyses based upon forecasts or
future results are not necessarily indicative of actual future results, which
may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by such analyses.
Because such analyses are inherently subject to uncertainty, being based upon
numerous factors or events beyond the control of the parties or their
respective advisors, none of Pacific Retail, Regency, Goldman Sachs or any
other person assumes responsibility if future results are materially different
from those forecast. As described above, Goldman Sachs' opinion to the Pacific
Retail Special Committee was one of many factors taken into consideration by
the Pacific Retail Special Committee in making its determination to approve the
Merger Agreement. The foregoing summary does not purport to be a complete
description of the analysis performed by Goldman Sachs and is qualified by
reference to the written opinion of Goldman Sachs set forth in Annex C hereto.

Goldman Sachs is familiar with Regency, having acted as (i) lead managing
underwriter of an offering of $100 million of 7 1/8% notes due 2005 in July
1998 and (ii) co-managing underwriter of an offering of 2,415,000 shares of
Regency common stock in July 1997, and may provide investment banking services
to Regency in the future. Goldman Sachs is familiar with SC-USRealty, having
acted as (i) lead managing underwriter of an offering of $350 million of 2.000%
convertible notes due 2003 in May 1998, (ii) lead managing underwriter of an
offering of 5,735,493 common shares of SC-USRealty in December 1997, and (iii)
lead managing underwriter of an offering of 16,733,800 of common shares of SC-
USRealty in November 1996, and may provide investment banking services to SC-
USRealty in the future. In addition, Goldman Sachs is familiar with Security
Capital Group, which has an equity interest in SC-USRealty, having rendered
significant investment banking services to Security Capital Group and certain
of its affiliates from time to time, including having acted as principal in
certain transactions, and may provide investment banking services to or act as
principal in certain transactions with Security Capital Group and its
affiliates in the future. Goldman Sachs, as part of its investment banking
business, is continually engaged in the valuation of businesses and their
securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated
underwritings, competitive biddings, secondary distributions of listed and
unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for estate, corporate
and other purposes. The Pacific Retail Special Committee selected Goldman Sachs
as its financial advisor because it is a nationally recognized investment
banking firm that has substantial experience in transactions similar to the
merger.
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Goldman Sachs provides a full range of financial, advisory and security
services in the course of its normal trading activities may from time to time
effect transactions and hold securities, including derivative securities, of
Regency, SC-USRealty, or Security Capital Group for its own account or for the
accounts of customers.

Pursuant to a letter agreement dated July 27, 1998 (the "Goldman Engagement
Letter"), the Pacific Retail Special Committee engaged Goldman Sachs to render
an opinion with respect to the fairness of the exchange ratio. Pursuant to the
terms of the Goldman Engagement Letter, Pacific Retail has agreed to pay
Goldman Sachs a fee of $500,000 for delivery of its written opinion dated
September 23, 1998, whether or not such opinion is favorable as to the fairness
of the exchange ratio pursuant to the Merger Agreement. Pacific Retail has also
agreed to reimburse Goldman Sachs for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses,
including attorney's fees, and to indemnify Goldman Sachs against certain
liabilities, including certain liabilities under the federal securities laws.

Certain Information Provided to Financial Advisors

Regency and Pacific Retail provided certain internal forecasts and projections
to Prudential Securities and Goldman Sachs in connection with their services as
financial advisors. See "--Opinion of Regency's Financial Advisor" and "--
Opinion of Pacific Retail's Financial Advisor." Neither Regency nor Pacific
Retail makes public its internal forecasts or projections as a matter of course
with respect to their future financial performance. Certain of the projections
provided to the financial advisors were solely for the purpose of assisting
such advisors in rendering their fairness opinions. The projections provided to
the financial advisors have been included in this Joint Proxy Statement and
Prospectus for the limited purpose of giving shareholders access to key
financial projections reviewed by the financial advisors for purposes of their
fairness opinions. Such projections were not prepared with a view to public
disclosure or in compliance with published guidelines of the Securities and
Exchange Commission or the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
regarding projections. The independent auditors of Regency and Pacific Retail
have not examined, compiled, or otherwise applied procedures to the projections
presented herein, and accordingly, do not express an opinion or any form of
assurance on them.

The projections involved numerous estimates and assumptions, including those
discussed below, which Regency believes are reasonable. However, projections
are necessarily subject to uncertainties, many of which are beyond the control
of management. See "Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements." Because
of such uncertainties, actual results will differ from projections, and such
differences could be material. Accordingly, shareholders should not place undue
reliance on the projections. Neither Regency nor Pacific Retail intends to
update the projections to reflect future circumstances or events.

Regency projected aggregate FFO for 1999 and 2000 of $76.8 million and $94.9
million, respectively. Utilizing certain assumptions provided by Pacific
Retail, Regency projected Pacific Retail FFO for 1999 and 2000 of $81.8 million
and $99.5 million, respectively. Based on the aggregate FFO of the combined
company for 1999 and 2000 of $157.9 million and $190.3 million, respectively,
Regency calculated per share FFO accretion from the merger for 1999 and 2000 of
approximately 0.9% and 2.1%, respectively.

FFO, as defined by Regency and Pacific Retail, based on the National
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts' definition, is net income
(computed in accordance with generally accepted
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accounting principles) excluding gains or losses from debt restructuring and
sales of income producing property held for investment, plus depreciation and
amortization of real estate, and after adjustments for unconsolidated
investments in real estate partnerships and joint ventures. Adjustments for
investments in real estate partnerships are calculated to reflect FFO on the
same basis.

In making the FFO projections, Regency made certain assumptions, including:
.revenue increases of 5% per year for both companies;

.increases in same property net operating income of 2% per year for both
companies;

acquisitions by Regency of $200 million and $300 million and by Pacific
Retail of $210 million and $300 million in 1999 and 2000, respectively;

new developments of $140 million and $150 million by Regency in 1999 and
2000, and $117 million and $72 million by Pacific Retail in 1999 and 2000,
in each case with a stabilized capitalization rate of 9.25% for Regency
and 10.25% to 11.5% for Pacific Retail;

the issuance of 1.8 million and 5.5 million shares of common stock or
common stock equivalents by Regency in 1999 and 2000, respectively;

the issuance of 7.9 million and 7.1 million shares of common stock or
common stock equivalents by Pacific Retail in 1999 and 2000, respectively;
and

the issuance of 0.7 million and 9.5 million shares of common stock or
common stock equivalents by the combined company in 1999 and 2000,
respectively.

Regency also projected general and administrative cost savings from the merger
in 1999 and 2000 of $2.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively. This
projection was based on the assumption that salaries and related expenses would
increase 5% per year and other general and administrative expenses would
increase 3% per year. The assumed savings consist primarily of the elimination
of duplicate personnel at the officer level, and non-payroll savings for office
rent and other operating expenses for such personnel.

Projected cost savings from the merger also include $2.7 million and $5.0
million in 1999 and 2000, respectively, from lower costs of debt and equity
capital. These projected cost savings are based primarily on Pacific Retail's
lower ratio of debt to assets, resulting in a more favorable cost of capital
and the elimination of a common stock offering in 1999 that Regency projected
as a stand-alone company. In projecting these savings, Regency made certain
assumptions, including::

Libor of 6% per year,

a 7.0% per year interest rate on seven-to-ten year unsecured debt
securities of $400 million issued in 1999, and a 6.9% per year interest
rate on seven-to-ten year unsecured debt securities of $400 million issued
in 2000, and

an annual dividend rate of 8.5% on $100 million and $125 million of
preferred stock sold in 1999 and 2000, respectively.
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Interests of Certain Parties

Mary Lou Rogers, who is a trustee of Pacific Retail and a director of Regency
and was Managing Director of Security Capital Group at the time the merger
agreement was signed, has become President and Chief Operating Officer of
Regency effective January 1, 1999. Regency has granted to Ms. Rogers (a) ten-
year options to purchase 87,640 shares at $22.25, which will vest in equal
installments over four years and (b) 22,472 shares of restricted stock, which
will vest in amounts of 10%, 20%, 30% and 40%, respectively, over four years.
Certain officers as well as other employees of Pacific Retail are expected to
become officers and employees of Regency. James G. Buis, John S. Delatour, and
Brian M. Smith, each a Managing Director of Pacific Retail, will be the
Managing Director-Investments (Southwest), the Managing Director-Operations
(West), and the Managing Director-Investments (Pacific), respectively, of
Regency upon consummation of the merger. In addition, John T. Kelley, Chairman
of the Pacific Retail Board of Trustees, Jeffrey A. Cozad, a Director and
Executive Officer of SC-USRealty and a Trustee of Pacific Retail, and John C.
Schweitzer and Terry N. Worrell, also trustees of Pacific Retail and members of
the Pacific Retail Special Committee, will become directors of Regency at the
effective time of the merger. As directors of Regency, each of Messrs. Kelley,
Cozad, Schweitzer and Worrell will receive an option to purchase 2,000 shares
of Regency common stock and will receive an additional option to purchase 1,000
shares of Regency common stock for each year in which they serve as a Regency
director. See "Information Concerning Executive Officers and Directors of
Regency After the Merger."

Each non-employee director, officer and employee of Pacific Retail who
currently owns options to acquire Pacific Retail common shares that remain
unexercised immediately prior to the effective time of the merger and who
becomes a Regency non-employee director, officer or employee will receive
substitute options to acquire Regency common stock upon completion of the
merger. Dennis H. Alberts, President and Chief Executive Officer of Pacific
Retail, Jane E. Mody, Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer of Pacific
Retail, and Joshua M. Brown, Managing Director of Pacific Retail, who will be
employed by Regency for only six months after the merger (or in Mr. Brown's
case, not at all), will receive fully vested options of Regency. Mr. Alberts'
and Ms. Mody's options will expire five years from the date of the merger, and
Mr. Brown's options will expire on December 31, 1999. Except for the vesting
and expiration provisions applicable to the options of these three departing
Pacific Retail executive officers, the options issued to former Pacific Retail
non-employee director, officers and employees will have the same vesting and
termination dates as the Pacific Retail options they currently hold. See
"Amendment to the Regency Incentive Plan."

Mr. Alberts, Ms. Mody and Mr. Brown will receive significant non-compete or
severance compensation in connection with the merger. Mr. Alberts and Ms. Mody
will provide transitional services to Regency for six months after the merger,
for which they will receive total salaries of $168,750 and $175, 000,
respectively. Mr. Alberts and Ms. Mody will receive non-compete compensation,
payable in equal installments over 18 months after termination of their
employment, totalling $506,250 and $525,000, respectively. Mr. Brown, who will
not be employed by Regency, will receive severance compensation of $350,000,
payable over three months. Regency will pay health insurance premiums for the
three departing executives for the 18 months (or in Mr. Brown's case, 12
months) following their termination of employment.
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In addition, Regency has agreed that outstanding share purchase loans made by
Pacific Retail to the three departing executives and secured by the Pacific
Retail shares purchased will be repaid, by transferring the collateral to
Regency, at such time in 1999 as Regency elects. If the value of the Regency
common stock issued in exchange for the Pacific Retail shares collateralizing
the loans is less than the outstanding balance under the loans at the time the
collateral is applied against the loans, Regency will forgive the shortfall and
will pay an amount equal to 39.6% of the amount forgiven. The share purchase
loans, which accrue interest at the rate of 6% per year, or the annual dividend
as a percentage of the fair market value of the collateral, were made under
Pacific Retail's share incentive plan. Based on the closing price of Regency's
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on January 25, 1999 and after
applying the 0.48 merger exchange ratio, the amounts outstanding under the
share loans exceed the value of the collateral by the following amounts: Mr.
Alberts, $178,250; Ms. Mody, $119,500; and Mr. Brown, $89,125.

Voting Agreement

Concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Regency, Pacific
Retail and SC-USRealty entered into an agreement (the "Voting Agreement"),
which requires that, subject to the terms and conditions of the Voting
Agreement, SC-USRealty must vote all Regency common stock and Pacific Retail
common shares beneficially owned by it:

in favor of the merger and the Merger Agreement and each of the other
matters presented at the Regency special meeting and the Pacific Retail
special meeting and

against any proposal for an alternative transaction presented to the
shareholders of Pacific Retail or Regency for their approval.

Under the Voting Agreement, SC-USRealty may not, directly or through its
directors, officers or other representatives, (1) initiate, solicit, or
encourage, directly or indirectly, any inquiries or the making or
implementation of any proposal or offer (including, without limitation, any
proposal or offer to Pacific Retail's or Regency's shareholders) with respect
to an alternative transaction in lieu of the merger, or (2) engage in any
negotiations concerning, or provide any confidential information or data to, or
have any discussions with, any person relating to an alternative transaction,
or otherwise facilitate any effort or attempt to make or implement an
alternative transaction. Further, SC-USRealty has agreed that it will notify
Pacific Retail and Regency immediately if it receives any such inquiries or
proposals or any such request for information, or any such negotiations or
discussions are sought to be initiated or continued with it, and each of
Pacific Retail and Regency has agreed to notify SC-USRealty immediately if it
receives any such inquiries or proposals or any such request for information,
or any such negotiations or discussions are sought to be initiated or continued
with it.

If the Pacific Retail Board or the Regency Board validly exercises any of its
respective rights under the Merger Agreement with respect to an alternative
transaction, SC-USRealty will no longer be subject to the restrictions
described in clause (2) of the preceding paragraph with respect to, but only
with respect to, the particular alternative transaction at issue and only for
so long as the Pacific Retail Board or the Regency Board, as applicable,
continues to exercise such rights.
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The parties have agreed in the Voting Agreement that, as of the effective time
of the merger, the Investor Agreement dated October 20, 1995 between SC-
USRealty and Pacific Retail will automatically terminate. See "Certain Pacific
Retail Relationships and Transactions--Investor Agreement."

The Voting Agreement terminates upon the earlier of the consummation of the
merger and any termination of the Merger Agreement.

Transfer Restriction Agreements

SC-USRealty has also agreed in separate transfer restriction agreements with
Pacific Retail and Regency, respectively, that, until any termination of the
Merger Agreement or the close of business on the date of the later to occur of
the Regency special meeting and the Pacific Retail special meeting, SC-USRealty
will not sell or otherwise dispose of any Regency common stock or Pacific
Retail common shares, respectively (not including a pledge of Regency common
stock or Pacific Retail common shares, as the case may be, as security with
respect to a bona fide loan from a financial institution), or enter into any
contract, option or other arrangement or undertaking with respect to the
voting, direct or indirect sale, assignment, transfer or other disposition of
any Regency common stock or Pacific Retail common shares, as the case may be.

Amendment to Stockholders Agreement

Regency and SC-USRealty are parties to a Stockholders Agreement dated as of
July 10, 1996, as amended (the "Stockholders Agreement"). Regency and SC-
USRealty have entered into Amendment No. 3 to the Stockholders Agreement (the
"Stockholders Amendment") that will take effect simultaneously with the merger.

SC-USRealty has agreed in the Stockholders Agreement to a "standstill" which
expires on September 10, 2001 and is renewable for additional one year terms
thereafter. A "standstill" is an agreement by a shareholder to refrain from
changing its position. As part of its standstill, SC-USRealty has agreed not to
acquire additional shares and not to take certain actions relating to
management or control, such as replacing members of Regency's Board of
Directors. The Stockholders Agreement also gives SC-USRealty certain rights
such as the right to nominate directors, to participate in equity offerings by
Regency and to be consulted on certain significant actions. In addition,
Regency has also agreed to certain restrictions in the Stockholders Agreement
including the amount of debt it can incur and the types of investments it can
make. The impact of the Stockholders Amendment on these rights is described
below. The Stockholders Agreement has previously been filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, and a copy of the Stockholders Amendment is attached
hereto as Annex E. The following description is qualified in its entirety by
reference to these agreements.

Limits on Ownership and Transfer of Regency Common Stock During Standstill

Under the Stockholders Agreement, during its standstill SC-USRealty is
prohibited from beneficially owning more than 45% of the outstanding Regency
common stock on a fully diluted basis. SC-USRealty will own approximately 52.3%
of the outstanding Regency common stock on a fully diluted basis upon
completion of the merger. The Stockholders Amendment permits SC-USRealty to

75



exchange all of its Pacific Retail shares in the merger by limiting SC-
USRealty's ownership of Regency common stock during the term of its standstill
to 60% on a fully diluted basis.

SC-USRealty will own approximately 52.3% of Regency's common stock on a fully
diluted basis immediately after the merger. SC-USRealty will have the right to
acquire additional shares from time to time after the merger in the open market
or in private negotiated transactions, up to a maximum of 60% on a fully
diluted basis, so long as its ownership does not fall below 45% on a fully
diluted basis for a continuous period of 180 days.

Under the Stockholders Agreement, so long as SC-USRealty owns more than 15% of
Regency's common stock on a fully diluted basis (10% upon effectiveness of the
Stockholders Amendment), SC-USRealty may not dispose of its Regency shares
except (1) to certain affiliates or financial institutional pledgees, (2) in
transactions that meet the volume limitations and other requirements of Rule
144 under the Securities Act of 1933, (3) in registered public offerings, or
(4) in privately negotiated transactions, which must be approved by Regency, in
its sole discretion, where a private sale would result in the transferee
holding more than 9.8% of Regency's common stock. Public sales by SC-USRealty
of large amounts of Regency common stock could adversely affect the market
price of the stock.

Board Representation

Under the Stockholders Agreement, SC-USRealty has the right (but not the
obligation) to name five nominees to Regency's 13-person Board of Directors,
which is proportionate to its ownership of Regency common stock. SC-USRealty
presently has designated two representatives to become Regency directors,
Thomas B. Allin and Jeffrey A. Cozad. Mary Lou Rogers, who became President and
Chief Operating Officer effective January 1, 1999, was also an SC-USRealty
representative. Ms. Rogers remains a Regency director but is no longer deemed
an SC-USRealty representative. The Stockholders Amendment provides that from
the effective time of the merger until the next annual or special meeting (or
action by written consent in lieu of a meeting) at which directors are elected,
SC-USRealty will have the right, but not the obligation, to name three
representatives on the Regency Board of Directors. The Stockholders Amendment
also provides that at and after the first election of directors to occur after
the merger and until SC-USRealty no longer owns 15% (as opposed to 20% under
the present Stockholders Agreement) of the outstanding Regency common stock on
a fully diluted basis for a continuous period of 180 days, or until any earlier
expiration of the standstill provisions of the Stockholders Agreement, SC-
USRealty will have the right to nominate the greater of (1) three (as opposed
to two under the present Stockholders Agreement) and (2) that number of
directors corresponding to the percentage of Regency common stock owned by
SC-USRealty, but not more than 49% of the Regency Board, rounded down to the
nearest whole number. If its standstill ends but SC-USRealty continues to own
at least 15% (as opposed to 20% under the present Stockholders Agreement) of
the outstanding Regency common stock on a fully diluted basis for a continuous
period of 180 days, SC-USRealty will have the right to nominate the lesser of
(1) three directors (as opposed to two under the present Stockholders
Agreement), and (2) the number corresponding to the percentage of Regency
common stock owned by SC-USRealty.

Voting
On most matters, during its standstill SC-USRealty must vote its shares at its
option either (i) in accordance with the recommendation of the Regency Board or

(ii) proportionately in accordance with
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the vote of the other holders of Regency common stock. Under the Stockholders
Agreement, SC-USRealty may, however, vote all its shares in its own discretion
with respect to the election of its nominees to the Board and all its shares up
to 40% of the outstanding shares of Regency common stock in its own discretion
with respect to votes requiring the approval of holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares on (i) any amendment to Regency's Articles or bylaws which
would reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect SC-USRealty and
(ii) any merger, consolidation, sale of a material amount of assets,
recapitalization, liquidation, or similar action out of the ordinary course of
business, or the issuance of securities to a person which requires shareholder
approval under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange (an "Extraordinary
Transaction"). SC-USRealty may only vote 28% of the outstanding shares of
Regency common stock in its discretion in the event of an Extraordinary
Transaction requiring the approval of holders of two-thirds of the outstanding
shares of Regency common stock. Shares owned over these thresholds must be
voted in accordance with the recommendation of the Regency Board or
proportionately in accordance with the vote of the other holders of Regency
common stock. Under the Stockholders Amendment, the 40% and 28% limitations
described above will be changed to 49% and 32%, respectively.

Participation Rights

SC-USRealty generally has the right under the Stockholders Agreement to
purchase additional equity securities (at the same price offered to other
purchasers) each time that Regency sells additional shares of capital stock (or
options or other rights to acquire capital stock), in order to preserve
SC-USRealty's pro rata ownership of Regency, except that it may not purchase
more than 37.5% of the securities offered. Under the Stockholders Amendment,
SC-USRealty waives any participation rights it may have in connection with the
merger and the percentage of securities offered that SC-USRealty may purchase
in any offering by Regency is increased from 37.5% to 49%.

Investments in Shopping Center Properties

The Stockholders Amendment will extend the geographic region in which Regency
may operate and in which SC-USRealty's investment activities are restricted
from a defined portion in the U.S. where Regency's current properties are
located to the entire U.S. The effect of this amendment will be to permit
Regency to invest in shopping centers of less than 350,000 square feet located
anywhere in the U.S. The amendment also will restrict SC-USRealty and its
controlled affiliates from directly or indirectly owning, purchasing,
developing or otherwise acquiring shopping centers anywhere in the U.S. except
through their investment in (1) Regency, (2) other shopping center companies in
which SC-USRealty is not represented on the board of directors and does not
participate in the management of such other company, and (3) shopping centers
representing an incidental part of a portfolio investment provided that they
are offered to Regency upon acquisition and if not then purchased by Regency,
again upon resale.

Other

In order to avoid certain adverse federal income tax consequences to certain
shareholders of SC-USRealty in view of the increase in Regency assets that will
result from the merger, the Stockholders Amendment also will reduce the
percentage of assets that may be managed by persons other than employees of
Regency from 30% to 22%, at cost, of Regency's consolidated assets.
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Because the merger will more than double SC-USRealty's investment in Regency,
the Stockholders Amendment also will reduce the threshold for the termination
of certain rights on the part of SC-USRealty. Any right of SC-USRealty that
presently terminates after SC-USRealty ceases to own 20% or 15%, respectively,
of the outstanding Regency common stock on a fully diluted basis for a
continuous period of 180 days will not terminate under the Stockholders
Amendment until its ownership is so reduced to the 15% and 10% levels,
respectively. For example, participation rights that currently terminate when
SC-USRealty so ceases to own 15% of the outstanding Regency common stock will
terminate after the merger when SC-USRealty so ceases to own 10% of the
outstanding Regency common stock.

Although Regency does not believe that the limitations imposed on Regency's
activities by the Stockholders Agreement or the Stockholders Amendment will
materially impair Regency's ability to conduct its business, there can be no
assurance that these limitations will not adversely affect Regency's operations
in the future.

Material Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences
of the merger of Pacific Retail with and into Regency. The discussions below
under "Tax Treatment of Pacific Retail, Regency and United States Holders" and
"Tax Treatment of Non-U.S. Holders" are accurate in all material respects as to
matters of law and legal conclusions and, to the extent such discussions
constitute matters of law or legal conclusions, they are based on the opinion
of Mayer, Brown & Platt. This summary is based upon the current provisions of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), its legislative
history, Treasury regulations, administrative pronouncements and judicial
decisions, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive
effect. This summary does not purport to be a complete discussion of all U.S.
federal income tax consequences relating to the merger. This summary does not
address the tax consequences of the merger under state, local or non-U.S. tax
laws. In addition, this summary may not apply, in whole or in part, to
particular categories of Regency or Pacific Retail shareholders, such as
financial institutions, broker-dealers, life insurance companies, tax-exempt
organizations, investment companies, holders of limited partnership units in
Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership or Regency Centers, L.P.,
individuals who received Regency common stock or Pacific Retail common shares
pursuant to stock options, restricted stock programs or in other compensatory
transactions, and other special status taxpayers. Finally, a tax ruling from
the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") has not been requested with respect to the
merger or the other transactions described herein, and there can be no complete
assurance that the IRS will not assert a contrary position. This summary is
included for general information only. All Regency and Pacific Retail
shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisors to determine the specific
tax consequences of the merger, including any state, local and non-U.S. tax
consequences.

For purposes of the following discussion, a "United States Holder" is any
person other than a "Non-U.S. Holder." A "Non-U.S. Holder" is any person other
than

(1) a citizen or resident of the United States,

(2) a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in the

United States or under the laws of the United States or any state,
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(3) an estate whose income is includible in gross income for United States
tax purposes regardless of source or

(4) a "United States Trust."

A United States Trust includes a trust if, and only if, a court within the
United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration
of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all
substantial decisions of the trust.

Tax Treatment of Pacific Retail, Regency and United States Holders

In the opinion of Mayer, Brown & Platt, based on certain factual
representations of Pacific Retail, Regency and SC-USRealty, the merger will be
treated for federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning
of Section 368 of the Code and each of Pacific Retail and Regency will be a
party to such merger within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code.

In the opinion of Mayer, Brown & Platt, based on certain factual
representations of Pacific Retail, Regency and SC-USRealty, no income, gain or
loss will be recognized by Pacific Retail or Regency pursuant to the merger.

No income, gain or loss will be recognized by a United States Holder of Regency
common shares pursuant to the merger. The tax basis and holding period of the
Regency common shares owned by a United States Holder will not change as a
result of the merger.

In the opinion of Mayer, Brown & Platt, based on certain factual
representations of Pacific Retail, Regency and SC-USRealty, no income, gain or
loss will be recognized by a United States Holder of Pacific Retail common
shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B
preferred shares who, pursuant to the merger, receives Regency common stock,
Regency Series 1 preferred stock or Regency Series 2 preferred stock, as the
case may be, in exchange for all of such holder's Pacific Retail common shares,
Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B preferred
shares, as the case may be (except to the extent of cash received in lieu of a
fractional share or pursuant to the exercise of dissenters's rights). The tax
basis of the shares of Regency common stock, Regency Series 1 preferred stock
or Regency Series 2 preferred stock, as the case may be, received by a United
States Holder in such exchange (including any basis allocable to fractional
shares) will be equal to the tax basis of the Pacific Retail common shares,
Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B preferred
shares, as the case may be, surrendered in exchange therefor. The holding
period of the Regency common stock, Regency Series 1 preferred stock or Regency
Series 2 preferred stock, as the case may be, received will include the holding
period of Pacific Retail common shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred
shares or Pacific Retail Series B preferred shares, as the case may be,
surrendered in exchange therefor provided that such shares were held as capital
assets of the holder at the effective time of the merger.

A United States Holder of Pacific Retail common shares, Pacific Retail Series A
preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B preferred shares that receives cash
in the merger in lieu of a fractional share interest will be treated as having
received the fractional share interest in Regency common stock, Regency Series
1 preferred stock or Regency Series 2 preferred stock, as the case may be, in
the merger (with tax basis determined as discussed above) and then as having
received the cash in
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redemption of the fractional share interest. The cash payment will be treated
as a distribution in payment of the fractional interest deemed redeemed under
Section 302 of the Code. A United States Holder of Pacific Retail common
shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B
preferred shares, as the case may be, who

(1) is not involved in directing corporate affairs,
(2) holds a minimal interest in Pacific Retail and

(3) is not considered to own indirectly shares of Pacific Retail or Regency
under the constructive ownership rules of Section 318 of the Code,

will generally recognize gain or loss on the deemed redemption in an amount
equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and such holder's
adjusted tax basis allocable to such fractional share. Such gain or loss will
be capital gain or loss if such holder's Pacific Retail common shares, Pacific
Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B preferred shares,
as the case may be, are held as a capital asset at the effective time. The
capital gain or loss so recognized generally will be long-term capital gain or
loss if the holding period for the fractional share interest exceeds one year.
In the case of other holders, Section 302 of the Code set forth other tests,
which, if met, would also result in similar treatment of the holder. In the
event, however, that none of these tests could be met, the cash payment would
be taxed as a dividend.

The merger will be a taxable event for a United States Holder who perfects its
dissenters' rights and receives solely cash in exchange for Pacific Retail
common shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail
Series B preferred shares, as the case may be. A United States Holder would
generally recognize capital gain or loss, equal to the difference between the
amount of cash received and the holder's tax basis in the shares surrendered,
provided that such shares were held by such holder as a capital asset at the
time of the merger and that such holder, following the redemption of the
holder's Pacific Retail shares, owns no Regency shares either directly or
indirectly under the constructive ownership rules of Section 318 of the Code.

Tax Treatment of Non-U.S. Holders

In the opinion of Mayer, Brown & Platt, based on certain factual
representations of Pacific Retail, Regency and SC-USRealty,

(1) immediately after the merger, Regency will be a United States real
property holding corporation ("USRPHC") as defined in Section 897(c)(2)
of the Code and will not qualify as a domestically controlled REIT as
defined in Section 897(h) of the Code, and

(2) assuming a Non-U.S. Holder fulfills all applicable filing requirements
under Treasury regulation section 1.897-5T(d)(1)(iii),

no gain or loss will be recognized by a Non-U.S. Holder of Pacific Retail
common shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail
Series B preferred shares who receives pursuant to the merger Regency common
stock, Regency Series 1 preferred stock or Regency Series 2 preferred stock, as
the case may be, in exchange for all of such holder's Pacific Retail common
shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B
preferred shares, as the case may be (except to the extent of cash received in
lieu of a fractional share or pursuant to the exercise of dissenters' rights).
To the extent a Non-U.S. Holder receives cash in lieu of fractional share
interests
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or pursuant to the exercise of dissenters' rights, such cash will generally be
subject to taxation under FIRPTA as a sale of a United States real property
interest ("USRPI") as defined in Section 897(c) of the Code. If, contrary to
Mayer, Brown & Platt's opinion, immediately after the merger Regency does not
qualify as a USRPHC or qualifies as a domestically controlled REIT or if a Non-
U.S. Holder does not fulfill all applicable filing requirements under Treasury
regulation section 1.897-5T(d)(1)(iii), the exchange of Pacific Retail common
shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or Pacific Retail Series B
preferred shares for Regency common stock, Regency Series 1 preferred stock or
Regency Series 2 preferred stock, as the case may be, would be subject to
taxation under FIRPTA as a sale of a USRPI. If gain on the sale or exchange of
Pacific Retail common shares, Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares or
Pacific Retail Series B preferred shares were subject to taxation under FIRPTA,
a Non-U.S. Holder would be subject to U.S. income tax rates applicable to U.S.
individuals or corporations, and Regency could be required to withhold 10% of
the purchase price and remit such amount to the IRS. The branch profits tax
would not apply to such sales or exchanges unless possibly the gain were
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business.

No income, gain or loss will be recognized by a Non-U.S. Holder of Regency
common stock pursuant to the merger. The tax basis and holding period of the
Regency common stock owned by a Non-U.S. Holder will not change as a result of
the merger.

A sale or exchange of Regency common stock, Regency Series 1 preferred stock or
Regency Series 2 preferred stock following the merger by a Non-U.S. Holder will
generally be subject to U.S. taxation under FIRPTA as a sale of a USRPI unless
Regency qualifies as a domestically controlled REIT. Immediately after the
merger, Regency will no longer qualify as a domestically controlled REIT. A
domestically controlled REIT is a REIT in which, at all times during a
specified testing period (generally five years), less than 50% in value of its
shares is held directly or indirectly by Non-U.S. Holders. Thus, in general, a
sale or exchange of Regency common stock, Regency Series 1 preferred stock or
Regency Series 2 preferred stock by a Non-U.S. Holder during the period
beginning on the effective time and ending five years after Regency has
continually qualified as a domestically control REIT will be subject to
taxation under FIRPTA as a sale of a USRPI unless

(1) such shares are "regularly traded" (as defined by applicable Treasury
regulations) on an established securities market (e.g., the New York
Stock Exchange on which the Regency common stock is listed) and

(2) the selling Non-U.S. Holder held 5% or less of the class of stock sold
or exchanged during a specified period (generally five years).

If a Non-U.S. Holder sells or exchanges Regency common stock, Regency Series 1
preferred stock or Regency Series 2 preferred stock subsequent to Regency
continually qualifying as a domestically controlled REIT for five years, such
Non U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to taxation on such sale or
exchange under FIRPTA. If, contrary to Mayer, Brown & Platt's opinion,
immediately after the merger, Regency qualifies as a domestically controlled
REIT, a sale or exchange of Regency common stock, Regency Series 1 preferred
stock or Regency Series 2 preferred stock by a Non-U.S. Holder would not be
subject to taxation under Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980
("FIRPTA") as a sale of a USRPI.
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If gain on the sale or exchange of Regency common stock, Regency Series 1
preferred stock or Regency Series 2 preferred stock were subject to taxation
under FIRPTA, a Non-U.S. Holder would be subject to U.S. income tax rates
applicable to U.S. individuals or corporations, and the purchaser of shares
could be required to withhold 10% of the purchase price and remit such amount
to the IRS. The branch profits tax would not apply to such sales or exchanges
unless, possibly, the gain were effectively connected with a U.S. trade or
business.

Regency's Qualification as a REIT
It is the opinion of Foley & Lardner that:

(1) Regency has qualified as a REIT for its taxable years ended December
31, 1993 through December 31, 1997,

(2) Regency has been organized in conformity with the requirements for
qualification and taxation as a REIT; and

(3) Regency's method of operation has enabled it and will continue to
enable it to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a
REIT under the Code.

It must be emphasized that this opinion is based on various assumptions and is
conditioned upon certain representations made by Regency as to factual matters
including, but not limited to, those concerning its business and properties,
and certain matters relating to Regency's manner of operation. Foley & Lardner
is not aware of any facts or circumstances that are inconsistent with these
representations and assumptions. The qualification and taxation as a REIT
depends upon Regency's ability to meet, through actual annual operating
results, the various income, asset, distribution, stock ownership and other
tests for qualification as a REIT set forth in the Code, the results of which
will not be reviewed by nor be under the control of Foley & Lardner.
Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the actual results of Regency's
operation for any particular taxable year will satisfy the requirements under
the Code for qualification and taxation as a REIT.

Consequences of the Merger on Regency's Qualification as a REIT

In the opinion of Foley & Lardner, based upon certain factual representations
of Pacific Retail and Regency, the consummation of the merger will not
jeopardize the status of Regency as a REIT under the Code. Moreover, it is the
opinion of Foley & Lardner that Regency's failure to qualify as a domestically
controlled REIT will not jeopardize the status of Regency as a REIT. Regency
intends to operate in a manner which permits it to satisfy the requirements for
taxation as a REIT under the applicable provisions of the Code, but no
assurance can be given that these requirements will be met.

Accounting Treatment

Regency will account for the merger as a purchase in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 16. Accordingly, Regency will record the assets
and liabilities acquired from Pacific Retail at Regency's cost (the purchase
price).

Restrictions on Sales by Affiliates

The Regency common stock to be issued in the merger will be registered under
the Securities Act of 1933. Such securities will be freely transferable under
the Securities Act of 1933, except for those
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issued to any person who may be deemed to be an affiliate (as such term is
defined for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act of 1933) of Regency
or Pacific Retail. Affiliates may not sell their Regency common stock acquired
in connection with the merger except pursuant to (1) an effective registration
statement under the Securities Act of 1933 covering such securities, (2)
paragraph (d) of Rule 145 or (3) any other applicable exemption under the
Securities Act of 1933. Pacific Retail has agreed to use its reasonable best
efforts to procure written agreements from executive officers, directors and
other affiliates containing appropriate representations and commitments
intended to ensure compliance with the Securities Act of 1933.

Dissenters' Rights

Shareholders of Pacific Retail are entitled to appraisal rights under Title 8
of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland
(the "Maryland REIT Law") and the Maryland General Corporation Law (the
"Maryland Act"). The preservation and exercise of appraisal rights are
conditioned on strict adherence to the applicable provisions of the Maryland
REIT Law and the Maryland Act. Each Pacific Retail shareholder desiring to
exercise appraisal rights should refer to Section 8-501.1(i) of the Maryland
REIT Law and to Title 3, Subtitle 2, of the Maryland Act, copies of which are
attached as Annex G to this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus, for a
complete statement of their rights and the steps which must be followed in
connection with the exercise of those rights. The following summary of the
rights of objecting shareholders does not purport to be a complete statement of
the procedures to be followed by shareholders of Pacific Retail desiring to
exercise their appraisal rights.

Under the Maryland REIT Law and the Maryland Act, a shareholder of Pacific
Retail will be entitled to demand and receive payment of the fair value of its
shares from Regency instead of receiving shares in Regency. However, a
shareholder who wants to receive fair value for its shares must follow specific
procedures. Such shareholder must:

(1) before or at the Pacific Retail special meeting at which the merger
will be considered, file with Pacific Retail a written objection to
the merger;

(2) not vote in favor of the merger; and

(3) make written demand on the successor corporation, Regency, within 20
days after the Articles of Merger of Pacific Retail into Regency (the
"Articles of Merger") have been accepted for record by the State
Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland (the "SDAT").

Any shareholder who fails to comply with the requirements described above will
be bound by the terms of the merger.

Regency is required to promptly notify each objecting shareholder in writing of
the date of acceptance of the Articles of Merger for record by the SDAT.
Regency may send a written offer to each objecting shareholder to pay for its
shares at what Regency considers to be the fair value thereof. Within 50 days
after the SDAT accepts the Articles of Merger for record, either Regency or any
objecting shareholder who has not received payment for its shares may petition
a court of equity in the appropriate county in Maryland for an appraisal to
determine the fair value of the shares.
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Regency does not presently intend to file an appraisal petition, and
shareholders seeking to exercise appraisal rights should not assume that
Regency will file such a petition or that Regency will initiate any
negotiations with respect to the fair value of such shares. Accordingly,
shareholders of Pacific Retail who desire to have their shares appraised and
who have not received payment for their shares, should file a petition for an
appraisal to determine the fair value of their shares with a court of equity in
Baltimore City, Maryland, within 50 days after the Articles of Merger are
accepted for record by the SDAT.

If the court finds that an objecting shareholder is entitled to an appraisal of
its shares, the court is required to appoint three disinterested appraisers to
determine the fair value of its shares on terms and conditions the court
determines proper. The appraisers must, within 60 days after appointment (or
such longer period as the court may direct), file with the court and mail to
each party to the proceeding their report stating their conclusion as to the
fair value of such shares.

"Fair value" is determined as of the close of business on the day the
shareholders vote on the merger and may not include any appreciation or
depreciation which directly or indirectly results from the merger or from its
proposal.

within 15 days after the filing of the report, any party may object to such
report and request a hearing on it. The court must, upon motion of any party,
enter an order either confirming, modifying or rejecting such report and, if
confirmed or modified, enter judgment for the appraised value of the shares. If
the appraisers' report is rejected, the court may determine the fair value of
the shares of the objecting shareholders or may remit the proceeding to the
same or other appraisers. Any judgment entered pursuant to a court proceeding
shall include interest from the date of the shareholders' vote on the action to
which objection was made. Costs of the proceeding shall be determined by the
court and may be assessed against Regency or, under certain circumstances, the
objecting shareholder, or both.

At any time after the filing of a petition for appraisal, the court may require
objecting shareholders to submit their certificates evidencing the shares to
the clerk of the court for notation of the pendency of the appraisal
proceeding.

A shareholder demanding payment for shares has no right to receive any
dividends or distributions payable to shareholders of record after the close of
business on the date of the shareholders' vote on the merger and shall cease to
have any right as a shareholder of Pacific Retail with respect to such shares
except the right to receive payment of the fair value thereof.

THE MERGER AGREEMENT
Regency Board Recommendation
The members of the Regency Board of Directors, other than SC-USRealty's
representatives, who abstained, have unanimously approved and recommend that
Regency shareholders vote "FOR" the merger. The affirmative vote of the holders

of a majority of the outstanding Regency common stock is required to approve
this proposal.
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Pacific Retail Board Recommendation

The Pacific Retail Board of Trustees has unanimously approved and recommends
that Pacific Retail shareholders vote "FOR" the merger. The affirmative vote of
the holders of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of
Pacific Retail common shares and Pacific Retail preferred shares, voting
together as a single class, is required to approve this proposal.

General

The Merger Agreement provides for the merger of Pacific Retail with and into
Regency. In the merger, the holders of Pacific Retail common shares would be
issued Regency common stock and the holders of Pacific Retail preferred shares
would be issued Regency preferred stock. The transaction is intended to qualify
as a tax-free reorganization for federal income tax purposes. The discussion in
this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus of the Merger Agreement and the
description of the material terms of the Merger Agreement are qualified in
their entirety by reference to the Merger Agreement, a copy of which is
attached to this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus as Annex A and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Effective Time of the Merger

Subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of the other conditions to the
obligations of Regency and Pacific Retail to consummate the merger, the merger
will be consummated as soon as practicable following the approval by the
shareholders of Regency and Pacific Retail of the merger and the Merger
Agreement at their respective special meetings. It is currently expected that
the merger will become effective at 11:59 p.m., Eastern standard time, on
February 28, 1999.

Exchange of Pacific Retail Share Certificates

As soon as practicable after the effective time of the merger, Regency will
mail to each holder of an outstanding certificate or certificates which prior
thereto evidenced Pacific Retail shares (1) a letter of transmittal (which will
specify that delivery will be effected, and risk of loss and title to such
certificate will pass, only upon delivery of such certificates to Regency), and
(2) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of such certificates for
the Regency common stock or Regency preferred stock, as the case may be. Upon
surrender to Regency of such certificates for cancellation, together with such
letter of transmittal, the holder of such certificates shall be entitled to a
certificate evidencing the number of full shares of Regency common stock or
Regency preferred stock, as the case may be, and the amount of cash in lieu of
a fractional share, if any, into which the aggregate number of Pacific Retail
shares previously evidenced by such certificates surrendered were converted
pursuant to the Merger Agreement. Holders of Pacific Retail shares should not
send in their certificates until they receive a Letter of Transmittal.

No dividends or other distributions with respect to Regency common stock or
Regency preferred stock with a record date after the effective time of the
merger will be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered certificate for Pacific
Retail common shares or Pacific Retail preferred shares, and no cash in lieu of
fractional shares will be paid to any such holder until the surrender of such
certificate in accordance with the foregoing procedures. Subject to the effect
of applicable laws, following surrender of any such certificate, Regency will
pay, without interest, to the holder of the certificate
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evidencing whole shares of Regency common stock or Regency preferred stock
issued in the merger at the time of such surrender, any cash payable in lieu of
a fractional share to which such holder is entitled and the amount of dividends
or other distributions with a record date after the effective time of the
merger theretofore paid with respect to such whole shares of Regency common
stock or Regency preferred stock. Regency will pay, at the appropriate payment
date, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after
the effective time but prior to such surrender and a payment date subsequent to
such surrender payable with respect to such whole shares of Regency common
stock or Regency preferred stock.

No fractional shares of Regency stock will be issued upon the surrender of
certificates evidencing Pacific Retail common shares or Pacific Retail
preferred shares. In lieu of issuing fractional shares, Regency will pay each
former holder of Pacific Retail shares who would otherwise be entitled to
received a fractional share of Regency stock an amount in cash equal to the
product obtained by multiplying (1) such fractional share interest by (2) the
average closing price of a share of Regency common stock on the New York Stock
Exchange on the ten consecutive trading days ending on the fifth day
immediately preceding the effective time of the merger.

After the effective time of the merger, there will be no further transfer on
the records of Pacific Retail or its transfer agent of certificates evidencing
Pacific Retail shares, and if such certificates are presented to Pacific Retail
for transfer, they will be canceled against delivery of certificates for
Regency stock as provided above.

No interest will be paid or will accrue on any cash payable pursuant to the
Merger Agreement. All Regency stock issued and all cash paid upon the surrender
of certificates evidencing Pacific Retail common shares and Pacific Retail
preferred shares in accordance with the procedures outlined above shall be
deemed to have been issued and paid in full satisfaction of all rights
pertaining to the Pacific Retail shares theretofore represented by such
certificates.

The Merger Agreement provides that at the effective time of the merger, Pacific
Retail's obligations with respect to outstanding options to acquire Pacific
Retail common shares will cease to represent a right to acquire such shares and
will be replaced by substitute options to purchase Regency common stock as
described below in "Amendment to the Regency Incentive Plan--Description of the
Plan--Grant of Substitute Non-Qualified Options."

Conditions to the Merger

The respective obligations of Regency and Pacific Retail to effect the merger

and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are subject to
the satisfaction or waiver of each of the following conditions at or prior to

the effective time of the merger:

(1) the other party shall have performed in all material respects its
agreements contained in the Merger Agreement required to be performed
on or prior to the closing of the merger and the representations and
warranties of the other party shall be true and correct in all
material respects on and as of the date made and the date of the
closing of the merger;

(2) the shareholders of Regency shall have approved the merger, the Merger
Agreement and the matters contemplated thereby;
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(3) the shareholders of Pacific Retail shall have approved the merger, the
Merger Agreement and the matters contemplated thereby;

(4) the registration statement filed by Regency with the Securities and
Exchange Commission shall have become effective in accordance with the
Securities Act of 1933, and no stop order suspending such
effectiveness shall have been issued and remain in effect and no
proceeding for that purpose shall have been initiated or threatened by
the Securities and Exchange Commission;

(5) the Regency common stock issuable as a result of the merger shall have
been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange, subject to
notice of issuance;

(6) Regency's shareholders shall have approved the Regency Articles
Amendment;

(7) Regency's shareholders shall have approved the amendment to the
Regency Incentive Plan;

(8) no preliminary or permanent injunction or other order or decree by any
federal or state court which prevents the consummation of the merger
shall have been issued and remain in effect;

(9) any filings by the parties that may be required by the Hart-Scott-
Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and any filings
by the parties with various state blue sky authorities shall have been
obtained and be in effect at the closing of the merger;

(10) the parties shall have received all required consents and waivers from
third parties;

(11) the holders of more than 10% of the issued and outstanding Pacific
Retail common shares and Pacific Retail preferred shares shall not
have duly perfected a demand for dissenters' rights in accordance with
the Maryland Act;

(12) each of Regency, Pacific Retail and SC-USRealty shall have received a
favorable opinion from Mayer, Brown & Platt to the effect that, for
United States federal income tax purposes (i) the merger will qualify
as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Code and
that each of Regency and Pacific Retail will be party to such
reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code, (ii)
no gain or loss will be recognized by holders of Pacific Retail common
shares or Pacific Retail preferred shares except to the extent of cash
received pursuant to the merger or pursuant to the exercise of
dissenters' rights and (iii) no gain or loss will be recognized by
Regency or Pacific Retail pursuant to the merger; and

(13) each of Regency, Pacific Retail and SC-USRealty shall have received a
favorable opinion from Foley & Lardner that the merger will not
jeopardize Regency's status as a REIT.

with the consent of the waiving party's special committee, any of the
conditions to closing may be waived by the parties other than waiver of the
shareholder approval conditions in 2, 3, 6 and 7. To the extent that a material
condition to the merger is waived by Regency or Pacific Retail, we will notify
you and resolicit your votes in the manner and to the extent required by law.

Representations and Warranties

The Merger Agreement contains various customary representations and warranties
relating to, among other things: (1) the due organization, power, authority and
standing of Regency and Pacific Retail and similar corporate matters; (2) the
capital structure of Regency and Pacific Retail; (3) the
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authorization, execution, delivery and enforceability of the Merger Agreement,
(4) certain documents filed by Regency with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and certain financial statements of Pacific Retail and the accuracy
of information contained therein; (5) the absence of certain changes or events
from the information filed by Regency with the Securities and Exchange
Commission or from such financial statements of Pacific Retail; (6) the
accuracy of the information supplied by each party for inclusion in this Joint
Proxy Statement and Prospectus; (7) certain matters relating to taxes; (8) the
absence of undisclosed liabilities; (9) litigation; (10) the absence of
violations of law; (11) properties; (12) labor matters; (13) employee benefit
plans; (14) intellectual property; (15) material contracts; (16) environmental
matters; (17) insurance; (18) brokers and finders; (19) the exemption of the
transaction from the application of Florida and Maryland anti-takeover laws;
(20) the vote required of each party's shareholders necessary to approve the
merger; (21) the recommendations of the Pacific Retail Board and the Regency
Board; and (22) the receipt of fairness opinions.

Certain Covenants
Conduct of Business Prior to Merger

Except as specifically required by the terms of the Merger Agreement or upon
written consent of the other party, Regency and Pacific Retail have agreed that
they will, prior to the effective time of the merger, carry on their respective
businesses in the usual, regular and ordinary course of business consistent
with past practice and use their reasonable best efforts to preserve intact
their current business organizations and preserve their relationships with
lessees.

In addition, except as contemplated by the Merger Agreement, unless the other
party has agreed in writing, Regency and Pacific Retail have each agreed that
they will not, and will not permit any of their respective subsidiaries to:

(1) authorize for issuance, issue, or pledge any of their shares or the
shares of their subsidiaries, or any securities convertible into, or
any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares, or any
other securities (other than (a) the issuance of shares upon the
exercise of options outstanding on the date of the Merger Agreement or
pursuant to a 401(k) plan or (b) the issuance of securities in
connection with certain identified anticipated transactions);

(2) amend their organizational documents;

(3) acquire or agree to acquire by merging with, or by purchasing a
substantial portion of the stock or assets of, any business;

(4) sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise encumber any of their assets that
are material, except transactions in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice;

(5) except for certain identified transactions, (a) incur or guarantee any
indebtedness, except for short-term borrowings in the ordinary course
of business consistent with past practice, or (b) make any loans or
capital contributions to any other person, other than wholly owned
subsidiaries;

(6) acquire any assets that are material, alone or in the aggregate, or
make any capital expenditures except in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice or in connection with certain
identified transactions;

88



(7) pay any claims (including claims of shareholders), except for the
payment of (a) liabilities in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice or in accordance with their terms as in
effect on the date of the Merger Agreement, (b) liabilities reserved
against in the most recent audited financial statements of such party,
or change in any material respect any existing contract, other than in
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(8) adopt or amend in any material respect (except as may be required by
law) any employee benefit plan or increase the compensation of any
employee other than increases for current employees in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practices; pay any benefit not
required by any existing plan, grant any new termination arrangement
or increase or accelerate any benefits payable under any severance or
termination pay policies in effect on the date of the Merger
Agreement;

(9) change any material accounting principle used by them, except for such
changes as may be required pursuant to GAAP or rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission;

(10) take any action that would result in any of their representations and
warranties in the Merger Agreement becoming untrue, or in any of the
conditions to the merger not being satisfied;

(11) except in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past
practice, make any tax election or settle or compromise any federal,
state, local or foreign income tax liability; or

(12) authorize any of, or commit or agree to take any of, the foregoing
actions.

Other
Regency and Pacific Retail have agreed that:

(1) each will afford to the other party and its respective accountants,
counsel, financial advisors and other representatives full access during
normal business hours throughout the period prior to the closing to all
properties, books and records of such party, as appropriate, and, during
such period, each shall furnish promptly to the other a copy of each
document filed or received pursuant to the requirements of federal or state
securities laws or filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in
connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, and
such other information concerning its business, properties and personnel as
shall be reasonably requested;

(2) Regency shall take any action required to be taken under applicable state
blue sky or securities laws in connection with the merger;

(3) they will use their respective reasonable best efforts to cause to be
delivered to the other party letters of their respective certified public
accountants, one dated a date within two business days before the date on
which Regency's registration statement filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission becomes effective and one dated a date within two
business days before the closing date of the merger, each in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the other party and customary in scope
and substance for comfort letters delivered by independent public
accountants in connection with registration statements similar to Regency's
registration statement;

89



(4) they will use their respective reasonable best efforts to cause to be
delivered to the other party an opinion of their respective counsel, as to
due organization and existence, authorized capitalization, due
authorization, consents (to such firm's knowledge), violations of law (to
such firm's knowledge), litigation (to such firm's knowledge), in the case
of Regency's counsel, the valid issuance of Regency stock pursuant to the
merger, enforceability, and such other matters as counsel may reasonably
request;

(5) as soon as practicable following the date upon which Regency's registration
statement is declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission,
each party will use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the approval of
its shareholders required by the Merger Agreement; and

(6) they will cooperate and use their respective best efforts to cause to be
done, all things necessary or advisable under applicable laws and
regulations, and under contracts giving rise to the required consents, to
consummate the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including
using its reasonable best efforts to identify and obtain all necessary or
appropriate waivers, consents and approvals, to effect all necessary
registrations and filings and to 1lift any injunction or other legal bar to
the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

Pacific Retail also agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to take such
actions as may be reasonably requested by Regency to facilitate decisions and
subsequent actions by Regency to terminate or transition any of Pacific
Retail's benefit plans, stock option plans and similar matters, including
without limitation appropriate amendment of the Pacific Retail stock option
plans.

Distributions

Regency and Pacific Retail have agreed that prior to the merger, they will not
make quarterly distributions in excess of their respective current quarterly
distribution amounts. Regency's current quarterly distributions are $0.44 per
share of Regency common stock and $0.54 per share of Regency Class B Non-Voting
common stock. Pacific Retail's current quarterly distributions are $0.1925 per
Pacific Retail common share, $0.1795 per Pacific Retail Series A preferred
share and $0.1925 per Pacific Retail Series B preferred share. After the
effective time of the merger, Regency intends to maintain its current quarterly
distribution policy and to pay stated quarterly dividends on the shares of
Regency preferred stock issued in the merger, subject to authorization by the
Regency Board and the availability of funds therefor.

Regency and Pacific Retail have agreed to coordinate with each other the
payment of distributions with respect to Regency stock and Pacific Retail
shares after the date of the Merger Agreement, with the intention that (1)
Pacific Retail pay whatever preclosing dividends shall be necessary to avoid
jeopardizing its status as a real estate investment trust under the Code, (2)
the shareholders of Regency and Pacific Retail be treated fairly in order to
avoid any "windfall" preclosing dividends, and (3) except as may be necessary
to accomplish the foregoing, holders of Regency common stock and Pacific Retail
common shares and Pacific Retail preferred shares will not receive two
distributions, or fail to receive one distribution, for any single calendar
quarter with respect to their Pacific Retail shares, on the one hand, and any
Regency stock that any such holder receives in the merger, on the other hand.
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No Solicitation of Transactions

Neither Pacific Retail or Regency nor any of their respective subsidiaries may
directly or indirectly:

(1) solicit, initiate or encourage (including by way of furnishing
information) proposals relating to:

any purchase of a substantial amount of assets of such party or any
of its subsidiaries (other than in the ordinary course of business),
or

any purchase of over 9.8% of any class of equity securities of such
party or any of its subsidiaries, or

any tender offer (including a self tender offer) or exchange offer
that if consummated would result in any person beneficially owning
9.8% or more of any class of equity securities of such party or any
of its subsidiaries, or

any merger, consolidation, business combination, sale of
substantially all assets, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution
or similar transaction involving such party or any of its
subsidiaries, other than the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement, or any other transaction the consummation of which could
reasonably be expected to impede, interfere with, prevent or
materially delay the merger,

(2) agree to or endorse any alternative proposal, or participate in any
discussions regarding any of the foregoing, or

(3) participate in any discussions regarding any of the foregoing, or

(4) furnish to any other person any information with respect to its
business or assets or otherwise cooperate in any way with any attempt
by any other person to do any of the foregoing.

However, the foregoing does not prohibit either party from:

(1) furnishing information concerning such party and its businesses or
assets (pursuant to an appropriate confidentiality agreement customary
under the circumstances) to a third party who has made an unsolicited
alternative proposal,

(2) engaging in discussions or negotiations with a third party who has made
an unsolicited alternative proposal,

(3) following receipt of an unsolicited alternative proposal, taking and
disclosing to its shareholders a position contemplated by Rule 14e-2(a)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise making
disclosure to its shareholders,

(4) following receipt of an unsolicited alternative proposal, failing to
make or withdrawing or modifying its recommendation in favor of the
Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, and/or

(5) engaging in discussions or negotiations with SC-USRealty or its
controlling affiliates regarding an unsolicited alternative proposal
from a third party,

but in each case referred to in the foregoing clauses (1) through (4) (not in
the case of the foregoing clause (5) above) only if and to the extent that such
party's Board has concluded in good faith, after consulting with and
considering the advice of outside counsel, that such action is required by the
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Board in the exercise of its legal or fiduciary duties to such party's
shareholders under applicable law. Neither Regency nor Pacific Retail may take
any of the actions referred to in clauses (1) through (4) (but not clause (5)
above) until after giving at least one business day's advance notice to the
other party. In addition, if Pacific Retail or Regency receives an unsolicited
alternative proposal, then the party receiving the proposal must promptly
inform the other party in writing of the material terms of such proposal and
the identity of the person (or group) making it. Pacific Retail and Regency
must immediately cease and cause to be terminated all existing activities,
discussions or negotiations, if any, with any parties (other than SC-USRealty)
conducted heretofore with respect to any of the foregoing.

Termination

The Merger Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the effective time
of the merger, whether before or after approval by the shareholders of Regency
and Pacific Retail, under the following circumstances:

(1) by mutual written consent of Regency and Pacific Retail;

(2) by Regency or Pacific Retail, if the merger shall not have been
consummated on or before March 31, 1999 (other than by reason of a
breach by the party seeking to terminate the Merger Agreement or its
obligations thereunder);

(3) by Regency or Pacific Retail, if any preliminary or permanent
injunction or other order is in effect and has become final and
nonappealable; provided that the party seeking to terminate the Merger
Agreement has used its reasonable best efforts to have such injunction
or order lifted; and

(4) unilaterally by Regency or Pacific Retail (a) if the other party (x)
fails to perform any covenant in the Merger Agreement in any material
respect, and does not cure the failure in all material respects within
15 business days after notice of the alleged failure or (y) fails to
fulfill a condition to the obligations of the terminating party (which
condition is not waived) by reason of a breach of the non-terminating
party's obligations under the Merger Agreement or (b) if any condition
to the obligations of the terminating party is not satisfied (other
than by reason of a breach by that party of its obligations under the
Merger Agreement), and it reasonably appears that the condition cannot
be satisfied prior to March 31, 1999.

Additionally, the Merger Agreement may be terminated by Regency or Pacific
Retail, if (each, a "Termination Event"):

(1) the other party has exercised a right with respect to an alternative
proposal and has, directly or through representatives, continued
discussions with any third party concerning such alternative proposal
relating to the other party for more than 15 business days after
receipt thereof; or

(2) (A) a publicly disclosed alternative proposal relating to the other
party has been commenced, publicly proposed or communicated to such
other party which contains a proposal as to price (whether a specific
price or a range of potential prices) and (B) such other party has not
rejected such proposal within 15 business days of its receipt or, if
sooner, the date its existence first becomes publicly disclosed.
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The Merger Agreement may also be terminated (1) by Pacific Retail, if the
Pacific Retail Board of Trustees withdraws or modifies its approval or
recommendation of the merger and (2) by Regency, if the Regency Board of
Directors withdraws or modifies its approval or recommendation of the merger.

Any termination of the Merger Agreement as described above requires the
approval of the Special Committee of the Board of the terminating party.

Termination Amount

In the event that Pacific Retail or Regency terminates the Merger Agreement
because such party's Board has recommended that its shareholders accept or
approve an alternative proposal, then, concurrently with any such termination,
such party will pay to the other party a $20 million termination fee.

In the event that:

(1) Regency or Pacific Retail terminate the Merger Agreement due to a
Termination Event caused by the other party, and

(2) prior to the one year anniversary of such termination, the non-
terminating party enters into any letter of intent, agreement in
principle, acquisition agreement or similar agreement relating to any
alternative proposal,

then the non-terminating party will pay to the terminating party, within two
business days after the date such agreement is entered into, a $20 million
termination fee.

Reduction of Termination Amount

In general, under the REIT provisions of the Code, at least 75% of a REIT's
gross income for each taxable year must consist of defined types of income
derived directly or indirectly from investments relating to real property (the
"75% income test"), and at least 95% of a REIT's gross income for each taxable
year must be derived from such real property investments and from certain
categories of investment income (the "95% income test"). The Merger Agreement
provides for a reduction in the $20 million termination fee ("Termination
Amount") payable to Regency or Pacific Retail if necessary to prevent such
amount from causing Regency or Pacific Retail, as the case may be, to fail
these REIT income requirements. Specifically, the Merger Agreement provides
that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Merger
Agreement, in the event that any party is obligated to pay the other party the
Termination Amount, the paying party will pay to the other party an amount
equal to the lesser of:

(1) the Termination Amount and
(2) the sum of

(a) the maximum amount that can be paid to the other party without
causing that party to fail to meet the requirements of the 75%
income test and the 95% income test determined as if the
Termination Amount did not constitute qualifying income
("Qualifying Income") for purposes of the 75% income test and the
95% income test, plus

93



(b) in the event that the other party receives either a ruling from the
IRS or an opinion of its counsel that the Termination Amount would
constitute Qualifying Income or would be excluded from gross income
for purposes of the 75% income test and the 95% income test, an
amount equal to the Termination Amount, less the amount payable
under clause (a) above.

Indemnification

Regency has agreed that all rights to indemnification and exculpation from
liabilities or acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time of
the merger existing on the date of the Merger Agreement in favor of the current
or former trustees or officers of Pacific Retail and its subsidiaries as
provided in their organizational documents and any indemnification agreements
or arrangements of Pacific Retail and its subsidiaries will survive the merger,
will be assumed and performed by Regency, and will continue in accordance with
their terms with respect to matters arising before the effective time of the
merger. Regency will pay any expenses of any of the foregoing indemnified
persons in advance of the final disposition of any action, proceeding or claim
relating to any act or omission to the fullest extent permitted under the
Florida Business Corporation Act (the "Florida Act") upon receipt from the
indemnified person to whom advances are to be advanced of an undertaking to
repay such advances required under the Florida Act. In addition, from and after
the effective time of the merger, trustees or officers of Pacific Retail who
become directors or officers of Regency will be entitled to the same indemnity
rights and protections as are afforded to other directors and officers of
Regency.

Amendment and Waiver

The Merger Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both
Regency and Pacific Retail and in compliance with applicable law. The Merger
Agreement may not be amended in any material respect following approval by
Regency shareholders or Pacific Retail shareholders. At any time prior to the
closing, Regency or Pacific Retail may (1) extend the time for the performance
of any of the obligations of the other party, (2) waive any inaccuracies in the
representations and warranties contained therein or in any document delivered
pursuant thereto, and (3) waive compliance with any of the agreements or
conditions contained therein. The approval of each of the Special Committees
will be required for an amendment or modification of the Merger Agreement and
the approval of the Special Committee of the Board of the extending or waiving
party will be required for any extension of the time of the performance of any
obligations by the other party and any waiver of any of the other party's
obligations under the Merger Agreement.

APPROVAL OF THE REGENCY ARTICLES AMENDMENT

The members of the Regency Board of Directors, other than SC-USRealty's
representatives, who abstained, have unanimously approved, and recommend that
Regency shareholders vote "FOR" the approval of, the Regency Articles
Amendment. Assuming the presence of a quorum, the affirmative vote of a
majority of the Regency common stock voted with respect to the matter is
required to approve this proposal.
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The approval and consummation of the merger is a condition to the approval and
adoption of the Regency Articles Amendment. Approval of the Regency Articles
Amendment is a condition to approval and consummation of the merger.

The following description, which summarizes the most significant changes in the
Regency Articles Amendment, is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
form of Regency Articles Amendment attached as Annex D.

The Regency Board has authorized, subject to consummation of the merger, the
creation of two new series of preferred stock, which will be issued in the
merger in exchange for the two outstanding series of Pacific Retail preferred
shares. Regency shareholders do not have the right to vote on the issuance of
the two new series of Regency preferred stock. See "Description of Regency
Securities--Regency Preferred Stock" for a summary of the terms of the two new
series.

Description of Amendment
Increase in Special Shareholder Limit

At the request of SC-USRealty, the Regency Board has proposed to amend Section
5.1(r) of the Regency Articles to increase the special ownership limit for SC-
USRealty, its affiliates, any bona fide financial institution to whom capital
stock is transferred in connection with any bona fide indebtedness of any of
the foregoing or any person that acquires beneficial ownership from any of the
foregoing, except through open market purchases (collectively, the "Special
Shareholders"), to enable the Special Shareholders to acquire the Regency
common stock issuable to it in the merger. The proposed amendment to Section
5.1(r) of the Regency Articles would increase the Special Shareholder Limit (as
defined in the Regency Articles) from 45% to 60% of the Regency common stock on
a fully diluted basis. The Special Shareholders will own approximately 52.3% of
Regency's common stock on a fully diluted basis after the merger. The Special
Shareholders will have the right to acquire additional shares from time to time
after the merger in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, up
to a maximum of 60% on a fully diluted basis. Under the proposed amendment, the
Special Shareholder Limit would return to 49% of the Regency common stock on a
fully diluted basis at such time as the ownership of the Special Shareholders
falls below 45% of the Regency common stock on a fully diluted basis for a
continuous period of 180 days.

In order to maintain Regency's status as a REIT, the Special Shareholder Limit
will continue to be subject to reduction if an individual (or an entity treated
as an individual) which owns an interest in SC-USRealty and its affiliates is
treated as owning, after application of certain constructive ownership rules,
more than 9.8% of the outstanding shares of Regency's capital stock. The
Special Shareholder Limit also will continue to be subject to reduction in the
future under certain circumstances if SC-USRealty were to transfer all or a
portion of its shares of Regency capital stock in a privately negotiated
transaction.

Continued Limitations on Ownership by Non-U.S. Persons

At the request of SC-USRealty, the Regency Board of Directors also has proposed
to amend Section 5.14 of the Regency Articles to make it clear that SC-USRealty
has the right to acquire the shares of Regency common stock issuable to it in
the merger even though such issuance will cause more than
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50% of the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital stock to be owned
by Non-U.S. Persons. Without this amendment, SC-USRealty could have waived or
revised the limitations contained in Section 5.14 upon prior written notice to
the Regency Board.

A domestically controlled REIT is a REIT more than 50% of the value of the
capital stock of which is held by U.S. Persons. A Non-U.S. Person is defined in
the Regency Articles as any person who is not (1) a citizen or resident of the
United States, (2) a partnership or corporation organized in the United States
or under the laws of the United States or any state therein (including the
District of Columbia) or (3) any estate or trust (other than a foreign estate
or trust within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(31) of the Code).

Section 5.14 of the Regency Articles presently prohibits any transfer of
Regency capital stock that would result in 50% or more of the fair market value
of Regency capital stock being held directly or indirectly by Non-U.S. Persons.
Non-U.S. Persons who hold 5% or more by value of the outstanding capital stock
of a domestically controlled REIT may not be required to pay U.S. federal
income tax on any gain when they sell such stock. Section 5.14 of the Regency
Articles as presently in effect voids any transfer that would cause Regency to
cease to qualify as a domestically controlled REIT.

Non-U.S. Persons who have not owned more than 5% by value of Regency's
outstanding capital stock at any time during the five years preceding the date
of sale of their Regency stock may not be required to pay U.S. federal income
tax on any gain from such sale even if the sale takes place at a time when
Regency does not qualify as a domestically controlled REIT.

To the knowledge of SC-USRealty, Pacific Retail and Regency, no shareholder of
Pacific Retail other than SC-USRealty is a Non-U.S. Person who would receive
Regency capital stock in the merger constituting more than 5% of the fair
market value of Regency's capital stock immediately following the merger. To
the knowledge of SC-USRealty and Regency, no Non-U.S. Person other than
SC-USRealty presently holds, directly or indirectly, more than 5% of the fair
market value of Regency's outstanding capital stock.

SC-USRealty is willing for Regency to cease to qualify as a domestically
controlled REIT provided that the shares issuable to SC-USRealty in the merger
are not deemed to be void by reason of the transfer restrictions presently
contained in Section 5.14 of the Regency Articles. The proposed amendment to
Section 5.14(a) of the Regency Articles would allow the Special Shareholders to
own more than 50% by value of Regency's outstanding capital stock even though
the Special Shareholders are Non-U.S. Persons.

Initial Restrictions After the Merger

Under the proposed amendment, SC-USRealty and any other Special Shareholder
would be allowed to increase their ownership of Regency capital stock after the
merger, subject to the Special Shareholder Limit described above. However, in
order to preserve the flexibility for Regency to return to the status of a
domestically controlled REIT, the proposed amendment to Section 5.14(a) of the
Regency Articles would prohibit any transfer of Regency capital stock by any
person other than a Special Shareholder that would result in such stock being
owned directly or indirectly by any Non-U.S. Person (other than a Special
Shareholder) at any time that Non-U.S. Persons (including the Special
Shareholders, who will be presumed to be Non-U.S. Persons) directly or
indirectly own 50%
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or more of the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital stock. Any
transfer in violation of this prohibition would be deemed void ab initio.

Restrictions After Return to Status as a Domestically Controlled REIT

Under proposed Section 5.14(b) of the Regency Articles, once Non-U.S. Persons
(including the Special Shareholders, who will be presumed to be Non-U.S.
Persons) cease to own 50% or more of the fair market value of Regency's
outstanding capital stock, transfer restrictions will take effect that are
similar, although not identical, to those presently contained in Section 5.14
of the Regency Articles. The transfer restrictions in proposed Section 5.14(b)
are designed to preserve Regency's status as a domestically controlled REIT at
such time after the merger that Regency again becomes a domestically controlled
REIT. Under the Code, Non-U.S. Persons must cease to own 50% or more by value
of Regency's outstanding capital stock for a continuous period of five years
before being eligible for favorable tax treatment on the sale of their shares
under the domestically controlled REIT provisions of the Code.

The proposed amendment to Section 5.14(b) of the Regency Articles would void
the transfer of Regency capital stock by any person (other than a Special
Shareholder) to any person (including the Special Shareholders) after Non-U.S.
Persons cease to own 50% or more of the fair market value of Regency's
outstanding capital stock, if:

(1) the transfer occurs before the Special Shareholders have ceased to own
10% of the Regency Common Stock on a fully diluted basis for a
continuous period of 180 days and if as a result of the transfer the
fair market value of Regency capital stock owned directly or indirectly
by Non-U.S. Persons other than the Special Shareholders would comprise
4.9% or more of the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital
stock, or

(2) the fair market value of Regency capital stock owned directly or
indirectly by Non-U.S. Persons including the Special Shareholders (who
will be presumed to be Non-U.S. Persons) would comprise 50% or more of
the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital stock.

Under Section 5.14 of the Regency Articles as presently in effect, if the
transfer occurs before the Special Shareholders have ceased to own 15% (as
opposed to 10% in the proposed amendment) of Regency Common Stock on a fully
diluted basis for a continuous period of 180 days, a transfer to a person other
than a Special Shareholder is invalidated if it would result in the fair market
value of Regency capital stock owned directly or indirectly by persons other
than the Special Shareholders constituting 5% (as opposed to 4.9% in the
proposed amendment) of the fair market value of Regency's outstanding capital
stock.

Under Section 5.14 as presently in effect and as proposed to be amended, if a
transfer restriction in Section 5.14 is held to be invalid, the shares acquired
by the transferee in violation of the invalidated restrictions will be deemed
held in trust for the benefit of Regency, will not be entitled to dividends or
other distributions and will not be entitled to vote. The Special Shareholders
will continue to have the ability to waive or alter the applicability of the
transfer restrictions in Section 5.14 to themselves or to any other person, in
their sole discretion, upon written notice to Regency.
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Possible Effect of Proposed Amendment

Qualification as a REIT does not depend on the extent to which the REIT's
capital stock is owned by U.S. persons. However, as a result of the merger,
Regency expects no longer to qualify as a domestically controlled REIT for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. Regency believes that SC-USRealty is the only
person who may be adversely affected by Regency losing its status as a
domestically controlled REIT. Likewise, Regency's ability to requalify as a
domestically controlled REIT and its ability to remain a domestically
controlled REIT if it does requalify are not expected to benefit or
disadvantage any current shareholder of Regency other than SC-USRealty. See
"The Merger--Material Federal Income Tax Consequences--Tax Treatment of Non-
U.S. Holders" for a detailed discussion regarding the impact of Regency not
qualifying as a domestically controlled REIT.

wWith or without the proposed amendment, the acquisition of Regency capital
stock is not a suitable investment for Non-U.S. Persons other than SC-USRealty.
wWith or without the proposed amendment, Regency is precluded from raising
capital from Non-U.S. Persons without a waiver from SC-USRealty. Under the
proposed amendment, prior to Regency's requalification as a domestic REIT, any
transfer (other than acquisitions from a Special Shareholder) of Regency
capital stock will be void if it will result in such stock being owned directly
or indirectly by a Non-U.S. Person (other than a Special Shareholder).

AMENDMENT TO THE REGENCY INCENTIVE PLAN

The members of the Regency Board of Directors, other than SC-USRealty's
representatives, who abstained, have unanimously approved, and recommend that
Regency shareholders vote "FOR" the approval of, the proposal to amend the
Regency Incentive Plan. The affirmative vote of a majority of the Regency
common stock voted with respect to the matter is required to approve this
proposal (provided that more than 50% of the votes entitled to be cast are
voted on the proposal). The approval and consummation of the merger is a
condition to the approval of the amendments to the Regency Incentive Plan. The
approval of the amendments to the Regency Incentive Plan is a condition to the
approval and consummation of the merger.

General

The Regency Board of Directors and shareholders approved the Regency Incentive
Plan on September 29, 1993. The Regency Board has adopted, subject to
shareholder approval, an amendment to the Regency Incentive Plan to increase
the number of shares available for award from 3,000,000 to 5,520,000 and to
permit the grant of substitute options to three departing senior executives of
Pacific Retail even though they will not be or remain, officers or employees of
Regency after the merger.

Increase in Number of Shares

The first change to the Regency Incentive Plan would increase the number of
shares available for award by (1) 2,520,000, the number of shares authorized
under Pacific Retail's long-term incentive plan multiplied by an exchange ratio
of 0.48. The Regency Board has proposed the amendment to the
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Regency Incentive Plan in order to allow Regency (1) to grant substitute
options to Pacific Retail officers and employees and non-employee directors in
the merger and (2) to continue to provide incentives to Regency officers and
employees and non-employee directors after the merger. The number of shares of
Regency common stock reserved for issuance under the Regency Incentive Plan
initially was 6% of the shares outstanding upon consummation of Regency's
initial public offering in November 1993. The number of shares reserved for
issuance is increased each December 31 by 2% of the shares outstanding on that
date (plus 6% of any shares issued in any public offering during the preceding
365 days), with the maximum number of shares limited to the lesser of (1) 12%
of the shares of Regency common stock outstanding on the prior December 31, or
(2) 3,000,000 shares. As of September 30, 1998, the number of shares reserved
for issuance under the Regency Incentive Plan was 3,000,000. The terms and
conditions of the Regency Incentive Plan are summarized below.

As of December 31, 1998, there were 1,845,870 shares subject to options granted
under the Regency Incentive Plan, 112,933 shares issued under the restricted
stock program of the Regency Incentive Plan and 277,262 shares remaining
available for award. As of December 31, 1998, after applying the 0.48 exchange
ratio, there were 1,384,875 shares subject to options granted under Pacific
Retail's long-term incentive plan and 1,135,125 shares remaining available for
award. If the number of shares available for award under the Regency Incentive
Plan is not increased, it would not be possible to grant at the effective time
of the merger to all Pacific Retail officers and employees and non-employee
directors who become Regency officers, employees or directors upon the
effective time of the merger, and to certain departing executives described
below, substitute options to replace the Pacific Retail options that are
outstanding and unexercised immediately prior to the effective time of the
merger. Regency has agreed in the Merger Agreement to issue such substitute
options upon consummation of the merger. In addition, there would only be a
maximum possible 289,969 additional shares available for future awards under
the Regency Incentive Plan by reason of the 3,000,000 share cap, significantly
fewer than the number (as adjusted for the 0.48 exchange ratio) currently
available under Pacific Retail's incentive plan.

Assuming approval of the amendment, the number of shares of Regency Common
Stock which may be awarded under the Regency Incentive Plan may not exceed
5,520,000 shares in the aggregate, which upon issuance would constitute 8.1% of
the fully diluted shares of Regency immediately after the merger.

Possible Effect of Proposed Increase

Without the increase of shares under the Regency Incentive Plan, shares will
not otherwise be available to provide substitute options to employees or
trustees of Pacific Retail who become employees or directors of Regency.
Regency believes that the ability to grant options improves Regency's ability
to attract and maintain qualified personnel. However, authorizing the
additional shares under the Regency Incentive Plan may cause dilution to
Regency's current shareholders.

Description of the Plan

Regency common stock issued under the Regency Incentive Plan may be authorized
and unissued shares or treasury shares. In the event of certain transactions
affecting the type or number of outstanding shares, the number of shares
subject to the Regency Incentive Plan, the number or type
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of shares subject to outstanding awards and the exercise price thereof may be
appropriately adjusted. The Regency Incentive Plan authorizes the establishment
of options, stock appreciation rights and share purchase programs, authorizes
the award of share grants (any of which may be subject to restrictions),
provides for options for outside directors and payment of their fees in shares
unless the director elects payment in cash, and allows for the establishment of
other types of stock-based incentive programs. The Compensation Committee
administers the Regency Incentive Plan. All key employees of Regency or any of
its affiliates designated by the Compensation Committee are eligible to
participate in the Regency Incentive Plan. As of December 31, 1998,
approximately 50 persons were eligible to participate. An additional 50 persons
are expected to become eligible as a result of the merger. Subject to the terms
of the Regency Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee determines which
employees are eligible to receive awards, and the type, amount, price, timing,
vesting schedules and other terms and conditions applicable to awards. Non-
employee directors are eligible to participate in formula-based option and
directors' fee programs under the Regency Incentive Plan.

Options

Options awarded under the Regency Incentive Plan may be either incentive stock
options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, which permits the
deferral of taxable income related to the exercise of such options, or
nonqualified options not entitled to such deferral. No participant may receive
options or stock appreciation rights under the Regency Incentive Plan for an
aggregate of more than 900,000 shares. The exercise price and term of each
option or stock appreciation right is fixed by the Compensation Committee,
except that the exercise price for options must be at least equal to the fair
market value of the stock on the date of grant and the term of the options
cannot exceed 10 years. The aggregate fair market value (determined at the time
the option is granted) of shares with respect to which incentive stock options
may be granted to any one individual under the Regency Incentive Plan, or any
other plan of Regency or any parent or subsidiary, which stock options are
exercisable for the first time during any calendar year, may not exceed
$100,000. An optionee may, with the consent of the Compensation Committee,
elect to pay for the shares to be received upon exercise of his or her options
in cash or shares of Regency common stock or any combination thereof.

The holder of an incentive option generally recognizes no income for federal
income tax purposes at the time of the grant or exercise of the option.
However, the spread between the exercise price and the fair market value of the
underlying shares on the date of exercise generally will constitute a tax
preference item for purposes of the alternative minimum tax. The optionee
generally will be entitled to long term capital gain treatment upon the sale of
shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an incentive stock option, if the
shares have been held for more than two years from the date of the option grant
and for more than one year after exercise. Generally, if the optionee disposes
of the stock before the expiration of either of these holding periods (a
"disqualifying disposition"), the gain realized on disposition will be
compensation income to the optionee to the extent the fair market value of the
underlying stock on the date of exercise exceeds the applicable exercise price.
Regency will not be entitled to an income tax deduction in connection with the
exercise of an incentive stock option but will generally be entitled to a
deduction equal to the amount of any ordinary income recognized by an optionee
upon a disqualifying disposition.
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Grant of Substitute Non-Qualified Options

Subject to shareholder approval, concurrently with the merger, officers and
employees and non-employee directors who become officers or employees or non-
employee directors of Regency and hold unexercised Pacific Retail options
immediately prior to the effective time of the merger will receive substitute
Regency options under the Regency Incentive Plan. The number of substitute
options to be issued to a Pacific Retail optionee in place of each Pacific
Retail option held by such person and the exercise price of such options will
be adjusted based on the relative fair market value of the Pacific Retail
common shares and Regency common stock immediately prior to the effective time
such that the Pacific Retail optionee will be entitled to purchase upon
exercise of his or her options, at an aggregate exercise price equal to the
aggregate exercise price of his or her Pacific Retail options, the number of
shares of Regency common stock that he or she would have received had such
person exercised all of his or her options (assuming that all were fully vested
as of such date) immediately prior to the merger and participated in the merger
as a holder of the number of Pacific Retail shares issuable upon such exercise.

The substitute options will be non-qualified options, like the Pacific Retail
options they replace, and will have the same vesting and termination dates
(other than with respect to the three departing Pacific Retail executives) and,
except for the adjusted exercise price, will have the same terms and conditions
as the Pacific Retail options they replace. Of the substitute Regency options,
597,766 will vest 25% on the second through fifth anniversaries of the original
date of the Pacific Retail grant, and except for substitute options for
departing Pacific Retail executives or non-employee directors the remainder
will vest 40% on grant, 13.33% on October 20, 1999, 20.00% on October 20, 2000
and 26.67% on October 20, 2001. The substitute options will terminate 10 years
after the date of the original Pacific Retail grant.

Like the Pacific Retail options that have dividend equivalent units, the
corresponding substitute options will include the right to receive dividend
equivalent units, which will be subject to the same vesting schedule as the
options and will be payable when the options are exercised, unless the
participant elects to defer receipt, or the options expire. Generally, each
participant will be credited with dividend equivalent units at the end of each
calendar year in an amount equal to (1) the average dividend yield during such
year with respect to a share of Regency common stock that is in excess of the
S&P 500 average dividend yield for such year, multiplied by (2) the number of
shares of Regency common stock underlying the participant's outstanding options
that were granted with dividend equivalent units. Each dividend equivalent unit
also accumulates additional dividend equivalent units on an annual basis. All
dividend equivalent units will be paid in the form of Regency common stock at
the rate of one share of Regency common stock per dividend equivalent unit.

The participants will have no rights as shareholders with respect to the shares
subject to their options until the options are exercised. No income will be
recognized by a participant at the time the substitute options or the dividend
equivalent units are granted. The exercise of a non-qualified stock option will
generally be a taxable event that requires the participant to recognize, as
ordinary income, the difference between the fair market value of the shares at
the time of exercise and the option exercise price. Receipt of a dividend
equivalent unit by the participant will generally be a taxable event that will
require the participant to recognize, as ordinary income, the fair market value
of the
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shares at the time of receipt. Regency ordinarily will be entitled to claim a
federal income tax deduction on account of the exercise of a non-qualified
option and payment of dividend equivalent units. The amount of the deduction
will equal the ordinary income recognized by the participant. Regency has
adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
"Accounting for Stock Based Compensation." Under the provisions of this
statement, Regency will continue to account for its share options under the
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees" and related interpretations.

Amendment to Allow Substitute Options for Departing Pacific Retail Executives

The amendment adopted by Regency's Board of Directors, subject to shareholder
approval, also provides for amending the Regency Incentive Plan to permit three
departing executives of Pacific Retail to receive substitute Regency options
upon consummation of the merger even though such persons will not be or remain
officers or employees of Regency. The Regency Incentive Plan currently requires
that participants be key employees or non-employee directors.

Under the proposed amendment, Dennis H. Alberts, President of Pacific Retail,
Jane E. Mody, Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer of Pacific Retail,
and Joshua M. Brown, Managing Director of Pacific Retail, who will be employed
by Regency for only six months after the merger (or in Mr. Brown's case, not at
all), will receive fully vested substitute options of Regency. Mr. Alberts' and
Ms. Mody's options will expire five years from the date of the merger, and Mr.
Brown's options will expire on December 31, 1999. Except for the vesting and
expiration provisions applicable to the substitute options of these three
departing Pacific Retail executive officers, the options issued to the
departing Pacific Retail executives will be the same as the substitute options
of continuing employees. For example, the exercise price of the substitute
options of the departing executives will be adjusted by the 0.48 exchange
ratio, as will the substitute options of continuing employees. For additional
information concerning the substitute options to be granted to the departing
executives, see "--Grant of Substitute Non-Qualified Options" and "--Substitute
Options After the Merger."

Substitute Options After the Merger

The following table shows the outstanding option awards under the Regency
Incentive Plan, assuming consummation of the merger, held by (1) the three most
highly compensated executive officers of Pacific Retail who will become
executive officers of Regency, (2) all such executive officers as a group, (3)
all employees of Pacific Retail who are expected to become Regency employees,
including all officers who are not executive officers, as a group, (4) non-
employee trustees of Pacific Retail who will continue as Regency non-employee
directors as a group, and (5) the three departing executives of Pacific Retail.
wWith the exception of the 2,000-option formula grant to each Pacific Retail
representative joining Regency's Board, all the options shown on the table will
be substitute options for outstanding awards under the Pacific Retail incentive
plan. In addition to the options shown on the table, Regency has granted to
Mary Lou Rogers (a) ten-year options to purchase 87,640 shares at $22.25, which
will vest in equal installments over four years and (b) 22,472 shares of
restricted stock, which will vest in amounts of 10%, 20%, 30% and 40%,
respectively, over four years.
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Dollar Value Option Awards

of Shares  --------oomm -
Subject to Number Exercise Expiration
Name and Title Options (1) of Shares (2) Price($)(2) Date (3)
Executive Officers And
Employees:
James G. Buis......... $2,900, 000 121,916 $23.79 5/1/06-11/20/07
Managing Director --
Investments
(Southwest)
John S. Delatour ..... $2,250,000 90, 280 $24.92 1/7/07-11/20/07

Managing Director--
Operations (West)
Brian M. Smith........ $1,850, 000 70,923 $26.08 2/10/07-4/3/08
Managing Director--
Operations (Pacific)
All executive officers $7,000,000 283,119 $24.72 5/1/06-4/3/08
as a group
(3 persons)..........
All employees,
including all
officers who are not
executive officers,
as a group
(37 persons)......... $6, 700, 000 258,585 $25.98 5/1/06-7/1/08
Non-employee directors 421,000 17,735 $23.74 8/7/01-2/28/09
as a group
(4 persons)..........
Departing Executives of
Pacific Retail:

Dennis H. Alberts..... $6, 000,000 252,420 $23.77 (4)
Jane E. Mody.......... $3, 850,000 159,972 $24.07 (4)
Joshua M. Brown....... $2,500, 000 100, 280 $24.93 12/31/99

(1) Based on the $21.75 closing price of Regency common stock on the New York
Stock Exchange on January 25, 1999 with respect to Regency formula grants.

(2) The exercise price shown is the weighted average exercise price for shares
subject to options. Includes 1,182,738 non-qualified substitute options,
145,846 with dividend equivalent units to purchase shares, vesting 25% on
each of the second through fifth anniversaries of grant, subject to certain
conditions. The vesting schedule is based on the original date of grant by
Pacific Retail. Includes 144,000 non-qualified substitute options vesting
40.00% on the date of grant (based on original vesting dates under the
Pacific Retail plan of May 1, 1996 and October 20, 1998), 13.33% on October
20, 1999, 20.00% on October 20, 2000 and 26.67% on October 20, 2001. The
vesting schedule is based on the original date of grant. Mr. Buis will
receive 14,400 fully vested options. All the options of the three departing
executives will be fully vested.

(3) Ten years from the original date of grant except for the three departing
executives.

(4) Fifth anniversary of the merger.

Other Regency Incentive Plan Programs
Stock Purchase Program

To align the interest of management with Regency's shareholders, the
Compensation Committee has implemented a stock purchase plan ("SPP") as part of
the Regency Incentive Plan to encourage stock ownership by management.
Management purchased 226,000 shares under this program during 1993 and 1996 at
fair market value at the time of purchase. The stock purchases were funded by
SPP loans from Regency (averaging 92% of the purchase price) and cash provided
directly by management. These SPP loans are fully secured by a portion of the
stock purchased, are fully recourse to management, are interest only (due
quarterly) with fixed rates of interest of 7.34% to 7.79%, and mature in 10
years. As part of the program, a portion of the loans may be forgiven annually
based on annual per share funds from operations growth of greater than 7%,
total annual shareholder return of at least 15%, and cumulative total annual
shareholder return of 20% or more since January 1, 1996.
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In 1997, the Compensation Committee granted the executive officers the option
for two years to purchase approximately 198,000 shares ("SPP Shares") at $25.25
per share, the stock price on the grant date, 65,300 of which are subject to
certain financial performance goals or to approval of the Compensation
Committee. Regency loans the participants 95% of the purchase price at an
interest rate equal to the lower of 6% or the dividend rate. On January 12,
1998, the executive officers exercised 132,700 SPP Shares. The loans are
secured by stock, are fully recourse to the employee, and mature in 10 years.
The 1997 SPP loan does not provide for loan forgiveness.

In 1997, the Compensation Committee granted the executive officers 396,000
matching options ("SPP Matching Options") expiring in 10 years that provide
incentives to SPP participants to purchase and maintain a long-term investment
in Regency of at least five years following an SPP grant. These options vest
after nine years. The vesting may be accelerated if the executive exercises the
options to purchase the SPP Shares and then holds those shares in accordance
with the plan over five years. The Compensation Committee also granted 95,100
options to the executive officers in 1997 based upon 1996 performance ("Annual
Options"). Annual Options vest over five years and expire after 10 years. The
SPP Matching Options and the Annual Options have an exercise price equal to
$25.25 per share, the stock price on the grant date. Annual options accrue
dividends (dividend equivalents) based on Regency's annual dividend less the
average dividend yield of the S&P 500 for the corresponding year. Dividend
equivalents are converted into Regency common stock immediately and vest over
five years.

Performance Stock Plan

In 1995, the Compensation Committee established a one-time performance stock
program whereby executive officers could earn a specified number of shares of
restricted stock as a result of achieving a compounded annual total return to
shareholders of 15% over a three-year period beginning with the average closing
price of the fourth quarter of 1994. At December 31, 1997, the three-year
compounded annual shareholder return as determined by the plan was 25%, and
accordingly, remaining unissued performance shares were issued. Currently,
issued shares are 33% vested, and become fully vested by January 2000.

Non-Employee Directors

Under the Regency Incentive Plan, non-employee directors receive, upon their
initial election to the Board of Directors, a nonqualified option to purchase
2,000 shares of Regency common stock. In addition, on December 31 of each year,
each non-employee director receives a nonqualified option to purchase 1,000
shares. All such options become exercisable one year from the date of grant,
have a term of 10 years, and have an exercise price equal to the greater of the
fair market value of the shares on the date of grant or the average trading
price of the Regency common stock on the 20 business days preceding the date of
grant.

The Regency Incentive Plan also provides for the payment of non-employee
directors' fees in the form of shares or, if the director elects, in cash. Such
payments are made in arrears on a quarterly basis with the number of shares
granted determined by dividing the dollar amount of the retainer due by the
greater of the fair market value of the shares on the first business day
following the payment period or the average trading price of the Regency common
stock on the 20 business days ending on such date.
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INFORMATION CONCERNING EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
AND DIRECTORS OF REGENCY AFTER THE MERGER

Mary Lou Rogers, a director of Regency and a trustee of Pacific Retail, became
the President and Chief Operating Officer of Regency effective January 1, 1999.
Ms. Rogers, who was formerly an SC-USRealty representative on the Regency
Board, will continue to serve on the Regency Board, but will no longer be
deemed an SC-USRealty designee.

Pacific Retail has the right to designate three representatives who will serve
on the Regency Board upon consummation of the merger. Likewise, SC-USRealty
will be entitled to designate three representatives to the Regency Board.
Regency anticipates that the following directors of Regency will resign in
order to return the size of the Regency Board to thirteen members: Edward L.
Baker, J. Alexander Branch, Albert Ernest, Jr., Richard W. Stein and Joan W.
Stein. Under Florida law, directors elected by the Board to fill vacancies will
be required to stand for re-election at the next annual meeting of Regency's
shareholders, at which time their terms of office will be made the same as
those of the other directors of the relevant class. The Board of Directors has
delegated to management the designation of which class each director so elected
to take office upon the effective date of the merger will fill after the next
annual meeting, subject to the requirement of Florida law that each class be as
nearly equal in number as possible.

Following the merger, the Board of Directors will consist of Martin E. Stein,
Jr., Chairman, Mary Lou Rogers, Lee S. Wielansky, Raymond L. Bank, J. Dix
Druce, Jr., Douglas S. Luke, A.R. Carpenter, plus the individuals listed below.

Information concerning Pacific Retail's three nominees to the Regency Board is
set forth below.

John T. Kelley (age 58) is the Chairman of Pacific Retail's Board of Trustees.
Mr. Kelly is a Trustee of Archstone Communities Trust (ownership and
development of multi-family properties), an Advisory Trustee of Prologis Trust
(ownership and development of industrial parks) and a Director of Security
Capital Group Incorporated. From 1987 to 1991, Mr. Kelley was Chairman of the
Board of Kelley-Harris Company, Inc., a real estate investment company, and
from 1968 to 1987, Managing Director of LaSalle Partners Limited, specializing
in corporate real estate services.

John C. Schweitzer (age 54) is a member of Pacific Retail's Board of Trustees.
Mr. Schweitzer is a Trustee of Archstone Communities Trust and a Director of
Homestead Village Incorporated (ownership and development of extended-stay
lodging properties). Mr. Schweitzer is President of Westgate Corporation and
the Managing Partner of Continental Properties Company, which holds investments
in real estate and gas pipeline operations. Mr. Schweitzer has served as a
director or officer of many public companies and financial institutions,
including Franklin Federal Bancorp, Elgin Clock Company, El1 Paso Electric
Company, MBank El Paso, the Circle K Corporation and Enerserv Products. Mr.
Schweitzer currently serves as a Trustee of St. John's College, Santa Fe.

Mr. Schweitzer received his M.B.A. in Finance and his B.A. in Economics from
the University of Missouri.

Terry N. Worrell (age 54) is a member of Pacific Retail's Board of Trustees.
Mr. Worrell is an investor in commercial properties and invests in various
other business ventures. From 1974 to 1989, Mr. Worrell was President and CEO
of Sound Warehouse of Dallas, Inc. In 1984 Sound Warehouse
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conducted its initial public offering. Mr. Worrell remained with Sound
Warehouse until 1989 when it was purchased by Blockbuster Music. From 1971 to
1974, Mr. Worrell was an investment broker. From 1968 to 1971, he was employed
by Ford Motor Company. Mr. Worrell received his B.B.A. from Midwestern
University and his M.B.A. from North Texas University.

Information concerning SC-USRealty's two new nominees to the Regency Board is
set forth below. SC-USRealty has not designated a third representative at this
time but has the right to do so in the future.

Thomas B. Allin (age 48) has been a Managing Director of Security Capital Group
Incorporated (publicly held real estate research, investment and operating
management company) since December 1998. From April 1998 to November 1998, he
held the position of President of Strategic Hotel Capital Incorporated
(privately held owner of luxury and upscale full service hotels). Prior
thereto, Mr. Allin was President and Chief Executive Officer of Gordon Biersch
Brewing Company, a regional microbrewery and restaurant operation located in
California. From 1973 to 1996, Mr. Allin worked for McDonald's Corporation,
most recently as Senior Vice President and Zone Manager for the Western Zone.
Prior to that, he spent 15 years in Europe where he launched the McDonald's
System in France and later was responsible for the direction and support of 20
European countries, as well as the development of new markets in Africa and the
Middle East. Mr. Allin received his B.S. from Duke University.

Jeffrey A. Cozad (age 34) is a member of Pacific Retail's Board of Trustees.
Mr. Cozad has been a Director of Security Capital U.S. Realty since June 1996
and of Security Capital Holdings since April 1997. Mr. Cozad has been the
Managing Director of Security Capital U.S. Realty and Security Capital Holdings
since June 1996, where he is responsible for the day-to-day investment and
operating oversight. Previously, he was Senior Vice President of Security
Capital Markets Group Incorporated in its New York office from June 1995 to
June 1996, where he was head of capital markets activities and from December
1991 to June 1995 he was Vice President, where he provided capital markets
services for affiliates of Security Capital Group. Prior to joining Security
Capital Group, Mr. Cozad was with LaSalle Partners Incorporated, where he
provided corporate real estate services to major institutions. Mr. Cozad
received his M.B.A. from the University of Chicago Graduate School of Business
and his B.A. in Economics and Management from DePauw University.

Following is information regarding the executive officers of Pacific Retail who
will become executive officers of Regency upon consummation of the merger.

James G. Buis (age 53) is a Managing Director of Pacific Retail. Prior to
joining Pacific Retail in October 1995, Mr. Buis was Executive Vice President
of Madison Property Corporation from 1993 to 1995. From 1989 to 1993, Mr. Buis
was Senior Vice President of Rosewood Property Company. From 1979 to 1989, Mr.
Buis was a Senior Partner with Lincoln Property Company, a privately held real
estate company where he had overall responsibility for acquisitions,
development, marketing and management of its Retail Division. From 1972 to
1979, Mr. Buis was a retail broker with Hank Dickerson & Company Realtors in
Dallas. Mr. Buis received his B.B.A. degree from the University of Texas at
Arlington.

John S. Delatour (age 39) is a Managing Director of Pacific Retail. Prior to
joining Pacific Retail in June 1996, Mr. Delatour was Senior Vice President of
Retail Operations for Lincoln Property
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Company from 1983 to 1996, where he was responsible for management, leasing and
development for Texas, Oklahoma, Georgia and Florida. Mr. Delatour began his
career as an accountant with Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. He received his B.A.
degree in accounting from the University of Texas at Austin.

Brian M. Smith (age 44) is a Managing Director of Pacific Retail. Prior to
joining Pacific Retail in February 1997, Mr. Smith was Senior Vice President of
Lowe Enterprises, Inc. From 1984 to 1994, Mr. Smith was Executive Vice
President and Managing Director for the Trammell Crow Company where he had
overall responsibility for acquisitions, development, marketing and management
of its Pacific Retail Division. Prior thereto, Mr. Smith was a Cryptology
Officer in the U.S. Navy. Mr. Smith received his B.S. degree from the U.S.
Naval Academy; M.A. degree from Pepperdine University; and M.B.A. degree from

Stanford University.

Executive Compensation

The following table summarizes the compensation paid or accrued by Pacific
Retail for services rendered during the 1997 fiscal year to Pacific Retail's
three most highly compensated executive officers who will continue as officers
of Regency. The Chief Executive Officer and one of the other most highly
compensated executive officers of Pacific Retail will not be continuing as

officers of Regency.

Name And
Principal Position

James G. Buis...........
Managing Director
John S. Delatour........
Managing Director
Brian M. Smith..........
Managing Director

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
Securities

Restricted Under-Lying

Other Annual  Shares Options/ LTIP All Other

Salary Bonus Compensation Award(s) SARs Payouts Compensation
s e ) ® “ ) 5
185,000 100,000 -- -- 38, 462 -- --
171,154 100,000 -- -- 38, 462 -- --
145,962 40,000 -- -- 28,795 -- --

During 1997, options for 318,589 Pacific Retail common shares were granted to
22 officers and employees. The following table sets forth certain information
with respect to individual grants of options to each of the persons identified

in the foregoing table.

Name

James G. Buis...........
John S. Delatour........
Brian M. Smith..........

Potential
Realizable
Value At
Assumed Annual
Rates of Share

Price
Appreciation
Individual Grants For Option Term
Shares Percent of Total
Underlying Options Granted Exercise or
Options to Employees in Base Price Expiration
Granted (#) Fiscal Year ($/share) Date 5%($) 10%($)
38,462 12.1% $13.00 11/20/07 $25,000 $50,000
38,462 12.1% $13.00 11/20/07 $25,000 $50,000
20,833 6.5% $12.00 02/10/07 $12,500 $25,000
7,962 2.5% $13.00 11/20/07 $ 5,000 $10,000

107



THE SPECIAL MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
The Regency Special Meeting
Purpose of the Meeting

At the Regency special meeting of shareholders, the holders of Regency common
stock will be asked to consider and vote upon (1) a proposal to approve the
merger and the Merger Agreement, (2) a proposal to approve the Regency Articles
Amendment, and (3) a proposal to amend the Regency Incentive Plan as described
herein. Copies of the Merger Agreement and the Regency Articles Amendment are
set forth as Annex A and Annex D, respectively, to this Joint Proxy Statement
and Prospectus, and are incorporated herein by reference.

Date, Time and Place; Record Date

The Regency special meeting of shareholders is scheduled to be held at 10:00,
Eastern standard time, on Friday, February 26, 1999, at the offices of Regency,
121 West Forsyth Street, Suite 200, Jacksonville, Florida 32202. The Regency
Board has fixed the close of business on December 18, 1998, as the record date
for the determination of holders of Regency common stock entitled to notice of
and to vote at the Regency special meeting. On December 18, 1998 there were
25,502,416 shares of Regency common stock outstanding which were held by
approximately 479 record holders. As of December 18, 1998, SC-USRealty and
Regency's directors and executive officers beneficially owned an aggregate of
13,128,706 shares of Regency common stock or approximately 5.15% of the
outstanding Regency common stock. SC-USRealty has agreed, subject to certain
conditions, and each of such other persons has indicated his or her intent, to
vote his or her Regency common stock in favor of each of the merger and the
Merger Agreement, the Regency Articles Amendment and the amendment to the
Regency Incentive Plan. Assuming that SC-USRealty, as well as such directors
and executive officers, vote in favor of such proposals, the approval of the
proposals is assured.

Voting Rights

The presence, either in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the
outstanding Regency common stock is necessary to constitute a quorum at the
Regency special meeting. Assuming the presence of a quorum, (1) the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding Regency common
stock is required to approve the Merger Agreement and (2) the affirmative vote
of a majority of the Regency common stock voted with respect to the matter is
required to approve the Regency Articles Amendment. The affirmative vote of a
majority of the Regency common stock voted with respect to the amendment to the
Regency Incentive Plan is required for approval (provided that more than 50% of
the votes entitled to be cast are voted on the proposal). Holders of record of
Regency common stock on the Regency record date are entitled to one vote per
share of Regency common stock at the Regency special meeting.

Regency has outstanding 2,500,000 shares of a class of Special common stock
designated as Class B Non-Voting common stock (the "Class B common stock"),
which is held by a single institutional investor. The Class B common stock is
not entitled to vote on any of the matters being submitted to a vote at the
Regency special meeting. Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise,
all references to Regency common stock do not refer to the Class B common
stock.
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Proxies

If a shareholder attends the Regency special meeting, he or she may vote by
ballot. However, since many shareholders may be unable to attend the Regency
special meeting, the Regency Board is soliciting proxies so that each holder of
Regency common stock on the Regency record date has the opportunity to vote on
the proposals to be considered at the Regency special meeting. When a proxy
card is returned properly signed and dated, the Regency common stock
represented thereby will be voted in accordance with the instructions on the
proxy card. If a shareholder does not return a signed proxy card, his or her
Regency common stock will not be voted and thus will have the effect of a vote
"against" the merger and the Merger Agreement. Similarly, a broker non-vote or
an abstention will have the effect of a vote "against" the merger and the
Merger Agreement. A broker non-vote or an abstention will have no effect on the
vote with respect to the Regency Articles Amendment or the amendment to the
Regency Incentive Plan (provided that, in the case of the amendment to the
Regency Incentive Plan, more than 50% of the votes entitled to be cast are
voted on the proposal).

Shareholders are urged to mark the box on the proxy card to indicate how their
Regency common stock is to be voted. If a shareholder returns a signed proxy
card, but does not indicate how his or her Regency common stock is to be voted,
the Regency common stock represented by the proxy card will be voted "FOR" the
merger and the Merger Agreement, the Regency Articles Amendment and the
amendment to the Regency Incentive Plan. The proxy card also confers
discretionary authority on the individuals appointed by the Regency Board and
named on the proxy card to vote the Regency common stock represented thereby on
any other matter that is properly presented for action at the Regency special
meeting of shareholders. Such discretionary authority will not be used to vote
for adjournment of the Regency special meeting to permit further solicitation
of proxies if the shareholder votes against any proposal.

Any Regency shareholder who executes and returns a proxy card may revoke such
proxy at any time before it is voted by (1) notifying in writing the Secretary
of Regency at 121 West Forsyth Street, Suite 200, Jacksonville, Florida 32202,
(2) granting a subsequent proxy or (3) appearing in person and voting at the
Regency special meeting. Attendance at the Regency special meeting will not in
and of itself constitute revocation of a proxy.

Other Matters

Regency is not aware of any business or matter other than those indicated above
which may be properly presented at the Regency special meeting of shareholders.
If, however, any other matter properly comes before the Regency special
meeting, the proxy holders will, in their discretion, vote thereon in
accordance with their best judgment.

The Pacific Retail Special Meeting

Purpose of the Meeting

At the Pacific Retail special meeting, the holders of Pacific Retail common
shares and Pacific Retail preferred shares will be asked to consider and vote
upon a proposal to approve the merger and the Merger Agreement. A copy of the
Merger Agreement is set forth as Annex A to this Joint Proxy Statement and
Prospectus, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Date, Time and Place; Record Date

The Pacific Retail special meeting is scheduled to be held at 8:30 a.m.,
Central time, on February 26, 1999, at the offices of Pacific Retail, 8140
Walnut Hill Lane, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas 75231. The Pacific Retail Board has
fixed the close of business on December 28, 1998 as the record date for the
determination of holders of Pacific Retail shares entitled to notice of and to
vote at the Pacific Retail special meeting. On December 28, 1998 there were
64,058,119 Pacific Retail common shares outstanding which were held by
approximately 280 record holders. On December 28, 1998, there were 3,130,276
Pacific Retail preferred shares outstanding, all of which were held by
Opportunity Capital Partners Limited Partnership. As of December 28, 1998, SC-
USRealty and Pacific Retail's trustees and executive officers beneficially
owned an aggregate of 47,483,591 Pacific Retail common shares or approximately
70.7% of the votes entitled to be cast at the special meeting. SC-USRealty has
agreed, subject to certain conditions, and each of such other persons has
indicated his or her intent, to vote his or her Pacific Retail common shares in
favor of the merger and the Merger Agreement. Assuming that SC-USRealty, as
well as such trustees and officers, vote in favor of the merger, the approval
of the proposals is assured.

Voting Rights

Assuming the existence of a quorum, the affirmative vote of the holders of at
least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of Pacific Retail
common shares and Pacific Retail preferred shares entitled to cast a majority
of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, voting together as a single
class, is required to approve the merger and the Merger Agreement. Holders of
record of Pacific Retail common shares on the Pacific Retail record date are
entitled to one (1) vote per Pacific Retail common share at the Pacific Retail
special meeting. Holders of record of Pacific Retail preferred shares on the
Pacific Retail record date are entitled to that number of votes equal to the
number of Pacific Retail common shares into which their Pacific Retail
preferred shares are ultimately convertible, currently one (1) Pacific Retail
common share for each Pacific Retail preferred share. The presence, either in
person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the votes entitled to be
cast by holders of Pacific Retail shares is necessary to constitute a quorum at
the Pacific Retail special meeting.

If a shareholder attends the Pacific Retail special meeting, he or she may vote
by ballot. However, since many shareholders may be unable to attend the Pacific
Retail special meeting, the Pacific Retail Board is soliciting proxies so that
each holder of Pacific Retail shares on the Pacific Retail record date has the
opportunity to vote on the proposals to be considered at the Pacific Retail
special meeting. When a proxy card is returned properly signed and dated, the
Pacific Retail shares represented thereby will be voted in accordance with the
instructions on the proxy card. If a shareholder does not return a signed proxy
card, his or her Pacific Retail shares will not be voted and thus will have the
effect of a vote "against" the merger and the Merger Agreement. Similarly,
broker non-votes and abstentions have the effect of a vote "against" the merger
and the Merger Agreement. Shareholders are urged to mark the box on the proxy
card to indicate how their Pacific Retail shares are to be voted. If a
shareholder returns a signed proxy card, but does not indicate how his or her
Pacific Retail shares are to be voted, the Pacific Retail shares represented by
the proxy card will be voted "FOR" the merger and the Merger Agreement. The
proxy card also confers discretionary authority on the individuals appointed by
the Pacific Retail Board and named on the
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proxy card to vote the Pacific Retail shares represented thereby on any other
matter that is properly presented for action at the Pacific Retail special
meeting. Such discretionary authority will not be used to vote for adjournment
of the Pacific Retail special meeting to permit further solicitation of proxies
if the shareholder votes against any proposal.

Any Pacific Retail shareholder who executes and returns a proxy card may revoke
such proxy at any time before it is voted by (1) notifying in writing the
Secretary of Pacific Retail at 8140 Walnut Hill Lane, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas
75231, (2) granting a subsequent proxy or (3) appearing in person and voting at
the Pacific Retail special meeting. Attendance at the Pacific Retail special
meeting will not in and of itself constitute revocation of a proxy.

Other Matters

Pacific Retail is not aware of any business or matter other than those
indicated above which may be properly presented at the Pacific Retail special
meeting. If, however, any other matter properly comes before the Pacific Retail
special meeting, the proxy holders will, in their discretion, vote thereon in
accordance with their best judgment.

COMPARISON OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Regency is organized as a corporation under the laws of the State of Florida
and Pacific Retail is organized as a REIT under the laws of the State of
Maryland. As a Florida corporation, Regency is subject to the Florida Act,
which is a general corporation statute dealing with a wide variety of matters,
including election, tenure, duties, liabilities and indemnification of
directors and officers, dividends and other distributions, meetings and voting
rights of shareholders, and extraordinary actions, such as amendments to the
charter, mergers, sales of all or substantially all of the assets and
dissolution. As a Maryland REIT, Pacific Retail is governed by the Maryland
REIT Law and certain other provisions of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The
Maryland REIT Law covers some of the same matters covered by the Florida Act,
including liabilities of the trust, shareholders, trustees and officers,
amendment of the declaration of trust, and mergers of a REIT with other
entities. The Maryland REIT Law specifically incorporates certain provisions of
the Maryland Act, which governs corporations organized under the laws of
Maryland. There are many matters that are addressed in the Florida Act that are
not dealt with in the Maryland REIT Law, and it is the general practice of
Maryland REITs to address some of these matters through provisions in the
declaration of trust.

Certain differences between (1) the Florida Act and the Maryland REIT Law and
(2) the Regency Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (the "Regency
Articles") and bylaws and the Pacific Retail Second Amended and Restated
Declaration of Trust, as amended (the "Pacific Retail Declaration") and bylaws
are discussed below. However, the discussion of the comparative rights of
shareholders of Regency and shareholders of Pacific Retail set forth below does
not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by
reference to the Florida Act, the Maryland REIT Law and the Maryland Act, as
well as to the Regency Articles and bylaws and to the Pacific Retail
Declaration and bylaws. Copies of the Regency Articles and bylaws have been
filed as exhibits to the registration statement filed by Regency of which this
Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus is a part.
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Authorized Shares

Under the Pacific Retail Declaration, the number of shares of beneficial
interest of Pacific Retail authorized for issuance is 150,000,000, par value
$0.01 per share. Under the Pacific Retail Declaration, the Pacific Retail Board
may amend the Pacific Retail Declaration, without the consent of the
shareholders of Pacific Retail, to increase or decrease the aggregate number of
shares or the number of shares of any class which Pacific Retail has the
authority to issue. The Pacific Retail Declaration provides further that the
Pacific Retail Board may classify or reclassify any unissued shares from time
to time by setting or changing the preferences, conversion or other rights,
voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications, or
terms or conditions of redemption. To date, the Pacific Retail Board has
classified 1,130,276 shares of beneficial interest as Series A Cumulative
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest (all of which
are issued and outstanding) and has classified 6,130,276 shares of beneficial
interest as Series B Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares of
Beneficial Interest (2,000,000 of which are issued and outstanding).

The Regency Articles authorize the issuance of 150,000,000 shares of Regency
common stock, 10,000,000 shares of Special Common Stock and 10,000,000 shares
of preferred stock. The Regency Board may classify or reclassify any unissued
shares of Special Common Stock and preferred stock from time to time by setting
or changing the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications or terms and
conditions of redemption of stock. Any increase in the aggregate number of
shares which Regency has the authority to issue would require an amendment to
the Regency Articles which must first be approved by Regency's shareholders. To
date, the Regency Board has classified 1,600,000 shares of its preferred stock
as 8.125% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock and has designated
2,500,000 of its Special Common Stock as Class B Non-Voting Common Stock.

Special Meetings of Shareholders

The Pacific Retail Declaration provides that a majority of the trustees or any
officer of Pacific Retail may call a special meeting of Pacific Retail's
shareholders and a special meeting must be called at the written request of not
less than 25% of the shareholders entitled to vote. The Regency bylaws provide
that the Regency Board, the Chairman of the Board or the President may call a
special meeting of Regency's shareholders. The Regency bylaws provide that a
special meeting must be called at the written request of shareholders entitled
to cast 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast at the meeting.

Shareholder Nominations and Proposals

The Pacific Retail Declaration and bylaws do not contain a deadline for
submission of shareholder nominations and proposals.

The Regency bylaws contain deadlines for delivery of any shareholder nomination
or proposal for action at a shareholder meeting. These deadlines are the
deadlines for submitting shareholder proposals pursuant to Securities and
Exchange Commission Regulations Section 240.14a-8. Generally, a shareholder
nomination or proposal for an annual meeting must be received at least 120
calendar days prior to the date the company first mailed its proxy statement to
shareholders for the
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prior year's annual meeting. A shareholder typically can find notice of the
specific deadline in the company's proxy statement for the prior year's annual
meeting. A shareholder must submit a proposal for a meeting of shareholders
other than a regularly scheduled annual meeting at least a reasonable time
before the company begins to print and mail its proxy materials.

Limitation of Personal Liability of Directors

The Maryland REIT Law provides that a Maryland REIT's declaration of trust may
include a provision eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a
director or officer to the corporation or its stockholders for any money
damages except (1) to the extent that it is proved that the person actually
received an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services, for the
amount of the benefit or profit in money, property, or services actually
received or (2) to the extent that a court finds that the person's action, or
failure to act, was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and was
material to the cause of action adjudicated in the proceeding. The Pacific
Retail Declaration limits the personal liability of Pacific Retail's trustees,
officers, employees and agents to Pacific Retail or its shareholders for money
damages to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.

The Florida Act generally provides that a director is not personally liable for
monetary damages to the corporation or any other person for any act or omission
as a director unless the director breached or failed to perform his duties as a
director and such breach or failure (1) constitutes a violation of criminal
law, unless the director had reasonable cause to believe his conduct was lawful
or had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful, (2) constitutes
a transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit, (3)
results in an unlawful distribution, (4) in a derivative action or an action by
a shareholder, constitutes conscious disregard for the best interests of the
corporation or willful misconduct or (5) in a proceeding other than a
derivative action or an action by a shareholder, constitutes recklessness or an
act or omission which was committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or
in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or
property.

Classified Board of Directors

Pursuant to the Pacific Retail Declaration, the Pacific Retail Board is
comprised of between three and 15 trustees (the actual number being determined
by the Pacific Retail Board), each of whom serves a term of one year and is
elected or re-elected at the annual meeting of shareholders each year. The
Pacific Retail Declaration provides that the trustees may provide that in any
subsequent election the Pacific Retail Board will be divided into classes with
terms of not more than three years and at least one class expiring each year.

Pursuant to the Regency Articles, the directors of Regency are divided into
three classes with terms of three years, with the term of one class of
directors expiring at the annual meeting of shareholders in each year.

Removal of Directors

The Maryland REIT Law provides that unless the declaration of trust provides
otherwise, the shareholders of a Maryland REIT may remove any trustee, with or
without cause, by the affirmative

113



vote of a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast for the election of
trustees. The Pacific Retail Declaration provides that trustees may be removed
with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the outstanding
shares, or by two-thirds of the trustees then in office. The Florida Act
permits a director to be removed by the shareholders with or without cause
unless the articles of incorporation of the corporation provide that directors
may be removed only for cause (which the Regency Articles do not).

Standard of Conduct for Directors and Trustees

The Maryland REIT Law contains no statutory standard of conduct for trustees of
a Maryland REIT, but Maryland courts may look to the Maryland Act, which
contains a provision concerning standards of conduct of directors of Maryland
corporations. The Maryland Act requires a director of a Maryland corporation to
perform his or her duties in good faith, with a reasonable belief that his or
her actions are in the best interest of the corporation and with the care of an
ordinarily prudent person in a like position under simular circumstances.

The Florida Act requires a director of a Florida corporation, such as Regency,
to perform his duties as a director in good faith, in a manner he or she
reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation and with the
care that an ordinary person in a like position would use under similar
circumstances.

Board Committees

The Maryland REIT Law contains no provision for or limitation on the
composition of or delegation of powers to committees of the board of trustees
of a Maryland REIT. Under the Pacific Retail Declaration, the Pacific Retail
Board may designate one or more committees which shall consist of one or more
trustees. Such committees shall have and may exercise such powers as shall be
conferred or authorized by the resolution of the Pacific Retail Board.

The Florida Act permits the board of a Florida corporation, such as Regency, to
delegate to a committee of two or more directors any of its powers except the
power to recommend to the shareholders any action which requires shareholder
approval, fill vacancies on the Regency Board, authorize or approve the
issuance or sale of shares, or determine the designation and relative rights,
preferences and limitations of a voting group except within limits specifically
prescribed by the board, amend the bylaws or approve the reacquisition of
shares unless pursuant to a general formula or method specified by the board.

Amendment of Pacific Retail Declaration or the Regency Articles

The Maryland REIT Law requires the approval of shareholders of a Maryland REIT
for any amendment to the declaration of trust, with certain exceptions. As
permitted by the Maryland REIT Law, the Pacific Retail Declaration permits the
Pacific Retail Board, without any action by the shareholders, to amend the
Pacific Retail Declaration to increase or decrease the aggregate number of
shares of beneficial interest or the number of shares of beneficial interest of
any class that Pacific Retail has authority to issue. Also, as permitted by the
Maryland REIT Law, the Pacific Retail Declaration permits the Pacific Retail
Board, by a two-thirds vote, to amend the Pacific Retail
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Declaration to qualify as a real estate investment trust under the Code or
under the Maryland REIT Law. In addition, as permitted by the Maryland REIT
Law, the Pacific Retail Declaration provides that, except as specifically
provided otherwise, an amendment to Pacific Retail Declaration must be approved
by a majority of the shareholders entitled to vote thereon.

The Florida Act requires the approval of shareholders of a Florida corporation,
such as Regency, for any amendment to the articles of incorporation, except
that certain immaterial amendments specified in the Florida Act may be made by
the board of directors. Unless a specific section of the Florida Act or a
Florida corporation's articles of incorporation require a greater vote, an
amendment to a Florida corporation's articles of incorporation generally must
be approved by a majority of the votes cast on the amendment. The Regency
Articles do not include any provision requiring greater than a majority of
votes to amend its Articles of Incorporation.

Shareholder Inspection of Books and Records

Under the Maryland REIT Law, any shareholder of a real estate investment trust
may inspect and copy the bylaws of the trust, minutes of proceedings of
shareholders, and annual statements of affairs of the trust. In addition, any
shareholder of record of the trust who has owned at least five percent of the
outstanding shares of any class of beneficial interest for at least six months
is entitled to inspect and copy the trust's books of account and share ledger
and to require the trust to prepare and deliver a verified list of the name and
address of, and the number of shares owned by, each shareholder of the trust.
The Pacific Retail Declaration permits any shareholder the right, at any
reasonable time, to inspect and copy the books and records of the trust for any
purpose reasonably related to his or her interests as a shareholder upon
written demand.

Under the Florida Act, a shareholder is entitled to inspect and copy, during
regular business hours, the articles of incorporation, bylaws, certain board
and shareholder resolutions, certain written communications to shareholders, a
list of the names and business addresses of the corporation's directors and
officers, and the corporation's most recent annual report, if the shareholder
gives at least five business days' prior written demand to the corporation. In
addition, a shareholder of a Florida corporation is entitled to inspect and
copy certain other books and records of the corporation during regular business
hours if the shareholder gives at least five business days' prior written
demand to the corporation and (1) the shareholder's demand is made in good
faith and for a proper purpose, (2) the demand describes with particularity its
purpose and the records to be inspected or copied and (3) the requested records
are directly connected with such purpose. The Florida Act also provides that a
corporation may deny certain demands for inspection if such demand was made for
an improper purpose or if the demanding shareholder has, within two years
preceding such demand, sold or offered for sale any list of shareholders of the
corporation or any other corporation, has aided or abetted any person in
procuring a list of shareholders for such purpose or has improperly used any
information secured through any prior examination of the records of the
corporation or any other corporation.

Dividends and Other Distributions
The Maryland REIT Law contains no limitations on the payment of dividends or
other distributions by a Maryland REIT. The Pacific Retail Declaration provides

that the trustees, subject to the
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provisions of any class or series of outstanding shares, may declare and pay
dividends or other distributions as the trustees in their discretion shall
determine.

The Florida Act provides that no dividend or other distribution may be paid to
shareholders of a Florida corporation unless, after payment of the
distribution, the corporation is able to pay its debts as they become due in
the usual course of business and the corporation's total assets at least equal
the sum of its liabilities and, unless the articles of incorporation permit
otherwise (which the Regency Articles do not), the amount that would be needed
to satisfy the preferential rights on dissolution of shareholders whose
preferential rights on dissolution are superior to the shareholders receiving
the distribution.

Maryland Asset Requirements

To maintain its qualification as a Maryland REIT, the Maryland REIT Law
requires that Pacific Retail hold, either directly or indirectly, at least 75%
of the value of its assets in real estate assets, mortgages or mortgage related
securities, government securities, cash and cash equivalent items, including
high-grade short-term securities and receivables. The Maryland REIT Law also
prohibits using or applying land for farming, agriculture, horticulture or
similar purposes. There is no such requirement for a Florida corporation, such
as Regency.

Action by Written Consent of Shareholders

Under the Pacific Retail bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken
at a meeting of shareholders may be taken without a meeting if all shareholders
entitled to vote on the matter consent to the action in writing and any
shareholder entitled to notice of the meeting but not entitled to vote at it
provides a written waiver of any right to dissent.

Consistent with the Florida Act, the Regency bylaws allow shareholders to take
any action without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, upon the
written consent of shareholders having not less than the minimum number of
votes that would be necessary to take such action at a meeting at which all
shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted.

Appraisal Rights

The Maryland REIT Law provides that objecting shareholders of a merging
Maryland REIT have the same rights to demand and receive payment of the "fair
value" of their shares as objecting stockholders of a Maryland corporation
under the Maryland Act. However, except as otherwise provided by the provisions
of the Maryland Act regarding certain business combinations with interested
shareholders and certain control share acquisitions, shareholders do not have
appraisal rights if, among other things, the stock is listed on a national
securities exchange on the record date for determining shareholders entitled to
vote on the merger. Pacific Retail shareholders will have appraisal rights in
the merger. See "The Merger--Dissenters' Rights."

A shareholder of a Florida corporation, with certain exceptions, has the right
to dissent from, and obtain payment of the fair value of his shares in the
event of (1) a merger or consolidation to which the corporation is a party, (2)
a sale or exchange of all or substantially all of the corporation's property
other than in the usual and ordinary course of business, (3) the approval of a
control share
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acquisition, (4) a statutory share exchange to which the corporation is a party
as the corporation whose shares will be acquired, (5) certain amendments to the
articles of incorporation if the shareholder is entitled to vote on the
amendment and the amendment would adversely affect the shareholder and (6) any
corporate action taken to the extent that the articles of incorporation provide
for dissenters' rights with respect to such action. The Florida Act provides
that unless a corporation's articles of incorporation provide otherwise, which
the Regency Articles do not, a shareholder does not have dissenters' rights
with respect to a plan of merger, share exchange or proposed sale or exchange
of property if the corporation's shares are either registered on a national
securities exchange, designated as a national market system security on an
interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers,
Inc., or held of record by 2,000 or more shareholders.

Indemnification

The Maryland REIT Law provides that a Maryland REIT may indemnify and advance
expenses to trustees, officers, employees and agents of the trust to the same
extent as is permitted for directors, officers, employees and agents of a
Maryland corporation under the Maryland Act. The Pacific Retail Declaration
provides that Pacific Retail shall indemnify trustees and officers to the
fullest extent permitted by Maryland law. The Maryland Act permits a
corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among
others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and reasonable
expenses actually incurred by them in connection any proceeding to which they
may be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities
unless it is established that (a) the act or omission of the director or
officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (i) was
committed in bad faith or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate
dishonesty, (b) the director or officer actually received an improper personal
benefit in money, property or services or (c) in the case of any criminal
proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the
act or omission was unlawful. However, under the Maryland Act, a Maryland
corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or in the
right of the corporation or for a judgment of liability on the basis that
personal benefit was improperly received, unless in either case a court orders
indemnification and then only for expenses. In addition, the Maryland Act
permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer
upon the corporation's receipt of (a) a written affirmation by the director or
officer of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct
necessary for indemnification by the corporation and (b) a written undertaking
by him or on his behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the
corporation if it shall ultimately be determined that the standard of conduct
was not met.

The Pacific Retail Declaration provides further that Pacific Retail will
indemnify any other persons permitted to be indemnified by the Maryland Act,
including employees and agents, to the extent such indemnification is
authorized and determined to be appropriate by the Pacific Retail trustees, the
majority of shareholders entitled to vote on the matter or special legal
counsel appointed by the Pacific Retail trustees.

Pacific Retail has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its
trustees and officers. The indemnification agreements require, among other
things, that Pacific Retail indemnify its trustees and officers to the fullest
extent permitted by law.
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Under the Florida Act, a corporation may generally indemnify its officers,
directors, employees and agents against expenses (including attorneys' fees),
judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement of any proceedings (other than
derivative actions), if they acted in good faith and in a manner they
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no
reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful. A similar standard is
applicable in derivative actions, except that indemnification may be made only
for (1) expenses (including attorneys' fees) and certain amounts paid in
settlement, and (2) in the event the person seeking indemnification has been
adjudicated liable, amounts deemed proper, fair and reasonable by the
appropriate court upon application thereto. The Florida Act provides that to
the extent that such persons have been successful in defense of any proceeding,
they must be indemnified by the corporation against expenses actually and
reasonably incurred in connection therewith. Additionally, the Florida Act
provides that, unless a corporation's articles of incorporation provide
otherwise, if a corporation does not so indemnify such persons, they may seek,
and a court may order, indemnification under certain circumstances even if the
board of directors or shareholders of the corporation have determined that the
persons are not entitled to indemnification. The Regency Articles and the
Regency bylaws generally provide that directors and officers will be
indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Regency currently has indemnification agreements with each of its directors and
executive officers.

Business Combinations

Generally, under the Maryland REIT Law, the approval by the affirmative vote of
two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter is required for
mergers of a Maryland REIT, unless the declaration of trust increases or
reduces the vote to not less than a majority. The Pacific Retail Declaration
reduces the vote required to the affirmative vote of the holders of not less
than a majority of the shares then outstanding and entitled to vote thereon.

Under the Maryland Act, as applicable to Maryland real estate investment
trusts, certain "business combinations" (including certain mergers,
consolidations, share exchanges and asset transfers and certain issuances and
reclassifications of equity securities) between a Maryland real estate
investment trust and any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting
power of the trust's shares or an affiliate of the trust who, at any time
within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial
owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding voting shares
of beneficial interest of the trust (an "Interested Shareholder") or an
affiliate of the Interested Shareholder are prohibited for five years after the
most recent date on which the Interested Shareholder becomes an Interested
Shareholder. Thereafter, any such business combination must be recommended by
the board of trustees of such trust and approved by the affirmative vote of at
least (a) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding voting
shares of beneficial interest of the trust and (b) two-thirds of the votes
entitled to be cast by holders of voting shares of the trust other than shares
held by the Interested Shareholder with whom (or with whose affiliate) the
business combination is to be effected, unless, among other conditions, the
trust's common shareholders receive a minimum price (as defined in the Maryland
Act) for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same
form as previously paid by the Interested Shareholder for its shares.

The Pacific Retail Declaration provides that these provisions of the Maryland
Act do not apply to any business combination between Pacific Retail and any
entity in which Security Capital Group or a wholly owned subsidiary of Security
Capital Group then owns an equity interest.
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The Florida Act contains an affiliated transactions statute which provides that
certain transactions involving a corporation and a shareholder owning 10% or
more of the corporation's outstanding voting shares (an "affiliated
shareholder") must generally be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders
of two-thirds of the voting shares other than those owned by the affiliated
shareholders. The transactions covered by the statute include, with certain
exceptions, (1) mergers and consolidations to which the corporation and the
affiliated shareholders are parties, (2) sales or other dispositions of
substantial amounts of the corporations' assets to the affiliated shareholder,
(3) issuances by the corporation of substantial amounts of its securities to
the affiliated shareholder, (4) the adoption of any plan for the liquidation or
dissolution of the corporation proposed by or pursuant to an arrangement with
the affiliated shareholder, (5) any reclassification of the corporation's
securities which has the effect of substantially increasing the percentage of
the outstanding voting shares of the corporation beneficially owned by the
affiliated shareholder, and (6) the receipt by the affiliated shareholder of
certain loans or other financial assistance from the corporation. These special
shareholder approval requirements do not apply in any of the following
circumstances: (1) if the transaction was approved by a majority of the
corporation's disinterested directors, (2) if the corporation did not have more
than 300 shareholders of record at any time during the preceding three years,
(3) if the affiliated shareholder has been the beneficial owner or at least 80%
of the corporation's outstanding voting shares for the past five years, (4) if
the affiliated shareholder is the beneficial owner of at least 90% of the
corporation's outstanding voting shares, exclusive of those acquired in a
transaction not approved by a majority of disinterested directors or (5) if the
consideration received by each shareholder in connection with transaction
satisfies the "fair price" provisions of the statute. This statute applies to
any Florida corporation unless the original articles of incorporation or an
amendment to the articles of incorporation or bylaws contain a provision
expressly electing not to be governed by this statue. Such an amendment to the
articles of incorporation or bylaws must be approved by the affirmative vote of
a majority of disinterested shareholders and is not effective until 18 months
after approval. The Regency Articles do not contain a provision electing not to
be governed by the statute and, accordingly, Regency is governed by the
statute.

Control Share Acquisitions

The Maryland Act, as applicable to Maryland real estate investment trusts,
provides that "control shares" of a Maryland real estate investment trust
acquired in a "control share acquisition" have no voting rights except to the
extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the
matter, excluding shares of beneficial interest owned by the acquiror, by
officers or by trustees who are employees of the trust. "Control Shares" are
voting shares of beneficial interest which, if aggregated with all other such
shares of beneficial interest previously acquired by the acquiror, or in
respect of which the acquiror is able to exercise or direct the exercise of
voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the
acquiror to exercise voting power in electing trustees within one of the
following ranges of voting power: (i) one-fifth or more but less than one-
third, (ii) one-third or more but less than a majority, or (iii) a majority or
more of all voting power. Control shares do not include shares the acquiring
person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained
shareholder approval. A "control share acquisition" means the acquisition of
control shares, subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition, upon
satisfaction of certain conditions (including an undertaking to pay expenses),
may compel the board of trustees of the trust
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to call a special meeting of shareholders to be held within 50 days of demand
to consider the voting rights of the shares. If no request for a meeting is
made, the trust may itself present the question at any shareholders meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person
does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the statute,
then, subject to certain conditions and limitations, the trust may redeem any
or all of the control shares (except those for which voting rights have
previously been approved) for fair value determined, without regard to the
absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last
control share acquisition by the acquiror or of any meeting of shareholders at
which the voting rights of such shares are considered and not approved. If
voting rights for control shares are approved at a shareholders meeting and the
acquiror becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote,
all other shareholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the
shares as determined for purposes of such appraisal rights may not be less than
the highest price per share paid by the acquiror in the control share
acquisition.

The control share acquisition statute does not apply (a) to shares acquired in
a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the trust is a party to the
transaction or (b) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the declaration of
trust or bylaws of the trust.

The Pacific Retail Declaration provides that these provisions of the Maryland
Act shall not apply to any shares owned by Security Capital Group or any person
in which Security Capital Group or any wholly-owned subsidiary of Security
Capital Group then directly holds an equity interest.

The Florida Act also contains a control share acquisition statute which
provides that a person who acquires shares in an issuing public corporation in
excess of certain specified thresholds will generally not have any voting
rights with respect to such shares unless the voting rights are approved by a
majority of the shares entitled to vote, excluding interested shares. This
statute does not apply to acquisitions of shares of a corporation if, prior to
the pertinent acquisition of shares, the acquisition is approved by the board
of directors or the corporation's articles of incorporation or bylaws provide
that the corporation shall not be governed by the statute. This statute also
permits a corporation to adopt a provision in its articles of incorporation or
bylaws providing for the redemption by the corporation of such acquired shares
in certain circumstances. Unless otherwise provided in the corporation's
articles of incorporation or bylaws prior to the pertinent acquisition of
shares, in the event that such shares are accorded full voting rights by the
shareholders of the corporation and the acquiring shareholder acquires a
majority of the voting power of the corporation, all shareholders who did not
vote in favor of according voting rights to such acquired shares are entitled
to dissenters' rights to receive the fair value of their shares as provided in
the Florida Act. The Regency Articles and the Regency bylaws do not contain any
provisions with respect to this statute.

Other Constituencies

The Florida Act provides that directors of a Florida corporation, in
discharging their duties to the corporation, may, in addition to considering
the effects of any corporate action on the shareholders and the corporation,
consider the social, economic, legal or other effects of the corporate action
on employees, suppliers and customers of the corporation or its subsidiaries,
on the communities and society in which the corporation or its subsidiaries
operate and on the economy of the state and the nation. The Maryland REIT Law
does not have a comparable statutory provision.
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DESCRIPTION OF REGENCY SECURITIES
Regency Common Stock

The authorized Regency common stock consists of 150,000,000 shares, par value
$0.01 per share. The holders of Regency's common stock are entitled to one vote
per share on all matters voted on by shareholders, including elections of
directors, and, except as otherwise required by law or provided in any
resolution adopted by the Regency Board with respect to any series of preferred
stock establishing the powers, designations, preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rights of such series, the holders of
Regency common stock (together with the holders of any class or series of
Special Common Stock of Regency that does not have limited voting rights)
exclusively possess all voting power. The Regency Articles do not provide for
cumulative voting in the election of directors. Subject to any preferential
rights of any outstanding series of preferred stock, the holders of Regency
common stock are entitled to such dividends as may be declared from time to
time by the Regency Board from funds legally available therefor, and upon
liquidation are entitled to receive pro rata all assets of Regency available
for distribution to such holders.

All shares of Regency stock offered hereby, upon issuance in exchange for
Pacific Retail shares, will be fully paid and nonassessable and the holders
thereof will not have preemptive rights.

Regency's common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol "REG." The Transfer Agent and Registrar for the Regency common stock is
First Union National Bank.

Special Common Stock
General

Under the Regency Articles, the Regency Board is authorized, without further
shareholder action, to provide for the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of
Special Common Stock from time to time in one or more classes or series. The
Special Common Stock will bear dividends in such amounts as the Regency Board
may determine with respect to each class or series. All such dividends must be
pari passu with dividends on the Regency common stock. Upon the liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of Regency, the Special Common Stock will participate
pari passu with the Regency common stock in liquidating distributions. Shares
of Special Common Stock will have one vote per share and vote together with the
holders of Regency common stock (and not separately as a class except where
otherwise required by law), unless the Board of Directors creates classes or
series with more limited voting rights or without voting rights. The Board will
have the right to determine whether shares of Special Common Stock may be
converted into shares of any other class or series or be redeemed, and, if so,
the redemption price and the other terms and conditions of redemption, and to
determine such other rights as may be allowed by law. Holders of Special Common
Stock will not be entitled, as a matter of right, to preemptive rights. As all
Special Common Stock is expected to be closely held, it is anticipated that
most classes or series would be convertible into Regency common stock for
liquidity purposes.

Class B Common Stock
Regency has outstanding 2,500,000 shares of a non-voting class of Special
Common Stock in the form of Class B Common Stock, which was issued in a private

placement to LaSalle Advisors
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Limited Partnership. The Class B Common Stock receives dividends pari passu
with the Regency common stock at a rate equivalent to 1.03 times the dividend
that would be paid on the Regency common stock issuable upon conversion of the
Class B Common Stock and participates pari passu with the Regency common stock
in any liquidation of Regency. The Class B Common Stock may be converted into
Regency common stock at the election of the holder beginning December 20, 1998,
but generally the holder may not at any time be the beneficial owner of more
than 4.9% of the outstanding common stock. Accelerated conversion may take
place under certain circumstances, including if Regency's debt exceeds a
specified threshold. The Class B Common Stock will be convertible in full upon
the effectiveness of the merger. A total of 2,975,468 shares of Regency common
stock are issuable upon conversion of the Class B Common Stock.

Regency Preferred Stock

Under the Regency Articles, the Regency Board is authorized, without further
shareholder action, to provide for the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of
preferred stock. The preferred stock authorized by the Articles may be issued,
from time to time, in one or more series, in such amounts and with such
designations, powers, preferences or other rights, qualifications, limitations
and restrictions as may be fixed by the Regency Board. Regency has no shares of
preferred stock outstanding as of the date hereof but has authorized the
issuance of 1,600,000 shares of 8.125% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred
Stock (the "8.125% Preferred Stock"). The 8.125% Preferred Stock is issuable in
exchange for preferred units of limited partnership interest held by an
institutional investor in Regency Centers, L.P. (i) on or after June 2008, (ii)
on or after June 2001 if the holder's ownership of the preferred limited
partnership units would cause it to be an "investment company" for tax
purposes, (iii) at any time distributions in respect of the preferred limited
partnership units are in arrears for six quarters and (iv) at any time Regency
Centers, L.P. is or is likely to become a "publicly traded partnership" for tax
purposes. The 8.125% Preferred Stock will bear cumulative 8.125% preferential
dividends and will have a liquidation preference of $50 per share. The 8.125%
Preferred Stock will be pari passu as to dividends and liquidation with the
Regency preferred stock to be issued in the merger.

The Regency Board has authorized, subject to consummation of the merger, the
issuance of two new series of Regency preferred stock in exchange for the two
existing series of Pacific Retail preferred shares. The two new series
designated by the Regency Board, which will be issued in the merger to
Opportunity Capital Partners Limited Partnership, the only holder of Pacific
Retail preferred shares and the holder of 1,000,000 Pacific Retail common
shares, are: (1) Series 1 Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock,
consisting of 542,532 shares (the "Series 1 Preferred Stock"), and (2) the
Series 2 Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, consisting of
1,502,532 authorized shares (the "Series 2 Preferred Stock"). The Regency
preferred stock is convertible into a maximum of 1,502,532 shares of common
stock, which would represent 2.6% of the common stock if converted as of
December 18, 1998. Opportunity Capital Partners Limited Partnership also owns
1,804,730 shares of Regency common stock and will receive 480,000 shares of
Regency common stock in the merger in exchange for its Pacific Retail common
shares. Through its ownership of Regency common and preferred stock, it will
control 6.6% of the vote of Regency shareholders. The principal terms of each
series (together, the "New Regency Preferred"), are summarized below. The
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Articles of Amendment designating the New Regency Preferred are included as
Annex F. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to
that Annex.

Series 1 Preferred Stock

Dividends and Liquidation Preference. The Regency Series 1 Preferred Stock will
have rights, preferences, and limitations identical to the rights, preferences
and limitations of the Pacific Retail Series A preferred shares, except that
the shares will be capital stock of a Florida corporation. See "Comparison of
Shareholder Rights." The Series 1 Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive
cumulative quarterly cash dividends in an amount equal to the greater of (1)
$0.2083 per share, (2) 65% of Regency's highest funds from operations (as
defined) per share per year beginning December 31, 1996, divided by 4, and (3)
$0.02708 less than the per share dividend on the Regency common stock. The
Series 1 Preferred Stock will be entitled to a liquidation preference of
$20.8333 per share. No cash dividends or liquidating distributions may be paid
to any holders of Regency shares junior as to dividends or liquidation, as the
case may be, unless the holders of Series 1 Preferred Stock have received the
full amounts to which they are entitled.

Conversion. Subject to customary provisions for adjustment to prevent dilution,
each share of Series 1 Preferred Stock will be convertible, at any time and
from time to time, on a one-for-one basis into shares of Series 2 Preferred
Stock. However, if the holder elects to convert prior to October 20, 2000, the
holder must pay to Regency an amount in cash arrived at by multiplying (i)
0.0052 times (ii) the quotient obtained by dividing (A) the actual number of
days that will elapse beginning on and including the date on which the
conversion is deemed to have been effected and ending on and including October
20, 2000 by (B) 365 times (iii) the difference between (X) the aggregate
liquidation preference (excluding accrued and unpaid dividends) of the shares
of Regency Series 1 Preferred Stock being converted and (Y) the aggregate
amount of accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares of Regency Series 1
Preferred Stock being converted (provided that the amount determined pursuant
to this clause (iii) shall not be less than zero). In addition, immediately
after the dividend payment record date next following the conversion date with
respect to the Regency Series 2 Preferred Stock into which the Regency Series 1
Preferred Stock is convertible (or the Regency common stock into which such
Regency Series 2 Preferred Stock convertible, whichever is applicable), the
holder of the Regency Series 1 Preferred Stock shall pay to Regency an amount,
if any, necessary to ensure that the holder has received an aggregate amount of
$0.02708 per share being converted less than the dividend payable on Regency
common stock for the dividend period during which the conversion was effected.

Optional Redemption by Regency. Beginning October 20, 2010, Regency will have
the right, at its option, to redeem the Series 1 Preferred Stock, in whole at
any time, or in part from time to time, at a redemption price of $20.8333, plus
any accrued but unpaid dividends.

Voting. The Series 1 Preferred Stock will vote together with the Series 2
Preferred Stock and the Regency common stock, and generally not separately as a
class. However, if 12 consecutive quarterly dividends on the Series 1 Preferred
Stock (or any series or class of shares on a parity with the Series 1 Preferred
Stock) are in arrears, the number of directors constituting the Regency Board
of Directors shall be increased by one, and the holders of the Series 1
Preferred Stock, together with the holders of shares of every other such series
of parity shares, voting as a single class (the "Voting Preferred
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Shares"), shall be entitled to elect the additional director until all such
outstanding dividend arrearages have been paid. In addition to any other voting
rights to which the Series 1 Preferred Stock may be entitled as a matter of law
under the Florida Act, the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the votes
entitled to be cast by the holders of the Series 1 Preferred Shares and the
holders of the other Voting Preferred Shares, acting as a single class, shall
be required (1) for a share exchange affecting the Series 1 Preferred Stock, or
a consolidation or merger to which Regency is a party unless the Series 1
Preferred Stock remains outstanding without a material and adverse change or
the Series 1 Preferred Stock is converted into or exchanged for convertible
preferred stock of the surviving entity having identical terms to the Series 1
Preferred Stock (except for changes that do not materially and adversely affect
the holders of the Series 1 Preferred Stock), (2) the authorization, or
creation of, or increase in the amount of any security ranking prior to the
Series 1 Preferred Stock, or (3) any amendment or repeal of any provisions of
the Regency Articles that materially and adversely affect the voting powers,
rights or preferences of such holders. If any such amendment, alteration or
repeal would materially and adversely affect any voting powers, rights or
preferences of the Series 1 Preferred Stock that are not enjoyed by some or all
of the other series of Voting Preferred Shares, the affirmative vote of at
least 66 2/3% of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of all series
similarly affected shall be required.

Series 2 Preferred Stock

The Regency Series 2 Preferred Stock will have rights, preferences, and
limitations identical to the rights, preferences and limitations of the Pacific
Retail Series B preferred shares, except that shares will be capital stock of a
Florida corporation. See "Comparison of Shareholder Rights." The terms of the
Series 2 Preferred Stock will be the same as the terms of Series 1 Preferred
Stock except as set forth below. The cumulative quarterly cash dividend payable
on the Series 2 Preferred Stock will be equal to the greater of (1) $0.2083 per
share, (2) 65% of Regency's highest amount of funds from operations (as
defined) per share per year beginning December 31, 1996, divided by 4 and (3)
the per share dividend on the Regency common stock. The Series 2 Preferred
Stock will be convertible at any time in whole or in part on a one-for-one
basis into Regency common stock. There will be no penalty for conversion of the
Series 2 Preferred Stock.

Restrictions on Ownership
Restrictions Relating to REIT Qualification

For Regency to qualify as a REIT under the Code, not more than 50% in value of
its outstanding capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or
fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include certain entities) during
the last half of a taxable year, its stock must be beneficially owned (without
reference to attribution rules) by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days
in a taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a shorter
taxable year, and certain other requirements must be satisfied.

To assure that five or fewer individuals do not Beneficially Own (as defined in
the Regency Articles to include ownership through the application of certain
stock attribution provisions of the Code) more than 50% in value of Regency's
outstanding capital stock, the Regency Articles provide that, subject to
certain exceptions, no holder may own, or be deemed to own (by virtue of
certain of the
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attribution provisions of the Code), more than 7% by value of Regency's
outstanding capital stock. Certain existing holders specified in the Regency
Articles and those to whom Beneficial Ownership of their capital stock is
attributed, whose Beneficial Ownership of capital stock exceeds the Ownership
Limit, may continue to own such percentage by value of outstanding capital
stock and may increase their respective Existing Holder Limits (as defined in
the Regency Articles) through benefit plans of Regency, dividend reinvestment
plans, additional asset sales or capital contributions to Regency or
acquisitions from other Existing Holders (as defined in the Regency Articles).
However, they may not acquire additional shares from such sources such that the
five largest Beneficial Owners of capital stock hold more than 49.5% by value
of the outstanding capital stock, and in any event may not increase their
respective Existing Holder Limits through acquisition of capital stock from any
other sources. In addition, because rent from a related tenant (any tenant 10%
of which is owned, directly or constructively, by the REIT) is not qualifying
rent for purposes of the gross income tests under the Code, the Regency
Articles provide that no constructive owner of stock in Regency who owns,
directly or indirectly, a 10% interest in any tenant of Regency may own, or
constructively own by virtue of certain of the attribution provisions of the
Code (which differ from the attribution provisions applied to determine
Beneficial Ownership), more than 9.8% by value of the outstanding capital stock
of Regency.

The Regency Board of Directors may waive the Ownership Limit, the Existing
Holder Limit and the Related Tenant Limit (each as defined in the Regency
Articles) if evidence satisfactory to the Regency Board is presented that such
ownership will not then or in the future jeopardize Regency's status as a REIT.
As a condition of such waiver, the Regency Board may require opinions of
counsel satisfactory to it and/or an undertaking from the applicant with
respect to preserving the REIT status of Regency.

Limitations on Foreign Ownership

Section 5.14 of the Regency Articles contains provisions prohibiting certain
issuances or transfers of Regency capital stock directly or indirectly to Non-
U.S. Persons. These provisions will be made more stringent by the proposed
Regency Articles Amendment. See "Approval of the Regency Articles Amendment."
As amended by the Regency Articles Amendment, Section 5.14 is not expected to
prevent any Pacific Retail shareholder from acquiring Regency stock in the
merger. However, as amended by the Regency Articles Amendment, Section 5.14
will prohibit any Non-U.S. Person from acquiring any Regency capital stock
after the merger until SC-USRealty and its affiliates, together with all other
Non-U.S. Persons, own directly or indirectly less than 50% of the fair market
value of Regency's outstanding capital stock. Thereafter and until SC-USRealty
and its affiliates have ceased to own 10% of Regency's common stock on a fully
diluted basis for a continuous period of 180 days, certain, but not necessarily
all, direct or indirect acquisitions of Regency capital stock by Non-U.S.
Persons will be prohibited.

See "Approval of the Regency Articles Amendment" for a description of the
restrictions on transfers of Regency capital stock to Non-U.S. Persons both
before and after the Regency Articles Amendment. Any shares issued or
transferred in violation of these restrictions will be void, or if such remedy
is invalid, will be subject to the provisions for "excess shares" described
below.
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Remedies

If (1) shares of capital stock in excess of the applicable Ownership Limit,
Existing Holder Limit, or Related Tenant Limit, or (2) shares are issued or
transferred to any person or retained by any person after becoming a Related
Tenant Owner which (a) would cause the REIT to be beneficially owned by fewer
than 100 persons (without application of the attribution rules), (b) would
result in Regency being "closely held" within the meaning of Section 856(h) of
the Code, or (c) would violate the restrictions on foreign ownership described
above (see "--Limitations on Foreign Ownership" above), such issuance,
transfer, or retention shall be null and void to the intended holder, and the
intended holder will have no rights to the stock. Capital stock transferred,
proposed to be transferred, or retained in excess of the Ownership Limit, the
Existing Holder Limit, or the Related Tenant Limit or which would otherwise
jeopardize Regency's REIT status or violate the restrictions on foreign
ownership ("excess shares") will be deemed held in trust on behalf of and for
the benefit of Regency.

The Regency Board of Directors will, within six months after receiving notice
of such actual or proposed transfer, either (1) direct the holder of such
shares to sell all shares held in trust for Regency for cash in such manner as
the Regency Board directs, or (2) redeem such shares for a price equal to the
lesser of (a) the price paid by the holder from whom shares are being redeemed
and (b) the average of the last reported sales prices on the New York Stock
Exchange of the relevant class of capital stock on the 10 trading days
immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption by the Regency Board of
Directors, or if such class of capital stock is not then traded on the New York
Stock Exchange, the average of the last reported sales prices of such class of
capital stock (or, if sales prices are not reported, the average of the closing
bid and asked prices) on the 10 trading days immediately preceding the relevant
date as reported on any exchange or quotation system over which such class of
capital stock may be traded, or if such class of capital stock is not then
traded over any exchange or quotation system, then the price determined in good
faith by the Regency Board as the fair market value of such class of capital
stock on the relevant date.

If the Regency Board of Directors directs the intended holder to sell the
shares, the holder shall receive such proceeds as the trustee for Regency and
pay Regency out of the proceeds of such sale all expenses incurred by Regency
in connection with such sale, plus any remaining amount of such proceeds that
exceeds the amount originally paid by the intended holder for such shares. The
intended holder shall not be entitled to distributions, voting rights or any
other benefits with respect to such excess shares except the amounts described
above. Any dividend or distribution paid to an intended holder on excess shares
pursuant to the Regency Articles must be repaid to Regency upon demand.

Miscellaneous

All certificates representing capital stock will bear a legend referring to the
restrictions described above. The transfer restrictions described above shall
not preclude the settlement of any transaction entered through the facilities
of the New York Stock Exchange.

The Regency Articles provide that every shareholder of record of more than 5%
of the outstanding capital stock and every Actual Owner (as defined in the
Regency Articles) of more than 5% of the outstanding capital stock held by a
nominee must give written notice to Regency of information specified in the
Regency Articles within 30 days after December 31 of each year. In addition,
each
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Beneficial Owner of capital stock and each person who holds capital stock for a
Beneficial Owner must provide to Regency such information as Regency may
request, in good faith, in order to determine Regency's status as a REIT.

The ownership limitations described above may have the effect of precluding
acquisition of control of Regency by a third party even if the Board of
Directors determines that maintenance of REIT status is no longer in the best
interests of Regency. The Board of Directors has the right under the Regency
Articles (subject to contractual restrictions, including covenants made with
SC-USRealty) to revoke the REIT status of Regency if the Board of Directors
determines that it is no longer in the best interest of Regency to attempt to
qualify, or to continue to qualify, as a REIT. In the event of such revocation,
the ownership limitations in the Regency Articles will remain in effect. Any
change in the ownership limitations would require an amendment to the Regency
Articles.

Staggered Board of Directors

The Regency Articles and bylaws divide the Regency Board into three classes of
directors, with each class constituting approximately one-third of the total
number of directors and with classes serving staggered three-year terms. The
classification of directors will have the effect of making it more difficult
for shareholders to change the composition of the Regency Board. Regency
believes, however, that the longer time required to elect a majority of a
classified Board of Directors helps to insure continuity and stability of
Regency's management and policies.

The classification provisions could also have the effect of discouraging a
third party from accumulating large blocks of Regency's stock or attempting to
obtain control of Regency, even though such an attempt might be beneficial to
Regency and its shareholders. Accordingly, shareholders could be deprived of
certain opportunities to sell their shares of capital stock at a higher market
price than might otherwise be the case.

Advance Notice Provisions for Shareholder Nominations and Shareholder Proposals

Regency's bylaws establish an advance notice procedure for shareholders to make
nominations of candidates for election as directors or to bring other business
before any meeting of shareholders of Regency. Any shareholder nomination or
proposal for action at an upcoming shareholder meeting must be delivered to
Regency no later than the deadline for submitting shareholder proposals
pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act. The presiding officer at any
shareholder meeting is not required to recognize any proposal or nomination
which did not comply with such deadline.

The purpose of requiring shareholders to give Regency advance notice of
nominations and other business is to afford the Regency Board a meaningful
opportunity to consider the qualifications of the proposed nominees or the
advisability of the other proposed business and, to the extent deemed necessary
or desirable by the Regency Board, to inform shareholders and make
recommendations about such qualifications or business, as well as to provide a
more orderly procedure for conducting meetings of shareholders. Although
Regency's bylaws do not give the Regency Board any power to disapprove timely
shareholder nominations for the election of directors or proposals for action,
they may have the effect of precluding a contest for the election of directors
or the consideration of shareholder proposals if the proper procedures are not
followed, and of discouraging or deterring the third party from conducting a
solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or to approve its
own proposal.
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Certain Provisions of Florida Law

Regency is subject to several anti-takeover provisions under Florida law that
apply to a public corporation organized under Florida law unless the
corporation has elected to opt out of such provisions in its articles of
incorporation or (depending on the provision in question) its bylaws. Regency
has not elected to opt out of these provisions. See "Comparison of Shareholder
Rights--Business Combinations" and "--Control Share Acquisitions."

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS OF PACIFIC RETAIL

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 1998, the beneficial
ownership for (1) each person known to Pacific Retail to have been the
beneficial owner on that date of more than 5% of each class of Pacific Retail
equity securities, (2) each trustee of Pacific Retail, (3) each of the five
most highly compensated executive officers of Pacific Retail and (4) all
trustees and executive officers of Pacific Retail as a group. Unless otherwise
indicated in the footnotes, all of the Pacific Retail shares are owned directly
and the indicated person or entity has sole voting and dispositive power. The
number and percent of Pacific Retail common shares beneficially owned by a
person assume that all options held by that person which are exercisable within
60 days have been exercised, but that no options held by other persons have
been exercised. Unless otherwise noted, the mailing address for each person
identified below is c/o Pacific Retail Trust, 8140 Walnut Hill Lane, Suite 400,
Dallas, Texas 75231.

Number Percent Percent of
Beneficial Owner Title of Class Beneficially Owned of Class Total Vote

Security Capital Holding

S.A.

69 route d'Esch

Luxembourg............. Common shares 46,985,459 73.3% 69.9%
Opportunity Capital

Partners Limited

Partnership and

Opportunity Capital

Partnership II

c/o0 LaSalle Advisors

Limited Series A preferred shares 1,130,276(1) 100% 1.7%
100 E. Pratt St. 20th

Floor Series B preferred shares 2,000,000(1) 100% 2.9%

Baltimore, MD 21202.... Common shares 4,131,204(1) 6.1% 6.1%
Dennis H. Alberts....... Common shares 202,050(2) 0.3% 0.3%
Jeffrey A. Cozad........ Common shares 8,405(3) * *
John T. Kelley III...... Common shares 7,763(4) * *
Mary Lou Rogers......... Common shares 6,531(5) * *
John C. Schweitzer...... Common shares 5,698(6) * *
walter F. Terry III..... Common shares 8,490(7) * *
Terry N. Worrell........ Common shares 772,762(8) 1.2% 1.1%
Joshua M. Brown......... Common shares 87,066 0.1% 0.1%
James G. Buis........... Common shares 102,540(9) * *
John S. Delatour........ Common shares 66,970(10) * *
Jane E. Mody............ Common shares 126,249(11) 0.2% 0.2%
All trustees and execu-

tive officers as a

group (12 persons)..... Common shares 1,449,734 2.2% 2.1%
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* Less than 1/10 of 1%

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
(10)

(11)

Opportunity Capital Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of LaSalle
Advisors Limited, is the general partner of both shareholders. Opportunity
Capital Partners Limited Partnership ("OCP I") is the beneficial owner of
the Series A preferred shares (which are convertible into Series B
preferred shares, which are convertible in turn into common shares) and
1,000,000 common shares. Opportunity Capital Partnership II ("OCP II") is
the beneficial owner of the Series B preferred shares. Accordingly, the
4,130,276 common shares consist of the 1,000,000 common shares owned by
OCP I, 1,130,276 common shares issuable to OCP I upon conversion of the
Series A preferred shares and 2,000,000 common shares issuable to OCP II
upon conversion of the Series B preferred shares.

Includes options to acquire 77,050 Pacific Retail common shares which are
currently exercisable.

Includes 1,990 Pacific Retail common shares earned, but not issued under
the Pacific Retail Deferred Fee Plan for Trustees, and options to acquire
5,668 Pacific Retail common shares which are currently exercisable.
Includes 1,990 Pacific Retail common shares earned, but not issued under
the Pacific Retail Deferred Fee Plan for Trustees, and options to acquire
5,297 Pacific Retail common shares which are currently exercisable.
Includes 1,698 Pacific Retail common shares earned, but not issued under
the Pacific Retail Deferred Fee Plan for Trustees, and 4,000 options to
acquire Pacific Retail common shares which are currently exercisable.
Includes 1,698 shares earned, but not issued under the Pacific Retail
Deferred Fee Plan for Trustees, and 4,000 options to acquire Pacific
Retail common shares which are currently exercisable.

Includes 1,990 shares earned, but not issued under the Pacific Retail
Deferred Fee Plan for Trustees, and 6,000 options to acquire Pacific
Retail common shares which are currently exercisable.

Includes 1,989 shares earned, but not issued under the Pacific Retail
Deferred Fee Plan for Trustees, and options to acquire 5,297 Pacific
Retail common shares which are currently exercisable. Also includes
765,000 limited partnership units in Retail Property Partners Limited
Partnership which are exchangeable on a one-for-one basis for Pacific
Retail common shares which are owned of record by two companies controlled
by Mr. Worrell.

Includes options to acquire 39,094 Pacific Retail common shares which are
currently exercisable.

Includes options to acquire 11,364 Pacific Retail common shares which are
currently exercisable.

Includes options to acquire 42,367 Pacific Retail common shares which are
currently exercisable.
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CERTAIN PACIFIC RETAIL RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS
Investor Agreement

Pursuant to an Investor Agreement dated October 20, 1995 (the "Investor
Agreement") between Pacific Retail and SC-USRealty, as long as SC-USRealty owns
25% or more of Pacific Retail's outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis,
SC-USRealty is entitled to nominate such number of trustees as corresponds to
its percentage ownership of the outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis. If
Pacific Retail's shares are registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, so
long as SC-USRealty owns 10% or more of the outstanding shares on a fully
diluted basis, SC-USRealty will be entitled to nominate such number of trustees
as corresponds to its percentage ownership of the outstanding shares.

SC-USRealty may participate pro rata (based on its percentage ownership of the

outstanding shares on a fully diluted basis) in any offering by Pacific Retail

of shares or convertible securities until such time as Pacific Retail's common

shares are registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SC-USRealty
ownership falls below 10% of the outstanding Pacific Retail common shares.

As long as SC-USRealty owns 25% or more of Pacific Retail's outstanding common
shares on a fully diluted basis, SC-USRealty has the right to approve the
following matters proposed by Pacific Retail: (i) the annual operating budget
and operating plan, (ii) any acquisition or disposition of assets in a single
transaction or series of related transactions where the purchase price paid or
received by Pacific Retail exceeds $15,000,000, (iii) any incurrence,
renegotiation or repayment of indebtedness of which the amount involved exceeds
$15,000,000, (iv) any property management contract relating to a property owned
by Pacific Retail whose value represents 5% or more of Pacific Retail's
properties based on cost, (v) any service contracts involving aggregate
payments in one year equal to or in excess of 5% of Pacific Retail's annual
expenses in the preceding fiscal year, (vi) any sales of shares or other
securities convertible into shares where such shares or securities would equal
or exceed 5% (in number or value) of the outstanding Pacific Retail common
shares and (vii) appointments and dismissals of executive officers. As long as
SC-USRealty owns 10% or more of Pacific Retail common shares on a fully diluted
basis, Pacific Retail must provide to SC-USRealty quarterly and annual reports
containing financial information prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

SC-USRealty is required to use Pacific Retail as its primary vehicle for
investment in neighborhood infill retail properties located in the States of
Arizona, Colorado, Oklahoma, New Mexico and Texas.

The Investor Agreement will be terminated upon consummation of the merger.
Registration Rights Agreements

Pacific Retail has agreed to file a registration statement upon SC-USRealty's
request with respect to the Pacific Retail common shares owned by SC-USRealty
if the shares are not registered under Section 12(b) or 12(g) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 on or prior to October 20, 1999. Beginning one year after
the shares are registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Pacific
Retail has agreed to file a shelf registration statement covering SC-USRealty's
shares upon SC-USRealty's request. SC-USRealty is responsible for paying all
expenses of a registration
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discussed in this paragraph, except for Pacific Retail's legal and accounting
fees. SC-USRealty is restricted from selling through the facilities of any
stock exchange Pacific Retail common shares in excess of 2% of the outstanding
Pacific Retail common shares during any calendar quarter. Additionally,
SC-USRealty may not sell any such shares if, as result of such sale (1) in the
case of a sale prior to the time the shares are registered under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, such person's ownership of shares would equal or exceed
9.8% of the Pacific Retail common shares on a fully diluted basis and (2) in
the case of sale after such time, such person's ownership would equal or exceed
5% of the Pacific Retail common shares then outstanding.

In connection with Pacific Retail's August 1996, April 1997 and December 1997
private offerings, Pacific Retail entered into Transfer and Registration Rights
Agreements with each person purchasing securities in such offerings, including
SC-USRealty. Pursuant to such agreements, investors holding at least 10% of the
Pacific Retail common shares purchased in such offerings, have the right to
elect to request that Pacific Retail file a registration statement with respect
to any or all of the Pacific Retail common shares owned by such investor if the
shares are not registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 on or prior
to third anniversary of the date of the relevant agreement. The investors
requesting registration are responsible for paying all expenses of a
registration pursuant to such agreement.

Shareholders' Agreement

In connection with the acquisition of Pacific Retail's initial portfolio of
properties in October 1995, Pacific Retail issued 1,130,276 Series A preferred
shares to OCP and entered into a Shareholders' Agreement (the "Shareholders'
Agreement") with OCP and SC-USRealty. Pacific Retail and OCP also entered into
a registration rights agreement with OCP, which agreement contained
substantially the same terms as the registration rights agreement entered into
between Pacific Retail and SC-USRealty. OCP subsequently purchased 2,000,000
Series B preferred shares in August 1996 pursuant to the Shareholders
Agreement. Under the terms of the Shareholders' Agreement, OCP has the right,
for so long as it owns at least 10% of the outstanding shares (on a fully
diluted basis), to nominate one trustee of Pacific Retail, and SC-USRealty has
agreed to vote its shares for such nominee. If and when, after the Pacific
Retail common shares are registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
OCP owns less than 10% of the outstanding Pacific Retail common shares (on a
fully diluted basis), OCP's rights under the Shareholders Agreement will
terminate. The Shareholders Agreement will terminate in accordance with its
terms upon consummation of the merger.

Private Offerings

In Pacific Retail's $200 million August 1996 private offering, SC-USRealty

committed to purchase $100 million of Pacific Retail common shares at $11 per
share. In connection with the same private offering, Security Capital Markets
Group Incorporated, an affiliate of SC-USRealty, received a fee of $2 million.

In Pacific Retail's $150 million April 1997 private offering, SC-USRealty
committed to purchase approximately $114.6 million of Pacific Retail common
shares at $12 per share. In connection with
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the same private offering, Security Capital Markets Group Incorporated received
a fee of $1.5 million.

In Pacific Retail's $150 million December 1997 private offering, SC-USRealty
committed to purchase approximately $108.2 million of Pacific Retail common
shares at $13 per share. In connection with the same offering, Security Capital
Markets Group Incorporated received a fee of $1.5 million.

All such subscriptions were made on the same terms and at the same times as
made available to other investors.

Partnership Affiliation

In connection with the formation of Retail Property Partners Limited
Partnership, certain previously unaffiliated parties controlled by Terry N.
Worrell, currently a trustee of Pacific Retail, agreed to contribute certain
properties to Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership in exchange for the
issuance by such partnership of approximately 765,000 partnership units.

The limited partners controlled by Mr. Worrell have the right to consent to the
sale or other disposition of the property contributed by them to the
partnership (other than through a tax-free exchange or a pledge to secure a
financing).

The partnership agreement governing the partnership grants to limited partners
the right to exchange each partnership unit for a Pacific Retail common share
beginning on the first anniversary of the date the partner was admitted to the
partnership. Limited partners are also entitled to fully cumulative quarterly
distributions equal to the quarterly distributions paid in respect of a share
and any unpaid distributions will bear interest at prime plus 1%. Until the
10th anniversary of the date of the partnership agreement, upon any exchange of
partnership units for shares, limited partners are entitled to receive all
cumulated and unpaid distributions (together with interest thereon). After the
10th anniversary of the date the limited partner was admitted to the
partnership, limited partners are not entitled to receive cumulated and unpaid
distributions (or interest thereon) upon any exchange of partnership units for
shares unless the fair market value of a share for which a unit is exchangeable
is less than 110% of the amount paid by a partner for a unit. All cash flow
available after payment of distributions to limited partners will be
distributed to Pacific Retail, as general partner. In the event that the
partnership sells any of its properties, Pacific Retail, as general partner is
entitled to a distribution of all net proceeds from such sale after payment to
the limited partners of any cumulated and unpaid distributions if the sale is
made prior to the tenth anniversary of the partnership agreement.

Share Purchase Program

Pursuant to the Pacific Retail Employee Share Purchase Program portion of the
1996 Share Incentive Plan, certain executive officers and employees have
purchased Pacific Retail common shares. Pacific Retail loaned such officers and
employees approximately 95% of the purchase price for such securities. The
loans are secured by the underlying securities and bear interest at 6.0%
annually. At December 31, 1998, Messrs. Buis, Delatour and Smith were indebted
to Pacific Retail in the amount of $588,876, $588,876 and $590,637,
respectively, under such loans.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the Regency common stock and Regency preferred stock offered to
holders of Pacific Retail common shares and Pacific Retail preferred shares,
respectively, by this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus has been passed upon
for Regency by Foley & Lardner, Jacksonville, Florida. An opinion as to
continued REIT qualification following the merger has been rendered for Regency
and Pacific Retail by Foley & Lardner. Attorneys with Foley & Lardner
representing Regency with respect to this transaction beneficially owned
approximately 4,100 shares of Regency common stock as of the date of this Joint
Proxy Statement and Prospectus. An opinion as to the tax aspects of the merger
has been rendered for Regency and Pacific Retail by Mayer, Brown & Platt.
Mayer, Brown & Platt has in the past represented and currently represents
Pacific Retail and SC-USRealty and their respective affiliates.

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of
Regency as of December 31, 1997 and 1996, and for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 1997, have been incorporated by reference
herein and in the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Regency in
reliance upon the reports of KPMG LLP, independent certified public
accountants, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the authority of said
firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The financial statements of Pacific Retail as of December 31, 1997 and 1996,
and for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 1997, and
the period from Pacific Retail's inception through December 31, 1995 included
in this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus and the financial statement
schedule included in the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Regency
have been so included in reliance on the reports of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in
auditing and accounting.

EXPENSES OF SOLICITATION

All fees and expenses (including financial advisory and other professional
services fees) incurred in connection with the Merger Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereby will be paid by the party incurring such
expenses, except that those fees and expenses incurred in connection with
filing, printing and distributing this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus
will be shared ratably by Regency and Pacific Retail in proportion to the
number of copies of this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus mailed by each.
The costs of solicitation of proxies from Regency shareholders will be borne by
Regency. The costs of solicitation of proxies from Pacific Retail shareholders
will be borne by Pacific Retail. Regency and Pacific Retail will reimburse
brokers, fiduciaries, custodians and other nominees for reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses incurred in sending this Joint Proxy Statement and Prospectus
and other proxy materials to, and obtaining instructions relating to such
materials from, Regency and Pacific Retail shareholders. Regency shareholder
proxies may be solicited by directors or officers of Regency in person, by
letter or by telephone or telegram. Pacific Retail shareholder proxies may be
solicited by trustees or officers of Pacific Retail in person, by letter or by
telephone or telegram.

133



Regency has also retained Security Capital Markets Group to solicit shareholder
proxies on behalf of Regency. The solicitation fee of $250,000 will be paid by
Regency upon completion of the merger. Security Capital Markets Group is an
affiliate of SC-USRealty.

Regency will also reimburse custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for forwarding
proxies and proxy materials to the beneficial owners of its stock in accordance
with regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York
Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any proposal by a Regency shareholder intended to be presented at the 1999
annual meeting of shareholders must have been received by Regency at its
principal executive offices located at 121 West Forsyth Street, Suite 200,
Jacksonville, Florida 32202, not later than December 16, 1998 for inclusion in
Regency's proxy statement and form of proxy relating to Regency's 1999 annual
meeting of shareholders. Notice to Regency of a shareholder proposal submitted
otherwise than pursuant to Rule 14a-8 will be considered untimely if received
by Regency after March 1, 1999, and the persons named in proxies solicited by
the Regency Board for its 1999 Annual Meeting of shareholders may exercise
discretionary voting power with respect to any such proposal as to which
Regency does not receive timely notice.
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REGENCY REALTY CORPORATION
PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet
("Combined Company") is based upon the September 30, 1998 pro forma
consolidated balance sheet of Regency Realty Corporation ("Regency") as
contained in Form 10-Q dated November 16, 1998, and the pro forma consolidated
balance sheet of Pacific Retail Trust ("Pacific Retail") contained elsewhere
herein, as if the merger of Pacific and Regency occurred on September 30,
1998.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of operations of
the Combined Company are based upon the pro forma consolidated statements of
operations for the nine-month period ended September 30, 1998 and the year
ended December 31, 1997 of Regency as contained in Form 10-Q dated November
16, 1998, and Pacific Retail contained elsewhere herein. These statements are
presented as if the merger of Pacific Retail and Regency occurred as of
January 1, 1997. These unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the Regency Form 10-K as of and
for the three years ended December 31, 1997 and Form 10-Q filed for the period
ended September 30, 1998, and also in conjunction with the Pacific Retail
financial statements included elsewhere herein.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements are not
necessarily indicative of what the actual financial position or results of
operations of the Combined Company would have been at September 30, 1998 or
December 31, 1997 assuming that the merger of Pacific Retail and Regency had
been completed as set forth above, nor does it purport to represent the
financial position or results of operations of the Combined Company in future
periods.
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REGENCY

PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
September 30, 1998
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

ASSETS

Construction in progress..
Less: accumulated depre-
ciation................

Investments in real estate
partnerships.............

Net real estate invest-

Cash and cash equivalents.
Tenant receivables, net of
allowance for
uncollectible accounts...
Deferred costs, less accu-
mulated amortization.....
Other assets..............

Total Assets............

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Notes payable.............
Acquisition and develop-
ment line of credit......

Total debt..............
Accounts payable and other
liabilities..............
Tenant's security and es-

crow deposits............

Total liabilities.......

Series A preferred units..
Exchangeable operating
partnership units........
Limited partners' interest
in consolidated
partnerships.............

Preferred stock...........

Common stock and addi-
tional paid in capital...
Distributions in excess of
net income...............

Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity..

Combined

Regency Pacific Retail Company
Pro Forma Pro Forma Adjustments Pro Forma
$1,147,470 1,059,083 12,558 (a) 2,219,111
23,947 21,657 -- 45,604
(52,411) (35,942) 35,942 (a) (52,411)
1,119, 006 1,044,798 48,500 2,212,304
24,813 -- -- 24,813
1,143,819 1,044,798 48,500 2,237,117
18,401 389 (7,500)(a) 11,290
16,565 12,604 -- 29,169
5,616 5,317 (5,317)(b) 5,616
7,836 10,529 (10,529)(b) 7,836
$1,192,237 1,073,637 25,154 2,291,028
$ 432,748 97,063 -- 529,811
65,131 211,500 -- 276,631
497,879 308,563 -- 806, 442
26,778 16,188 -- 42,966
2,928 3,408 -- 6,336
527,585 328,159 -- 855, 744
78,800 -- -- 78,800
26,153 19,346 (973)(a) 44,526
7,632 -- -- 7,632
112,585 19, 346 (973) 130,958

-- 31,303 3,740 (a) 35,043

569, 060 706,086 11,130 (a) 1,286,276
(16, 993) (11, 257) 11,257 (a)  (16,993)
552,067 726,132 26,127 1,304,326
$1,192, 237 1,073,637 25,154 2,291,028

See accompanying notes to pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet.

FS-3



REGENCY

NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
September 30, 1998
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

(a) Merger of Pacific Retail and Regency

Pacific Retail will be merged with and into Regency, with Regency being the
surviving entity. Each issued and outstanding Pacific Retail common share will
be exchanged for 0.48 shares of Regency common stock, and each issued and
outstanding Pacific Retail preferred share will be converted into 0.48 shares
of a corresponding series of Regency preferred stock.

Regency will also become the sole general partner of Pacific Retail
Partnership ("PRT Partnership"). Thereafter, PRT Partnership may merge into
Regency Centers, L.P. (the "Regency Partnership") at such time as Regency
determines appropriate.

The total cost to acquire Pacific Retail is $1,106,291 based on the value of
Regency shares and partnership units expected to be issued including the
assumption of $328,159 outstanding debt and other liabilities of Pacific
Retail, and estimated closing costs of $7,500. The price per share and
partnership unit used to determine the purchase price is $23.325 based upon
the five day average of the closing stock price of Regency's common stock as
listed on the New York Stock Exchange immediately before, during and after the
date the terms of the merger were agreed to and announced to the public.

The following summarizes the total costs paid by Regency related to the
merger:

PACIFIC RETAIL

Shares and REGENCY REGENCY
Units Exchange Shares and Units Value
Outstanding Ratio Issued Per Share
Common stock............ 64,059 0.48 30,749 $23.325
Preferred stock......... 3,130 0.48 1,502 $23.325
Partnership units....... 1,641 0.48 788 $23.325
68, 830 33,039

Pacific Retail outstanding debt assumed.............. ...
Other Pacific Retail liabilities assumed............ccoevvvivnnnnnn
Estimated CloSing COSES. ... ittt e

Total acquisition COSES. . vttt ittt ittt

The following summarizes the adjustment necessary to record the merger of
Pacific Retail and Regency under purchase accounting.

Net book value of Pacific Retail common equity............ $694, 829
Value of Regency common stock issued.................ccuun. 717,216 $22,387
Net book value of Pacific Retail Preferred stock.......... 31,303
Value of Regency preferred stock issued................... 35,043 3,740
Net book value of PRT Partnership minority interest....... 19, 346
Value of Regency units issued..............c.ciiuiiinnn.nn 18,373 (973)
Subtotal of adjustments to minority interest and stock-

holder's equUity. .. .iin i e et s 25,154
Estimated cash payments for closing costs................. 7,500

Adjustment to record real estate investments under pur-

chase accounting. ...... .ot i 32,654
Adjustments to deferred and other assets under purchase

= o oo 111 o 1 s g T 15,846
Net increase to real estate investments................... $48, 500

(b) To adjust deferred and other assets under purchase accounting.

FS-4

Acquisition
Costs

$ 717,216
35,043
18,373

770,632

308, 563
19,596
7,500




REGENCY

PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
and the Year Ended December 31, 1997
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
Regency Pacific Retail Combined
Pro Forma Pro Forma Adjustments Company
Revenues:
Minimum rent............ $ 82,639 75,393 -- 158, 032
Percentage rent......... 2,008 1,002 -- 3,010
Recoveries from tenants. 18,653 19,705 -- 38,358
Management, leasing and
brokerage fees......... 8,023 45 -- 8,068
Equity in income of
investments in real
estate partnerships.... 511 -- -- 511
111,834 96,145 -- 207,979
Operating expenses:
Depreciation and amorti-
zation........oviiiinnn 19,705 18,074 909 (c) 38,688
Operating and mainte-
NANCE. .\ttt ieeenenn. 13,812 12,087 -- 25,899
General and administra-
tive. . oviiii i 11,125 7,099 .- 18,224
Real estate taxes....... 10,110 10,623 -- 20,733
54,752 47,883 909 103,544
Interest expense (income):
Interest expense........ 20,759 15,216 -- 35,975
Interest income......... (1,385) (581) -- (1,966)
19,374 14,635 -- 34,009
Income before minority
interest and gain on
sale of real estate
investments............ 37,708 33,627 (909) 70,426
Gain on sale of real es-
tate investments......... 1,401 -- -- 1,401
Preferred distributions... (1,764) -- (1,764)
Minority interest......... (6,449) (427) 9 (6,867)
Net income for common
stockholders........... $ 32,660 31,436 (900) 63,196
Net income per share (note
(d)):
BasiC.......vvvviinnnnn. $ 1.14 $0.49 $ 1.06
Diluted................. $ 1.13 $0.48 $ 1.04

See accompanying notes to pro forma consolidated statements of operations.
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REGENCY

PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
and the Year Ended December 31, 1997
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31, 1997

Regency Pacific Retail Combined
Pro Forma Pro Forma Adjustments Company
Revenues:
Minimum rent............... ..., $104,918 93,199 -- 198,117
Percentage rent................ 2,823 1,233 -- 4,056
Recoveries from tenants........ 23,907 25,563 -- 49,470
Management, leasing and broker-
age fees.....vvviiiiiinnn 9,057 -- -- 9,057
Equity in income of investments
in real estate partnerships...
33 -- -- 33
140,738 119,995 -- 260,733
Operating expenses:
Depreciation & amortization.... 24,270 21,069 1,212(c) 46,551
Operating and maintenance...... 17,339 15,698 -- 33,037
General and administrative..... 12,813 7,790 -- 20,603
Real estate taxes.............. 12,934 13,081 -- 26,015
67,356 57,638 1,212 126,206
Interest expense (income):
Interest expense............... 38,128 35,542 -- 73,670
Interest income................ (1,033) (481) -- (1,514)
37,095 35,061 -- 72,156
Income before minority interest
and gain on sale of real
estate investments............ 36,287 27,296 (1,212) 62,371
Gain on sale of real estate in-
vestments. ... -- -- -- --
Preferred distributions.......... -- (2,195) -- (2,195)
Minority interest................ (8,244) (430) 12 (8,662)
Net income for common stock-
holders.....ovvvineunennennnn $ 28,043 24,671 (1,200) 51,514
Net income per share (note (d)):
BaSIC. . ' 'vinn i iiiiinnnnnas $ 1.31 $ 0.61 $ 1.26

Diluted.......... .o, $ 1.22 $ 0.60 $ 1.21

See accompanying notes to pro forma consolidated statements of operations.
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REGENCY

NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
and the Year ended December 31, 1997
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(c) To increase depreciation expense as a result of the adjustment of real
estate investments to fair market value:

For the Nine For the year
Months Ended Ended
September 30, 1998 December 31, 1997

Adjustment to record real estate invest-

ments at fair market value............... $48, 500 48,500
Allocation to land...........ovviiinnnnnnn (9,700) (9,700)
Allocation to building...........covuiun..n 38,800 38,800
Estimated useful life in years............ 32 32
Depreciation eXPense............oviuvuvenuan $ 909 1,212

(d) The following summarizes the calculation of basic and diluted earnings
per share for the nine-month period ended September 30, 1998 and the year
ended December 31, 1997:

For the Nine For the year
Months Ended Ended
September 30, 1998 December 31, 1997

Basic Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Calculation:
Weighted average common shares
outstanding
Regency Pro Forma prior to merger..... 25,045 17,424
Regency Common Shares issued to
Pacific Retail............ .o 30,749 19,283
Adjusted weighted average common shares
outstanding. ......oviiii i 55,794 36,707

Net income for common stockholders per

Combined Pro Forma..........oouuuuuennn $ 63,196
Less: dividends paid on Class B common
stock. ..o e (4,033)
Net income for Basic EPS................ $ 59,163
BasSiC EPS. ... ittt $ 1.06
Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Calculation:
Weighted average common shares
outstanding for Basic EPS.............. 55,794 36,707
Regency exchangeable operating
partnership units..................o... 1,193 1,243
Pacific Retail exchangeable operating
partnership units...................... 788 788

Incremental shares to be issued under
common stock options using the Treasury

method
REOENCY . vttt it -- 80
Pacific Retail........... ..o 103 46
Contingent shares for the acquisition of
real estate.........coiiiiii i 418 955
Total Diluted Shares.................. 58,296 39,819
Net income for Basic EPS................ $ 59,163 $ 46,374
Add: minority interest of operating
partnership units..............couun. 1,611 1,644
Net income for Diluted EPS.............. $ 60,774 $ 48,018
Diluted EPS. ... ...ttt i it $ 1.04 $ 1.21
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST
Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet is
based upon the historical consolidated balance sheet of Pacific Retail Trust
(the Company) as of September 30, 1998. The following unaudited pro forma
condensed consolidated statements of operations of the Company are based upon
the historical consolidated statements of operations for the nine-month period
ended September 30, 1998 and the year ended December 31, 1997. These
statements are presented as if the Company had acquired all of its properties
as of January 1, 1997.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements are not
necessarily indicative of what the actual financial position or results of
operations of the Company would have been at September 30, 1998 or December
31, 1997 assuming the transactions had been completed as set forth above, nor
does it purport to represent the financial position or results of operations
of the Company in future periods.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
September 30, 1998
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Historical Adjustments Pro Forma

ASSETS
Real estate investments, at cost........... $1, 059,083 -- 1,059,083
construction in pProgressS..........oevuveennn 21,657 -- 21,657
Less: accumulated depreciation........... 35,942 -- 35,942
Real estate rental property, net....... 1,044,798 -- 1,044,798
Cash and cash equivalents.................. 389 -- 389
Tenant receivables, net of allowance for

uncollectible accounts.................... 12,604 -- 12,604

Deferred costs, less accumulated amortiza-
0o 1 S 5,317 -- 5,317
Other assets...... vt 10,529 -- 10,529
Total asSetsS. ...ttt $1,073,637 -- $1,073,637

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Mortgage loans payable.................v.. $ 97,063 -- 97,063
Acquisition and development line of credit. 211,500 -- 211,500
Total debt............ . i, 308,563 -- 308,563
Accounts payable and other liabilities..... 16,188 -- 16,188
Tenant's security and escrow deposits...... 3,408 -- 3,408
Total liabilities..........ccuouiiiurvnnnn 328,159 -- 328,159
Minority interest.......... i 19, 346 -- 19, 346
Preferred stock........... . oot 31,303 -- 31,303
Common stock and additional paid in capi-
tal. . s 706,086 -- 706,086
Distributions in excess of net income...... (11,257) -- (11,257)
Total stockholders' equity............. 726,132 -- 726,132

Total liabilities and stockholders'
EOUILY . .ttt e $1,073,637 -- 1,073,637
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
and the Year Ended December 31, 1997

(In thousands,

Revenues:
Minimum rent..........
Percentage rent.......
Recoveries from
tenants..............
Management, leasing
and brokerage fees...

Operating expenses:
Depreciation and
amortization.........
Operating and
maintenance..........
General and
administrative.......
Real estate taxes.....

Interest expense (in-
come):
Interest expense......
Interest income.......

Income before minority
interest.............
Minority interest.......

Net income............
Preferred distributions.

Net income for common
shareholders.........

Net income per share
(note (e)):
Basic.........oiuuuinn

Diluted...............

(Unaudited)

except share and per share data)

For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998

Acquisition

Historical Properties Pro Forma
$ 70,735 4,658 (a) 75,393
1,002 -- 1,002
18,764 941 (a) 19,705
45 -- 45
90,546 5,599 96,145
17,058 1,016 (b) 18,074
11,198 889 (a) 12,087
6,937 162 (a) 7,099
10,194 429 (a) 10,623
45,387 2,496 47,883
11,594 3,622 (c) 15,216
(581) -- (581)
11,013 3,622 14,635
34,146 (519) 33,627
(579) 152 (427)
33,567 (367) 33,200
(1,764) -- (1,764)
$ 31,803 (367) 31,436
$ 0.50 $ 0.49
$ 0.49 $ 0.48

See accompanying notes to pro forma consolidated statements of operations.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
and the Year Ended December 31, 1997
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

For the Yea

r

Ended December 31, 1997

Acquisiti
Historical Propertie

Revenues:
Minimum rent. ... e e $60, 869 32,330
Percentage rent........c.uiiiiiiin s 1,233 --
Recoveries from tenants...................... 16,899 8,272
Management, leasing and brokerage fees....... 392 --
79,393 40,602
Operating expenses:
Depreciation and amortization................ 14,715 6,354
Operating and maintenance.................... 9,727 5,971
General and administrative................... 6,542 1,248
Real estate taXeS....vvvi it 10,012 3,069
40,996 16,642
Interest expense (income):
INnterest eXPense. ... v iii ittt 11,667 23,875
Interest income........ ..o (481) --
11,186 23,875
Income before minority interest.............. 27,211 85
Minority interest.......... i (490) 60
Net InCOMe. .. vttt i it e s 26,721 145
Preferred distributions................ ... .uu (2,195) --
Net income for common shareholders............. $24,526 145
Net income per share (note (e)):
BASIC. vt i e $ 0.61
Diluted. ... v e $ 0.61

on
S

(a)
(a)

(c)

Pro
Forma

93,199
1,233
25,171
392

See accompanying notes to pro forma consolidated statements of operations.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998

and the Year ended December 31, 1997

(Unaudited)

(In thousands,

except share and per share data)

(a) Reflects revenues and certain expenses for the Acquisition Properties
for the period from January 1, 1998 to the earlier of the respective
acquisition date of the property or September 30, 1998, and for the year ended

December 31, 1997.

Property
Name

Twin Peaks..............
Woodman--Van Nuys.......
Pine Lake Vvillage.......
Sammamish Highlands.....
Inglewood Plaza.........
Oakbrook Plaza..........
Diablo Plaza............
Thomas Lake.............
Sherwood Market Center..
Murrayhill Marketplace..
Cherry Park Market......
Sunnside 205............

Property
Name

Market @ Preston Forest.
North Hills.............
wWest Park Plaza.........
wWoodside Central........
South Point Plaza.......
wWalker Center...........
Heritage Plaza..........
Friars Mission..........
Morningside Plaza.......
Pima Crossing...........
El Camino...............
San Leandro.............
Rona Plaza..............
Sequoia Station.........
Loehmann's Plaza........
Arden Square............
Newland Center..........
Plaza Hermosa...........
Twin Peaks..............
woodman--Van Nuys.......
Pine Lake Vvillage.......
Sammamish Highlands.....
Inglewood Plaza.........
Oakbrook Plaza..........
Diablo Plaza............
Thomas Lake.............
Sherwood Market Center..
Murrayhill Marketplace..
Cherry Park Market......
Sunnside 205............

Acquisition Minimum
Rent

Date

1/15/98
1/30/98

3/6/98

3/6/98

3/6/98
3/30/98
5/14/98
5/21/98
7/15/98
7/15/98
7/15/98
7/15/98

For the period ended September 30, 1998

Recoveries
from Tenants

Acquisition Minimum
Rent

Date

3/11/97
4/7/97
4/9/97
4/9/97
4/9/97
4/9/97
7/1/97

7/31/97
8/1/97

9/22/97

9/29/97

10/1/97

10/10/97
11/19/97
12/18/97
12/23/97
12/30/97

1/1/98

1/15/98

1/30/98
3/6/98
3/6/98
3/6/98

3/30/98

5/14/98

5/21/98

7/15/98

7/15/98

7/15/98

7/15/98

1,
1,

27
1[

3’
1,
1,
27
17
2I
1[
1’
1’

1,
1,
1,

$ 32,

196
531
930
031
259
726
479
244
206
219
092
113
678
092
259
380
324
636
266

283
769
131
983

330

Operating and
Maintenance

Real General and
Estate Taxes Administrative

$ 8 $ 8
12 5
24 12
31 14
6 2
14 9
76 29
37 7
83 20
51 22
30 15
57 19
$ 429 $ 162

Recoveries
from Tenants

FS-12

Operating and
Maintenance

Real General and
Estate Taxes Administrative

$ 51 $ 21
127 29
32 9
24 13
55 18
29 12
123 44
71 74
48 4
252 53
143 49
46 43
24 25
292 4
137 75
80 43
167 90
107 72
100 95
166 73
165 59
190 70
38 13
27 33
223 124
4 6
158 34
101 25
1 3
88 35
$ 3,069 $ 1,248




PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
and the Year ended December 31, 1997
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(b) Depreciation expense is based on an estimated life of up to forty years
for the buildings and ten years for the improvements of the properties
acquired. In addition, the nine month period ended September 30, 1998 and year
ended December 31, 1997 calculations reflect depreciation expense on the
properties from January 1, 1997 to the earlier of the respective acquisition
date of the property or September 30, 1998.

For the period ended September 30, 1998

Property Building and Year Building Depreciation

Name Improvements Built/Renovated Adjustment
Twin PeaksS. ...ttt $ 24,726 1988 $ 16
Woodman--Van NUYS........vvuernnnnnnns 5,920 1992 14
Pine Lake Village...........c.ivuvinunn 10, 326 1989 47
Sammamish Highlands................... 7,391 1992 36
Inglewood Plaza........ovvvvvinnnnnnns 1,830 1985 8
Oakbrook Plaza..........oiviiinnnnnnnn 5,926 1982 42
Diablo Plaza..........iiiiiinnnnnnns 7,362 1982 71
Thomas Lake............ s, 9,940 1998 103
Sherwood Market Center................ 14,860 1995 187
Murrayhill Marketplace................ 14,664 1988 183
Cherry Park Market.................... 15,934 1997 201
Sunnside 205. ... .. i 8,585 1988 108

Acquisition Properties pro forma de-
preciation adjustment.............. $ 1,016

Property Building and Year Building Depreciation
Name Improvements Built/Renovated Adjustment
Market @ Preston Forest............... $ 10,645 1990 $ 50
North Hills........couiiniiniinnnnnnns 18,540 1995 135
West Park Plaza...........ovviinnnnnnn 4,619 1996 36
Woodside Central...........cvvuuivnnn. 8,624 1993 62
South Point Plaza.........uvviuiuuvunnnn 9,753 1997 68
Walker Center..........couiiiiinnnnnnn 6,244 1987 52
Heritage Plaza.........ovviiiinnnnnnnn 25,672 1981 305
Friars Mission..........vviiiiinnnnnnn 25,781 1989 405
Morningside Plaza..............ouuunnn 12,832 1996 246
Pima CroSSiNg......vvvuvinunnnnnnnnnnn 24,341 1996 511
El Camino. ...ov v iiiiinnn i 9,675 1995 259
San Leandro. ......ooviiiiiininn s 7,724 1982 164
Rona Plaza........couiiiiinnnnnnnnnnns 4,243 1989 86
Sequoia Station...........coiiiiniiann 17,709 1996 403
Loehmann's Plaza.........uviiiuunnnnnn 8,225 1983 228
Arden SquUare. . ..... .o 7,290 1994 226
Newland Center...........vviuiiunnnnnns 11,704 1985 341
Plaza HErmoSa. ... cvvuvvinnnnnnnnnenns 9,255 1984 247
Twin Peaks. . ...ttt 24,726 1988 393
Woodman--Van NUyS...........covvuvnnnn. 5,920 1992 166
Pine Lake Village..........vvvuuunnnnn 10,326 1989 285
Sammamish Highlands................... 7,391 1992 213
Inglewood Plaza.......ovvvvvvvnnnnnnnn 1,830 1985 50
Oakbrook Plaza...........civiiiiunnnnn 5,926 1982 170
Diablo Plaza........c.ovoiuniiininnnnnnnn 7,362 1982 212
Thomas Lake.........covviiiiiiiinnnen. 9,940 1998 51
Sherwood Market Center................ 14,860 1995 374
Murrayhill Marketplace................ 14,664 1988 366
Cherry Park Market.................... 15,934 1997 34
Sunnside 205. . ...t 8,585 1988 216

Acquisition Properties pro forma de-
preciation adjustment.............. $ 6,354
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 1998
and the Year Ended December 31, 1997
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)

(c) To reflect interest expense on the Line required to complete the
acquisition of the Acquisition Properties at the interest rate afforded the
Company at September 30, 1998 (6.87%). The nine month period ended September
30, 1998 and year ended December 31, 1997 calculation reflects interest
expense on the properties from January 1, 1997 to the respective acquisition
date of the property.

Pro forma interest adjustment for the nine-month period ended
September 30, 1998. ... ...t e $ 3,622

Pro forma interest adjustment for the year ended December 31,
L L $ 23,875

(d) The following summarizes the calculation of basic and diluted earnings
per share for the nine-month period ended September 30, 1998 and the year
ended December 31, 1997:

For the Nine For the year
Months Ended Ended
September 30, 1998 December 31, 1997

Basic Earnings Per Share (EPS) Calcula-

tion:
Weighted average common shares outstand-
2T P 64,045 40,173
Proforma net income for Basic EPS....... $ 31,436 $ 24,671
BaSiC EPS. ..ttt $ 0.49 $ 0.61
Proforma net income for Basic EPS....... 31,436 24,671
Add: minority interest for operating
partnership units........... ... v 427 430
Proforma net income for Diluted EPS..... 31,863 25,101

Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) Calcula-

tion:
Weighted average common shares outstand-

ing for Basic EPS........ ... iiiinnnnnn 64,045 40,173
Operating partnership units............. 1,641 1,641

Incremental shares to be issued under
common stock options using the Treasury

method. . ..... ..o 215 95
Total Diluted Shares.................. 65,901 41,909
Diluted EPS. ...t $ 0.48 $ 0.60
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders and Board of Trustees of
Pacific Retail Trust

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related
consolidated statements of operations, of changes in shareholders' equity and
of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Pacific Retail Trust and its consolidated investments at December 31, 1997
and 1996, and results of their operations and their cash flows for the years
then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the
opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
January 23, 1998
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

ASSETS

$851, 458, 212
(19,680, 694)

Cash and cash equivalents.......... ..o iinnnnnnn 4,496,896
Accounts receivable, net.......... i i 7,814,026
ESCrow deposSitsS. . v vvinn ittt ittt 2,582,250

Other assets, Net...... ..ttt ittt enns 10,573,762

Total ASSEES . ittt ittt i i s

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities:
Lines Of Credit.......viiiiiini ittt
Bridge L1oan. ... ...uuiin i

$ 13,600,000

Notes payable. .......couuiiiiiiiii i e 84,943,050
Accounts payable and accrued expenses................. 8,140,425
Accrued real estate taxes........oiiiiiiiiiiiii i 6,859,847
Deferred INCOME. ... vttt ittt it ettt eas 1,820,900
Tenant security deposSitsS........ .. iiiinnnnnnnn 2,653,923
Other liabilities..........ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 95, 388
Total liabilities. .. .. viiiiiinn it 118,113,533
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Minority dnterest......c.ouiiiiiiiiii it i e 7,681,400

Shareholders' equity:
Shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value;

150, 000, 000 shares authorized

Series A preferred shares (1,130,276 authorized,
issued and outstanding; stated liquidation
preference of $10 per share plus declared and
unpaid dividends) .. ... ..ot s
Series B preferred shares (6,130,276 authorized;
2,000,000 issued and outstanding; stated
liquidation preference of $10 per share plus

11,302,760

declared and unpaid dividends)...........covviivnn 20,000,000
Common shares (64,022,671 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 1997; 23,959,979 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31, 1996)....... 640,227
Additional paid-in capital............ciiiiiiiinn, 713,511,243
Employee share notes........ ..o innnnnnnnnnnn (7,930,780)
Distributions in excess of net earnings.............. (6,073,931)
Total shareholders' equity..........ccvviiivivinnnn. 731,449,519

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity......... $857,244,452

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$380, 070, 040
(5,358,128)

1,954,131
2,979, 600
16, 669, 667
3,860, 612

$ 75,000,000
26,500, 000
11,393,978

3,982,168
3,762,617
667,091
1,281,817
48,798

122, 636, 469

7,709,527

11,302,760

20,000, 000

239,598
240,013, 905

(1,726,337)



PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

1997 1996
Income:

ReNtal ANCOME. ..ttt ittt e ettt e $78,985,279 $27,512,702
Interest and other income............. .. .. 889,477 168, 659
79,874,756 27,681,361

Expenses:
Rental eXPenSeS. ...ttt 8,569,986 2,712,809
Depreciation and amortization............ovvviiiinnnnn 14,715,334 5,082,601
General and administrative...........c.ouiiiiriinnnnnnnn 6,541,521 3,566,528
1 = 30 P 11,667,415 2,249,507
Insurance and real estate taXxes..........ciiiiinnnn.s 11,169, 298 4,005,949
52,663,554 17,617,394
Earnings from operations..........ccvviiiiiiiiinnann 27,211,202 10,063,967
Minority dinterest...... ... 490,173 192, 637
L= =Y e 13V = 26,721,029 9,871,330
Less: Series A preferred share dividends.............. 755,024 646,518
Series B preferred share dividends................. 1,440,000 530, 609
Net earnings attributable to common shares.......... $24,526,005 $ 8,694,203
Weighted average common shares outstanding............ 40,173,476 16,041,024
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding.... 40,268,452 16,049,423
Basic earnings per share..........ccvuiiiiiiiiinnnnnn $ 0.61 $ 0.54
Diluted earnings per share...........ccoiiuiininennnn $ 0.61 $ 0.54

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at December
Sale of shares, net
Shareholder

distributions.....
Net earnings.......

Balance at December

Sale of shares, net
Shareholder
distributions.....

Net earnings.......

Balance at December

See

Shares of Beneficial Interest
(150,000,000 Shares Authorized)

Series A Series B Common Employee Additional
Preferred Preferred shares shares paid-in
Shares Shares at par value notes capital
31,
..... $11,302, 760 -- $ 54,001 -~ $ 53,928,999
..... $20, 000,000 185,597 186,084,906
31,
..... 11,302,760 20,000,000 239,598 -- 240,013,905
..... 400,629  $(7,934,400) 473,497,338
..... 3,620
31,
..... $11,302,760 $20,000,000 $640,227 $(7,930,780) $713,511,243

Retained
earnings

(Distributions Total

in excess of shareholders'
earnings) equity

$ (311,009) $ 64,974,751
206,270,503

(11,286, 658)
9,871, 330

(11,286, 658)
9,871, 330

(1,726,337)

269, 829,926

465, 963, 567

(31,068, 623)
26,721,029

(31,065, 003)
26,721,029

$ (6,073,931) $731,449,519

accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Net earnings. ... .ttt i i
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization.................
Minority interest............. .. i,
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable................
Escrow deposits. ... ..cvviiiiiiiiiinnnnnnneas
Other assets......ovviiii it
Accounts payable and accrued expenses.......
Accrued real estate taxes..................n
Deferred income..........coiiiiiinnnnnnnnnn
Tenant security deposits....................
Other liabilities............coiiiiiiiinnnnn.

Net cash provided by operating activities.......

Investing activities:
Construction of and acquisition of real estate
investments. ... e s

Net cash used in investing activities...........

Financing activities:
Principal payments on notes payable.............
Proceeds from line of credit....................
Payments on lines of credit........... .o
Proceeds from bridge loan..............ciiiuiunnnn
Payments on bridge loan..............oiiuiiiunn
Proceeds from sales of shares, net of expenses..
Employee share notes............cooviiiiiinn,
Payments on employee share notes................
Distributions paid to shareholders..............

Net cash provided by financing activities.......

Not increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents. ... i e e
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period..

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period........

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid..... ..ottt s

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of real estate for assumption of
notes payable........ ... i i

Acquisition of real estate for minority interest
partnership units (Note 4)

Year Ended December 31,

$ 26,721,029

14,715,334
(28,127)

(4,834,426)
14,087,417
(7,105,918)
4,158,257
3,097, 230
1,153, 809
1,372,106

46,590

(1,369, 664)

(61, 400, 000)

(26,500,000)
473,897,967
(7,934, 400)
3,620
(31,068, 623)

2,542,765
1,954,131

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$ 9,871,330

5,082,601
192, 637

(2,119, 330)
(16, 419,567)
(2,841,000)
3,246,573
2,473,505
604,074
1,118,930
(710, 251)

(31, 350)
74,398, 960

26,500, 000

206,270, 503

(11, 286, 658)

(853, 302)
2,807,433



PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and Formation

Pacific Retail Trust ("Pacific Retail") was organized as a Maryland real
estate investment trust on April 27, 1995 (originally named Southwest Retail
Trust) for the purpose of acquiring, developing, managing and owning
neighborhood infill retail properties in a nine state region of the western
United States. On August 23, 1995 the Declaration of Trust was amended and
restated to change the name to Pacific Retail Trust. At December 31, 1997,
69.2% of Pacific Retail's outstanding shares of beneficial interest are
constructively owned by Security Capital Holdings, S.A. ("HOLDINGS"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Security Capital U.S. Realty ("USREALTY").
Opportunity Capital Partners Limited Partnership ("OCP"), through its
partnership Madison Property I, LP (MPI), acquired preferred shares of Pacific
Retail as partial consideration for a pool of properties sold to Pacific
Retail by MPI on October 20, 1995. At December 31, 1997, OCP owned 6.1% of
Pacific Retail's outstanding shares of beneficial interest.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pacific
Retail, its 81.6% ownership in Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership
and its 95% ownership in PRT Development Corporation (Note 4).

Revenue Recognition

Minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis; as such, the rental
revenues for leases which contain rent abatements and contractual increases
are recognized on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the related
lease. Property operating cost recoveries from tenants of common area
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs, are recognized in
the period when the recoveries are earned. In addition, certain tenants pay
percentage rental amounts based upon their sales volume and these percentage
rents are recognized when billed.

Real Estate Assets and Related Depreciation

Costs related directly to the acquisition, development and improvement of
real estate, including tenant improvements, are capitalized; ordinary repairs
and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in connection with
unsuccessful acquisitions are expensed at the time acquisition efforts are
terminated. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the
expected economic useful lives, which are principally 10 to 40 years for
buildings and improvements.

Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
121 ("SFAS 121"). Under SFAS 121, Pacific Retail recognizes impairment losses
on property whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of long-lived assets, on an individual property basis, may not
be recoverable through undiscounted future cash flows. Such losses are
determined by comparing the sum of the expected future discounted net cash
flows to the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in
operating income as they are determined. As of December 31, 1997 no impairment
losses have been incurred.

Interest

Pacific Retail capitalizes interest as part of the cost of real estate
projects during construction periods. During the years ended December 31, 1997
and 1996, $1,567,444 and $317,563, respectively, in interest was capitalized.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and cash equivalent investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

FS-20



PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Deferred Loan Fees

Included in other assets as of December 31, 1997 and 1996 are net costs of
$1,668,710 and $924,680, respectively, associated with obtaining financing.
Deferred loan fees are amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan
and extensions, which is currently three years, using the straight-line
method. Amortization of deferred loan fees for the years ended December 31,
1997 and 1996 were $773,952 and $270,345, respectively.

Income Taxes

Pacific Retail elected real estate investment trust ("REIT") status in 1995
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. REITs are not required to
pay federal income taxes if minimum distribution, income, asset and
shareholder tests are met and, accordingly, no provision has been made for
federal income taxes in the accompanying financial statements. PRT Development
Corporation will be taxed as a separate entity.

Earnings per Share

Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
128 ("SFAS 128"), which establishes standards for computing and presenting
earnings per share (EPS). Basic EPS excludes the effect of potentially
dilutive securities while diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that
would occur if dilutive securities or other contracts to issue common shares
were exercised, converted into, or resulted in the issuance of common shares
that then shared in the earnings of the company. The following table
summarizes the information required under SFAS 128:

For the year ended December 31,
1997
Income Shares Per-share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS

Net earnings attributable to common

SRS . vttt $24,526,005 40,173,476 $0.61
Effect of Dilutive Securities

OPEAIONS . .ottt e 93,583

Deferred trustee shares.................. 1,393

Diluted EPS
Income available to common shares and
assumed coONVersions...........covvuviennn $24,526,005 40,268,452 $0.61

For the year ended December 31,
1996
Income Shares Per-share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Net earnings attributable to common
SN ES . vttt e e e $ 8,694,203 16,041,024 $0.54
Effect of Dilutive Securities
OptioNS. ...ttt e 8,399

Diluted EPS
Income available to common shares and
assumed conversions..............ouuuunnn $ 8,694,203 16,049,423 $0.54
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

The assumed conversion of Series A preferred shares of beneficial interest,
Series B preferred shares of beneficial interest and minority interest are not
dilutive and have therefore been excluded from the calculation. Options to
purchase 326,923 common shares at $13 per share were outstanding during the
fourth quarter of 1997 but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS
because the options' exercise price was greater than the estimated fair market
value of the common shares. The options, which expire 10 years from the date
of grant, or earlier upon termination of employment or death, were outstanding
at December 31, 1997.

Use of Estimates

Pacific Retail has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to
the reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities to prepare these financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Fair value

Pacific Retail has estimated the fair value of its financial instruments at
December 31, 1997 and 1996 as required by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 107. The Company believes the carrying values of the Company's
financial instruments are reasonable estimates of their fair values.

2. Real Estate Investments

As of December 31, 1997, Pacific Retail owned fifty-six properties. Twenty
properties are located in three major metropolitan markets in Texas: the
Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex, Austin and Houston. Shopping centers in the
Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex generated approximately 40% of the total revenues
of the portfolio for the year ended December 31, 1997. Twenty-five shopping
centers are located in California and comprise approximately 39% of the total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 1997. The remaining properties are
located in Arizona, Colorado, Washington, and Oregon.

The following summarizes real estate investments:

December 31,

1997 1996

Improved 1and. .. ...t $229,092,191 $107,247,415
Land held for development............coviiiiiinnnnnnn 1,062,657 233,770

Land under development......... . 12,544,434 --
Buildings and improvements...........iviiiniinnnaann 549,244,562 243,925,431
Land improvements and parking lots.................. 46,348,990 27,532,794
Properties under development............cciuiiiunnnnn 13,165,378 1,130,630
Total real estate investments..................... 831,458,212 380,070,040
Less accumulated depreciation..................... (19,680,694) (5,538,128)
Net real estate investments..................... $831,777,518 $374,711,912

Properties Under Development

In July 1996, Pacific Retail acquired Hancock Center in Austin, Texas for
the purpose of redeveloping it as a grocery anchored infill shopping center.
Pacific Retail immediately embarked upon the redevelopment program. As of
December 31, 1997 and 1996, Pacific Retail has incurred $8,447,883 and
$846,000, respectively, in design and demolition costs and construction
associated with the redevelopment.
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In June 1996, Pacific Retail acquired Valley Ranch Shopping Center in
Coppell, Texas. A tract of undeveloped land was included as part of this
purchase. As of December 31, 1997, the land was being developed into
approximately 6,000 square feet of retail space at a cost of approximately
$570,890, including tenant improvement costs.

Land Held for Development

In March 1996, Pacific Retail acquired Harwood Hills Shopping Center in
Bedford, Texas. Between March and November of 1996, Pacific Retail completed
the construction of an additional 20,300 square feet of retail space at a cost
of approximately $1,857,000. As of December 31, 1997 and December 31, 1996,
approximately 2.9 acres of land remained for additional development.

In January 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Plaza de Hacienda in La Puenta,
California. Associated with this shopping center were approximately 3.63 acres
of land for additional development. As of December 31, 1997, no development
has taken place.

Land Under Development

In August 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Prestonwood Park which consists of
24.55 acres of land in Dallas, Texas for future development into a grocery
anchored shopping center. As of December 31, 1997, construction has not
commenced.

In November 1997, PRT Development Corporation acquired Hebron Park which
consists of 7.77 acres of land in Carrollton, Texas for development into a
grocery anchored shopping center. As of December 31, 1997, construction has
not commenced.

3. Borrowings
Lines of Credit--Secured

On December 27, 1995, Pacific Retail entered into a credit agreement with a
group of lenders to provide a secured line of credit up to a maximum of $50
million. On July 17,1996, the credit agreement was amended to increase the
secured line of credit to a maximum of $75 million. The lenders determine the
secured net borrowing base by using the lesser of 65% of the lenders'
appraised value on ten of the properties or the permanent loan estimate for
each property. As of December 31, 1997, the secured net borrowing base was
$75 million. On November 14, 1997, the secured line of credit agreement was
amended. Under the amended credit agreement, borrowings bear interest at the
greater of prime or federal funds rate plus .50% or, at Pacific Retail's
option, LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25%, if the ratio of total liabilities to
gross asset value is less than .35 to one, or 1.40% if the ratio of total
liabilities to gross asset value is greater than or equal to .35 to one.
Additionally, there is a fee of .125% per annum of the average daily unfunded
line of credit balance, or a fee of .25% per annum of the average daily
unfunded line of credit balance if the average daily balance for both the
secured and unsecured lines of credit is greater than $100 million. Interest
is paid monthly based on the unpaid principal balance. The weighted average
interest rates for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996 were 7.4% and
7.9%, respectively. The interest rates at December 31, 1997 and 1996 were 8.5%
and 7.9%, respectively.

The amended termination date of the credit agreement is March 28, 1999, but
it may be extended for successive one-year periods, if acceptable to the
lenders, for a .10% extension fee. All debt incurrences are subject to
covenants, as more fully described in the credit agreement. Pacific Retail has
utilized the line of credit to help finance the acquisition and development of
neighborhood shopping centers and for general working capital purposes during
1997 and 1996.
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Lines of Credit--Unsecured

On March 28, 1997, Pacific Retail entered into a credit agreement with a
group of lenders to provide an unsecured line of credit up to a maximum of $75
million. On November 14, 1997, the unsecured line of credit was increased to a
maximum of $125 million. Borrowings bear interest at the greater of prime or
federal funds rate plus .50% or, at Pacific Retail's option, LIBOR plus a
margin of 1.25%, if the ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value is
less than .35 to one, or 1.40% if the ratio of total liabilities to gross
asset value is greater than or equal to .35 to one. Interest is paid monthly
based on the unpaid principal balance. The weighted average interest rate for
the period from March 28, 1997 to December 31, 1997 was 7.7%. There were no
borrowings outstanding under the unsecured line of credit at December 31,
1997.

The termination date of the credit agreement is March 28, 1999, but it may
be extended for successive one-year periods, if acceptable to the lenders, for
a .10% extension fee. All debt incurrences are subject to covenants, as more
fully described in the credit agreement. Pacific Retail has utilized the
unsecured line of credit to help finance the acquisition of neighborhood
shopping centers and for general working capital purposes during 1997.

Bridge Loan

On December 19, 1996, Pacific Retail entered into a credit agreement
("Bridge Loan") with a group of lenders. The agreement, amended on December
27, 1996, provided for an unsecured line of credit up to $32,500,000.
Borrowings under the Bridge Loan bore interest at the same rate as the
original secured line of credit. Pacific Retail entered into a "negative
pledge" agreement whereby it pledged not to encumber certain of its properties
with any debt until after the repayment of the funds borrowed under the Bridge
Loan. The interest rate at December 31, 1996 was 8.0%. The Bridge Loan was
repaid in January 1997.

Notes Payable

In March 1996, Pacific Retail acquired Harwood Hills Village Shopping Center
subject to an existing note payable of $6,900,000. The note bears interest at
8.58% and payments are interest only until maturity on July 1, 1998.

In September 1996, Pacific Retail acquired Paseo Village subject to an
existing note payable of $4,525,329. The note bears interest at 7.5% and
payments of principal and interest in the amount of $38,668 are due monthly
until the note matures on May 1, 2001.

In January 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Mills Pointe and Preston Park
Village subject to an existing note payable of $32,750,000. The note bears
interest at 7.23% and payments of principal and interest in the amount of
$264,578 are due monthly until the note matures on July 1, 2000.

In January 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Plaza de Hacienda subject to an
existing note payable of $6,842,984. The note bears interest at 9% and
payments of principal and interest in the amount of $57,128 are due monthly
until the note matures on June 10, 2012.

In February 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Market at Round Rock subject to an
existing note payable of $7,617,490. The note bears interest at 8.625% and
payments of principal and interest in the amount of $63,059 are due monthly
until maturity in December 2005.

In April 1997, Pacific Retail acquired North Hills Town Center subject to an
existing note payable of $9,372,661. The note bears interest at 7.37% and
payments of principal and interest in the amount of $76,974 are due monthly
until maturity on January 1, 2014.
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In July 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Friar's Mission subject to an existing
note payable of $16,990,218 and capital improvement municipal tax bonds
payable totaling $1,345,366. The note bears interest at 9.5% and payments of
principal and interest in the amount of $152,006 are due monthly until
maturity on June 10, 2005. The tax bonds bear interest at rates between 7.3%
and 7.9% with annual payments from $161,177 to $168,131 in two installments on
March 2 and September 2 through September 2, 2015.

Principal repayments of notes payable are due approximately as follows:

<1< $ 8,518,951
1000, 1ttt e e e e 1,877,173
71101 PR 31,225,210
3] T 4,834,124
2002t 4ttt et e e e e 981,541
2003 AN AT EOT L\ttt ettt ettt e et e e 37,506,051

$84, 943,050

4. Minority Interest

Minority interest represents limited partners' interests in Retail Property
Partners Limited Partnership (the Partnership), a limited partnership
controlled by Pacific Retail, and PRT Development Corporation (PRT
Development), a Delaware corporation controlled by Pacific Retail.

Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership

In September 1996, Pacific Retail formed the Partnership by contributing
cash to the Partnership in exchange for a 50.2% controlling general
partnership interest in the Partnership, which invested in two retail centers
in Dallas, Texas. On December 1, 1996, Pacific Retail contributed the Blossom
Valley Shopping Center in Mountain View, California to the Partnership. The
assets and liabilities of Blossom Valley were transferred at book value as the
transfer was between entities under common control. The value of the
contributed property was $17,354,543, which increased Pacific Retail's
investment in the Partnership to 76.6%.

Oon July 31, 1997, Pacific Retail contributed $8.9 million to the
Partnership. wWith this contribution, Pacific Retail's investment in the
Partnership increased to 81.6%. The Partnership used this contribution to
purchase the Heritage Plaza land. Limited partners are entitled to exchange
each partnership unit for one common share of beneficial interest in Pacific
Retail beginning in August 1998. As of December 31, 1997 and December 31, 1996
there were 765,000 limited partnership units outstanding in the Partnership.
The limited partners' interests will be reflected as minority interest in the
consolidated financial statements until the units are exchanged for Pacific
Retail shares.

PRT Development Corporation

On November 20, 1997, PRT Development Corporation was organized as a
Delaware corporation for the purpose of acquiring land and developing and
selling the developed neighborhood infill retail shopping centers. The
authorized capital of PRT Development consists of 2,000,000 shares of common
stock. 100,000 of the shares will be issued as Class A voting shares. The
remaining 1,900,000 shares will be Class B nonvoting. As of December 31, 1997,
3,250 shares of Class A common stock were issued and outstanding. All of the
Class A common stock is constructively owned by USREALTY, and is represented
in minority interest. Pacific Retail owned 61,750 shares of Class B common
stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 1997. The Class B common stock is
generally entitled to 95% of all distributions made by PRT Development, and
the
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Class A common stock is generally entitled to 5% of all distributions made by
PRT Development. Pacific Retail has consolidated the operations of PRT
Development based on the control exerted in the ordinary course of business
over the operating decisions of PRT Development.

5. Shareholders' Equity
offerings

Between October 20, 1995 and July 16, 1996, Pacific Retail closed on a
series of private offerings to HOLDINGS which resulted in the sale of 20
million common shares of beneficial interest at $10 per share for a total
amount of $200 million.

On October 20, 1995, as a partial acquisition price for five properties
acquired from OCP, Pacific Retail issued 1,130,276 Series A preferred shares
of beneficial interest to MPI at a stated liquidation preference of $10 per
share plus declared and unpaid dividends resulting in outstanding Series A
Preferred shares valued at $11,302,760.

On December 22, 1995, Pacific Retail completed an offering of 100,000 common
shares at a price of $10 per share. Net proceeds, after offering costs, to
Pacific Retail were $982,000.

On August 6, 1996, OCP acquired 2,000,000 shares of Series B preferred
shares of beneficial interest at a stated liquidation preference of $10 per
share plus declared and unpaid dividends resulting in Series B preferred
shares valued at $20 million.

On August 30. 1996, OCP acquired one million common shares of beneficial
interest in Pacific Retail at $10 per share for a total of $10 million.

On August 31, 1996, Pacific Retail completed a private offering of
18,182,305 common shares of beneficial interest at $11 per share resulting in
a total equity investment of $200,005,350. The first funding call took place
on September 16, 1996 resulting in 2,860,197 shares being issued for net
proceeds of $29,414,529. On January 9, 1997 and January 27, 1997, two funding
calls took place resulting in a total of 10,214,738 shares being issued for
net proceeds of $112,355,838. The final funding call took place on May 15,
1997 resulting in 5,107,370 shares being issued for net proceeds of
$56,181, 060.

On April 30, 1997, Pacific Retail completed a private offering of 12,500,000
common shares of beneficial interest at $12 per share resulting in a total
expected equity investment of $150,000,000. The first funding call took place
on May 15, 1997 resulting in 1,898,100 shares being issued for net proceeds of
$21,277,205. The second funding call took place on September 18, 1997
resulting in 3,180,570 shares being issued for net proceeds of $38,158,904. On
October 1, November 11, and November 28, three funding calls took place
resulting in a total of 4,342,300 shares being issued for net proceeds of
$52,107,598. The final funding call took place on December 26, 1997 resulting
in 3,079,030 shares being issued for net proceeds of $36,948,358.

On December 29, 1997, Pacific Retail completed and fully funded a private
offering of 11,538,462 common shares of beneficial interest at $13 per share
for net proceeds of $148,474,528.

Trustee Compensation
On March 11, 1997, Pacific Retail granted 4,305 shares to the board of

trustees as part of their compensation.
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Effective March 14, 1997, Pacific Retail adopted the Deferred Fee Plan for
nonemployee trustees. Under this plan, trustees can defer receipt of cash and
equity compensation otherwise payable to the trustee by Pacific Retail.
Interest and dividends are earned on the deferred compensation. An election
must be made by each trustee to defer their compensation, and this election
shall remain in effect until modified or revoked by the trustee. Each trustee
must specify when the payment of deferred compensation is to take place. The
compensation may be deferred to a specific date of at least two years past the
time the compensation is earned, or the compensation may become payable on the
last day of the calendar year in which the trustee terminates service with
Pacific Retail, or the compensation can become payable on the earlier of such
dates.

As of December 31, 1997, 4,825 shares have been deferred under this plan.
Shares of Beneficial Interest

As of December 31, 1997, 150,000,000 shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par
value per share, were authorized. Pacific Retail's board of trustees is
authorized to issue, from the authorized but unissued shares of Pacific
Retail, preferred shares in series and to establish from time to time the
number of preferred shares to be included in such series and to fix the
designation and any preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications and terms and
conditions of redemptions of the shares of such series.

Common Shares

The outstanding common shares ("Shares") do not have redemption or
conversion rights or the benefit of any sinking fund. In the event of
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Pacific Retail, the holders of
Shares are entitled to receive ratably the assets remaining after satisfaction
of all liabilities and payment of preferences and accrued dividends, if any,
on Pacific Retail's shares ranking senior to the Shares (including the
preferred shares). The rights of holders of Shares are subject to the rights
and preferences established by Pacific Retail's board of trustees for any
preferred shares which have been or may subsequently be issued.

Preferred Shares

The Series A preferred shares, the Series B preferred shares (together
referred to as "Preferred Shares") and Shares vote together as a single class
with respect to all matters presented to Pacific Retail's shareholders for a
vote. If twelve consecutive quarterly dividends on the Preferred Shares are in
arrears, the holders of Preferred Shares will be entitled to nominate and
elect an additional trustee until such time as all arrearages have been paid.
The Preferred Shares are entitled to a liquidation preference of $10 per share
plus an amount equal to all dividends declared but unpaid to the date of final
distribution. Pacific Retail may redeem the Preferred Shares any time after
October 20, 2010 at a price of $10 per share, plus all declared but unpaid
dividends.

Series A Preferred Shares

Series A preferred shares are convertible into Series B preferred shares on
a one-for-one basis and contain provisions for adjustment to prevent dilution.
For fiscal years beginning before January 1, 1997, the Series A preferred
shares were entitled to a quarterly dividend in an amount equal to the greater
of (i) $0.10 per share or (ii) $0.013 less than the dividend on the Shares.
For fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1997, Series A preferred
shares are entitled to quarterly dividends in an amount equal to the greater
of (1) $0.10 per share, (ii) 65% of the highest funds from operations per
Share for any preceding fiscal year and (iii) $0.013 less than
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the dividend on the Shares. Dividends on the Series A preferred shares are
cumulative from the original issue date. Pacific Retail is restricted from
paying any dividends on any Shares or shares ranking on a parity with, or
ranking junior to, the Series A preferred shares, unless all cumulative
dividends are simultaneously paid on the Series A preferred shares.

Series B Preferred Shares

The board of trustees has authorized up to 6,130,276 Series B preferred
shares for issuance. Series B preferred shares are convertible into Shares on
a one-for-one basis and contain provisions for adjustment to prevent dilution.
For fiscal years beginning before January 1, 1997, the Series B preferred
shares were entitled to a quarterly dividend in an amount equal to the greater
of (i) $0.10 per share or (ii) the dividend on the Shares. For fiscal years
beginning on and after January 1, 1997, Series B preferred shares are entitled
to quarterly dividends in an amount equal to the greater of (i) $0.10 per
share, (ii) 65% of the highest funds from operations per Share for any
preceding fiscal year or (iii) the dividend on the Shares. Dividends on the
Series B preferred shares are cumulative from the original issue date. Pacific
Retail is restricted from paying any dividends on any Shares or shares ranking
on a parity with, or ranking junior to, the Series B preferred shares, unless
all cumulative dividends are simultaneously paid on the Series B preferred
shares.

Investor Agreement

On October 20, 1995, HOLDINGS, and Pacific Retail entered into an investor
agreement whereby HOLDINGS agreed to purchase up to 20 million Shares at $10
per share, net of the original shares purchased, before October 20, 1997. As
of December 31, 1996, HOLDINGS had completed the purchase of 20 million
Shares. As long as HOLDINGS owns at least 25% of the outstanding common shares
of Pacific Retail it will have certain rights regarding appointment of
trustees to the board of trustees and regarding approval of budgets, property
operations, property acquisitions, changes in executive officers and sales of
shares.

Shareholders' Agreement

On October 20, 1995, OCP entered into a shareholders' agreement with
HOLDINGS and Pacific Retail. Among other provisions of the agreement, OCP was
to acquire two million shares of Series B preferred shares at $10 per share at
its own request or if required by Pacific Retail. On August 6, 1996, OCP
purchased the two million shares of Series B preferred shares.

As part of the August 9, 1996 amendment to the shareholders' agreement,
HOLDINGS and OCP shall each have the right to participate pro rata, based upon
percentage ownership of the Shares on a fully diluted basis, in any offerings
by Pacific Retail of any capital shares or securities convertible into capital
shares on the same terms and at the same time as other offerees. The
respective rights terminate at such time as the holder shall own less than 10%
of the Shares on a fully diluted basis.

Shareholder Ownership Limitations

Pacific Retail's Declaration of Trust seeks to preserve its REIT status by
restricting any shareholder from owning more than 9.8% of Pacific Retail's
shares of beneficial interest, other than HOLDINGS or OCP. Pacific Retail
intends to adopt a shareholder rights plan pursuant to which one purchase
right will be issued as a dividend for each outstanding Share. Each purchase
right will entitle the holder to purchase one share at a fixed exercise price
and, under certain circumstances, to purchase at the exercise price shares or
securities of an acquiring company having a market value equal to some
multiple of the exercise price. The purchase rights would be exercisable only
upon the occurrence of certain triggering events and purchase rights held by
the acquiring person would not be exercisable. HOLDINGS and OCP would be
exempted from this shareholder rights plan.
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6. Incentive Stock Programs

Pacific Retail has authorized 1,875,000 Shares for a share incentive plan
(the "Plan"). On September 24, 1997 the Plan was amended to increase the
number of shares authorized to 5,250,000. Additionally, the Plan was amended
to award "dividend equivalent units" with all option grants (other than
matching options). Participants who are awarded dividend equivalent units will
be credited with these units annually based on a calculated dividend yield,
multiplied by the number of options outstanding. Matching options and a loan
provision have also been added to the common share purchase portion of the
Plan. This provision allows the compensation committee to award, for each
common share purchased, one or more matching options. Matching options do not
receive dividend equivalent units. Further, Pacific Retail may offer
participants loans for the entire purchase price of any common shares
purchased under the share purchase program. Any loans will be fully recourse
to the participant and be for a maximum of 10 years, subject to an
acceleration in the event of termination of employment or sale of the common
shares. Participants will be required to pledge any common shares to secure
the loan from Pacific Retail. Under all plans, the option exercise price
represents the estimated fair market value at the date of grant. Vesting of
the options commences no more than two years from grant date and options are
fully vested no more than five year from grant date. Options expire in 10
years from the date of grant or earlier upon termination of employment or
death.

On October 30, 1997, 696,000 Shares at a price of $12 per share were issued
under the amended Plan. Loans were issued for 95% of the total purchase amount
and the remaining 5% was received in cash from the participants.

On August 6, 1996, the board of trustees adopted the 1996 Trustees Plan (the
"Trustees Plan"). Under the Trustees Plan, nonemployee trustees received
options to purchase Shares at an exercise price equal to the market price on
the date of the grant. Options granted under the Trustees Plan are immediately
vested. These options expire in 5 years from the date of grant or earlier upon
resignation from the board of trustees or death.

Pacific Retail applies APB Opinion No. 25 and related Interpretations in
accounting for the Plan. No compensation has been recognized for the Plan as
Pacific Retail has issued the options at an exercise price which represents
the fair market value at the date of grant. Had compensation cost for the Plan
been determined based on the fair market value at the grant dates for awards,
consistent with the method provided by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 (SFAS No. 123), the Company's pro forma net earnings for the
years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996 would have been:

For the For the year

year ended ended
December December 31,
31, 1997 1996
Net earnings. .....ccouviiiiiniiinneennnnns As reported $26,721,029 $9,871,330

Pro Forma $26,641,918 9,806,206
Per share net earnings attributable to
common shares. ........covviiiiinnnnnnnnnnn As reported $ 0.61 $ 0.54
Pro forma $ 0.61 $ 0.54

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using
the "minimum value" calculation stipulated by SFAS No. 123 for nonpublic
companies. Pacific Retail has assumed the following in estimating the fair
value of the options:

1997 1996
Expected L1ife (YearsS) ... uuuu i iu ittt i 5 5
RisK-free rate..... .o i it e s i i 5.8% 6.1%
Dividend yield....... . i e 5.0% 5.0%
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The following table summarizes activity under all programs:
Weighted

Average
Exercise Price Shares

Outstanding at January 1, 1996........cuiiinvrrrrnnnn -- --
Granted. .o vt e s $10.04 327,282
Outstanding at December 31, 1996.......... .0 uuunn. $10.04 327,282
Granted. .o i v e e 11.98 2,149,863
EXercised. . ... i e (11.00) (2,000)
Canceled. . ... .ot i i e (10.57) (11,273)
Outstanding at December 31, 1997........c0vnvvivrvnnnn $11.73 2,463,872
Options exercisable at December 31, 1997............. $10.26 118,282

Weighted average fair value of options granted during
L $ 2.25

7. Operating Leases
Pacific Retail receives rental income from the properties under operating

leases with terms ranging from less than one year to 24 years. The minimum
future rental under operating leases as of December 31, 1997 are as follows:

1908 . Lt e e s $ 70,672,996
19090 . Lt e e 64,320,969
2000 . o i s 56,303,689
70 0 47,212,842
2002, i et 40,144,332
Thereafter. . e s 248,609,475

FS-30



PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

A regional grocery chain leases space in nine of the retail centers. As of
December 31, 1997, minimum future rentals under current lease agreements with
this tenant account for $52,779,529 or 10% of the contracted minimum future
rentals shown above. No other tenant account for more than 10% of the
contracted minimum future rentals beginning in 1998.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Pacific Retail is subject to environmental regulations related to the
ownership, operation, development and acquisition of real estate properties.
As part of due diligence procedures, Pacific Retail has obtained or conducted
Phase I environmental assessments on each property prior to acquisition.
Pacific Retail is not aware of any environmental condition on any of its
properties which is likely to have a materially adverse effect on Pacific
Retail's financial condition or results of operations.

9. Subsequent Events

In January 1998, primarily using proceeds from the lines of credit, Pacific
Retail and PRT Development acquired separate parcels of Twin Peaks in Poway,
California, for a total purchase price of $29,750,000, In addition, Pacific
Retail acquired Plaza Hermosa in Hermosa Beach, California for a total
purchase price of $13,335,000.

Also in January 1998, PRT Development purchased approximately 38.2 acres of

undeveloped land. The purchase price of approximately $11,646,000 includes
$2,087,230 placed in escrow for future development on the purchased land.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders and Board of Trustees of
Pacific Retail Trust

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of
operations, of shareholders' equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Pacific Retail Trust at December
31, 1995 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period
from April 27, 1995 (Inception) to December 31, 1995, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

February 9, 1996
Dallas, Texas
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December

ASSETS 31, 1995
Real estate. ... . s $63,790, 452
Less accumulated depreciation...........iiiiiiiinn i (344,043)
63,446, 409
Cash and cash equivalents. . ... ..ttt 2,807,433
Accounts receivable. .. ...t e s 860,270
Other ASSEES . o ittt e e e 1,338,229
Total ASSeES . vttt i e e s $68,452, 341

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Liabilities:

Note payable. . ... uu i e e $ 601,040
Accounts payable and accrued eXpPensSesS........c.cuuuiririiiiaan 1,891,597
Deferred INCOME. ... v ittt it et et sttt et e s 63,017
Tenant security depoSitsS. ..ttt ittt i 162, 887
Other liabilities........ .ttt i et et e e 759,049
Total 1iabilities. ottt e it e i e 3,477,590

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' Equity:
Shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value;
150, 000, 000 shares authorized
Common shares (5,400,100 authorized and issued)............... 54,001
Series A preferred shares (1,130,276 authorized and issued;
stated liquidation preference of $10 per share plus declared

and unpaid dividends) ... ... e 11,302,760
Series B preferred shares (6,130,276 authorized; none issued). --
Additional paid-in-capital............ it e 53,928,999
Distributions in excess of net earnings.............ooviiiiuan. (311, 009)
Total shareholders' eqUILY..... ..ttt 64,974,751
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity.................... $68,452, 341

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Period from April 27, 1995 (Inception) to December 31, 1995

Income:

Rental ANCOME. ...ttt e i e $1,816,684
Interest and other INCOME. ... ...ttt ittt 40,718
Total INCOME. ..ttt i e i et e e e e 1,857,402

Expenses:
RENTAL BXPENSES . ettt e s 153,672
Depreciation and amortization............... i 349,599
General and administrative.......... it 511,528
8 oS 128,770
Insurance and real estate fTaXeS. . ...ttt it 319,333
1,462,902
NEL BAININGS . ot ittt s 394,500
Less: Series A preferred share dividends.................. ... ..... 111,897
Net earnings attributable to common shares...................... $ 282,603
Weighted average common shares outstanding..............cciuiuinunnn 1,536,245
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding................ 1,536,245
Basic earnings per share...........o it e $ 0.18
Diluted earnings per share...........cciiiiiiiin i ininenneann $ 0.18

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Period from April 27, 1995 (Inception) to December 31, 1995

Balance at April 27,
1995 (Inception).......
Sale of shares for
initial capitalization.
Issuance of shares in
partial payment of
property acquisition...
Sale of shares on
December 22, 1995......
Cash distributions......
Net earnings............

Balance at December 31,

Shares of

Beneficial Interest
(150,000,000 Shares

Authorized)
Series A
Preferred
Shares at Common
aggregate shares Additional
liquidation at par paid-in
preference  value capital

$53,001 $52,947,999

$11, 302, 760

1,000 981, 000

Distributions

in excess of
net
earnings

$(705,509)
394,500

$(311,009)

Total
shareholders'
equity

$53, 001, 000

11,302,760

982, 000
(705, 509)
394,500

$64,974,751

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

FS-35



PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Period from April 27, 1995 (Inception) to December 31, 1995

Operating Activities:
NEEL ANCOME . et ettt e $
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization..........cuuiinniiiiiiinnr s
Straightline rent. ... .t s st e s
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable. . ... e
Other ASSeLS. . ittt s (
Accounts payable and accrued EeXPeNnSeS. .......uuviiinniniiineeaan
Deferred 1NCOME. . ...ttt e i s
Other liabilities.. ... ittt
Tenant security deposSits. . ...ttt

Net cash provided by operating activities............oviviiiiinnnn
Investing Activities:
Acquisition of real estate.........iiiiiiiiiiiii i (5

Net cash used in investing activities.............. . . i (5
Financing Activities:

Proceeds from line of credit........ ... i
Proceeds from sale of shares, net of expenses...........ovuvivunn 5
Distributions paid to shareholders............ccoiiiiiiiiinnnnnnns

Net cash provided by financing activities............ ..o 5

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents.............. ..o,
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period..................

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period............. ..., $2

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid......ovi i e e e $

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of real estate for Series A preferred shares........ $(1

Issuance of shares as partial acquisition price.................. $1

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

FS-36

394,500
349,599
(38,187)
(860, 270)

1,305,596)
1,891,597

601, 040
3,983, 000
(705,509)



PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and Formation

Pacific Retail Trust ("Pacific Retail") was organized as a Maryland real
estate investment trust on April 27, 1995 as Southwest Retail Trust for the
purpose of acquiring, developing, managing and owning neighborhood infill
retail properties in a nine state region of the western United States. On
August 23, 1995 the Declaration of Trust was amended and restated to change
the name to Pacific Retail Trust. Pacific Retail intends to elect tax status
as a real estate investment trust for 1995. Currently, 81% of Pacific Retail's
outstanding shares of beneficial interest are constructively owned by Security
Capital Holdings, S.A. ("HOLDINGS"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Security
Capital U.S. Realty ("USREALTY"). Opportunity Capital Partners Limited
Partnership ("OCP"), through its partnership Madison Property I, LP (MPI),
acquired 17% of the outstanding shares as partial consideration for a pool of
properties sold to Pacific Retail by MPI on October 20, 1995 (Note 5). Pacific
Retail intends to acquire additional shopping centers with proceeds from
additional capital contributions and borrowings. As of December 31, 1995
Pacific Retail had signed contracts and deposited earnest money for the
acquisition of one neighborhood center in the Dallas area and two neighborhood
centers in California and was involved in the final due diligence analysis
prior to closing on the purchase of the centers (Note 9).

For financial reporting purposes, the properties acquired were recorded by
Pacific Retail at their acquisition costs which represents fair market value
at the time of acquisition.

Revenue Recognition

Minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis; as such, the rental
revenues for leases which contain rent abatements and contractual increases
are recognized on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the related
lease. Property operating cost recoveries from tenants of common area
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs, are recognized in
the period when the recoveries are earned. In addition, certain tenants pay
percentage rental amounts based upon their sales volume and these percentage
rents are recognized when billed.

Real Estate Assets and Related Depreciation

Costs related directly to the acquisition, development and improvement of
real estate are capitalized. Interest costs incurred during construction
periods are capitalized. There was no interest capitalized during the period
from April 27, 1995 to December 31, 1995. Costs incurred with regard to
unsuccessful acquisitions are expensed at the time such acquisition is deemed
terminated.

Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
121 ("SFAS 121"). Under SFAS 121, Pacific Retail recognizes impairment losses
on property whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of long-lived assets, on an individual property basis, may not
be recoverable through undiscounted future cash flows. Such losses are
determined by comparing the sum of the expected future discounted net cash
flows to the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in
operating income as they are determined. As of December 31, 1995, no
impairment losses had been incurred.

Ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred; major
replacements and betterments are capitalized and depreciated over their
estimated useful lives. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over
the expected economic useful lives, which are principally 10 to 40 years for
buildings and improvements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and cash equivalent investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

Deferred Loan Fees

Included in other assets as of December 31, 1995 are costs of $613,808
associated with obtaining financing (Note 3) which have been capitalized.
Deferred loan fees are amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan
and extensions which is currently three years using the straight-line method.
There was no amortization of the capitalized costs in 1995 as the loan and
associated costs were not entered into until December 27, 1995.

Income Taxes

Pacific Retail intends to elect real estate investment trust ("REIT") status
for 1995 under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. REIT's are not
required to pay federal income taxes if minimum distribution and income, asset
and shareholder tests are met and, accordingly, no provision has been made for
federal income taxes in the accompanying financial statements.

Earnings per Share

Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
128 ("SFAS 128"), which establishes standards for computing and presenting
earnings per share (EPS). Basic EPS excludes the effect of potentially
dilutive securities while diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that
would occur if dilutive securities or other contracts to issue common shares
were exercised, converted into, or resulted in the issuance of common shares
that then shared in the earnings of the company. The following table
summarizes the information required under SFAS 128:

For the period from April 27, 1995
(Inception) to December 31, 1995
Income Shares Per-Share

(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Net earnings attributable to common
SHAIES . vttt e e e e $282, 603 1,536,245 $0.18
Diluted EPS
Income available to common shares and
assumed CONVersions...........ceviiunnennn $282,603 1,536,245 $0.18

The assumed conversion of Series A preferred shares of beneficial interest are
not dilutive and have therefore been excluded from the calculation.

2. Real Estate Investments
Pacific Retail acquired the following properties between August 30 and

October 20, 1995, all of which are located within 100 miles of the Dallas-Ft.
Worth area:

Gross

Leasable

Square
Retail Center Location Feet
Arapaho Village South........... i, Richardson, Texas 108,816
Ridglea Plaza. .......uuviiiiiininnnnnnnnnnneeenn Fort Worth, Texas 197,627
Southpark Shopping Center........... v Tyler, Texas 146,225
The Vvillage Shopping Center...........cvvviiiiiinann Duncanville, Texas 95,208
Cooper Street Plaza...... .o inininnnnreneennns Arlington, Texas 133,288
NOrthview Plaza. ........ouiiiiiinninninnnenneneennn Dallas, Texas 117,034
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

The following summarizes real estate investments as of December 31, 1995:

Y3 o I $10,148,477
Buildings and dimprovements.......... .ttt i 47,377,965
Land improvements and parking lots............ .. i, 6,264,010
Total real eState. .. vttt et e e e 63,790,452
Less accumulated depreciation.........c.cuviiiiiiiiiinn i (344,043)
Net real eState......vui ittt ittt e e $63,446, 409

3. Line of Credit

On December 27, 1995 Pacific Retail entered into a credit agreement with
Wells Fargo Realty Advisors Funding, Incorporated, as agent for a group of
lenders, to provide a secured line of credit up to a maximum of $50 million.
As of December 31, 1995, the secured net borrowing base was $29,865,000. The
lenders determine the secured net borrowing base by using 65% of the lenders'
appraised value on five of the properties, excluding Cooper Street Plaza, less
an $880,000 reserve for the repair work to be done to the Ridglea Plaza roof
(Notes 4 and 10). Borrowings bear interest at the greater of prime or federal
funds rate plus 1/2% or at Pacific Retail's option, LIBOR plus 1.75%.
Additionally, there is a fee of .125% per annum of the unfunded line of credit
balance.

The termination date of the credit agreement is December 27, 1998, but it
may be extended for successive one year periods if acceptable to the lenders,
for a .25% extension fee. All debt incurrences are subject to covenants, as
more fully described in the credit agreement. The only borrowings made under
the credit line in 1995 were for the lender fees.

A summary of Pacific Retail's line of credit borrowings is as follows:

Total 1ine of credit. ... ... i i ey $50, 000, 000
Net borrowing base available........... ...t $29, 866, 000
Borrowings outstanding at December 31, 1995........ .00 irrrrinnn $ 601, 040
Weighted average interest rate at December 31, 1995................ 8.5%

4. Other Liabilities

Other liabilities include $669,549 of insurance proceeds for repair of a
hail damaged roof on the Ridglea Plaza Shopping Center. Repair work has not
been commenced on the roof. It is anticipated that these insurance proceeds
will be sufficient to cover the costs of the necessary repairs. Additional
other liabilities include escrow holdbacks set up at the acquisition of two of
the retail properties for additional repairs.

5. Shareholders' Equity
offerings

On December 22, 1995 Pacific Retail completed an offering of 100,000 shares
of beneficial interest at a price of $10 per share. Net proceeds, after
offering costs, to Pacific Retail were $982,000.

On October 20, 1995 Pacific Retail closed a private offering to HOLDINGS of
5,300,000 shares of beneficial interest at $10 per share for a total amount of
$53, 000, 000.

On October 20, 1995, as a partial acquisition price for five properties
acquired from OCP, Pacific Retail issued 1,130,276 Series A Preferred shares
of beneficial interest to MPI at a stated liquidation preference of $10 per
share plus declared and unpaid dividends resulting in outstanding Series A
Preferred shares valued at $11,302,760.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Shares of Beneficial Interest

As of December 31, 1995, 150,000,000 Shares of Beneficial Interest, $.01 par
value per share, were authorized. Pacific Retail's Board of Trustees is
authorized to issue, from the authorized but unissued shares of Pacific
Retail, preferred shares in series and to establish from time to time the
number of preferred shares to be included in such series and to fix the
designation and any preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications and terms and
conditions of redemptions of the shares of such series.

Common Shares

The outstanding common shares ("Shares") do not have redemption or
conversion rights or the benefit of any sinking fund. In the event of
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Pacific Retail, the holders of
Shares are entitled to receive ratably the assets remaining after satisfaction
of all liabilities and payment of preferences and accrued dividends, if any,
on Pacific Retail's shares ranking senior to the Shares (including the
Preferred Shares). The rights of holders of Shares are subject to the rights
and preferences established by Pacific Retail's Board of Trustees for any
preferred shares which have been or may subsequently be issued.

Preferred Shares

The Series A Preferred Shares, the Series B Preferred Shares (together
referred to as "Preferred Shares") and Shares vote together as a single class
with respect to all matters presented to Pacific Retail's shareholders for a
vote. If twelve consecutive quarterly dividends on the Preferred Shares are in
arrears, the holders of Preferred Shares will be entitled to nominate and
elect an additional trustee until such time as all arrearages have been paid.
The Preferred Shares are entitled to a liquidation preference of $10.00 per
share plus an amount equal to all dividends declared but unpaid to the date of
final distribution. Pacific Retail may redeem the Preferred Shares any time
after October 20, 2010 at a price of $10.00 per share, plus all accrued and
unpaid dividends.

Series A Preferred Shares

Series A Preferred Shares are convertible into Series B Preferred Shares on
a one-for-one basis and contain provisions for adjustment to prevent dilution.
For fiscal years beginning before January 1, 1997, the Series A Preferred
Shares are entitled to a quarterly dividend in an amount equal to the greater
of (i) $0.10 per share and (ii) $0.013 less than the dividend on the Shares.
For fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1997, Series A Preferred
Shares are entitled to quarterly dividends in an amount equal to the greater
of (1) $0.10 per share, (ii) 65% of the highest funds from operations per
Share for any preceding fiscal year and (iii) $0.013 less than the dividend on
the Shares. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares are cumulative from the
original issue date. Pacific Retail is restricted from paying any dividends on
any Shares or shares ranking on a parity with, or ranking junior to, the
Series A Preferred Shares, unless all cumulative dividends are simultaneously
paid on the Series A Preferred Shares.

Series B Preferred Shares

The Board of Trustees has authorized up to 6,130,276 Series B Preferred
Shares for issuance. Series B Preferred Shares are convertible into Shares on
a one-for-one basis and contain provisions for adjustment to prevent dilution.
For fiscal years beginning before January 1, 1997, the Series B Preferred
Shares are entitled to a quarterly dividend in an amount equal to the greater
of (i) $0.10 per share and (ii) the dividend on the Shares.

For fiscal years beginning on and after January 1, 1997, Series B Preferred
Shares are entitled to quarterly dividends in an amount equal to the greater
of (i) $0.10 per share, (ii) 65% of the highest funds from operations per
Share for any preceding fiscal year and (iii) the dividend on the Shares.
Dividends on the Series B Preferred
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Shares are cumulative from the original issue date. Pacific Retail is
restricted from paying any dividends on any Shares or shares ranking on a
parity with, or ranking junior to, the Series B Preferred Shares, unless all
cumulative dividends are simultaneously paid on the Series B Preferred Shares.
No Series B Preferred Shares are currently issued or outstanding.

Investor Agreement

On October 20, 1995 HOLDINGS and Pacific Retail entered into an investor
agreement whereby HOLDINGS agreed to purchase up to 20 million Shares at $10
per share, net of the original shares purchased, before October 20, 1997. As
long as HOLDINGS owns at least 25% of the outstanding common shares of Pacific
Retail it will have certain rights regarding appointment of trustees to the
Board of Trustees and regarding approval of budgets, property operations,
property acquisitions, changes in executive officers and sales of shares.

Shareholders' Agreement

On October 20, 1995 OCP entered into a shareholders' agreement with HOLDINGS
and Pacific Retail. Among other provisions of the agreement, OCP is to acquire
an additional 2 million shares of Series B Preferred Shares at $10 per share
at its own request or if required by Pacific Retail. In the event neither
party requests the additional capital call, this provision expires on October
20, 1996. Pacific Retail intends to make an equity call for the entire $20
million before October 20, 1996. As long as OCP owns at least 10% of the
outstanding common shares of Pacific Retail, it will have the right to
nominate one Trustee.

OCP has also agreed to attempt to sell the remaining three properties it
owns and to utilize the proceeds for additional share acquisitions. If a sale
of the properties is consummated before March 31, 1996, all proceeds will be
used to acquire Series B Preferred Shares at $10 per share. Subsequent to
March 31, 1996 but prior to December 7, 1996, the proceeds of a sale shall be
used to acquire common shares at the fair market value, as defined, at the
time of acquisition.

Under the shareholders' agreement OCP has the right to have Pacific Retail
return the properties acquired from OCP in the event that either (i) Pacific
Retail has not acquired total real estate assets totaling $200 million by
October 20, 1999, or (ii) prior to achieving $200 million in total real estate
assets, Pacific Retail registers its Shares pursuant to Section 12(b) or 12(g)
of the Exchange Act. In the event OCP does exercise its option to reacquire
the properties, it will surrender its share holdings and $42,100,000, plus the
cost of all capital improvements made to the properties which have been
approved by OCP's nominee to the Board of Trustees.

OCP also has the right to purchase up to a total of 5 million Series B
Preferred Shares at $10 per share, including any shares issued in conjunction
with the sale of its three remaining properties and the shares issued upon
funding of its equity commitment of 1,130,276 Series A Preferred Shares. This
right expires on March 31, 1996.

OCP also has the option to acquire up to 5 million common shares at $10 per
share, including any shares issued in conjunction with the sale of its three
remaining properties and the shares issued upon funding of its equity
commitment of 1,130,276 Series A Preferred Shares. This option expires on the
earlier of (i) the date HOLDINGS' equity commitment is fully funded or (ii)
October 20, 1997.

Shareholder Ownership Limitations

Pacific Retail's Declaration of Trust seeks to preserve its anticipated REIT
status by restricting any shareholder from owning more than 9.8% of Pacific
Retail's shares of beneficial interest, other than
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

HOLDINGS or OCP. Pacific Retail intends to adopt a shareholder rights plan
prior to becoming a public company pursuant to which one purchase right will
be issued as a dividend for each outstanding Share. Each purchase right will
entitle the holder to purchase one Share at a fixed exercise price and, under
certain circumstances, to purchase at the exercise price Shares or securities
of an acquiring company having a market value equal to some multiple of the
exercise price. The purchase rights would be exercisable only upon the
occurrence of certain triggering events and purchase rights held by the
acquiring person would not be exercisable. HOLDINGS and OCP would be exempted
from this shareholder rights plan.

6. Operating Leases

Pacific Retail receives rental income from the properties under operating
leases with terms ranging from less than one year to eighteen years. The
minimum future rentals under operating leases as of December 31, 1995, are as
follows:

= T $ 5,998,000
L1007 sttt e e e e 5,541,000
1= 2 4,938,000
0 = T« 4,368,000
2000 .ttt e e e e e e 3,831,000
Thereatter. ..o e e e e e e s 25,388,000

Tom Thumb Food Stores (Tom Thumb), a regional grocery chain, leases space in
three of the retail centers owned by Pacific Retail. Beginning in 1996 minimum
future rentals under current lease agreements with Tom Thumb (one expiring in
2007 and two expiring in 2010) will account for $17,212,000 or 34.4% of the
contracted minimum future rentals shown above. No other tenant accounts for
more than 15% of the minimum future rentals beginning in 1996. Pacific Retail
anticipates that due to acquisitions to be made during the next twelve months,
no single tenant will account for more than 10% of minimum future rentals
beginning in 1997.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

7. Fair Value

Pacific Retail has estimated the fair value of its financial instruments at
December 31, 1995 as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 107. The carrying values of the Company's financial instruments are
reasonable estimates of their fair values.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Pacific Retail is subject to environmental regulations related to the
ownership, operation, development and acquisition of real estate properties.
As part of due diligence procedures, Pacific Retail has acquired or conducted
Phase I environmental assessments on each property prior to acquisition.
Pacific Retail is not aware of any environmental condition on any of its
properties which is likely to have a material adverse effect on Pacific
Retail's financial condition or results of operations.

9. Subsequent Events

On January 16, 1996, utilizing $14,457,000 of its credit line, Pacific
Retail acquired The Promenade, a neighborhood infill retail center in
Sacramento, California. The Promenade contains 136,022 square feet and is 95%
leased. The acquisition will increase the secured net borrowing base, but the
amount of the increase has not yet been determined by the lenders.

In January 1996, Cooper Street Plaza was approved by the lender to be added
to the secured net borrowing base. With the addition of Cooper Street Plaza,
the secured net borrowing base increased to $37,145,000.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 1998 and 1997 (Unaudited)
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

September 30,

1998
(Unaudited)
ASSETS

Real estate investments........c.iiiiiiiiinn it $1,080, 739, 840
Less: accumulated depreciation...........ceiiiiiiiiiiiiinean., (35,941,954)
1,044,797,886
Cash and cash equivalents...........cciiiii it 388,870
Accounts receivable, net.. ...t e s 8,600,273
ESCrow depoSitsS. v vttt ittt st 4,319,177
Other assets, Net. . ...t i e e et e 15,530, 465
TOTAL @SS S e 4ttt vttt et ettt $1,073,636,671

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities:
Lines of Credit. ... ..ottt e et e e e $ 211,500,000
Notes payable. . .....ov i e e s 97,062,997
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses............ccoiiiiiniiaann 8,051,085
Accrued real estate taXeS......oiii it e 7,439,065
Deferred INCOME. ... it e et e e 659, 426
Tenant security deposits......... ..., 3,407,801
Other liabilities....... ..t i e et nens 38,737
Total liabilities. ...t i et et et s 328,159,111
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Minority Anterest. .. ..t s 19,346,292

Shareholders' equity:
Shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value;
150, 000, 000 shares authorized
Series A preferred shares (1,130,276 authorized, issued and
outstanding;
stated liquidation preference of $10 per share plus declared
and unpaid dividends) .. ... ...ttt s 11,302,760
Series B preferred shares (6,130,276 authorized; 2,000,000
issued and
outstanding; stated liquidation preference of $10 per share

plus declared and unpaid dividends).............. . i 20,000,000
Common shares (64,058,952 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 1998) ... ..ttt s 640,589
Additional paid-in capital.........cuviiiiiiiiin i 713,892,877
Employee share NOtesS. ... uvi ittt ittt (8,447,524)
Distributions in excess of net earnings.............coiiiuinnnnn (11,257,434)
Total shareholders' equity.......... i, 726,131,268
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity.................. $1,073,636,671

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

1998 1997
(Unaudited)
Income:
T O =Y 1 $70,734,572 $42,331,227
PErCeNtage MENt. . .v ettt it ie e ii i 1,001,725 577,749
Recoveries from tenants............ccovviiiiiiinnnns 18,763,861 11,183,597
Management, leasing and brokerage fees............. 45,536 351,658
90,545,694 54,444,231
Operating Expenses:
Operating and maintenance............ ... nnnn 11,197,977 6,277,508
Depreciation and amortization.................. ..., 17,058,178 10,210,065
General and administrative............c.iiiiiiiniannn 6,937,115 4,767,096
Real estate taxesS....... it 10,193,588 7,107,638
45,386,858 28,362,307
Interest expense (income):
INtEreSt EXPENSE . vttt ittt it ettt it 11,594, 080 7,803,632
Interest INCOME. . ... ittt i s (580,677) (223,664)
11,013,403 7,579,968
Earnings before minority interest and gain on sale
of real estate investments........................ 34,145,433 18,501, 956
Gain on sale of real estate investments.............. -- --
Minority interest....... .t s (578,510) (353,573)
NEet EAIMINGS. .\ttt et ittt ittt ia ettt 33,566,923 18,148,383
Less:
Series A preferred share dividends............... 608, 658 566,268
Series B preferred share dividends............... 1,155,000 1,080,000
Net earnings attributable to common shares......... $31,803,265 $16,502,115
Weighted average common shares outstanding......... 64,044,753 37,373,491
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding. 64,259,819 37,451,707
Basic earnings per share.............. ... i $ .50 $ .44
Diluted earnings per share............ .. vt $ .49 8 .44

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Shares of Beneficial Interest
(150,000,000 Shares Authorized)

Retained
earnings
Series A Series B Ccommon Additional (Distributions
Preferred Preferred shares Employee paid-in in excess of
Shares Shares at par value share notes capital earnings)
Balance at December 31,
1997 it 11,302,760 20,000,000 640,227 (7,930,780) 713,511,243 (6,073,931)
Sale of shares, net..... 1,546 (1,909,500) 1,979,390
Redemption of shares.... (1,184) 1,345,263 (1,597,756)
Shareholder
distributions.......... 47,493 (38,750,426)
Net earnings............ 33,566,923
Balance at September 30,
1998 (Unaudited)....... $11,302,760 $20,000,000 $640,589  $(8,447,524) $713,892,877  $(11,257,434) $726,131,268

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PACIFIC RETAIL TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities

Net earnings. ... .uuiinn ittt
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization.................
Minority interest........... . i,

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable............ ..
Escrow deposits......cvviiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnns
Other assetsS. ...ttty
Accounts payable and accrued expenses.......
Accrued real estate taxes...........oiiiuinn
Deferred iNCOME. .. ... iiii it
Tenant security deposits....................
Other liabilities..........ccuiviiinnvnrrnnnnns

Net cash provided by investing activities.......

Investing activities:
Construction of and acquisition of real estate

investments. ... i e

Net cash used in investing activities...........

Financing activities:

Principal payments on notes payable.............
Proceeds from line of credit....................
Payments on lines of credit.....................
Payments on bridge loan...............c.iuiuunn
Proceeds from sales of shares, net of expenses...
Redemption of shares............cooiiiinn,
Distributions paid to shareholders..............

Net cash provided by financing activities.......

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash

equivalents. ... i e s
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period...

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period........

Supplemental cash flow information:

Interest paid.......ciiiiii it s

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of real estate for assumption of

notes payable........ ... i i

Acquisition of real estate in exchange for

minority interest partnership units............

Exchange of employee share notes for shares.....

Payments on employee shares notes from

shareholder distributions......................

Redemption of employee share notes..............

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

(Unaudited)

$ 33,566,923

17,058,178
278,860

(786, 247)
(1,736,927)
(5,753,621)

(89,340)

579, 218
(1,161,474)

753,878

(56,651)

(8,332,299)
197, 900, 000

71,436
(253,677)
(38,702,933)

(4,108,026)
4,496,896

$ 18,148,383

10,210, 065
(59, 527)

(2,650,168)
15,542,081
(3,428,104)
373,543
2,614,787
293,677
1,084, 693
17,754

(940, 403)
73,900, 000

(26,500,000)
228,015, 482

(21, 806, 268)

1,155, 600
1,954,131

$ 3,109,731

$ 7,272,919

$ 20,452,246

$ 74,918,736

$ 11,386,032 $ --
$ 1,909,500 $ --
$ 47,493 $ --
$ 1,345,263 $ --

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and formation

Pacific Retail Trust ("Pacific Retail") was organized as a Maryland real
estate investment trust on April 27, 1995 (originally named Southwest Retail
Trust) for the purpose of acquiring, developing, managing and owning
neighborhood infill retail properties in a nine state region of the western
United States. On August 23, 1995, the Declaration of Trust was amended and
restated to change the name to Pacific Retail Trust. At September 30, 1998,
69.9% of Pacific Retail's outstanding shares of beneficial interest are
constructively owned by Security Capital Holdings S.A. ("HOLDINGS"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Security Capital U.S. Realty ("USRealty"). Opportunity
Capital Partners Limited Partnership ("OCP"), through its partnership Madison
Property I, LP (MPI), acquired preferred shares of Pacific Retail as partial
consideration for a pool of properties sold to Pacific Retail by MPI on
October 20, 1995. At September 30, 1998, OCP owned 6.0% of Pacific Retail's
outstanding shares of beneficial interest.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pacific
Retail, its 81.9% ownership in Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership
and its 95% ownership in PRT Development Corporation (Note 4).

Revenue recognition

Minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis; as such, the rental
revenues for leases, which contain rent abatements and contractual increases
are recognized on a straight-line basis over the initial terms of the related
leases. Property operating cost recoveries from tenants of common area
maintenance, real estate taxes and other recoverable costs, are recognized in
the period when the recoveries are earned.

Real estate assets and related depreciation

Costs related directly to the development and improvement of real estate,
including tenant improvements, are capitalized; ordinary repairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is computed on a straight-
line basis over the expected economic useful lives, which are principally 10
to 40 years for buildings and improvements.

Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
121 ("SFAS 121"). Under SFAS 121, Pacific Retail recognizes impairment losses
on property whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of long-lived assets, on an individual property basis, may not
be recoverable through undiscounted future cash flows. Such losses are
determined by comparing the sum of the expected future discounted net cash
flows to the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in
operating income as they are determined. As of September 30, 1998, no
impairment losses have been incurred.

Adoption of recent accounting pronouncement
In March 1998, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) finalized Issue 97-11,
requiring all internal costs associated with acquiring operating properties to
be expensed as incurred. Pacific Retail has applied this policy prospectively.
In July 1998, the EITF finalized Issue 98-9, requiring contingent rent based
on the lessee's sales volume to be recognized when specified targets are met.
Pacific Retail has applied this policy prospectively since May 1998.
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Interest

Pacific Retail capitalizes interest as part of the cost of real estate
projects during construction periods. During the nine months ended September
30, 1998 and 1997, $2,205,621 and $971,736, respectively, in interest was
capitalized.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and cash equivalent investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year financial statements
to conform to current year presentation.

Deferred loan fees

Included in other assets as of September 30, 1998 are net costs of
$1,291,585 associated with obtaining financing. Deferred loan fees are
amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan and extensions, which
is currently three years, using the straight-line method. Amortization of
deferred loan fees for the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and 1997 was
$539,581, and $368,477, respectively.

Income taxes

Pacific Retail elected real estate investment trust ("REIT") status in 1995
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. REITs are not required to
pay federal income taxes if minimum distribution, income, asset and
shareholder tests are met and, accordingly, no provision has been made for
federal income taxes in the accompanying financial statements. PRT Development
Corporation and Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership are taxed as
separate entities.
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Earnings per share

Pacific Retail has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
128 ("SFAS" 128"), which establishes standards for computing and presenting
earnings per share (EPS). Basic EPS excludes the effect of potentially
dilutive securities while diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that
would occur if dilutive securities or other contracts to issue common shares
were exercised, converted into, or resulted in the issuance of common shares
that then shared in the earnings of the Company. The following tables
summarize the information required under SFAS 128:

For the nine months ended
September 30, 1998
(unaudited)
Per Share
Income Shares Amount

Basic EPS
Net earnings attributable to common shares.. $31,803,265 64,044,753 $0.50

Effect of Dilutive Securities

OPEIONS . vttt it e -- 208,348
Deferred trustee shares.................uu.. -- 6,718
Diluted EPS
Income available to common shares and
assumed CONVErSioNS. ...... ...t $31, 803,265 64,259,819 $0.49

For the nine months ended
September 30, 1997
(unaudited)
Per Share
Income Shares Amount

Basic EPS
Net earnings attributable to common shares.. $16,502,115 37,373,491 $0.44

Effect of Dilutive Securities
OPEIONS. o ittt e e e -- 77,622

Deferred trustee shares..................... -- 594
Diluted EPS
Income available to common shares and
assumed CONVErsions..........civiivnnnnennn $16,502,115 37,451,707 $0.44
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The assumed conversion of Series A preferred shares of beneficial interest,
Series B preferred shares of beneficial interest and minority interest are not
dilutive and have therefore been excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS.
Options to purchase 625,078 common shares at $13 per share were outstanding
during the third quarter of 1998 and options to purchase 41,667 common shares
at $12 per share were outstanding during the third quarter of 1997, but were
not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the options' exercise
price was greater than or equal to the estimated fair market value of the
common shares. The options expire 10 years from the date of grant, or earlier
upon termination of employment or death.

Use of estimates

Pacific Retail has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to
the reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities, and related revenues and expenses, to prepare these
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair value

Pacific Retail has estimated the fair value of its financial instruments at
September 30, 1998 as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 107. The Company believes the carrying values of the Company's financial
instruments are reasonable estimates of their fair values.

2. Real Estate Investments

As of September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail owned seventy-one properties.
Twenty-one properties are located in three major metropolitan markets in
Texas: the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex, Austin and Houston. Shopping centers
in the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex generated approximately 23% of the total
revenues of the portfolio for the nine months ended September 30, 1998.
Thirty-three shopping centers are located in California and comprise
approximately 49% of the total revenues for the nine months ended September
30, 1998. The remaining properties are located in Arizona, Colorado,
Washington, and Oregon.

The following summarizes real estate investments:

September 30,

1998
(unaudited)

Improved 1and. ... ...t s $ 272,059,415
Land held for development..........uuiiiiiiinnnn s 1,062,657
Land under development. . ... i s 28,190,273
Buildings and improvementsS. .. ... vttt 677,672,174
Land improvements and parking lotsS..........c.cuuiiiiiiiiiiiinnan 47,823,281
CONSErUCEION 1N PrOCESS. . vttt vttt ittt ittt 21,656,899
Redevelopment properties...........oiiiiii it 32,275,141
Total real estate investments............. . i, 1,080,739, 840
Less accumulated depreciation............iiiiiiiiinniiiiann, (35,941,954)
Net real estate investments............ciiiiiiiiininninnnnnns $1,044,797,886
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Land held for development

In March 1996, Pacific Retail acquired Harwood Hills Shopping Center in
Bedford, Texas. Between March and November of 1996, Pacific Retail completed
the construction of an additional 20,300 square feet of retail space at a cost
of approximately $1,857,000. As of September 30, 1998, approximately 2.9 acres
of land remained for additional development.

In January 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Plaza de Hacienda in La Puenta,
California. Associated with this shopping center were approximately 3.63 acres
of land for additional development. As of September 30, 1998, no development
has taken place.

Land under development

In August 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Prestonwood Park, which consists of
24.55 acres of land in Dallas, Texas for future development into a grocery
anchored shopping center. As of September 30, 1998, construction has not
commenced.

In November 1997, PRT Development Corporation acquired Hebron Parkway Plaza,
which consists of 7.77 acres of land in Carrollton, Texas for development into
a grocery anchored shopping center. As of September 30, 1998, construction has
not commenced.

In January 1998, PRT Development Corporation acquired MacArthur Park, which
consists of 38.2 acres of land in Irving, Texas for development into a
shopping center. As of September 30, 1998, PRT Development Corporation has
incurred $4,418,993 in design and construction costs associated with the
development, which is included in construction in process.

In March 1998, Pacific Retail acquired Hawthorne Plaza in Hawthorne,
California, which consists of 10.4 acres of land and an existing shopping
center. Pacific Retail plans to demolish the existing structure and rebuild a
grocery anchored shopping center. As of September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail has
incurred $986,735 in development costs associated with the development, which
is included in construction in process.

Redevelopment properties

In July 1996, Pacific Retail acquired Hancock Center in Austin, Texas for
the purpose of redeveloping it as a grocery anchored infill shopping center.
Pacific Retail immediately embarked upon the redevelopment program. On April
1, 1998, a portion of the project representing $7,322,949 in redevelopment
costs was completed and capitalized. As of September 30, 1998, $6,672,175 in
design and demolition costs and construction associated with the redevelopment
remained in construction in process.

In November 1997, Pacific Retail acquired Bristol & Warner Shopping Center
in Santa Ana, California. During 1998, significant rehabilitation work began
on the property. As of September 30, 1998, Pacific Retail has incurred
$4,130,826 in design, demolition and construction costs.

3. Borrowings
Lines of credit--secured

On December 27, 1995, Pacific Retail entered into a credit agreement with a
group of lenders to provide a secured line of credit up to a maximum of $50
million. On July 17, 1996, the credit agreement was amended to
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increase the secured line of credit to a maximum of $75 million. The lenders
determine the secured net borrowing base by using the lesser of 65% of the
lenders' appraised value on ten of the properties or the permanent loan
estimate for each property. As of December 31, 1997, the secured net borrowing
base was $75 million. On November 14, 1997, the secured line of credit
agreement was amended. Under the amended credit agreement, borrowings bear
interest at the greater of prime or federal funds rate plus .50% or, at
Pacific Retail's option, LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25%, if the ratio of total
liabilities to gross asset value is less than .35 to one, or 1.40% if the
ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value is greater than or equal to

.35 to one. Additionally, there is a fee of .125% per annum of the average
daily unfunded line of credit balance, or a fee of .25% per annum of the
average daily unfunded line of credit balance if the average daily balance for
both the secured and unsecured lines of credit is greater than $100 million.
Interest is paid monthly based on the unpaid principal balance. On May 18,
1998, the credit agreement was amended; the secured line of credit was paid in
full and terminated through the use of funds from the unsecured line of
credit. The weighted averaged interest rate for the period from January 1,
1998 to May 18, 1998 was 7.1%.

Lines of credit--unsecured

On March 28, 1997, Pacific Retail entered into a credit agreement with a
group of lenders to provide an unsecured line of credit up to a maximum of $75
million. On November 14, 1997, the unsecured line of credit was increased to a
maximum of $125 million. On May 18, 1998, the credit agreement was amended and
the unsecured line of credit was increased to $350 million. Borrowings bear
interest at the greater of prime or federal funds rate plus .50% or, at
Pacific Retail's option, LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25%, if the ratio of total
liabilities to gross asset value is less than .35 to one, or 1.40% if the
ratio of total liabilities to gross asset value is greater than or equal to

.35 to one and less than .5 to one. Additionally, there is a fee of .125% per
annum of the average daily unfunded line of credit balance, or a fee of .25%
per annum of the average daily unfunded line of credit balance if the average
daily balance is greater than $175 million. Interest is paid monthly based on
the unpaid principal balance. The weighted average interest rate for the nine
months ended September 30, 1998 was 7.01%. The interest rate at September 30,
1998 was 6.87%.

The termination date of the amended credit agreement is March 28, 2000, but
it may be extended for successive one-year periods, if acceptable to the
lenders, for a .10% extension fee. All debt incurrences are subject to
covenants, as more fully described in the credit agreement. Pacific Retail has
utilized the unsecured line of credit to help finance the acquisition of
neighborhood shopping centers and for general working capital purposes during
the nine months ended September 30, 1998.
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Notes payable

Notes payable consisted of the following at September 30, 1998 (unaudited):

Principal
Interest Maturity Payments/ Balance At
Market Rate Date Period 9/30/98
Mortgage Notes Payable:
Paseo village........... Arizona 7.50 5/1/01 $ 38,668(2) $ 4,257,322
Mills Pointe & Preston
Park village(4)........ Texas 7.23 7/1/00 264,578(2) 31,324,957
Plaza de Hacienda....... California 9.00 6/10/12 57,128(2) 6,704,676
Market at Round Rock.... Texas 8.63 12/31/05 63,059(2) 7,439,467
North Hills Town Center. Texas 7.37 1/1/14 76,974(2) 9,004,416
Friar's Mission......... California 9.50 6/10/05 152,006(2) 16,712,657
Woodman Van-Nuys........ California 8.80 9/15/15  57,745(2) 6,100,577
Sunnyside 205........... Oregon 9.38 1/15/00 52,401(2) 5,792,294
Murryhill Marketplace... Oregon 8.05 5/1/19 69,762(2) 8,404,932
Municipal Tax Bonds
Payable:
Friar's Mission......... California 7.30- 9/2/15 161,177- 1,321,699
7.90 168,131(3)

(1) Payments are interest only payable monthly with the full principal balance
due at maturity.

(2) Payments are interest and principal payable monthly.

(3) Annual payments of principal and interest payable in two semiannual
installments. Amount disclosed is the applicable annual payment range.

(4) Mills Pointe & Preston Park Village are subject to one mortgage note
payable.

Principal repayments of notes payable are due approximately as follows:

Three months remaining in 1998.......... . ittt $ 399,328
1990, Lt e e e 2,303,848
2000, L i e 37,268,527
200, i e e 5,230,349
2002 e e 1,412,470
2003 and after. . ... i e e e 50,448,475

4. Minority Interest

Minority interest represents limited partners' interests in Retail Property
Partners Limited Partnership (the Partnership), a limited partnership
controlled by Pacific Retail, and PRT Development Corporation (PRT
Development), a Delaware corporation controlled by Pacific Retail.

Retail Property Partners Limited Partnership
In September 1996, Pacific Retail formed the Partnership by contributing
cash to the Partnership in exchange for a 50.2% controlling general

partnership interest in the Partnership, which invested in two retail
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centers in Dallas, Texas. On December 1, 1996, Pacific Retail contributed the
Blossom Valley Shopping Center in Mountain View, California to the
Partnership. The assets and liabilities of Blossom Valley were transferred at
book value as the transfer was between entities under common control. The
value of the contributed property was $17,354,543, which increased Pacific
Retail's investment in the Partnership to 76.6%.

On July 31, 1997, Pacific Retail contributed $8.9 million to the
Partnership. With this contribution, Pacific Retail's investment in the
Partnership increased to 81.6%. The Partnership used this contribution to
purchase the Heritage Plaza land. On May 21, 1998, Pacific Retail contributed
$14,273,244 to the Partnership. With this contribution, Pacific Retail's
investment in the Partnership increased to 84.2%. The Partnership used this
contribution to purchase the Thomas Lake property in May 1998.

On July 10, 1998, Pacific Retail contributed $37,026,419 to the Partnership.
The partnership used this contribution to purchase the Sherwood Market Center,
Murrayhill Marketplace, Cherry Park Market and Sunnyside 205 properties in
July 1998. Pacific Retail's investment in the Partnership at September 30,
1998 was 81.9%.

Limited partners are entitled to exchange each partnership unit for one
common share of beneficial interest in Pacific Retail beginning in August
1998. As of December 31, 1997, there were 765,000 limited partnership units
outstanding in the Partnership. On May 21, 1998, an additional 115,385
partnership units were issued in association with the acquisition of Thomas
Lake. On July 10, 1998, an additional 760,464 partnership units were issued in
association with the acquisitions of the Sherwood Market Center, Murrayhill
Marketplace, Cherry Park Market and Sunnyside 205 properties. The limited
partners' interests will be reflected as minority interest in the consolidated
financial statements until the units are exchanged for Pacific Retail shares.

On July 10, 1998, the Partnership formed a limited liability company called
PRT Sunnyside LLC for the purpose of owning, holding, managing, operating,
leasing, or selling the property commonly referred to as Sunnyside 205. The
property was purchased by the Partnership and then conveyed to PRT Sunnyside
LLC subject to a note payable in the amount of $5,806,994.

PRT Development Corporation

On November 20, 1997, PRT Development Corporation was organized as a
Delaware corporation for the purpose of acquiring land and developing and
selling the developed property. The authorized capital of PRT Development
consists of 2,000,000 shares of common stock. 100,000 of the shares will be
issued as Class A voting shares. The remaining 1,900,000 shares will be Class
B nonvoting. As of September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1997, 33,892 and 3,250
shares, respectively, of Class A common stock were issued and outstanding. All
of the Class A common stock is constructively owned by USRealty, and is
represented in minority interest. Pacific Retail owned 643,958 and 61,750
shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding at September 30, 1998
and December 31, 1997, respectively. The Class B common stock is generally
entitled to 95% of all distributions made by PRT Development, and the Class A
common stock is generally entitled to 5% of all distributions made by PRT
Development. Pacific Retail has consolidated the operations of PRT Development
based on the control exerted in the ordinary course of business over the
operating decisions of PRT Development.

5. Shareholders' Equity

offerings

Between October 20, 1995 and July 16, 1996, Pacific Retail closed on a
series of private offerings to HOLDINGS which resulted in the sale of 20
million common shares of beneficial interest at $10 per share for a total
amount of $200 million.
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On October 20, 1995, as a partial acquisition price for five properties
acquired from OCP, Pacific Retail issued 1,130,276 Series A preferred shares
of beneficial interest to MPI at a stated liquidation preference of $10 per
share plus declared and unpaid dividends resulting in outstanding Series A
preferred shares valued at $11,302,760.

On December 22, 1995, Pacific Retail completed an offering of 100,000 common
shares at a price of $10 per share. Net proceeds, after offering costs, to
Pacific Retail were $982,000.

On August 6, 1996, OCP acquired 2,000,000 shares of Series B preferred
shares of beneficial interest at a stated liquidation preference of $10 per
share plus declared and unpaid dividends resulting in Series B preferred
shares valued at $20 million.

On August 30, 1996, OCP acquired 1,000,000 common shares of beneficial
interest in Pacific Retail at $10 per share for a total of $10 million.

On August 31, 1996, Pacific Retail completed a private offering of
18,182,305 common shares of beneficial interest at $11 per share resulting in
a total equity investment of $200,005,350. The first funding call took place
on September 16, 1996 resulting in 2,860,197 shares being issued for net
proceeds of $29,414,529. On January 9, 1997 and January 27, 1997, two funding
calls took place resulting in a total of 10,214,738 shares being issued for
net proceeds of $112,355,838. The final funding call took place on May 15,
1997 resulting in 5,107,370 shares being issued for net proceeds of
$56,181, 060.

On April 30, 1997, Pacific Retail completed a private offering of 12,500,000
common shares of beneficial interest at $12 per share resulting in a total
expected equity investment of $150,000,000. The first funding call took place
on May 15, 1997 resulting in 1,898,100 shares being issued for net proceeds of
$21,277,205. The second funding call took place on September 18, 1997
resulting in 3,180,570 shares being issued for net proceeds of $38,158,904. On
October 1, November 11, and November 28, three funding calls took place
resulting in a total of 4,342,300 shares being issued for net proceeds of
$52,107,598. The final funding call took place on December 26, 1997 resulting
in 3,079,030 shares being issued for net proceeds of $36,948,358.

On December 29, 1997, Pacific Retail completed and fully funded a private
offering of 11,538,462 common shares of beneficial interest at $13 per share
for net proceeds of $148,474,528.

Trustee compensation

On March 11, 1997, Pacific Retail granted 4,305 shares to the board of
trustees as part of their compensation.

Effective March 14, 1997, Pacific Retail adopted the Deferred Fee Plan for
nonemployee trustees. Under this plan, trustees can defer receipt of cash and
equity compensation otherwise payable to the trustee by Pacific Retail.
Interest and dividends are earned on the deferred compensation. An election
must be made by each trustee to defer their compensation, and this election
shall remain in effect until modified or revoked by the trustee. Each trustee
must specify when the payment of deferred compensation is to take place. The
compensation may be deferred to a specific date of at least two years past the
time the compensation is earned, or the compensation may become payable on the
last day of the calendar year in which the trustee terminates service with
Pacific Retail, or the compensation can become payable on the earlier of such
dates.

As of September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1997, 9,668 and 4,825 shares,
respectively, have been deferred under this plan.
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Shares of beneficial interest

As of September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1997, 150,000,000 shares of
beneficial interest, $.01 par value per share, were authorized. Pacific
Retail's board of trustees is authorized to issue, from the authorized but
unissued shares of Pacific Retail, preferred shares in series and to establish
from time to time the number of preferred shares to be included in such series
and to fix the designation and any preferences, conversion and other rights,
voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications
and terms and conditions of redemption's of the shares of such series.

Common shares

The outstanding common shares ("Shares") do not have redemption or
conversion rights or the benefit of any sinking fund. In the event of
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Pacific Retail, the holders of
Shares are entitled to receive ratably the assets remaining after satisfaction
of all liabilities and payment of preferences and accrued dividends, if any,
on Pacific Retail's shares ranking senior to the Shares (including the
preferred shares). The rights of holders of Shares are subject to the rights
and preferences established by Pacific Retail's board of trustees for any
preferred shares, which have been or may subsequently be issued.

Preferred shares

The Series A preferred shares, the Series B preferred shares (together
referred to as "Preferred Shares") and Shares vote together as a single class
with respect to all matters presented to Pacific Retail's shareholders for a
vote. If twelve consecutive quarterly dividends on the Preferred Shares are in
arrears, the holders of Preferred Shares will be entitled to nominate and
elect an additional trustee until such time as all arrearages have been paid.
The Preferred Shares are entitled to a liquidation preference of $10 per share
plus an amount equal to all dividends declared but unpaid to the date of final
distribution. Pacific Retail may redeem the Preferred Shares any time after
October 20, 2010 at a price of $10 per share, plus all declared but unpaid
dividends.

Series A preferred shares

Series A preferred shares are convertible into Series B preferred shares on
a one-for-one basis and contain provisions for adjustment to prevent dilution.
For fiscal years beginning before January 1, 1997, the Series A preferred
shares were entitled to a quarterly dividend in an amount equal to the greater
of (i) $0.10 per share or (ii) $0.013 less than the dividend on the Shares.
For fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1997, Series A preferred
shares are entitled to quarterly dividends in an amount equal to the greater
of (i) $0.10 per share, (ii) 65% of the highest funds from operations per
Share for any preceding fiscal year and (iii) $0.013 less than the dividend on
the Shares. Dividends on the Series A preferred shares are cumulative from the
original issue date. Pacific Retail is restricted from paying any dividends on
any Shares or shares ranking on a parity with, or ranking junior to, the
Series A preferred shares, unless all cumulative dividends are simultaneously
paid on the Series A preferred shares.

Series B preferred shares

The board of trustees has authorized up to 6,130,276 Series B preferred
shares for issuance. Series B preferred shares are convertible into Shares on
a one-for-one basis and contain provisions for adjustment to prevent dilution.
For fiscal 